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INTERMATIOHAL

READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.
6100 Center Drive, Suite 900
Los Angeles, California 90045

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
TO BE HELD ON THURSDAY, MAY 15,2014

TO THE STOCKHOLDERS:

The 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Annual Meeting”) of Reading International, Inc., a Nevada
corporation, will be held at 6100 Center Drive, Suite 900, Los Angeles, California 90045, on Thursday, May 15, 2014, at
11:00 a.m., local time, for the following purposes:

1. To elect nine Directors to our Board of Directors to serve until the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders;
2. To acton an advisory vote on executive compensation; and

3. To transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment or postponement
thereof.

A copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 201 3 is enclosed. Only
holders of our class B voting common stock at the close ofbusiness on April 17,2014 are entitled to notice of and to vote
at the meeting and any adjournment or postponement thereof.

If you hold shares of our class B voting common stock, you will have received a proxy card enclosed with this
notice. Whether or not you expect to attend the Annual Meeting in person, please complete, sign, and date the enclosed
proxy card and return it promptly in the accompanying postage-prepaid envelope to ensure that your shares will be
represented at the Annual Meeting.

By Order of the Board of Directors

i ;‘jg

A
James J. Cotter, Sr.
Chairman

April 25, 2014

PLEASE SIGN AND DATE THE ENCLOSED PROXY CARD AND MAIL IT PROMPTLY IN
THE ENCLOSED RETURN ENVELOPE TO ENSURE THAT YOUR VOTES ARE COUNTED.




INTERMATIOHAL

READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.
6100 Center Drive, Suite 900
Los Angeles, California 90045

PROXY STATEMENT

Annual Meeting of Stockholders
Thursday, May 15,2014

INTRODUCTION

This Proxy Statement is furnished in connection with the solicitation by the Board of Directors of Reading
International, Inc. (the “Company,” “Reading,” “we,” “us,” or “our”) of proxies for use at our 2014 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders (the “Annual Meeting™) to be held on Thursday, May 15, 2014, at 11:00 a.m., local time, at 6100 Center
Drive, Suite 900, Los Angeles, Califomia, and at any adjoumment or postponement thereof. This Proxy Statement and
form of proxy are first being sent or given to stockholders on or about Apnl 25,2014.

At our Annual Meeting, you will be asked to (1) elect nine Directors to our Board of Directors to serve until the
2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, (2) act on an advisory vote on executive compensation, and (3) act on any other
business that may properly come before the Annual Meeting or any adjournment or postponement of the Annual Meeting.

As of April 17, 2014, the record date for the Annual Meeting (the “Record Date”), there were outstanding
1,495,490 shares of our class B voting common stock (“Class B Stock”). James J. Cotter, Sr., our Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer, beneficially owned 1,123,888 shares of our Class B Stock on the Record Date, which shares represent a
majority of the outstanding voting nights of the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Cotter, Sr. has the power, acting alone and
regardless of the vote of our other stockholders, to determine the outcome of each of the proposals on the agenda for the
Annual Meeting. Mr. Cotter, Sr. has advised us that he intends to follow the recommendations of our Board of Directors
in casting his votes and to vote in favor of each of the proposals described in this Proxy Statement.

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING THE AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS FOR THE STOCKHOLDERS
MEETING TO BE HELD ON MAY 15,2014 — This Proxy Statement, along with the proxy card, and our Annual Report to
Stockholders on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
are available at our website, http://www.readingrdi.com, under “Investor Information.”

...........................................................................................................................................................................................................................




VOTING AND PROXIES
Am I eligible to vote?

If you owned shares of Class B Stock on the Record Date, you are eligible to vote, and you should have received
a proxy card enclosed with this notice. If you own Class B Stock and did not receive a proxy card, please contact our
Corporate Secretary at (213)235-2240. Your shares of Class B Stock are entitled to one vote per share.

What if I own Class A Nonvoting Common Stock?

If you do not own any class B Stock, then you have received this proxy statement only for your
information. You and other holders of our class Anonvoting common stock (“Class A Stock™) have no voting rights with
respect to the matters to be voted on at the Annual Meeting.

How will my shares be voted if I am a stockholder of record?

If you are a stockholder of record and do not vote via the Internet, by telephone or by returning a signed proxy
card, your shares will not be voted unless you attend the Annual Meeting and vote your shares or designate some other
person to vote on your behalf by issuance to such person of a valid proxy and such person attends the meeting and votes
such shares on your behalf.

If you vote via the Intemet or telephone and do not specify contrary voting instructions, your shares will be
voted in accordance with the recommendations of our Board of Directors with respect to each of the Proposals. Similarly,
if you sign and submit your proxy card with no instructions, your shares will be voted in accordance with the
recommendations of our Board of Directors with respect to each of the Proposals.

If I am a beneficial owner of shares, can my brokerage firm vote my shares?

If you are a beneficial owner and do not vote via the Intemet, by telephone or by returning a signed voting
instruction card to your broker, your shares may be voted only with respect to so-called routine matters where your broker
has discretionary voting authority over your shares. Brokers will have no such discretionary authority to vote on any of
the Proposals. We encourage you, therefore, to provide instructions to your brokerage firm by retumning the voting
instruction card provided by that broker.

How do Ivote in person?

If you are a stockholder of record, you may vote in person by attending the 2014 Annual Meeting.

If your shares are held in the name of a brokerage firm, bank nominee, or other institution, only it can give a
proxy with respect to your shares. Accordingly, if you want to vote in person, you will need to bring that proxy with you
to evidence your rights to vote such shares. If you do not have record ownership of your shares and want to vote in person
at the Annual Meeting, you must obtain a proxy from the record holder of your shares and bring it with you to the Annual
Meeting.

If I plan to attend the Annual Meeting, should I still submit a proxy?

Whether or not you plan to attend the Annual Meeting, we urge you to submit a proxy. Submission of a proxy
will not in any way affect your right to attend the Annual Meeting and vote in person.

What if I want to revoke my proxy?

You have the right to revoke your proxy at any time before it is voted on your behalfby:
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¢ submitting to our Corporate Secretary at our address at 6100 Center Drive, Suite 900, Los Angeles,
Califomia 90045, prior to the commencement of the Annual Meeting, a duly executed instrument dated
subsequent to such proxy revoking the same;

¢ submitting a duly executed proxy bearing a later date; or

¢ attending the Annual Meeting and voting in person.
Proxy Solicitation and Expenses

In addition to the solicitation by mail, our employees may solicit proxies in person or by telephone, but no
additional compensation will be paid to them for such services. We will bear all the costs of soliciting proxies on behalf

of our Board of Directors and will retmburse persons holding shares in their own names or in the names of their nominees,
but not owning such shares beneficially, for the expenses of forwarding solicitation materials to the beneficial owners.

Quorum and Vote Required

The presence in person or by proxy of the holders of a majority of our outstanding shares of Class B Stock will
constitute a quorum at the Annual Meeting. Each share of our Class B Stock entitles the holder to one vote on all matters
to come before the Annual Meeting.

The following voting rights are associated with respect to the Proposals:

e Asto Proposal 1 regarding the election of Directors, you may vote “FOR” or “WITHHOLID” with respect to
all or any of the nominees.

¢ Asto Proposal 2 regarding the approval, by non-binding vote, of the compensation of our named executive
officers as disclosed in this proxy statement, you may vote “FOR,” “AGAINST” or “ABSTAIN.” If you elect
to abstain, it will have the same effect as an “AGAINST” vote.

An automated system administered by our transfer agent will tabulate votes cast by proxy at the Annual Meeting,
and the inspector of elections for the Annual Meeting will tabulate votes cast in person at the Annual Meeting.

Is my vote kept confidential?

Proxies, ballots and voting tabulations identifying stockholders are kept confidential and will not be disclosed
to third parties except as may be necessary to meet legal requirements.




PROPOSAIL: 1: ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
Nominees for Election

Nine Directors are to be elected at our Annual Meeting to serve until the annual meeting of stockholders to be
held in 2015 or until their successors are elected and qualified. Unless otherwise instructed, the proxy holders will vote
the proxies received by us “FOR” the election of the nominees below, all of whom currently serve as Directors. The
nine nominees for election to the Board of Directors who receive the greatest number of votes cast for the election of
Directors by the shares present and entitled to vote will be elected Directors. If any nominee becomes unavailable for any
reason, it is intended that the proxies will be voted for a substitute nominee designated by the Board of Directors. We
believe the nominees named will be able to serve if elected.

The names of the nominees for Director, together with certain information regarding them, are as follows:

Name Age Position

James J. Cotter, Sr. 76 Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer (1)
James J. Cotter, Jr. 44 Vice Chairman of the Board(2)

Ellen M. Cotter 48 Director

Margaret Cotter 46 Director

Guy W. Adams 63 Director

William D. Gould 75 Director (3)

Edward L. Kane 76 Director (1)(2)(4)(5)

Douglas J. McEachem 62 Director (4)

Tim Storey 56 Director (4)(5)

(1) Member of the Executive Committee.

(2) Member of the Tax Oversight Committee.

(3) Lead Independent Director.

(4) Member of the Audit and Conflicts Committee.

(5) Member of the Compensation Committee.
James J. Cotter, Sr.

James J. Cotter, Sr. has been a Director of our Company since 1991, the Chairman of our Board since 1992, and
our Chief Executive Officer since December 27, 2000. Mr. Cotter, St. also served as our Chief Executive Officer from
August 1, 1999 to October 16, 2000, and as a Director of our Company from 1986 to 1988. Mr. Cotter, Sr. is a 50% owner
of Sutton Hill Associates, a general partnership engaged in cinema-related activities primarily with our Company, a 50%
member in Shadow View Land and Farming, LLC, a limited liability company in which our Company owns the remaining
membership interest, and the sole voting member of Cotter Enterprises LLC (a family-owned private investment
vehicle). Mr. Cotter, Sr. is the father of Ellen M. Cotter, James J. Cotter, Jr., and Margaret Cotter. Mr. Cotter also serves as
a Director, officer, and/or manager of all of our consolidated subsidiaries, other than Shadow View Land and Farming,
LLC, which 1s managed by our Company under the supervision of the Audit and Conflict Committee.

Mr. Cotter, Sr. 1s highly qualified to serve on our Board due to his decades of experience as an executive in the
film exhibition and real estate industries, as well as experience in diverse ventures and investments. Mr. Cotter, Sr. has
also served on several Boards of public and private companies, primarily engaged in banking and real estate
activities. Furthermore, as the largest stockholder of the Company, his
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interests are generally aligned with those of the other stockholders of the Company, which enhances his value as a
Director. In those situations where there may be a conflict of interest, such matters are referred to our Audit and Conflicts
Committee comprised entirely of independent Directors.

James J. Cotter, Jr.

James J. Cotter, Jr. has been a Director of the Company since March 21,2002, and was appointed Vice Chairman
of the Board in 2007. The Board of Directors appointed Mr. James J. Cotter, Jr. to serve as the Company’s President,
beginning June 1, 2013. He had been Chief Executive Officer of Cecelia Packing Corporation (a Cotter family-owned
citrus grower, packer, and marketer) since July 2004. Mr. Cotter, Jr. served as a Director to Cecelia Packing Cormporation
from February 1996 to September 1997 and as a Director of Gish Biomedical from September 1999 to March 2002. He
was an attomey in the law firm of Winston & Strawn, specializing in corporate law, from September 1997 to May
2004. Mr. Cotter, Jr. is the son of James J. Cotter, Sr. and the brother of Margaret Cotter and Ellen M. Cotter.

James J. Cotter, Jr. brings to the Board his expenence as a business professional and corporate attomey. In
addition, with his direct ownership of approximately 671,000 shares of our Company’s Class A Common Stock, Mr.
Cotter, Jr. is a significant stake holder in our Company. Mr Cotter Jr. also holds options to acquire an additional 22,500
shares of Class A Common Stock.

FEllen M. Cortter

Ellen M. Cotter has been a member of the Board of Directors since March 13, 2013. She joined the Company in
March 1998, is a graduate of Smith College and holds a Juris Doctorate from Georgetown Law School. Prior to joining
the Company, Ms. Cotter spent four years in private practice as a corporate attorney with the law firm of White & Case in
Manhattan. Ms. Cotter is the daughter of James J. Cotter, Sr. and the sister of James J. Cotter, Jr. and Margaret Cotter.

Ms. Cotter brings to the Board her 15 years of experience working in our Company’s cinema operations, both in
the United States and Australia. For the past 12 years, she has served as the senior operating officer of our Company’s
domestic cinema operations. She has also served as the Chief Executive Officer of Reading’s subsidiary, Consolidated
Entertainment, L1.C, which operates substantially all of our cinemas in Hawaii and California. With her direct ownership
of approximately 674,000 shares of Class A Stock, Ms. Cotter is a significant stake holder in our Company. Ms. Cotter
also holds options to acquire an additional 95,000 shares of Class A Common Stock and 50,000 shares of Class B Voting
Common Stock.

Ms. Cotter is a senior executive officer of our Company and, accordingly, will not be paid for her services as a
Director, but has been granted the 20,000 stock options customarily granted to all new Directors.

Margaret Cotter

Margaret Cotter has been a Director of the Company since September 27, 2002. Ms. Cotter is the owner and
President of OBI, LL.C, a company that provides live theater management services to our live theaters. Pursuant to that
management arrangement, Ms. Cotter also serves as the President of Liberty Theaters, the subsidiary through which we
own our live theaters. Ms. Cotter manages the real estate which houses each of the four live theaters (without
compensation). Ms. Cotter secures leases, manages tenancies, oversees maintenance and regulatory compliance of the
properties as well as heads the day to day pre-development process and transition of our properties from live theatre
operations to major realty developments. Ms. Cotter was first commissioned to handle these properties by Sutton Hill
Associates which subsequently sold the business to Reading with other real estate and theaters in 2000. Ms. Cotter is also
a theatrical producer who has produced shows in Chicago and New York and a Board member of the League of Off-
Broadway Theaters and Producers. Ms. Cotter, a former Assistant District Attorney for King’s County in Brooklyn, New
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York, graduated from Georgetown University Law Center. She is the daughter of James J. Cotter, St. and the sister of
James J. Cotter, Jr. and Ellen M. Cotter.

Ms. Cotter brings to the Board her experience as a live theater producer, theater operator and an active member of
the New York theatre community, which gives her insight into live theater business trends that affect our business in this
sector. Operating and overseeing these properties for over 15 years, Ms. Cotter contributes to the strategic direction for
our developments. In addition, with her direct ownership of approximately 655,000 shares of our Company’s Class A
Common Stock, Ms. Cotter is a significant stake holder in our Company. Ms. Cotter also holds options to acquire an
additional 27,500 shares of Class A Common Stock and 35,100 shares of Class B Voting Common Stock.

Guy W. Adams

Guy W. Adams is a Managing Member of GWA Capital Partners, LL.C, a registered investment adviser managing
GWA Investments, LI.C. The fund invests in various publicly traded securities. Over the past ten years, Mr. Adams has
served as an independent Director on the Boards of Directors of Lone Star Steakhouse & Saloon, Mercer Intemational,
Exar Corporation and Vitesse Semiconductor having served in various capacities as lead Director, Audit Committee Chair
and/or Compensation Committee Chair. Prior to this Mr. Adams provided investment advice to various family offices as
well as investing his own capital in public and private equity transactions.

Mr. Adams received his Bachelor of Science degree in Petroleum Engineering from Louisiana State University
and his Masters of Business Administration from Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration.

Mr. Adams brings many years of experience serving as an independent Director on public company Boards, and
in investing and providing financial advice in making investments in public companies.

William D. Gould

William D. Gould has been a Director of the Company since October 15, 2004 and has been a member of the law
firm of TroyGould PC since 1986. Previously, he was a partner of the law firm of O’Melveny & Myers. We have from
time to time retained TroyGould PC for legal advice.

As an author and lecturer on the subjects of corporate governance and mergers and acquisitions, Mr. Gould
brings to the Board specialized experience as a corporate attorney. Mr. Gould’s corporate transactional experience and
expertise in corporate governance matters ensures that we have a highly qualified advisor on our Board to provide
oversight in such matters.

Fdward [. Kane

Edward L. Kane has been a Director of the Company since October 15,2004. Mr. Kane was also a Director of the
Company from 1985 to 1998, and served as President from 1987 to 1988. Mr. Kane currently serves as the Chairman of
our Tax Oversight Committee and of our Compensation and Stock Option Committee (which we refer to as our
Compensation Committee). He also serves as a member of our Executive Committee and our Audit and Conflicts
Committee. Since 1996, Mr. Kane’s principal occupation has been healthcare consultant and advisor. In that capacity, he
has served as President and sole sharcholder of High Avenue Consulting, a healthcare consulting firm, and as the head of
its successor proprietorship. At various times during the past three decades, he has been Adjunct Professor of Law at two
of San Diego’s Law Schools, most recently in 2008 and 2009 at Thomas Jefferson School of Law, and prior thereto at
California Westem School of Law.
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Mr. Kane brings to the Board his many years as a tax attorney and law professor. Mr. Kane’s tax law experience
has served the Company in its recent tax litigation and his expertise and guidance in such complex matters continue to be
invaluable to the Company.  Mr. Kane also brings his experience as a past President of Craig Corporation and of
Reading Company, two of our corporate predecessors, as well as a former member of the Boards of Directors of several
publicly held corporations.

Douglas J. McEachern

Douglas J. McEachem has been a Director of the Company since May 17,2012 and Chairman of our Audit and
Conflicts Committee since August 1, 2012. He has served as a member of the Board of Directors and of the Audit and
Compensation Committee for Willdan Group, a NASDAQ listed engineering company, since 2009. Mr. McEachem is
also the Chaitrman of the Board of Directors of Community Bank in Pasadena, California and a member of its Audit
Committee. He also is a member of the Finance Committee of the Methodist Hospital of Arcadia. Since July 2009,
Mr. McEachem has also served as an instructor of auditing and accountancy at Claremont McKenna College and of
accounting at Califomia State Polytechnic University at Pomona. Mr. McEachem was an audit partner from July 1985 to
May 2009 with the audit firm, Deloitte and Touche, LLP, with client concentrations in financial institutions and real
estate. Mr. McEachern was also a Professional Accounting Fellow with the Federal Home Loan Bank Board in
Washington DC, from June 1983 to July 1985. From June 1976 to June 1983, Mr. McEachem was a staff member and
subsequently a manager with the audit firm, Touche Ross & Co. (predecessor to Deloitte & Touche, LLP). Mr. McEachem
received a B.S. in Business Administration in 1974 from the University of California, Berkeley, and an M.B.A. in 1976
from the University of Southern California.

Mr. McEachem brings to the Board his more than 36 years’ experience meeting the accounting and auditing
needs of financial institutions and real estate clients, including our Company. Mr McEachem also brings his experience
reporting as an independent auditor to the Boards of Directors of a variety of public reporting companies and as a Board
member himself for various companies and not-for-profit organizations.

Tim Storey

Tim Storey has been a Director of the Company since December 28, 2011. Mr. Storey has served as the sole
outside Director of the Company’s wholly-owned New Zealand subsidiary since 2006. He has served since April 1, 2009
as a Director of DNZ Property Fund Limited, a commercial property investment fund based in New Zealand and listed on
the New Zealand Stock Exchange, and was appointed Chairman of the Board of that company on July 1, 2009. From
2011 to 2012, Mr. Storey was a Director of NZ Farming Systems Uruguay, also a New Zealand listed company. NZ
Farming Systems Uruguay owns and operates dairy farms in Uruguay. Prior to being elected Chairman of DNZ Property
Fund Limited, Mr. Storey was a partner in Bell Gully (one of the largest law firms in New Zealand). Mr. Storey is also a
principal in Prolex Advisory, a private company in the business of providing commercial advisory services to a variety of
clients and related entities. Prolex Advisory has provided consulting services primarily with respect to fund management
and commercial property/project transactions across a range of industries including health care, community housing,
student accommodations and agriculture.

Mr. Storey brings to the Board many years of experience in New Zealand corporate law and commercial real
estate matters. He serves as a Director of our New Zealand subsidiary.

Attendance at Board and Committee Meetings

During the year ended December 31, 2013, our Board of Directors met five times.  The Audit and Conflicts
Committee and the Compensation Committee each held six meetings, while the Tax Oversight Committee held five
meetings.
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Each Director attended at least 75% of these Board Meetings and at least 75% of the meetings of all committees
on which he or she served.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Ethics applicable to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer,
principal accounting officer or controller and Company employees, which 1s available on our website at
www.readingrdi.com.

Indemnity Agreements

We currently have indemnity agreements in place with each of our current Directors and senior officers, as well as
certain of the Directors and senior officers of our subsidiaries. Under these agreements, we have agreed, subject to certain
exceptions, to indemnify each of these individuals against all expenses, liabilities and losses incurred 1n connection with
any threatened, pending or contemplated action, suit or proceeding, whether civil or criminal, administrative or
investigative, to which such individual is a party or is threatened to be made a party, in any manner, based upon, arising
from, relating to or by reason of the fact that such individual is, was, shall be or has been a Director, officer employee,
agent or fiduciary of the Company.

Compensation of Directors

During 2013, all of our Directors, except those who are working executives, received an annual fee of $35,000
for their services, including attendance at meetings of the Board and Board committees. In addition, each Director
received aone-time payment of $3,000. For 2013, the Chairman of our Audit and Conflicts Committee received an
additional $7,000, the Chairman of our Compensation Committee received an additional $5,000, and the Chairman of our
Tax Oversight Committee received an additional $18,000.

Prior to becoming the Company’s President on June 3, 2013, James J. Cotter, Jr. received $59,000 for his
services as Director and Vice Chairman of the Board in 2013.

In addition, upon joining the Board, new Directors receive immediately vested options to purchase 20,000 shares
of our Class A Stock at an exercise price equal to the market price of the stock at the date of grant. Our Directors are from
time to time granted additional stock options as a part of their continuing compensation for their ongoing participation
on our Board of Directors. These awards are based upon the recommendations of our Chairman and principal sharcholder,
James J. Cotter, Sr., which recommendations are reviewed and acted upon by our entire Board of Directors. Typically, in
such cases, each sitting Director (other than Mr. Cotter, Sr., who does not participate in such awards) is awa rded the same
number of options, and such options are granted on the same terms. Historically, we have granted our officers and
Directors replacement options where their options would otherwise expire with exercise prices that were out of the money
at the time of such expiration. Such awards have in each case been recommended by Mr. Cotter, Sr. to our Compensation
Committee for the committee’s consideration.
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Director Compensation Table

The following table summarizes the Director compensation for the year ended December 31, 2013:

All Other
Fees Earned or Option Awards Compensation

Name Paid in Cash (8) ($) () Total ($)

James J. Cotter, Sr. (1)  § - $ - % -3 --
James I. Cotter, Jr. (1)  $ 59,000 $ -9 - S 59,000
Ellen M. Cotter (1) $ ~ % 35,000 (4) $ - $ 35,000
Margaret Cotter (2) $ 38,000 $ 10,000 (5) $ - 48,000
Guy W. Adams (3) $ - % - 3 -3 -
William D. Gould $ 38,000 ¢ 10,000 (5) $ - $ 48,000
Edward L. Kane $ 61,000 $ 10,000 (5) $ -8 71,000
Douglas J. McEachern ~ §$ 45,000 $ 10,000 (5) $ -3 55,000
Tim Storey $ 38,000 $ 10,000 (5) $ 21,000 (6) $ 69,000
Alfred Villasefior (7) $ 38,000 $ 10,000 (5) $ -3 48,000

(1) Mr. Cotter, Sr. and Ms. Ellen Cotter receive compensation only as executive officers of the Company and not in
their capacities as Directors. Prior to becoming the Company’s President on June 3, 2013, James J. Cotter, Jr.
received $59,000 for his services as Director and Vice Chairman of the Board in 2013.

(2) In addition to her Director’s fees, Margaret Cotter receives a combination of fixed and incentive management
fees under the OBI Management Agreement described under the caption “Certain Transactions and Related Party
Transactions - OBI Management Agreement,” below.

(3) Mr. Adams joined the Board on January 14,2014 and was granted 20,000 options on the same date.

(4) Asanew Director, Ellen Cotter was granted 20,000 options on March 7,2013.

(5) Each of these Directors was granted 5,000 options on June 21,2013.

(6) This amount represents fees paid to Mr. Storey as the sole independent Director of our Company’s wholly-owned
New Zealand subsidiary.

(7) Alfred Villasefior, who has been a Director of the Company since 1987, has decided not to put his name forward
for re-election this year. Accordingly, his term will end and he will be retiring from our Board, effective upon
election of his successor at our upcoming Annual Meeting.

Board Committees and Corporate Governance

Our Board of Directors has standing Executive, Audit and Conflicts, Compensation, and Tax Oversight
Committees. These committees are discussed in greater detail below.

James J. Cotter, Sr. owns beneficially a majority of our Class B Stock and accordingly holds more than 50% of
the voting power for the election of Directors of the Company. Therefore, our Board of Directors, has determined that our
Company is a “Controlled Company” under section 5615(c)(1) of the listing rules of The NASDAQ Capital Stock Market
(the “NASDAQ Rules”). After reviewing the benefits and detriments of taking advantage of the exceptions to the
corporate govemance rules set forth in section 5605 of the NASDAQ Rules, our Board of Directors in 2009 unanimously
determined to take advantage of all of the exceptions from the NASDAQ Rules afforded to our Company as a Controlled
Company.

A Controlled Company is not required to have an independent nominating committee or independent
nominating process. It was noted by our Directors that the use of an independent nominating committee or independent
nominating process would be of limited utility, since any nominee would need to be acceptable to Mr. Cotter, Sr. as our
controlling stockholder, in order to be elected. Mr. Cotter, Sr., as the holder of a majority of the voting power of our
Company, is able to unilaterally elect candidates to our Board of Directors at our annual meeting or any other meeting
where our Directors are to be elected or remove a Director from the
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Board of Directors. Historically, Mr. Cotter, Sr. has identified and recommended nominees to our Board of Directors in
consultation with our other incumbent Directors.

Our Board of Directors does not have a formal policy with respect to the consideration of Director candidates
recommended by our stockholders. No stockholder has, in more than the past ten years, made any proposal or
recommendation to the Board as to potential nominees, nor has Mr. Cotter, Sr. ever proposed, in the time he has been our
principal or controlling stockholder, any nominee that our remaining Directors have found to be unacceptable. Neither
our governing documents nor applicable Nevada law place any restriction on the nomination of candidates for election to
our Board of Directors directly by our stockholders. In light of the facts that (i) we are a Controlled Company under the
NASDAQ Rules and exempted from the requirements for an independent nominating process and (i1) our goveming
documents and Nevada law place no limitation upon the direct nomination of Director candidates by our stockholders,
our Board of Directors believes there is no need for a formal policy with respect to Director nominations.

Our Board of Directors will consider nominations from our stockholders, provided written notice is delivered to
our Secretary at our principal executive offices not less than 120 days prior to the first anniversary of the immediately
preceding annual meeting of our stockholders at which Directors are elected, or such earlier date as may be reasonable in
the event that our annual stockholders meeting is moved forward. Such written notice must set forth the name, age,
address, and principal occupation or employment of such nominee, the number of shares of our common stock that are
beneficially owned by such nominee, and such other information required by the proxy rules of the SEC with respect to a
nominee of our Board of Directors.

Our Directors have not adopted any formal criteria with respect to the qualifications required to be a Director or
the particular skills that should be represented on our Board of Directors, other than the need to have at least one Director
and member of our Audit and Conflicts Committee who qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert,” and have not
historically retained any third party to identify or evaluate or to assist in identifying or evaluating potential
nominees. We have no policy of considering diversity in identifying Director nominees.

Five of the cumrent nominees are long-standing incumbent Directors, and all nine nominees were originally
recommended by Mr. Cotter, Sr. No other recommendations were received by us with respect to possible nominees to our
Board of Director for consideration at our upcoming Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

James J. Cotter, Sr., serves as our Chief Executive Officer and as Chairman of the Board of Directors. We believe
this leadership structure is appropriate because it is more efficient than having these roles divided, and, because the first-
hand knowledge of our business operations that our Chairman possesses as Chief Executive Officer, better serves our
entire Board in its decision making. In lieu of separating the Chief Executive Officer and Chairman functions, the Board
has designated William D. Gould t o serve as our Lead Independent Director, to chair meetings of the independent
Directors, and to act as liaison between our Chairman and our independent Directors.

Our Board of Directors oversees risk by remaining well-informed through regular meetings with management and
our Chairman’s personal involvement in owur day-to-day businessincluding any matters requining specific risk
management oversight. Qur Vice-Chairman chairs regular senior management meetings, which are typically held weekly,
one addressing domestic issues and the other addressing overseas issues.  The risk oversight function of our Board of
Directors is enhanced by the fact that our Audit and Conflict Committee is comprised entirely of independent Directors.

We encourage, but do not require, our Board members to attend our annual meeting of stockholders. Six of our
nine then-incumbent Directors attended last year’s annual meeting.




Executive Committee

Astanding Executive Committee, comprsed of Mr. Cotter, Sr., Mr. Kane and Mr. Villaseifior, is authorized, to the
fullest extent permitted by Nevada law, to take action on matters between meetings of the full Board of Directors. In
recent years, this committee has not been used to take any action on corporate matters. With the exception of matters
delegated to the Audit and Conflicts Committee or the Compensation Committee, all matters requiring Board approval
have been considered by the entire Board of Directors.

Audit and Conflicts Committee

Our Board of Directors maintains a standing Audit and Conflicts Committee, which we refer to as the “Audit
Committee.” The Audit Committee operates under a Charter adopted by the Board of Directors, and is available on our
website at www.readingrdi.com. Our Board of Directors has determined that the Audit Committee is comprised entirely of
independent Directors, (as defined in section 5605(a)(2) of the NASDAQ Rules), and that Mr. McEachem, the Chairman of
our Audit Committee, 1s qualified as an Audit Committee Financial Expert. With respect to our fiscal year ended
December 31, 2013, our Audit and Conflicts Committee was comprised of Messrs. McEachem, Kane, and Storey.




Audit Committee Report

The following is the report of the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors with respect to our audited
financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013.

The information contained in this report shall not be deemed to be “soliciting materal” or “filed” with the
SEC or subject to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”), except to the extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference into a document filed under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act.

The purpose of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in its general oversight of our financial reporting,
internal controls and audit functions. The Audit Committee operates under a written Charter adopted by our Board of
Directors. The Charter is reviewed periodically and subject to change, as appropriate. The Audit Committee Charter
describes in greater detail the full responsibilities of the Audit Committee.

In this context, the Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed the Company’s audited financial statements
with management and Grant Thornton, LLP, our independent auditors. Management is responsible for: the
preparation, presentation and integrity of our financial statements; accounting and financial reporting principles;
establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e));
establishing and maintaining intemal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f));
evaluating the effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures; evaluating the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting; and evaluating any change in internal control over financial reporting that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, intermal control over financial reporting. Grant Thornton, LLP is
responsible for performing an independent audit of the consolidated financial statements and expressing an opinion
on the conformity of those financial statements with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America, as well as an opinion on (1) management’s assessment of the effectiveness of intermal control over financial
reporting and (i1) the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.

The Audit Committee has discussed with Grant Thornton, LLP the matters required to be discussed by
Auditing Standard No. 16, “Communications with Audit Committees” and PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 2, “An
Audit of Intemmal Control Over Financial Reporting Performed in Conjunction with an Audit of Financial
Statements.” In addition, Grant Thomton, LLP has provided the Audit Committee with the written disclosures and the
letter required by the Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1, as amended, “Independence Discussions with
Audit Committees,” and the Audit Committee has discussed with Grant Thomton, LLP their firm’s independence.

Based on their review of the consolidated financial statements and discussions with and representations from
management and Grant Thomton, LLP referred to above, the Audit Committee recommended to our Board of Directors
that the audited financial statements be included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year 2013 for filing
with the SEC.

It 1s not the duty of the Audit Committee to plan or conduct audits or to determine that the Company’s
financial statements are complete and accurate and in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States. That is the responsibility of management and the Company’s independent registered public
accounting firm. In giving its recommendation to the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee relied on
(1) management’s representation that such financial statements have been prepared with integrity and objectivity and
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and (2) the report of the Company’s
independent registered public accounting firm with respect to such financial statements.

Respectfully submitted by the Audit Committee.

Douglas J. McEachem, Chairman
Edward L. Kane
Tim Storey
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Compensation Committee

Our Board of Directors has a standing Compensation Committee comprised entirely of independent Directors.
The current members of this committee are Alfred Villasefior, Tim Storey and Edward L. Kane, who serves as Chairman.

The Compensation Committee evaluates and makes recommendations to the full Board of Directors regarding
the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer, James J. Cotter, Sr. and of any Cotter family member, provides from
time to time advice to James J. Cotter, St. regarding the compensation of other executives, as requested by Mr. Cotter, Sr.
and performs other compensation related functions as delegated. The Compensation Committee Report is shown below
under the heading, “Compensation Committee Report.”

Tax Oversight Committee

Given our operations in the United States, Australia, and New Zealand and our historic net operating loss carry
forwards, our Board formed a Tax Oversight Committee to review with management and to keep the Board abreast of and
informed about the Company’s tax planning and such tax issues as may emerge from time to time. This committee is
comprised of Messrs. Edward L. Kane and James J. Cotter, Jr. Mr. Kane serves as the Chairman of the committee.

Vote Required

The nine nominees receiving the greatest number of votes cast at the Annual Meeting will be elected to the
Board of Directors.

Mr. Cotter, Sr. has advised us that he intends to vote his shares of Class B Stock in favor of each of our
nominees. Since Mr. Cotter, Sr. owned a majority of the outstanding shares of Class B Stock on the Record Date, if he
votes all of his shares as he has advised, each of the nominees will be elected regardless of the vote of our other
stockholders.

Recommendation of the Board

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE “FOR” EACH OF THE DIRECTOR NOMINEES.

PROPOSAL 2: ADVISORY VOTE ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (the “Dodd-Frank Act”) mandates that
our stockholders vote whether to approve, on an advisory or non-binding basis, the compensation of our “named
executive officers” as disclosed in this proxy statement. Currently, our named executive officers are Messrs. James J.
Cotter, Sr., Ellen M. Cotter, Andrze] Matyczynski, Robert F. Smering, and Wayne D. Smith. A description of the
compensation paid to these individuals is set out below under the heading, “Executive Compensation.”

This vote is advisory in nature and therefore not binding on us, our Compensation Committee, or our Board of
Directors. Furthermore, this vote is not intended to address any specific item of compensation, but rather the overall
compensation of these executive officers and our general compensation policies and practices.
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Vote Required

The affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of our Class B Stock present in person or represented by proxy
and entitled to be voted on the proposal at the Annual Meeting is required for advisory approval of this proposal.

Mr. Cotter has indicated that he intends to vote his approximately 70% of the outstanding shares of our Class B
Stock in accordance with the Board of Directors’ recommendation and “for” such approval, and if he does, Proposal 2 will
be approved.

Recommendation of the Board

OUR BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE “FOR” THE APPROVAL OF THE COMPENSATION OF OURNAMED
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AS DISCLLOSED IN THIS PROXY STATEMENT PURSUANT TO THE
COMPENSATION DISCLOSURE RULES OF THE SEC.

BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF SECURITIES

The following table sets forth the shares of Class A Stock and Class B Stock beneficially owned on the Record
Date by:

e cach of our incumbent Directors and Director nominees;

o cach of our named executive officers set forth in the Summary Compensation Table of this Proxy
Statement;
e cach person known to us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our Class B Stock; and

o all of our incumbent Directors and executive officers as a group.

Except as noted, we believe that each beneficial owner has sole voting power and sole investment power with
respect to the shares shown.

Amount and Nature of Beneficial Ownership (1)

Class A Stock Class B Stock
Name and Address of Number of Percentage Number of Percentage
Beneficial Owner Shares of Stock Shares of Stock
James J. Cotter, Sr. (2) 3,024,097 13.7% 1,123,888 70.4%
James J. Cotter, Jr. (3) 718,232 3.3% - -
Ellen M. Cotter (4) 768,766 3.5% 50,000 3.2%
Margaret Cotter (5) 682,870 3.1% 35,100 2.3%
Guy Adams (6) 20,000 # - -
William D. Gould (7) 84,840 * - -
Edward L. Kane (7) 65,000 * 100 #
Douglas J. McEachem (8) 29,000 * - -
Tim Storey (8) 25,000 # - -
Alfred Villasefior (9) 34,300 * - -
Andrze) Matyczynski (10) 73,244 * - -
Robert F. Smering (11) 43,750 * - -

Wayne Smith - - - -




Mark Cuban (12) 72,164 * 207,611 13.9%
5424 Deloache Avenue

Dallas, Texas 75220

PICO Holdings, Inc. and PICO Deferred N/A N/A 97.500 6.5%
Holdings, LLC (13)

875 Prospect Street, Suite 301

La Jolla, California 92037

All Directors and Executive Officers as a 5,534,799 24.7% 1,209,088 71.9%
Group (12 persons)(14)

(1) Percentage ownership is determined based on 22,015,738 shares of Class A Stock and 1,495,490 shares of Class
B Stock outstanding on the Record Date. Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with SEC
rules. Shares subject to options that are presently exercisable, or exercisable within 60 days of the Record Date,
which are indicated by footnote, are deemed to be beneficially owned by the person holding the options and are
deemed to be outstanding in computing the percentage ownership of that person, but not in computing the
percentage ownership of any other person. An asterisk (*) denotes beneficial ownership ofless than 1%.

(2) The Class B Stock shown includes 100,000 shares subject to stock options and 1,023,888 shares owned by the
James J. Cotter Living Trust, of which Mr. Cotter, Sr. 1s the sole trustee. The shares of Class A Stock shown
include 1,602,226 shares owned by the James J. Cotter Living Trust, 29,730 shares held in a pension fund in
Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s name, 1,000,000 shares held by Cotter Enterprises, LLC, of which M= Cotter, St is the sole
voting member, 289,390 shares held by a trust for Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s grandchildren, of which Mr. Cotter, Sr. is the
trustee, and 102,751 held by the James J. Cotter Foundation, of which Mr. Cotter, St is the trustee. Mr. Cotter,
Sr. has no pecuniary interest in the shares held by his grandchildren’s trust or the James J. Cotter
Foundation. Mr Cotter, St.’s pecuniary interest in the shares held by Cotter Enterprises, LLC is limited to
10,000 of the shares held by Cotter Enterprises, LLC, representing his 1% interest in that entity. The Cotter
2005 Children’s Trust U/D/T dated December 31, 2005 (the “Cotter Children’s Trust”) holds a 99% non-voting
interest in Cotter Enterprises, LLC.

(3) The Class A Stock shown includes 22,500 shares subject to stock options, and excludes any indirect interest in
the shares held by Cotter Enterprises, LLC. It also includes 25,000 shares subject to stock options exercisable on
June 3,2014.

(4) The Class A Stock shown includes 95,000 shares subject to stock options, and excludes any indirect interest in
the shares held by Cotter Enterprises, LLC. The Class B Stock shown consists of shares subject to stock options.

(5) The Class A Stock shown includes 2 7,500 shares subject to stock options, and excludes any indirect interest in
the shares held by Cotter Enterprises, LLC. The Class B Stock shown consists of shares subject to stock options.

(6) Includes 20,000 shares subject to stock options.
(7) Includes 47,500 shares subject to stock options.
(8) Includes 25,000 shares subject to stock options.




(9) Includes 22,500 shares subject to stock options.

(10) Includes 47,600 shares subject to stock options.

(11) Includes 43,750 shares subject to stock options.

(12) Based on Mr. Cuban’s Form 4 filed on July 18, 2011 and Schedule 13-G filed on February 14,2012.

(13) Based on the PICO Holdings, Inc. and PICO Deferred Holdings, LLC Schedule 13-G filed on February 15, 2011.

(14) The Class A Stock shown includes 423,850 shares subject to stock options and the Class B Stock shown
includes 185,100 shares subject to stock options.

SECTION 16(A) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our officers and Directors and persons who own more than 10% of
either class of our common stock to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership with the Securities and Exchange
Commuission. The SEC rules also require such reporting persons to fumish us with a copy of all Section 16(a) forms they
file.

Based solely on a review of the copies of the forms we have received and on written representations from certain
reporting persons, during 2013, it appears that certain Section 16(a) filings were not timely made.  Mr. James J. Cotter,
Sr. filed four late reports on Form 4 covering five transactions. M. James J. Cotter, Jr. filed one late report on From 4 and
one late report on Form 5 covering two transactions. Ellen M. Cotter filed two late reports on Form 4, pertaining to five
transactions. Ms. Margaret Cotter filed one late filing on Form 4 and one late filing on Form 5 pertaining to two
transactions. Messrs. William Gould, Edward L. Kane, Douglas J. McEachem and Alfred Villasenor each filed one late
Form 4 relating to the grant of Director stock option to them on June 21, 2013. Mr Andrzej J. Matyczynski made three
late filings on form 4 relating to three transactions. Mr. Wayne Smith filed one late filing on from 4, relating to a single
transaction. Generally speaking, these late filing related to the granting or exercise of stock options or stock grants or, in
the case of the members of the Cotter family, transfers between affiliates of such Cotter Family Members and did not
involve open market transactions.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The following table sets forth information regarding our executive officers other than James J. Cotter, Sr., James
J. Cotter, Jr, and Ellen M. Cotter, whose information is set forth above under “Proposal 1: Election of Directors —
Nominees for Election.”

Name Age Title

Andrze) Matyczynski 61 Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Robert F. Smerling 79 President - Domestic Cinemas

Wayne Smith 56 Managing Director — Australia and New Zealand

Andrze) Matyczynski has served as our Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of our Company since November
1999. Prnor to joining our Company, he spent 20 years in various senior roles throughout the world at Beckman Coulter
Inc., a U.S. based multi-national. Mr. Matyczynski eamed a Masters Degree in Business Administration from the
University of Southern Califoria.

Robert F. Smerling has served as President of our domestic cinema operations since 1994. Mr. Smerling has been
in the cinema industry for 56 years and, immediately before joining our Company, served as the President of Loews
Theatres Management Corporation.

...........................................................................................................................................................................................................................




Wayne D. Smith joined the Company in April 2004 after 23 years with Hoyts Cinemas. During his time with
Hoyts, he was a key dniver, as Head of Property, in growing the company’s Australian and New Zealand operations via an
AUDS$250 million expansion to more than 50 sites and 400 screens. While at Hoyts, his career included heading up the
group’s car parking company, cinema operations, representing Hoyts as a Director on various joint venture interests, and
coordinating many asset acquisitions and disposals the company made.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Compensation Discussion and Analysis
Role and Authority of the Compensation Committee

The Board of Directors of our Company has established a standing Compensation Committee, which we refer to
in this section as the “Committee,” consisting of two or more of our non-employee Directors. As a Controlled Company,
we are exempt from the NASDAQ Rules regarding the determination of executive compensation. The Compensation
Committee has no formal charter, and acts pursuant to the general authority delegated to the Committee by our Board of
Directors.

The Compensation Committee recommends to the full Board of Directors the compensation of our Chief
Executive Officer and of any Cotter family members. Our Board of Directors, with Directors James J. Cotter, Sr., Ellen M.
Cotter, Margaret Cotter, and James J. Cotter, Jr. abstaining, typically accepts the recommendation of the Compensation
Committee without modification, but reserves the right to modify the recommendations or take other action. James J.
Cotter, Sr., as our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, has been delegated responsibility by our Board to determine the
compensation of our executive officers other than Cotter family members. In his discretion, however, Mr. Cotter, Sr., may
seck the advice of the Compensation Committee on matters related to the compensation of other named executive
officers. The Board of Directors exercises oversight of Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s executive compensation decisions as a part of his
performance as our Company’s Chief Executive Officer, and from time to time performs other compensation-related
functions.

Throughout this proxy section, the individuals named in the Summary Compensation Table, below, are referred
to as the “named executive officers.”

CEO Compensation

The Compensation Committee recommends to the Board of Directors the annual compensation of our Chief
Executive Officer, based primarily upon the Compensation Committee’s annual review of peer group practices and the
advice of an independent third-party compensation consultant who reports directly to the Compensation
Committee. Consistent with the above program, the Compensation Committee utilizes three elements -- a base salary
cash component, a discretionary annual cash bonus component, and a fixed stock grant component — with respect to our
Chief Executive Officer’s compensation. The objective of each element is to reasonably reward Mr. Cotter, Sr. for his
performance and leadership.

In 2012, the Compensation Committee engaged Towers Watson, executive compensation consultants, to analyze
our Chief Executive Officer’s total direct compensation compared to a peer group of companies. In preparing the analyses,
Towers Watson, in consultation with our management, including Mr. James J. Cotter, Sr, identified a peer group of
companies in the real estate and cinema exhibition industries, our two business segments, based on market value,
industry, and business description. The Committee relied upon the Towers Watson 2012 analysis in determining our
Chief Executive Officer’s compensation for 2013.
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In 2007, our Board of Directors approved a supplemental executive retirement plan (“SERP) pursuant to which
we agreed to provide Mr. Cotter, Sr., supplemental retirement benefits to reward him for his more than 25 years of service
to our Company and its predecessors. The SERP is described in greater detail below under the caption “Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plan.” As this plan was adopted as a reward for past services and as the amounts to be paid under
that plan are determined by application of an already agreed to formula, the Compensation Committee does not take into
account the benefits under that plan in determining Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s annual compensation. The amounts reflected in the
Executive Compensation Table under the heading “Change in Pension Value and Nonqualified Deferred Compensation
Eamings” reflect an actuarnal analysis of any increase in the present value of the SERP benefit and reflects the actuanal
impact of the payment of Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s cash compensation and changes in interest rates. Since the plan 1s unfunded,
this amount does not reflect any actual payment by our Company into the plan or the value of any assets in the plan (of
which there are none). The benefits to Mr. Cotter, Sr. under the plan are tied only to the cash portion of his compensation,
and not to compensation in the form of stock options or stock grants.

2013 CEQ Compensation

For purposes of establishing our Chief Executive Officer’s 2013 Compensation, Towers Watson in December
2012 provided the Committee an updated written assessment of Mr. Cotter Sr.’s total direct compensation compared to
the following peer group of companies:

Acadia Realty Trust Inland Real Estate Corp.

Amalgamated Holdings Ltd. Kite Realty Group Trust

Associated Estates Realty Corp. LTC Properties Inc.

Bluegreen Corp. Pennsylvania Real Estate Investment Trust
Carmike Cinemas Inc. Ramco-Gershenson Properties Trust

Cedar Shopping Centers Inc. Regal Entertainment Group

Cinemark Holdings Inc. The Marcus Corporation

Entertainment Properties Trust Urstadt Biddle Properties Inc.

Glimcher Realty Trust Village Roadshow Ltd.

IMAX Corporation

The 2012 Towers Watson analysis predicted pay levels of the peer group for 2013 using regression analysis to
adjust pay data based on estimated annuval revenues of $250 million. Towers Watson considers pay levels to be
competitive if they are within 15% (plus or minus) of the levels among the peer companies. According to Towers
Watson’s assessment, Mr. Cotter Sr’s overall compensation was in line with the 66th percentile among the peer
companies. The Compensation Committee, however, does not target Mr. Cotter Sr.’s compensation to any particular
percentile of compensation among the peer companies.

The Company paid Towers Watson a fee of $24,000 for its services in preparing the 2012 analysis.

Based on the above 2012 Towers Watson analysis, on Januwary 15, 2013, the Compensation Committee
recommended to the Board, and the Board subsequently accepted, the following compensation program for our Chief
Executive Officer for 2013.

Salary: £750,000

The Compensation Committee determined to increase Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s 2013 annual base salary from $700,000 in
2012 to $750,000, or approximately 7%. According to Tower Watson’s advice, most of the peer group companics were
considering increases in the range of 3%. In deciding to recommend an increase in Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s annual base salary,
the Compensation Committee decided to maintain Mr. Cotter Sr.’s overall total compensation increase from 2012 to
within the 3% range, but make the adjustment fully on the base salary. The Compensation Committee also considered the
fact that the increase would necessarily result in an increase in Mr Cotter, Sr.’s SERP, but this did not affect the
Compensation Committee’s recommendation,
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since the SERP is fully vested and, except for changes in benefits resulting from changes in Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s annual cash
compensation, Mr. Cotter, Sr. is no longer accruing additional benefits under the SERP.

Discretionary Cash Bonus: Up to $500,000.

The Compensation Committee determined to maintain the upper range of Mr. Cotter, St’s usual discretionary
cash bonus for 2013 at the 2012 level. No benchmarks, formulas or quantitative or qualitative measurements of any kind
were specified for use in determining the amount of cash bonus to be awarded within this range. In its annual
compensation review, the Compensation Committee recommends to the Board the actual amount of the cash bonus,
within such range, at its discretion and based solely on its subjective evaluation of our Chief Executive Officer’s
performance. As it typically has done in the past, in December 2013 the Compensation Committee recommended that the
full amount of the discretionary cash bonus be awarded to Mr Cotter, Sr. for 2013. The Compensation Committee
reserved the right to increase the $500,000 upper range of discretionary cash bonus amount based upon parameters
discussed with Mr. Cotter, Sr.

At its January 15, 2013 meeting, the Compensation Committee also determined to recommend to the Board of
Directors an additional 2013 cash bonus to Mr. Cotter, St. of up to $500,000 based on the achievement of specified
criteria relating to the progress of the Company’s proposed Cinemas and Union Square developments in New York City.

In subsequent informal discussions among the Compensation Committee members later in 2013, they discussed
the progress of the Company’s development, which had been delayed temporarily by subway and landmarking issues, as
well as the continued importance to the Company of the proposed development and estimated appreciation in the value
of the proposed development. The Compensation Committee members also considered the diversion of Mr. Cotter, St’s
time and attention by other business of the Company, including the successful sale of the Company’s Moonee Ponds
Property for AUS$23 million, which the Compensation Committee had not considered in recommending the additional
$500,000 bonus for2013.

As a result of the above, at a meeting of the Board of Directors on January 14, 2014, the Chairman of the
Compensation Committee summarized the discussions among the Compensation Committee members and reported that
there was a consensus among the members that Mr. Cotter, St. should be awarded the full additional $500,000 bonus for
2013 despite the Company’s failure to meet certain criteria originally established by the Compensation Committee in
January 2013 as the basis for the payment of the additional $500,000 bonus for 2013. Based on the Compensation
Committee’s report and recommendations, the Board of Directors, with Mr. Cotter, St. and Mr. Cotter, Jr. and Ellen Cotter
abstaining, approved the payment to Mr. Cotter, Sr., of the full $500,000 additional bonus for 2013.

Stock Bonus: $750,000 (125,209 shares of Class A Stock).

In its meeting on January 15, 2013, the Compensation Committee determined that, so long as Mr. Cotter, St’s
employment with the Company was not terminated prior to December 31, 2013 other than as a result of his death or
disability, he was to receive 125,209 shares of our Company’s Class A Stock: the number of shares of Class Anonvoting
common stock equal to $750,000 divided by the closing price of the stock on January 15, 2013, the date the Committee
approved the stock bonus. These shares were issued on April §,2014.

None of our executive officers plays a role in determining the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer.
When invited by the Compensation Committee, Mr. Cotter, Sr. attends meetings of the Compensation Committee. In
2013, he attended one such meeting. Before recommending any changes to our Chief Executive Officer’s compensation,
the Compensation Committee typically discusses the proposed changes with Mr. Cotter, Sr. and Andrzej Matyczynski,
our Chief Financial Officer, occasionally attends Compensation Committee meetings as he did in 2013 to provide
information as requested by the Committee.

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx
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2014 CEQ Compensation

For purposes of establishing our Chief Executive Officer’s 2014 compensation, the Company engaged Towers
Watson to generate an updated report, which the Company received on February 26, 2014.

The Company paid Towers Watson $7,455 for the updated report.

The Towers Watson analysis focused on the competitiveness of Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s annual base salary, total cash
compensation and total direct compensation (i.e., total cash compensation plus expected value of long-term
compensation) relative to, with one exception, the same peer group of 19 United States and Australian companies and
published compensation survey data, and to the Company’s compensation philosophy. The excepted former peer group
company was Bluegreen Corp., which was acquired in 2013.

Towers Watson again predicted pay levels by using regression analysis to adjust compensation data based on
estimated annual revenues of $260 million (i.e., the Company’s approximate annual revenues) for all companies,
excluding financial services companies. The published survey data was updated to January 1, 2014 using an annual
update factor of 3%, which reflects the projected 2013 salary budget increase for the arts, entertainment and recreation
industry. As in its prior reports to the Company, Towers Watson did not evaluate Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s SERP, because the
SERP is fully vested and accrues no additional benefits except as Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s annual cash compensation changes.

The Towers Watson analysis indicated that Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s total direct compensation for 2013, including the
$500,000 additional cash bonus to Mr. Cotter, Sr., was in line with the 66th percentile of the peer group.

The Towers Watson analysis indicated that the peer group data, with the exception of annual base salary, is
above Mr Cotter, Sr.’s annual base salary as it was in 2012 even after the 7% increase in Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s salary
implemented in 2013. The peer group is partially comprised of companies that are larger than Reading and the 66th
percentile level tend to reflect the larger peers. However, Towers Watson analysis also indicated that the size of the
Company’s peers does not materially affect the pay levels at the peer companies. The published survey data of companies
of comparable size reviewed by Towers Watson is below the Company’s pay levels.

Towers Watson combined the data from the peer group and the published survey data to compile “blended”
market data. As compared to the blended market data, Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s cash compensation is in line with the 66th
percentile while the total direct compensation, which includes the expected value of long-term incentive compensation,
would have been below the 66th percentile, without the additional $500,000 cash bonus paid to Mr. Cotter, Sr. for 2013.

Because our Company is comparable to the smaller companies in the peer group, Towers Watson reviewed
whether the size of the proxy peer group of companies had a meaningful impact on reported CEO pay levels, and
concluded that there is a weak correlation between company size and CEO compensation. It concluded, therefore, that it
is not necessary to separately adjust the peer group data based on the size of our Company, since the peer group was
selected based on the acceptable revenue range. The Compensation Committee met on February 27, 2014 to consider
the Towers Watson analysis. At the meeting, the Compensation Committee determined to recommend to our Board of
Directors the following compensation for our Chief Executive Officer for 2014. The Board met on March 13, 2014 and
accepted this recommendation without change.

Salary: £750,000

The Compensation Committee recommended maintaining Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s 2014 annual base salary at $750,000,
its 2013 level.
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Discretionary Cash Bonus: Up to 8750,000.

The Compensation Committee determined to increase the upper range of Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s usual discretionary
cash bonus for 2014 from the 2013 level of $500,000 to $750,000. The bonus is subject to Mr. Cotter, Sr. being
employed by our Company at year-end, unless his employment is terminated earlier due to his death or disability. No
other benchmarks, formulas or quantitative or qualitative measurements were specified for use in determining the amount
of cash bonus to be awarded within this range. As in the past, the Compensation Committee reserves the right to increase
the upper range of discretionary cash bonus amount based upon exceptional results of the Company or Mr. Cotter, St.’s
exceptional performance as determined in the Compensation Committee’s discretion

Stock Bonus: $1,200,000 (160,643 shares of Class A Stock).

In its meeting on February 27, 2014, the Compensation Committee determined that, so long as Mr. Cotter, St’s
employment with the Company is not terminated prior to December 31, 2014 other than as a result of his death or
disability, he 1s to receive 160,643 shares of our Company’s Class A Stock; the number of shares of Class A nonvoting

common stock equal to $1,200,000 divided by the closing price of the stock on February 27, 2104, the date the
Committee approved the stock bonus.

Compensation of Other Named Executive Officers

Mr. Cotter Sr., our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, sets the compensation of our executive officers other
than himself and the members of his family. Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s decisions are not subject to approval by the Compensation
Committee or the Board of Directors, but our Compensation Committee and our Board consider Mr. Cotter, St.’s decisions
with respect to Executive Compensation in evaluating his performance as our Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Cotter, Sr. has
informed the Company that he does not use any formula, benchmark or other quantitative measure to establish or award
any component of executive compensation, nor does he consult with compensation consultants on the matter. Mr. Cotter,

Sr. has advised the Company that he considers the following guidelines in setting the type and amount of executive
compensation:

1. Executive compensation should primarily be used to:

e  attract and retain talented executives;
o reward executives appropriately for their individual efforts and job performance; and

o afford executives appropriate incentives to achieve the short-term and long-term business objectives
established by management and our Board of Directors.

2. In support of the foregoing, the total compensation paid to our named executive officers should be:

o fair both to our Company and to the named executive officers;
e reasonable in nature and amount; and
e competitive with market compensation rates.

Personal and Company performances are just two factors considered by Mr. Cotter, Sr. in establishing base
salaries and awarding discretionary compensation. We have no pre-established policy or target for allocating total
executive compensation between base and discretionary or incentive compensation, or between cash and stock-based
incentive compensation. Historically, including in 2013, a majority of total compensation to our named executive
officers was in the form of annual base salaries and discretionary cash bonuses, although stock bonuses have been granted
from time to time under special circumstances. These elements are discussed further below.
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Salary: Annual base salary is intended to compensate named executive officers for services rendered during the
fiscal year in the ordinary course of performing their job responsibilities. Factors that may be considered by Mr. Cotter,
Sr. in setting the base salanes include (1) the negotiated terms of each executive’s employment agreement or the original
terms of employment; (i1) the individual’s position and level of responsibility with our Company; (i11) periodic review of
the executive’s compensation, both individually and relative to other named executive officers and (iv) a subjective
evaluation of individual job performance of the executive.

Cash Bonus: Cash bonuses may supplement the base salaries of our named executive officers and are entirely
discretionary on the part of Mr. Cotter, Sr. Factors that may be considered by Mr. Cotter, Sr. in awarding cash bonuses are
(1) the level of the executive’s responsibilities; (i1) the efficiency and effectiveness with which he or she oversees the
matters under his or her supervision; and (ii1) the degree to which the officer has contributed to the accomplishment of
major tasks that advance the Company’s goals.

Stock Bonus: Equity incentive bonuses may be awarded to align our executives’ long-term compensation to
appreciation in stockholder value over time and, so long as such grants are within the parameters set by our 2010 Stock
Incentive Plan, are entirely discretionary on the part of Mr. Cotter, Sr. Other stock grants are subject to Board Approval.
Equity awards may include stock options, restricted stock, bonus stock, or stock appreciation rights.

If awarded, it is generally our policy to value stock options and restricted stock at the closing price of our
common stock as reported on the NASDAQ Capital Market on the date the award is approved or on the date of hire, if the
stock 1s granted as a recruitment incentive. When stock is granted as bonus compensation for a particular transaction, the
award may be based on the market price on a date calculated from the closing date of the relevant transaction. Awards
may also be subject to vesting and limitations on voting or other rights.

Andrze) Matyczynski, our Chief Financial Officer, has a written employment agreement with our Company that
provides for a specified annual base salary and other compensation as described elsewhere in this proxy statement.

Other than Mr. Cotter, Sr.'s role in setting compensation, none of our executive officers play a role in determining
the compensation of our named executive officers.

Key Person Insurance

Our Company maintains key person life insurance on certain individuals who we believe to be key to our
management. These individuals include certain of our current officers, Directors and independent contractors.  If such
individual ceases to be an employee, Director or independent contractor of our Company, as the case may be, he or she is
permitted, by assuming responsibility for all future premium payments, to replace our Company as the beneficiary under
such policy. These policies allow each such individual to purchase up to an equal amount of insurance for such
individual’s own benefit. In the case of our employees, the premium for both the insurance as to which our Company is
the beneficiary and the insurance as to which our employee is the beneficiary, is paid by our Company. In the case of
named executive officers the premium paid by our Company for the benefit of such individual is reflected in the
Compensation Table in the column captioned “All Other Compensation.”

Retirement Benefits

We provide all of our employees, including Mr. Cotter, Sr. and our other named executive officers, a retirement
savings plan qualified under Intemal Revenue Code section 401(k). To be eligible to participate, employees must have
completed four months of employment, and must be over 21 years of age. Employees choosing to participate can make
contributions to their plan account on a pre-tax basis up to the maximum




annual amount permitted by IRS rulings. The Company usually matches employee contributions dollar-for-dollar up to
3% of employee wages, then 50 cents per dollar between 3% and 5% of employee wages.

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan

In March 2007, our Board of Directors approved a Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (“SERP”) pursuant
to which we agreed to provide Mr. Cotter, Sr. supplemental retirement benefits to reward him for his more than 25 years of
service to our Company and its predecessors. Under the SERP, following his separation from our Company, Mr. Cotter,
Sr. will be entitled to receive from our Company for the remainder of his life (with a guaranteed minimum of 180 monthly
payments) a monthly payment of the greater of (1) 40% of his average monthly base salary and cash bonuses over the
highest consecutive 36-month period of eamings prior to Mr Cotter, Sr's separation from service with us or (ii)
$25,000. The beneficianies under the SERP may be designated by Mr. Cotter, Sr. or by his beneficiary following his
death. The benefits under the SERP are fully vested.

The SERP is unfunded and, as such, the SERP benefits are unsecured, general obligations of our Company. We
may choose in the future to establish one or more grantor trusts from which to pay the SERP benefits. The SERP is
administered by the Compensation Committee.

Other Retirement Plans

John Hunter, our former Chief Operating Officer, left the company in June 2013, and in accordance with the
provisions of his employment agreement, the Company paid the vested pension benefit of $400,000 on February 3,2014,
without interest.

During 2012, Mr. Matyczynski was granted an unfunded deferred compensation plan (“DCP”) that is partially
vested and will vest further, assuming he remains in our continuous employ. If Mr. Matyczynski is terminated for cause,
then the total vested amount reduces to zero. The incremental amount vested each year is subject to review and approval
by our Board of Directors (with the concurrence of our Chairman). Assuming no changes in the incremental vesting
amount by our Board of Directors, Mr. Matyczynski’s DCP will vest as follows:

Total Vested Amount at
the End of Each Vesting
December 31 Year

2013 $ 300,000
2014 $ 375,000
2015 $ 450,000
2016 $ 525,000
2017 $ 625,000
2018 $ 750,000
2019 $ 1,000,000

Payment of the vested benefit is to be made in three equal annual payments, starting six months after he ceases
to be employed by our Company.

We currently maintain no other retirement plan for our named executive officers.
Tax and Accounting Considerations

Deductibility of Executive Compensation

\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\




Subject to an exception for “performance-based compensation,” Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code
generally prohibits publicly held corporations from deducting for federal income tax purposes annual compensation paid
to any senior executive officer to the extent that such annual compensation exceeds $1.0 million. The Compensation
Committee and our Board of Directors consider the limits on deductibility under Section 162(m) in establishing
executive compensation, but retain the discretion to authorize the payment of compensation that exceeds the limit on
deductibility under this Section as in the case of Mr. Cotter, Sr.

Nongualified Deferred Compensation

We believe we are operating, where applicable, in compliance with the tax rules applicable to nonqualified
deferred compensation arrangements.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

Beginning on January 1, 2006, we began accounting for stock-based payments in accordance with the
requirements of Statement of Accounting Standards No. 123(R). Our decision to award restricted stock to Mr. Cotter, Sr.
and other named executive officers from time to time was based in part upon the change in accounting treatment for stock
options. Accounting treatment otherwise has had no significant effect on our compensation decisions.

Say on Pay and Say When Pay

At our Company’s Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on May 19, 2011, we held an advisory vote on
executive compensation and an advisory vote on the frequency of future executive compensation advisory votes. Our
stockholders voted in favor of our Company’s executive compensation and in favor of providing stockholders with an
advisory vote on future executive compensation every three years. In light of the voting results and other factors, the
Board determined to provide stockholders with an advisory vote on future executive compensation every three
years. The Committee reviewed the results of the advisory vote on executive compensation in 2012 and did not make
any changes to our compensation based on the results of the vote. The Committee will review the results of the upcoming
advisory vote on executive compensation and decide whether any changes should be made going forward.

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed with management the “Compensation Discussion
and Analysis” required by Item 401(b) of Regulation S-K and, based on such review and discussions, has
recommended to our Board of Directors that the foregoing “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” be included in
this Proxy Statement.

Respectfully submitted,

Edward L.. Kane, Chairman
Tim Storey
Alfred Villasefior
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Summary Compensation Table

The following table presents summary information concerning all compensation payable to our named executive
officers for services rendered in all capacities during the past three completed fiscal years:

Change in Pension

Value and
Nonqualified
Deferred
Option Compensation All Other
Salary Bonus Stock Awards Awards Earnings Compensation Total
Year % % % % (% % %
James J. Cotter, Sr. 2013 750,000 1,000,000 750,000 (1) -- 1,455,000 (2) 25,000 (3) 3,980,000
Chairman of the Board 2012 700,000 500,000 950,000 -- 2,433,000 24,000 4,607,000
and Chief Executive 2011 500,000 500,000 750,000 -- -- 25,000 1,775,000
Officer
Andrzej Matyczynski 2013 309,000 35,000 -- 33,000 50,000 (3) 26,000 (4) 453,000
Chief Financial Officer 2012 309,000 -- -- 33,000 250,000 25,000 617,000
and Treasurer 2011 309,000 -- -- 31,000 -- 22,000 362,000
Robert F. Smerling 2013 350,000 50,000 -- -- -- 22,000 (4) 422,000
President — Domestic 2012 350,000 50,000 - -- -- 22,000 422,000
Cinema Operations 2011 350,000 25,000 -- -- -- 18,000 393,000
Ellen M. Cotter 2013 335,000 -- -- -- -- 25,000 (4) 360,000
Chief Operating Officer 2012 335,000 60,000 -- -- -- 25,000 420,000
Domestic Cinemas 2011 275,000 - - - - 24,000 299,000
Wayne Smith 2013 339,000 -- -- -- -- 20,000 (4) 359,000
Managing Director - 2012 357,000 16,000 -- 22,000 -- 19,000 414,000
Australia and New Zealand 2011 353,000 26,000 -- 33,000 -- 40,000 452,000

(1) Based on closing price of our Class A Nonvoting Common Stock on January 15,2013.

(2) Represents an increase in the actuarial value of Mr. Cotter. Sr.’s SERP at December 31, 2013, as estimated by
Towers Watson in January 201 4. As the SERP is unfunded, this does not represent any current payment or
contribution by our Company. Rather, it is simply a calculation of the increase in the present value of the
formula benefits provided for in the SERP, and reflects items such as the timing of cash compensation payments
made to Mr. Cotter, Sr., and interest rates from time to time. No change has been made to the SERP benefits since
its inception in 2007.

(3) We own a condominium in West Hollywood, California, which is used as an executive meeting place and
office. “All Other Compensation” includes our matching contributions under our 401(k) plan, the incremental
cost to our Company of providing the use of the West Hollywood Condominium to Mr. Cotter, Sr. , the cost ofa
Company automobile used by Mr. Cotter, Sr., and health club dues paid by the Company.

(4) Represents our employer’s matching contributions under our 401(k) plan, key person insurance, and any car
allowances.
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(5) Represents increases in the value ofthe DCP for Mr. Matyczynski at December 31, 2013.  As this DCP is
unfunded, these amounts do not represent any current payment or contribution by our Company. Rather, it is
simply a calculation of the increase in the value of the benefits provided for by the DCP.

Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The following table contains information conceming the stock grants made to our named executive officers for
the year ended December 31,2013:

All Other
Stock Awards: Grant Date
Number of Fair Value of
Shares of Stock and
Name Grant Date Stock or Units Option_Awards
James J. Cotter, Sr. 1/15/2013 125,209 (1) $ 750,000

(1) Represents the value, determined by reference to the closing price of our Class A Stock on January 15,2013, of
shares issued to Mr. Cotter in satisfaction of the stock bonus portion of his compensation package for 2013.
This valuation does not reflect any discount for the fact that these shares are restricted and cannot be sold for

five years.
Outstanding Equity Awards

The following table contains information conceming the outstanding option and stock awards of our named
executive officers as of December 31,2013:

Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Number of Number of Market

Shares Shares Shares or Value of

Underlying Underlying Units of Shares or

Unexercised Unexercised Option Option Stock that Units that

Options Options Exercise Expiration Have Not Have Not

Class Exercisable  Unexercisable Price (§) Date Vested Vested ($)
James J. Cotter, Sr. B 100,000 -3 1024 5/9/2017 - --
Ellen M. Cotter A 20,000 - $ 5.55 3/16/2018 -- --
Ellen M. Cotter B 50,000 -% 1024 5/9/2017 -- --
Andrze) Matyczynski A 35,100 - % 5.13 9/12/2020 -- --
Andrze) Matyczynski A 12,500 37,500 $ 6.02 8/22/2022 -- --
Robert F. Smerling A 43,750 -$ 1024 5/9/2017 -- --




Option Exercises and Stock Vested

The following table contains information for our named executive officers concerning the option awards that
were exercised and stock awards that vested during the year ended December 31, 2013:

Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Number of
Shares Shares

Acquired on Value Realized Acquired on Value Realized
Name Exercise on Exercise ($) Vesting on Vesting ($)
James J. Cotter, Sr. -8 -- 125,209 $ 937,815
Ellen M. Cotter 75,000 $ 300,750 -5 --
Wayne Smith 50,000 $ 200,500 -5 -

Pension Benefits

The following table contains information concerning pension plans for each of the named executive officers for
the year ended December 31,2013:

Number of
Years of Present Value of Payments
Credited Accumulated During Last
Name Plan Name Service Benefit () Fiscal Year (8)
James J. Cotter, Sr. SERP 26 $ 7,398,000 $ -
Andrzej Matyczynski CFODCP 4 3 300,000 $ --

Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control
We have entered into the following termination arrangements with the following named executive officer:

Andrzej Matyczynski. Pursuant to his employment agreement, Mr. Matyczynski is entitled to a severance
payment equal to six months’ salary in the event his employment is involuntarily terminated.

Wayne Smith. Pursuant to his employment agreement, Mr. Smith is entitled to a severance payment equal to six
months’ salary if the Reading Board terminates his employment for not meeting the standards of anticipated performance.

No other named executive officers have termination benefits in their employment agreements. None of our
employment agreements with our named executive officers have provisions relating to change in control.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

The current members of our Compensation Committee are Alfred Villasefor, Tim Storey and Edward L. Kane,
who serves as Chairman. There are no “interlocks,” as defined by the SEC, with respect to any member of our
Compensation Committee.

CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The members of our Audit and Conflicts Committee are Edward Kane, Tim Storey, and Douglas McEachem, who
serves as Chairman. Management presents all potential related party transactions to
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the Conflicts Committee for review. Qur Conflicts Committee reviews whether a given related party transaction is
beneficial to our Company, and approves or bars the transaction after a thorough analysis. Only Committee members
disinterested in the transaction in question participate in the determination of whether the transaction may proceed.

Sutton Hill Capital

In 2001, we entered into a transaction with Sutton Hill Capital, LLC (“SHC”) regarding the leasing with an
option to purchase of certain cinemas located in Manhattan including our Village East and Cinemas 1, 2 & 3 theaters. In
connection with that transaction, we also agreed to lend certain amounts to SHC, to provide liquidity in its investment,
pending our determination whether or not to exercise our option to purchase and to manage the 86th Street Cinema on a
fee basis. SHC is a limited liability company owned in equal shares by James J. Cotter and a third party and of which Mr.
Cotter is the managing member. The Village East is the only cinema that remains subject to this lease and during 2013,
2012, and 2011, we paid rent to SHC for this cinema in the amount of $590,000 annually.

On June 29, 2010, we agreed to extend our existing lease from SHC of the Village East Cinema in New York City
by 10 years, with a new termination date of June 30, 2020. The Village East lease includes a sub-lease of the ground
underlying the cinema that is subject to a longer-term ground lease between SHC and an unrelated third party that expires
in June 2031 (the “cinema ground lease™). The extended lease provides for a call option pursuant to which Reading may
purchase the cinema ground lease for $5.9 million at the end of the lease term. Additionally, the lease has a put option
pursuant to which SHC may require Reading to purchase all or a portion of SHC’s interest in the existing cinema lease
and the cinema ground lease at any time between July 1, 2013 and December 4, 2019. SHC’s put option may be exercised
on one or more occasions in increments of not less than $100,000 each. We are advised by SHC that they intend to
exercise their put option this year. In 2005, we acquired from a third party the fee interest and from SHC its interest in the
ground lease estate underlying and the improvements constituting the Cinemas 1, 2 & 3. In connection with that
transaction, we granted to SHC an option to acquire a 25% interest in the special purpose entity formed to acquire these
interests at cost. On June 28, 2007, SHC exercised this option, paying the option exercise price through the application
of their $3.0 million deposit plus the assumption of its proportionate share of SHP’s liabilities giving it a 25% non-
managing membership interest in SHP. We manage this cinema property for a management fee equal to 5% of its gross
income.

In 2005, we acquired from a third party the fee interest and from SHC its interest in the ground lease estate
underlying and the improvements constituting the Cinemas 1, 2 & 3. In connection with that transaction, we granted to
SHC an option to acquire a 25% interest in the special purpose entity formed to acquire these interests at cost. On June
28, 2007, SHC exercised this option, paying the option exercise price through the application of their $3.0 million
deposit plus the assumption of its proportionate share of SHP’s liabilities giving it a 25% non-managing membership
interest in SHP.

OBI Management Agreement

Pursuant to a Theater Management Agreement (the “Management Agreement”), our live theater operations
ar¢ managed by OBI LLC (“OBI Management”), which is wholly owned by Ms. Margaret Cotter who 1s the
daughter of James J. Cotter and a member of our Board of Directors.

The Management Agreement generally provides that we will pay OBI Management a combination of fixed
and incentive fees, which historically have equated to approximately 21% of the net cash flow received by us from
our live theaters in New York. Since the fixed fees are applicable only during such periods as the New York
theaters are booked, OBI Management receives no compensation with respect to a theater at any time when it is not
generating revenue for us. This arrangement provides an incentive to OBI Management to keep the theaters booked
with the best available shows, and mitigates the negative cash flow that would result from having an empty
theater. In addition, OBI Management manages our Royal George live theater complex




in Chicago on a fee basis based on theater cash flow. In 2013, OBI Management carned $401,000, which was
20.1% of net cash flows for the year. In 2012, OBI Management earned $390,000, which was 19.7% of net cash
flows for the year. In 2011, OBI Management earned $398,000, which was 19.4% of net cash flows for the
year. In each year, we reimbursed travel related expenses for OBI Management personnel with respect to travel
between New York City and Chicago in connection with the management of the Royal George complex.

OBI Management conducts its operations from our office facilities on a rent-free basis, and we share the
cost of one administrative employee of OBI Management. Other than these expenses and travel-related expenses for
OBI Management personnel to travel to Chicago as referred to above, OBl Management is responsible for all of its
costs and expenses related to the performance of its management functions. The Management Agreement renews
automatically each year unless either party gives at least six months’ prior notice of its determination to allow the
Management Agreement to expire. In addition, we may terminate the Management Agreement at any time for
cause.

Live Theater Play Investment

From time to time, our officers and Directors may invest in plays that lease our live theaters. The play STOMP
has been playing in our Orpheum Theatre since prior to the time we acquired the theater in 2001. Messrs. James J. Cotter
and Michael Forman own an approximately 5% interest in that play, an interest that they have held since prior to our
acquisition ofthe theater.

Shadow View Land and Farming LL1.C

During 2012, Mr James J. Cotter, our Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and controlling sharcholder,
contributed $2.5 million of cash and $255,000 of his 2011 bonus as his 50% share of the purchase price of a land parcel
in Coachella, California and to cover his 50% share of certain costs associated with that acquisition. This land is held in
Shadow View Land and Farming, LLC, in which Mr. Cotter owns a 50% interest. We are the managing member of
Shadow View Land and Farming, LLC, with oversight provided by the Audit and Conflicts Committee of our Board of
Directors.

Certain Family Relationships

Mr. Cotter, Sr., our controlling stockholder, has advised the Board of Directors that he considers his holdings in
our Company to be long-term investments to be passed onto his heirs. The Directors believe that it is in the best interests
of our Company and our stockholders for his heirs to become experienced in our operations and affairs. Accordingly, all
of Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s children are currently involved with our Company and all serve on our Board of Directors.

Certain Miscellaneous Transactions

We have loaned Mr. Robert Smerling, the President of our domestic cinema operations, $70,000 pursuant to an
interest-free demand loan that antedated the effective date of the Sarbanes-Oxley prohibition on loans to Directors and
officers.

INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Our independent public accountants, Grant Thornton, LLP, have audited our financial statements for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2013, and are expected to have a representative present at the Annual Meeting who will have
the opportunity to make a statement if he or she desires to do so and is expected to be available to respond to appropriate
questions.




Aundit Fees

The aggregate fees for professional services for the audit of our financial statements, audit of internal controls
related to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and the reviews of the financial statements included in our Forms 10-K and 10-Q
provided by Grant Thomton LLP for 2013 and 2012 were approximately $550,000 and $593,000, respectively.

Audit-Related Fees
Grant Thomton, LLP did not provide us any audit related services forboth 2013 and 2012.
Tax Fees

Grant Thomton, LLP did not provide us any products or any services for tax compliance, tax advice, or tax
planning forboth 2013 and 2012.

All Other Fees
Grant Thomton, LLP did not provide us any other services than as set forth above forboth 2013 and 2012.
Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

Our Audit Committee must pre-approve, to the extent required by applicable law, all audit services and
permissible non-audit services provided by our independent registered public accounting firm, except for any de minimis
non-audit services. Non-audit services are considered de minimis if (i) the aggregate amount of all such non-audit
services constitutes less than 5% of the total amount of revenues we paid to our independent registered public accounting
firm during the fiscal year in which they are provided; (i) we did not recognize such services at the time of the
engagement to be non-audit services; and (ii1) such services are promptly submitted to our Audit Committee for approval
prior to the completion of the audit by our Audit Committee or any of its member(s) who has authority to give such
approval. Our Audit Committee pre-approved all services provided to us by Grant Thomton LLP for 2013 and 2012.

STOCKHOLDER COMMUNICATIONS
Annual Report

A copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 201 3 is being provided with
this Proxy Statement.

Stockholder Communications with Directors

It is the policy of our Board of Directors that any communications sent to the attention of any one or more of our
Directors in care of our executive offices will be promptly forwarded to such Directors. Such communications will not be
opened or reviewed by any of our officers or employees, or by any other Director, unless they are requested to do so by the
addressee of any such communication. Likewise, the content of any telephone messages left for any one or more of our
Directors (including call-back number, if any) will be promptly forwarded to that Director.

Stockholder Proposals and Director Nominations

Any stockholder who, in accordance with and subject to the provisions of the proxy rules of the SEC, wishes to
submit a proposal for inclusion in our Proxy Statement for our 2015 Annual Meeting of
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Stockholders, must deliver such proposal in writing to the Secretary of the Company at the address of our Company’s
principal executive offices at 6100 Center Drive, Suite 900, Los Angeles, California 9004 5. Unless we change the date of
our annual meeting by more than 30 days from the prior year’s meeting, such written proposal must be delivered to us no
later than Januvary 6, 2015 to be considered timely. If our 2015 Annual Meeting is not within 30 days of the anniversary
of our 2014 Annual Meeting, to be considered timely, stockholder proposals must be received no later than ten days after
the earlier of (a) the date on which notice of the 2015 Annual Meecting is mailed, or (b) the date on which the Company
publicly discloses the date of the 2015 Annual Meeting, including disclosure in an SEC filing or through a press
release. If we do not receive timely notice of a stockholder proposal, the proxies that we hold may confer discretionary
authorty to vote against such stockholder proposal, even though such proposal is not discussed in our Proxy Statement
for that meeting.

Our Board of Directors will consider written nominations for Directors from stockholders. Nominations for the
election of Directors made by our stockholders must be made by written notice delivered to our Secretary at our principal
executive offices not less than 120 days prior to the first anniversary of the date that this Proxy Statement is first sent to
stockholders. Such written notice must set forth the name, age, address, and principal occupation or employment of such
nominee, the number of shares of our Company’s common stock that is beneficially owned by such nominee and such
other information required by the proxy rules of the SEC with respect to a nominee of the Board of Directors.

Under our governing documents and applicable Nevada law, our stockholders may also directly nominate
candidates from the floor at any meeting of our stockholders held at which Directors are to be elected.

OTHER MATTERS

We do not know of any other matters to be presented for consideration other than the proposals described above,
but if any matters are properly presented, it is the intention of the persons named in the accompanying proxy to vote on
such matters in accordance with their judgment.

DELIVERY OF PROXY MATERIALS TO HOUSEHOLDS

As permitted by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, only one copy of the proxy materials are being delivered
to our stockholders residing at the same address, unless such stockholders have notified us of their desire to receive
multiple copies of the proxy materials.

We will promptly deliver without charge, upon oral or written request, a separate copy of the proxy materials to
any stockholder residing at an address to which only one copy was mailed. Requests for additional copies should be
directed to our Corporate Secretary by telephone at (213) 235-2240 or by mail to Corporate Secretary, Reading
International, Inc., 6100 Center Drive, Suite 900, Los Angeles, California 90045.

Stockholders residing at the same address and currently receiving only one copy of the proxy materials may
contact the Corporate Secretary as described above to request multiple copies of the proxy materials in the future.

By Order of the Board of Directors,
X

LT, e




PROXY CARD

Electronic Voting Instructions

You can vote by Internet or telephone!
&\‘@ &%&&% § N &% ?vailzbltlzpﬂ .llllours a day, 7 days a week‘.’h . .
iYL AN L nstead o mailing your proxy, you may choose one of the two voting
methods outlined below to vote your proxy.
VALIDATION DETAILS ARE LOCATED BELOW IN THE TITLE BAR
Proxies submitted by the Internet or telephone must be received by
1:00 a.m., Central Time, on May 15, 2014.
Vote by Internet
Log on to the Internet and go to
www.investorvote.com/RDI
Follow the steps outlined on the secured website.
Vote by telephone
Call toll free 1-800-652-VOTE (8683) within the USA, US territories &
Canada any time on a touch tone telephone. There is NO CHARGE to
vou for the call.
Follow the instructions provided by the recorded message.

Annual Meeting Proxy Card
IF YOU HAVE NOT VOTED VIA THE INTERNET OR TELEPHONE, FOLD ALONG THE PERFORATION, DETACH
AND RETURN THE BOTTOM PORTION IN THE ENCLOSED ENVELOPE.

A. Proposals

1. Election of Directors — The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR all the nominees listed.

Nominees: For Withhold For Withhold For Withhold
01 - James J. O O 02 - James L. O O 03 — Ellen O O
Cotter, Sr. Cotter, Jr. M.

Cotter
04 - O O 05 - Guy W. O O 06 - O O
Margaret Adams William D.
Cotter Gould
07 - Edward O O 08 — Douglas O O 09 - Tim O O
L. Kane J. McEachern Storey

2.  Advisory vote on executive officer compensation — The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR
approval of the advisory and non-binding vote on the Company’s named executive officer

compensation.
For Against Withhold
(| O (|

3. Other Business. In their discretion, the proxies are authornzed to vote upon such other business as may
properly come before the meeting and at and with respect to any and all adjoumments or
postponements thereof. The Board of Directors at present knows of no other business to be presented by
oron behalfofthe Company or the Board of Directors at the meeting.

B. Authorized Signatures — This section must be completed for your vote to be counted. — Date and Sign Below

Please date this proxy card and sign above exactly as your name appears on this card. Joint owners should each sign
personally. Corporate proxies should be signed by an authorized officer. Executors, administrators, trustees, ete., should

give their full titles.
Date (mm/dd/yyyy) — Please print Signature 1 — Please keep signature Signature 2 — Please keep signature
date below. within the box. within the box.

IF VOTING BY MAIL, YOUMUST COMPLETE SECTIONS A - CONBOTH SIDES OF THIS CARD.




Proxy - READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.

PROXY FOR THE ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS - TO BE HELD MAY 15, 2014
THIS PROXY IS SOLICITED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The undersigned hereby appoints James J. Cotter, Sr. and Andrzej Matyczynski, and each of them, the attorneys, agents,
and proxies of the undersigned, with full powers of substitution to each, to attend and act as proxy or proxies of the
undersigned at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Reading International, Inc. to be held at the offices of Reading
Interational, Inc., 6100 Center Drive, Suite 900, Los Angeles, Califomia 90045, on Thursday, May 15, 2014 at 11:00
a.m., local time, and at and with respect to any and all adjournments or postponements thereof, and to vote as specified
herein the number of shares which the undersigned, if personally present, would be entitled to vote.

The undersigned hereby ratifies and confirms all that the attomeys and proxies, or any of them, or their substitutes, shall
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof, and hereby revokes any and all proxies herctofore given by the
undersigned to vote at the Annual Meeting. The undersigned acknowledges receipt of the Notice of Annual Meeting and
the Proxy Statement accompanying such notice.

THE PROXY, WHEN PROPERLY EXECUTED AND RETURNED PRIOR TO THE ANNUAL MEETING, WILL
BE VOTED AS DIRECTED. IF NO DIRECTION IS GIVEN, IT WILL BE VOTED “FOR” PROPOSAL 1, 2, AND IN
THE PROXY HOLDERS’ DISCRETION AS TO ANY OTHER MATTER THAT MAY PROPERLY COME BEFORE
THE ANNUAL MEETING OR ANY POSTPONEMENT OR ADJOURNMENT THEREOF.

PLEASE SIGN AND DATE ON REVERSE SIDE
C. Non-Voting Items
Change of Address — Please print new address below. Meeting Attendance

Mark the box to the right if you O
plan to attend the Annual Meeting.

IF VOTING BY MAIL, YOUMUST COMPLETE SECTIONS A - CONBOTH SIDES OF THIS CARD.
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Reading International Announces
The Passing of James J. Cotter, Sr., the
Former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Los Angeles, California, - (BUSINESS WIRE) — September 15, 2014 — Reading International, Inc,
(NASDAQ: RDI) is saddened to advise that our controlling shareholder and former Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer, James J. Cotter, Sr. has passed away. Mr. Cotter has been the controlling force at our
Company for nearly three decades. He will be missed.

He is survived by his three children, each of whom is active in our Company. James J. Cotter, Jr.
continues as our Chief Executive Officer and President. Ellen Cotter continues as our Chairman and as
the head of our domestic cinema operations. Margaret Cotter continues as our Vice Chairman, and as the
head of our live theater operations.

About Reading International, Inc.

Reading International (http://www.readingrdi.com) is in the business of owning and operating cinemas
and developing, owning and operating real estate assets. Our business consists primarily of:

e the development, ownership and operation of multiplex cinemas in the United States, Australia
and New Zealand; and

¢ the development, ownership, and operation of retail and commercial real estate in Australia, New
Zealand, and the United States, including entertainment-themed retail centers (“ETRC”) in
Australia and New Zealand and live theater assets in Manhattan and Chicago in the United States.

Reading manages its worldwide cinema business under various different brands:

e in the United States, under the

o Reading brand (http://www.readingcinemasus.com),
Angelika Film Center brand (http://www.angelikafilmcenter.com),
Consolidated Theatres brand (http://www.consolidatedtheatres.com),
City Cinemas brand (http://www.citycinemas.com),
Beekman Theatre brand (http://www.beeckmantheatre.com),
The Paris Theatre brand (http://www.theparistheatre.com);
Liberty Theatres brand (http://www libertytheatresusa.com); and
Village East Cinema brand (http://www.villageeastcinema.com)

O O O O O O 0

e in Australia, under the
o Reading brand (http://www.readingcinemas.com.au);
o Newmarket brand (http://www.readingnewmarket.com.au); and
o Red Yard Entertainment Centre (http://www.redyard.com.au)

e in New Zealand, under the
o Reading (http://www.readingcinemas.co.nz);
o Rialto (http://www.rialto.co.nz) brands;
o Reading Properties brand (http://www readingproperties.co.nz);
o Courtenay Central brand (http://www.readingcourtenay.co.nz);
o Steer n’ Beer restaurant brand (http://www.steernbeer.co.nz); and
o Taupo Motel brand (http://www.sailstaupo.co.nz).

Forward-Looking Statements

Our statements in this press release contain a variety of forward-looking statements as delined by the
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Forward-looking statements reflect only our expectations
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regarding future events and operating performance and necessarily speak only as of the date the
information was prepared. No guarantees can be given that our expectation will in fact be realized, in
whole or in part. You can recognize these statements by our use of words such as, by way of example,
“may,” “will,” “expect,” “believe,” and “anticipate” or other similar terminology.

These forward-looking statements reflect our expectation after having considered a variety of risks and
uncertainties. However, they are necessarily the product of internal discussion and do not necessarily
completely reflect the views of individual members of our Board of Directors or of our management team.
Individual Board members and individual members of our management team may have dillerent views as
to the risks and uncertainties involved, and may have different views as to future events or our operating
performance.

Among the factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in or
underlying our forward-looking statements are the following:

e  With respect to our cinema operations:

o The number and attractiveness to movie goers of the films released in future periods;

o The amount of money spent by film distributors to promote their motion pictures;

o The licensing fees and terms required by film distributors from motion picture exhibitors
in order to exhibit their films;

o The comparative attractiveness of motion pictures as a source of entertainment and
willingness and/or ability of consumers (1) to spend their dollars on entertainment and (ii)
to spend their entertainment dollars on movies in an outside the home environment; and

@ The extent to which we encounter competition from other cinema exhibitors, from other
sources outside of the home entertainment, and from inside the home entertainment options, such
as “home theaters” and competitive film product distribution technology such as, by way of
cxample, cable, satellite broadcast, DVD rentals and sales, and so called “movies on demand;”

e  With respect to our real estate development and operation activities:

o The rental rates and capitalization rates applicable to the markets in which we operate and
the quality of properties that we own;

o The extent to which we can obtain on a timely basis the various land use approvals and

entitlements needed to develop our properties;

The risks and uncertainties associated with real estate development;

The availability and cost of labor and materials;

Competition for development sites and tenants; and

The extent to which our cinemas can continue to serve as an anchor tenant which will, in

turn, be influenced by the same factors as will influence generally the results of our

cinema operations;

e VWith respect to our operations generally as an international company involved in both the
development and operation of cinemas and the development and operation of real estate; and
previously engaged for many years in the railroad business in the United States:

o QOur ongoing access to borrowed funds and capital and the interest that must be paid on
that debt and the returns that must be paid on such capital;

o The relative values of the currency used in the countries in which we operate;

o Changes in government regulation, including by way of example, the costs resulting from
the implementation of the requirements of Sarbanes-Oxley;

o QOur labor relations and costs of labor (including future government requirements with
respect to pension liabilities, disability insurance and health coverage, and vacations and
leave);

o Our exposure from time to time to legal claims and to uninsurable risks such as those
related to our historic railroad operations, including potential environmental claims and
health related claims relating to alleged exposure to asbestos or other substances now or
in the future recognized as being possible causes of cancer or other health-related
problems;

o Changes in future effective tax rates and the results of currently ongoing and future
potential audits by taxing authorities having jurisdiction over our various companies; and

2

O O O O
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o Changes in applicable accounting policies and practices.

The above list is not necessarily exhaustive, as business is by definition unpredictable and risky, and
subject to influence by numerous factors outside of our control such as changes in government regulation
or policy, competition, interest rates, supply, technological innovation, changes in consumer taste and
fancy, weather, and the extent to which consumers in our markets have the economic wherewithal to
spend money on beyond-the-home entertainment.

Given the variety and unpredictability of the factors that will ultimately influence our businesses and our
results of operation, no guarantees can be given that any of our forward-looking statements will
ultimately prove to be correct. Actual results will undoubtedly vary and there is no guarantee as to how
our securities will perform either when considered in isolation or when compared (o other securities or
investment oppor tunities.

Finally, we undertake no obligation to publicly update or to revise any of our forward-looking statements,
whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required under
applicable law. Accordingly, you should always note the date to which our forward-looking statements
speak,

Additionally, certain of the presentations included in this press release may contain “pro forma”
information or “non-US GAAP financial measures.” In such case, a reconciliation of this information to
our US GAAP financial statements will be made available in connection with such statements.

For more information, contact;

Andrzej Matyczynski, Chief Financial Officer
Reading International, Inc. (213) 235-2240
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 8-K

Current Report
Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Date of Report (Date of Earliest Event Reported): June 12, 2015

READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

Nevada

(State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation)

1-8625 95-3885184
(Commission I'ile Number) (LR.S. Employer Identification No.)
6100 Center Drive
Suite 900
I.os Angeles, California 90045
(Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Z1p Code)

(213) 235-2240

(Registrant’s Telephone Number, Including Area Code)

n/a

(Former Name or Former Address, if Changed Since Last Report)

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing
obligation of the registrant under any of the following provisions (see General Instruction A.2. below):

[l

[l

[l

Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425).
Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12).

Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Fxchange Act (17 CFR
240.14d-2(b)).

Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CIFR
240.13e-4(c)).
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ITEM 5.02 Departure of Directors or Certain Officers; Election of Directors; Appointment of
Certain Officers; Compensatory Arrangements of Certain Officers

On June 12, 2015, the board of directors (the “Board™) of Reading International, Inc. (“‘we,” “our,” “us,”
“Reading” or the “company’) terminated the employment of James J. Cotter, Jr. as our President and Chief
Executive Officer, effective immediately. The Company currently intends to engage the assistance of a
leading executive search firm to identify a permanent President and Chief Executive Officer, which will
consider both internal and external candidates.

On June 12, 2013, our Board appointed Ellen Marie Cotter, 49, Chairperson of the Board and the Chief
Operating Officer of our Domestic Cinemas Division, to serve as our interim President and Chiefl Executive
Officer. No new compensatory arrangements were entered into with Ms. Cotter in connection with her
appointment as interim President and Chief Executive Officer.

Ellen Cotter has been a member of the Board since March 7, 2013, and on August 7, 2014 was appointed as
its Chairperson. Prior to joining our company in 1998, Ms. Cotter spent four years in private practice as a
corporate attorney with the law firm of White & Case in Manhattan. She 1s a graduate of Smith College and
holds a Juris Doctorate from Georgetown Law School. Ms. Cotter is the sister of James J. Cotter, Jr. and
Margaret Cotter.

Under Mr. Cotter, Jr.”s employment agreement with the company, he is entitled to the compensation and
benefits he was receiving at the time of a termination without cause for a period of twelve months from notice
of termination. At the time of termination, Mr. Cotter Jr.’s annual salary was $335,000.

Under his employment agreement, Mr. Cotter, Jr. is required to tender his resignation as a director of our
company immediately upon the termination of his employment. After a request to do so, Mr. Cotter, Jr. has
not yet tendered his resignation. The company considers such refusal as a material breach of Mr. Cotter, Jr.’s
employment agreement, and has given him thirty (30) days in which to resign. If he does not do so, the
company will terminate further severance payments, as permitted under the employment agreement.

No new compensatory arrangements were entered into with Mr. Cotter, Jr. in connection with his termination.

ITEM 8.01 OTHER EVENTS

On June 12, 20135, Mr. Cotter, Jr. filed a lawsuit against us and each of our other directors in the District Court
of the State of Nevada for Clark County, titled James J. Cotter, Jr., individually and derivatively on behalf of
Reading International, Inc. vs. Margaret Cotter, et. al. The lawsuit alleges, among other allegations, that the
other directors breached their fiduciary duties in taking the actions to terminate Mr. Cotter, Jr. as President and
Chief Executive Officer of the company and that Margaret Cotter and Ellen Cotter aided and abetted the
breach of such fiduciary duties of the other directors. The lawsuit seeks damages and other relief, including an
injunctive order restraining and enjoining the defendants from taking further action to effectuate or implement
the termination of Mr. Cotter, Jr. as President and Chief Executive Officer of the company and a determination
that Mr. Cotter, Jr.’s termination as President and Chief Executive Officer is legally ineffectual and of no force
or effect. The company believes that numerous of the factual allegations included in the complaint are
inaccurate and untrue and intends to vigorously defend against the claims 1n this action. The company has
been informed that the other directors intend to seek indemnification from the Company for any losses arising
under the lawsuit, in which case the company will tender a claim under its director and officers liability
insurance policy.
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Exhibit 99.1
ITEM 9.01 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND EXHIBITS

(d) The following exhibit 1s included with this Report and incorporated herein by reference:
Exhibit No. Description
09.1 Press release of Reading International, Inc. of June 15, 2015
SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused
this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: June 18, 2015 READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.

By: /s/ William D. Ellis
William D. Ellis
General Counsel and Secretary
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Exhibit 99.1

Reading International Announces Appointment of Ellen Cotter as Interim
Chief Executive Officer

Los Angeles, California, (Business Wire) June 15, 2015 — Reading International, Inc. NASDAQ:RDI)
announced today that its Board of Directors has appointed Ellen M. Cotter as interim President and Chief
Executive Officer, succeeding James J. Cotter. Jr. The Company currently intends to engage the assistance of a
leading executive search firm to identify a permanent President and Chief Executive Officer, which will
consider both internal and external candidates.

Ms. Cotter 1s the Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company and has served as the senior operating
officer of the Company’s US cinemas operations for the past 14 years. In addition, Ms. Cotter 1s a significant
stockholder in the Company.

Ms. Cotter commented, “James Cotter, Sr., who served as our Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer for over 20 years, grew Reading International, Inc. to a major international developer and operator of
multiplex cinemas, live theaters and other commercial real estate assets. [ look forward to continuing his vision
and commitment to these businesses as we move forward to conduct our search for our next Chief Executive
Officer. I will work diligently to ensure that this transition is seamless to all of our stakeholders.”

The Company plans to report its second quarter financial results on or before August 10, 2015.

About Ellen Cotter

Ellen M. Cotter has been a member of our Company’s Board of Directors since March 2013, and in August
2014 was appointed as Chairman of the Board. She joined Reading International, Inc. in 1998 and brings to the
position her 17 years of experience working in our Company’s cinema operations, both in the United States
and Australia. For the past 14 years, she has served as the senior operating officer of our Company’s domestic
cinema operations. Ms. Cotter is a graduate of Smith College and holds a Juris Doctorate from Georgetown
Law School. Prior to joining our Company, Ms. Cotter was a corporate attorney with the law firm of White &
Case in New York, New York.

About Reading International, Inc.
Reading International (hitp://www.readingrdi.conn) 15 in the business of owning and operating cinemas and
developing, owning and operating real estate assets. Our business consists primarily of:

» the development, ownership and operation of multiplex cinemas in the United States, Australia and
New Zealand; and

» the development, ownership, and operation of retail and commercial real estate in Australia, New
Zealand, and the United States, including entertainment-themed retail centers (“ETRC”) in Australia
and New Zealand and live theater assets in Manhattan and Chicago in the United States.

Reading manages its worldwide business under various different brands:

= 1n the United States, under the
0 Reading brand (htip://www . readingcinerasus.com);
0 Angelika Film Center brand (hitp://www.angelikalilmcenter.com);
o Consolidated Theatres brand (hitip://www.consohidatedtheatres.com);
o City Cinemas brand (Iittp://www.ciiycinenias.coim);
o Beekman Theatre brand (hitp:/fwww.beckmantheatre.com);
o The Paris Theatre brand (hitp://www.theparistheatre.com);
o Liberty Theatres brand (hitp://libertytheatresusa.cony/); and
o Village East Cinema brand (kitp://villageeastcinema.com)

110376285 v1 000923



Exhibit 99.1

= 1n Australia, under the
o Reading brand (htip://www.readingcinemas.com.an); and
o Newmarket brand (htip://readingnewmarket.com.an)
o Red Yard Entertainment Centre (hitp:/www.redvard.com.au)

= 1n New Zealand, under the
0 Reading brand (htip://www readingemermas.co.nz);
o Rialto brand (litip:/iwww.rialto.co.07);
o Reading Properties brand (hittp://readingproperties.co.nz);
o Courtenay Central brand (hitp://www.readingecourtenay.co.nz);
o Steer n” Beer restaurant brand (hitp://sicernbeer.co.nz);

Media Contact:

Andrzej Matyczynski
Tel: 213-235-2240

110376285 v1 000924
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gl of business an Dutober &, 2008 Your shares of s B Rtook ave entited fa ane oty gy sduire, At that i, thers ek
£ AN shaoey o Ll B "ttmh Qutstndug, ,md appoansimnioly X5 hobdvrs o rivaed. Bagdesbayre of Clasy B Stk by entoled joone
M\&‘ sy eanch wiier properly beougdht belore the Anmed Mocting.

What i F own Oless A Nowvoting Comatos Stock?

¥ o o st oo gy ks B Sk, then vou bave sopeived this proxy stsoment ol for vouwr infemation.  You s ather
tddes ol sar Class & Nonvoting Oommim Stock D0se & Stoek” e e vating rights with IeSPRCK 1 1HE MBS @ by voted o
et Sneasd Mecting,

How vas | pei electronie sooess to the prosy sisterisis?
This Proxy Mateanit, sbimng with the proxy cand and sor Aasvat Repoes foy tha year ended Dreosmbee 34, 20000 filisd with

the Recuritics sid Exchange Cormmission aee avilablie 4t our website, bitg fwvww readingrai com, uader “Brvestor Relations.”
What shoubl o M1 reegive mrore ten one ropy of fhe pravy weteviate?

Vi gy foceivir more thar one onpy of this Praxy Statement amd rasltiple praxy cusds or voting fnsruction caads. By
exatple, i yos hold vour shates i niorg tﬁsm Qi Brokorage Seoount, YU Y FONNIVE § SO BOHOS oF § SCRERI voling
invstenotion cand for cach hrakersge oot i swlich yinu frodet shages, I v e s sdnckhedder of rocand amd vosiy shasey are

sopierisd Ay s AT GNP DO, Vet Y TOeis MO Hha ane copy of Hie Froxy BLaement o mons e (o praky il
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nstruction cact from the i bask: boaakor oF gontineg sy roturn i mtmb mestrpction curdd by maid as suf forth on the
utsﬁ Proxies mhmsl&,d b*g mmi mwilgst t& received b torg !he pﬁfﬁ‘\ e rime& ~1e ﬂm \nmﬂﬁ Mfeimg

aewd mmmmg a nmw mn& or t*mmg mﬂmumn mi hui tmi iw RIS t!‘z.m one nwtﬁami i! vms o~ hv e lh.m om. mdi:mi or
vate utiphe: B s the sarme metfund, vaby the best-died vote that is received by the uhgmtm of slectitm il be wourmed, sas

gach provieus vole will be diseaparded, [Hvag RE N personat the Anpusd Mesting, you will povebe any prioy prosy thiat v tagy
fawe given Yowwill aced th bongw valid frm of identification fsnch as 3 drivec’s Fiomsi oripassport} to e Sl Miatiag fo
wate shares hedid of vevsrd By vl dn porsass,

What if mey shares are hebd of recovd By an entity sueh ay & varporation, lmited Hability compaay. geners] partaceship, Huited

graivinersiig o frast fan “ERRIYT), or in the nemie of e than une parsow, o § ags voling {8 reprexeatative or fiduciary capseity?

Shzees fe {es s}f'n\‘nhf By g sk ‘hc trstee of wirus i mm!szsi s waty :lw shgiees imi by she ienst, wlur hx ONY Of by
mem_ng ared voting i o a G Aneast Mesting, Tvouw are viting as 3 tosio, aid are oot shentificd 8% o roceid
sevnnise ol fhue xmm TR Vs e v i suitabde ovidence of vout statis s teustid of the rreond usowaer, Wi
ol andnes i s trustand disre ard wielpl trastoss, Mo oty one mrustes vokes, il trustee’s vote apphied o afl ofthe
shares ek of rocord by the st 1 sors than ong trosiee vaies, the vetes of the sersghority i the verag frsices spply w
Al o the sdiares hobd pErccond By B bragd. € mon s ame tetter votek sl fhe vatos wri phat svendy on wy pasiieidor

Froposat, gatl rates vy ¥ote propontonatly g shares bold of rovord by the tres

ole applies fo
shnals apdy
crsd, oach

Shatey hefdof recoed 2 1he s BREE R pne. Fe r‘m#t

!i m’siv m:fe mdmduai wsm !‘t‘mi mdsmismi Q
.nt it ihe dmm. se hu?d af mw:d ti zmm f;uiﬂ oae p'@ s,

32

What s a i}mk{:f .ﬂ'i_'!_n-“ﬂ'ﬂh-"?

\pgimame piioy porant hrokers (o vote shiaey hokd ip SIeet noime an touting maltorg. Shardy (il ave pot vated on nol
Nsmw natiees, sich as e dection of direcuws o any propesed ansendrent of owr Astiches w Byl ore oathed froker nobontes.

ROt mli lsam:‘ o mm e Ehi’ uﬁéi 'mr tiw S ‘h_(m m ;hrc-cmrk i‘ut mum ;sﬁn:ﬂ tkw uutwme GE ;im m.mu ﬁ:zgmrma :iw

¥ 0!!}]‘{ m\h‘m Hml\
What noa-routing saitiers wifl be voted oa 81 the ananst aeching?
Fhecheetion of nie mombers to 1he Board of Direetory i the ondy no-routing mauer inchuded among the Boaed's

e}

proposals on which brokers may nof vote, unless oy have reovivesd u.pm.!iu, LRLNE nstractons from bensfiond ovners of pur Chasy
i3 Stanck,

Fmw ure shatentings sad beoker nan-voses connted?
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obaining thote voring fostrations. Iy abdaion 1o solioitag prosies By mwif ot bostsd prembors, offoors ad sinphivees mage sebio

How xan § olisnge my vote alier | submit @ peosy?
{f you are 3 tochhalder of record, thers ane tree sy vou o shanga your vome verevabc yowr gproxy afier sou funee

-
o

wubmitied youy proxy:

© o Fa yes ey semtd 3 ovtitien potioe fo Reading ateosationad, e, posting or pthur deliveny charges pro-paid, o'

Officgof the Souratary, SHRY Conter Bvive, Sude W, Loy Angetes, Uk NME sinting 1hat vor rovdke your prasy. Te
e effvctive, W must feUeive Yous Wit votive prioy o tie vlosing o1 the podis il the Aasual Metng.

T Sevond, vou may complere wad submit 2 now proxy e one of the manners desetibed shove ander the saptiog, “How
Pard Yate " Any eucher provies will e rovoked susognsicaily.

T Therd, veu gy gtend e Savust Meetsgand vore i porsen. Aay ewrlior proxy will by reveked. Howarver, atesding
e el Mg weabma voting @ povses will not revode vour proxy.

How will you selbilt proxies sl sl with pay dhe ooniy?

Wi vl pay the costs of b solicitation of grogies. We piay rotmburse beobovige Hevs s other gorsens raprosesting _
gty menrred i fonsashing ihe volmg mabrwly i Guelr custinness who ate bepelioal snveees sl

preies on ot bediall, without additionat sompesition, persasalty o by wlephaase
tx there & ek of stockBoiders entitiad to vate ol e Anaual Meeting?

The sses ol Bockokdors of revord onpalod R wvote o 1 Anneal Rsming wall be silatde a8 e Aonudd Mecting and R
s Al Praay t e Anneal Meetiag s owr poincl exetutive ofti tetveon 1he houwrs ol e amd 3480 p o far aay mapose
rebeeant i the Aemnad Mot Fooarraagn i viow thix et derisg 1o Rews speohind sbave, plosse condact the Seovtars afihe
LTIy,
What semariiuies & spuorim?

o The proser i porsin of by proay of e holdess of recond oF @ stgionity of our sutstanding shaves of Ulass B Stk

setitheed 10 vede will Rowstifiste 3 quivam 3 the S Medting Bachshare of aw Class B Stiwk ontifies i tolder of rosaed 1o au
vorte e s rntiany o venie befines e Al Mudiing.

Fiow g coen somtied atd who will cortify the revulte?

Frew Coast Rosalts, S, @R/ 58 5m she tsboponsdent upestis od Voot and wilt wrant the vedes, detonng whather s
guonin ¢ prosant, evileste Hie validey of provaos and baBlows, aod coroly die sesddts, A represertative of First Coast Rosolis, e
siadl Der present o the Armiual Megting.  The final voting resnltowill b repartad by uson s Coreent Beport on Form 845 ) be tiled

vty dhre SEC swithity four business days follosing ihe Anansl Mesting,
What s the vote retpulrsd foe 3 Propecad fo pass?

i niee aspudsesy for plectinn @y TBercjors s e Annanyd Movting whe reveree e Bighest mumber o PR votes will te
ehectod wy Thesosors, This s calted plucaisy voting, Usnlesy you indicare otherweise, i prosons named g vous praaies sill safe v
shares FOR sl dwe nondnees for Piastoe signed o Poposad 1.1 vour shaves are hudid by o broker oo ether sominge and sou seoaid
Bkt ovobie o shisres S the olestion o Divoctos wa Praposal . vou st soitrec e ok or mospiny to vate TFORT B swh
by of the slade. B vomr give ng sirpctaoms (o vout brobor or g0t thon vl shares wil] soy be valed, H oeoit intivet ving
benkor ty agninge (0 TWITHHOLLY” than vour vote with not b couted wdetermaning the chegtion.

Propussal 3 requives the affinmative “FO ™ vole of 3 amailoeity of the votes ot by the stockhaldens prosent In gurson ¢
regremented by oKy ot tue Aneost Moeting sl ontithial 1o oot thoras,

B
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E’.»;ccl)t swithe reapeot e e Froposal te ratify o indepeaden sudifon, wheee broker nomoveres witl be counted, oaly votes
for o against Progmesst § at the Aapwad Meoting will be ootsted s votis cdst and abstontions anid broker nen-vofos widl net be
catigivd of yohng pusposes.

Fa my vote Kept confidential?

C 0 Proxiss, ballady and vihiug tabulations idemtifving siackBinbdens are Rept condidential sod will sof b disclostd to third
PACE, exXoopt as el be pesessary o meet fogal roguinements,
How will ihe Annusl Mecting be conducied?

B aoconhimes with owe Hvkass, Bilen M. Coster o the Chgdrperson of the Board of Dhirgerors, witl be the Pressding Otficer of
the Sonuad Moeting. Crig TompRing has boen designated e M, Cotter fo serve ax Seerouwy for te Anpuad Meoting.

M. Cotter s ather mombers of imanagoment will addross altendees following the Apneal Mocting. Stockholders desiving
10 posE QUOSHIONS 10 our management sre engonragind to send th guestams Lo 8, oave of e Anoust Mecting Seoretilry, in

advincs oF the Artual Marting, 50 a8 10 RS QU HEUAROIMCHE 1 PrEpanag approgha resposgis and 1o Bicliase complianes with
applaaide secnrities faws.

The Prestiding Oilfoer hes broad ainherity to conduct te Sovaal Meoting in an ordeddy aesd timely manger. This authopity
inchades vstabhshing rales for stockhodders who seish 10 address the meeting o bring maners before the Annnal Mogting. The
Prostding Officer sav slan exercize brogd disereiion ia reeogainag dockiusddes who soish jo speak and wdeformisng the extent of
shscussion o sk St of basttess, e Bghy of thee saesd e somdnde the Aasmad Msetiag vatinn @ scisoosble gened of b, thee
cast B po assuranee 1t svery stockhoider who wishes wo speak will be able w do so, T Previding Offoer hay authority, in her
GIRCTRROn, o @ ARy Hinw recess oF adivurs the Asnnat Mestieg, Oaly stockholdens wre eatitted to aftvad and wddeess the Annwd
Muvting, Any guastinns o degntes as by whieomay v may aob gitend el sddress thee Annuad Mg wall be detetmined by e
Proxiduogt iy

Lhly wuch dininess 2 shnl fave baeen peapedy broughn botone the Aol Mecting shadl be conduatad, Faestamt fo oy
governing documents and appiicable Nevada fow, i ador o be properte brought before the Snaual Mooting, such dusingss anast
f besruighit b o st the direction of {1} the Uhatepersan, {23 our Bosed of Divecaws, s €3 hodders of veward ofour Ulass B Stk At
fi{?t‘ ss;;pskkéﬁ*;*.;iiﬁ‘ pregise, wnvy shookbeodchie wher weistay e oddeesy thae Ao Meoting shoald Jo 3o sy apos b redognied by
Prorsading (e,
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCK

Bivecive Lendorship Sirucinee

Ellen M Cotter ¢ ue cureent Clmirpeson and Al sives as o mertn Chied Exevative D306 and Presidont and servis as
shie Uhiel Operating Cficer forsar Domeetic Cloomas. Bl Cotor bas boen with pur Csmpany for morg than 17 voary, focuuing
principally o the clovma operations wspeots of vue business, Duting this e period, we Bave growe ow Domestic Uinams
Ppwrations fron$Q b 348 sorcens and our cirema opvenees lave growe oy U8 ST mullion to DR SRR Tmdllion. Miwrgaret Oiitar
v oy st Vive-Chavporson. Maygaret atior by hoon soxpossible for the operation of our five theary for more than the pasg 14
vears v g For peey than the payt five vaues beert agtively ivolvad i the s-developrmnt oo Nese Yok properhies.

EHon 8. Cottor has 8 substaniiad @ake o busions, svwaing directly 0.8 3 shares of Class & Bock ansd 50388 shares
of Clies 5 Mock. Muargaeet Cotter Hkowise Bay o subsiantial stake i ony bustovss, owadng dircatly 0417 shares of Cliss A Stk
apd 3510 sharen of tf:m 8 Sroek. Dl and Maergae Colter anedhe Un-Execwtiry of thew Bubor s flavees 3 Cotter, 883 setigio swnd
L Depstoss of sutoust (el “Liviyg Tome™ oxtablishod for the taenefy of hig tears. Togethos thay bav shavnd voting comisad ovus ug
apgropate of  JONAEY shaves o TE of por Clase B Stogk. SHon wwd Margaret Cotier have mformed ihe Bogrd that they indond 1o
voty the shaees beneficially hold by duam for cacd ot the wine nomiaves aamed by this Froxy Siatament S aleciion o the Hound of
Prurectons pader Propessd | '

Bowss Cotiee, dr alleges bo has the right i vone the shemes Beld by the Liviog Tast. Vhe Covapany beliovas g, undeat
spphicabde NMevmby Laee, wheee thaee sveconubiiphe drawteiscod a tonst lug waoood owers of volting shasss i o Kiends Cospuossiinmg,
and mare than oo Iresiog voles, e votes of the magority of the voting lustees apply 1o @t of the shares held of revend by the
st more tan one dresion volsw arnd the vates ane sphit evendy on sy paciealar proposal, ol Gastoo may vote prapottionathy
e shaves ek of rocerd by hetrust. Elon 8 Unitor and Macgaret Cotter, wihan colbisiivedy cotstingi i maority of ihe CoThsees
of g Laving Teast, e vformed the Hoard that thoy vtvnsd 1o vois e shares habd by the Living Trist for oooh of dhe e
Doy nowsed W b Proxy Matement Yor clechion o e Boasd of Diroutons wnder Proposal §. Accardangdy, the Unaspany deliovex
shat Bilon & Uotter wint Msrgasot $attor vadleatively Bave he posasr sxtd sntheaay to voto ol of the shaoey of Class 8 Stook mkd of
vanh by the Liviag Trest, whicl, whes oliod B Sar ather slmres ey tepal oy borggg boneBiombly soad By thes, wdl oosshitiR

TLASS ¥ che sharey of Ulass 8 Stock ontiled 10 sade Ry dirgptery af the Auanuad Mooting.

v Covspany s elocted fo take the “uoniroliod company™ cxasphion nedor applicabls Hating rades of The NASDAR
Capnral Siook Sarker othe NASEAGH L sieg Rufes™t Ravsrdingde, thy Cuanpany tsoxoupiod Boem e sopaironsst ol an
grboporeahint atenimghng Conuibnt god W v @ Boand sompaised of 3RS marrdr of rnhiponds gy directons, weang )
avvariheles nomnating < hadependent drectors oy elogtion o owr Boaed: We bave s Aadil s Uoaihos Corssdies (e ™ Aady
Commbieg Y md & Conmpeasation sl Seock Optanes Comnities {the - Cmapeniation Uanmunies”  vompeinsd wpluehy of depundent
derectors,  Anad, vee haorg @ g sevedn Enoiaivd Lowaiion vangrised o8 o Chasrpersost sl Ve Ulsioporson and o
widepeadeal dircoteny (essrs, O W Adass and Bdward L. Koo, Dire o thas structusy, the vopcwrronce of of foss upe
scloperadions wrember of Hed Fmive Commutt 33 saquirad & svdey S i Exsestbve Ooommitioe o sk sition,

We belipve thit o Teeciors bring a beoad smge of leadershap oxpesiense i our Conpany wnd regadandy contribube o the
Hiaghs fol disviesas rvateed meffedtively sverieiing the busimnes and stiues of the Compase, We belives that 33 Bowed
prsnbery wy well vhigaged by sespronsiiniision arnd that off Boord mrambent sxprow e vigws s convider Sw opirgony
eaprassed by other Darcotars. S Buaectons on our Board aoe indopamdenst sndar the MARRAL Listig Rules and SEC rale and
Wiltsans £ Combd seoves @ S hand dodior sy owy Indopemiont Dareoiors, by ihat copactty, Me Gonkd ol riestings of the
tadependeny Dirovtors amd 8otd as g deywouss our Chabrperson of the Buwd and inserig Chief Execntvee ONicer smd ong
Independont Directors. (o ndupsendent Direciats sire invabeed i ey lesdendilp stucturs of onr Hord By serving on oue sl
Lommaier, e Campeasatioy Cossmaies, and tbe T Oveesipht Comvetittue, cach Baving 3 sepavads indopemdent chatrpenson. n
sodneciion with the Soneal Meehing, wo have estabhishod a Spocidd Kosninating Uonusittos sompeised of the chaves of our Exeaaive,
Audit isnd Compensatios Compitias,

Managenent Succossion
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o s Qotien, Sy, o Lksmgm;y*s controlting sockhodder, Chalrponims god Chiot Brocutive Ciifioer, ravigond frow all
growiftems i our Compaay oS ¥, 0, aod passed sy on Sepiember 13, 2880 Lipow his resignation, Ellen M. Cotier v
sppoined Uladrpeesm, Mangaret Cotdie, bee aster, o gppatosd Voaor Chatepersass sad avess §U0oRer, Jo, e bunber, was

apparged Chief Excogive Cony, while coatiiunag his postion a8 President.

Chy Jone 12, HHE, thy Bosrd ternsinsied the emplovment of fawes £ Cotter, Jroav our Provident aod Chie{ Pregutive Oftiver,
sid appodited Bllen M. Cotler to serve sethe Company s aisrin Prosisdent wnd Clilel Executive Qthoer. The Bosrd bas established
an Brevutive Search Oommities (1he "Search Uommitice™) comprised of our Chatiporsim, oy Vige Chuirpirson and direciors Adams,
Cedd and MuBacheen und hae rotamied Ko Farny o seok ot vandadates for the Chied Hrseative Officet pimsitean. The Seatch
Coppnvtiitee will coscib bath imarsd wond oxtemal condidates,

Hasnst's Hole i Rish Oversight

LU pucaene 3 yespensibly for e day-teeday spmagement af ks e e s oa Company, whitiown Board, as s winlde
atsd hrough s commatioes, has respiaxabibity o e svorcight of riak puamagomens. 13 ite Bk oversgh solt, oy Bosrd hag the
responsibility o satinfy el that the sk manugement processos designed and inplumented by avasagoment are adequage sad
funtioniag w designed. ' ' ' '

The Board plays an imporiant role wrisk eversight & Hoxding through dipet decisionvmaking anthority with respoet Lo
stganfivant vutiers, as wedl s oo the avinsigle of managument by te Boord and g comeutises. I particuda, the Board
mdrHnISRTs 3 siek Rversight Ruaston theough (1 fe vew apd discussion af viabs prrdiv vpas by Ui Rod s 63
pepuniities o lopdes mekatimg to by risks that the Company fapes, {33 e roguined appoevel by the Board for & comvaittes of he
Brouwed} of wiynilicant transsciions smd other docisane, 13§ the drctevprsigl of sproilic ans of the Conagany s Iosinesy by the
Sudi Covamtig, e Coapensation Ussneito and the oy Coeorsipht Conmnaion, 2l (403 regudy pestadic ropints How the auditon
atssd wthey vutside consutts roganding vaous sroaof patostial ek, inclisbag, spwng ovbors, those sebating t Qus ingipvel contrat
mv‘e:% t?sz.ag&éai ropurting. The Bard abye relies on mnagoent to bring agniicant mattees bupacimg the Dompany i e shientional
the Howed. '

“Cosirpled Cumpray™ Satay

Ulnlost avtiony SR 0H T of the NalS AL} Lastey Rudes, 3 “oontrolied compaay™ i3 3 company wp whoch 383% of the vavag
gy R the clstion sf dircetors is hedd by s fadividaal, 3 gooug o ganthes cospeay. Tagotieny, Magarst Urator sl Flew &L
Coey bongiicially onvn | INNEE <hawes aof Daes B ock. Beasod oroadvies of voveee], our Boasd ha doormined that iherfore the
Crangraanre 3353 “oontradiod company™ b he NASDAL Lisng Rades.

S A ey arvigselng the beand iy send Jotrtmeniy of 2akng sdvamniage ol e oxgeplions 1o the comanie gueeernmmos talas st
farth B b NASIAL) Livting Hales, ous Hoars has doteenined te fake advmtage of pertuits oxoeptings fomn i NAROAG Linting
Redos atforded gy ooy Uompant a9 g Uonrediod Compay, In ol o @ Veoniadled company” exvepnan, S Oampasy dugs sot
AR & Sepante standing Mondsatiog Cossniiies. The Compsiy mivesriindens ot shis tene mamaing v Y Boed comprized of 8
oty of suhpondent Bircctars and iy ddipepdent Aot nd CGanpensation Oumenittees, amd bus ne provest iniention 10 sary
frans that structire. Foy prrpesss of sleciag novrinoes for ouwe 2013 Avvtna) Movteg, e Bowd Reenrod a Spocial Mamdasting
Comwaittos compebirad of the Chates of ooy Bxcoutive, Audi and Ciongorsation Domnsitoas b, Qdaon, dcRuckens s Bans,

otrgretiveby h and dediogted 1 ta owvmmattod authoray o rocovanond sianitioes i e Bosrd for ths Board™ é'sgi;;}&wai and

nottnaton . Proposal 1 B comprined of tie noniines rovosmended by the Speciad Nonvosting Cempiited and approved sl

sovvnaied b e Rl
Board Cimnutittess

o Choy Boand has 8 aomding Executive Dommitiee, Awdit Conunittey, Componsation Commiitior, snd Tax Dversight
Commiies. Thess onnamttves ans dbsomsed 1o grsater dotall dolow.

) ~ ceetvg Comgittes. The Exeenlive Conmitice operates puesaard i s Chaney sdopind by one Beard, Qur Exeemiig
Cpepeaiiion i cupvetty comprinad of S Blen ML Uostor, vy, Margarot Cottor and Sesses, Adsns and Bane,  Purseant tsts
{hrter, the Exsputive Commitioe i suthorized, tethe fullos oxtent poomaatiod by Novads brv sod snr Byines, & ke any ad 8
;acﬁms;tfx;m; coshd fve boen ke by the Sdl Buard bepween reetings of the Sl Board, The Haoutbve Comnion beld o mectings
ﬁmm;s Ri3E S

Sl Uromsistes. Fhe susdit Conntttas speraes puesasl to Chany adopted by our Board that is svaileble an owy wibsite
st wwey nedsmgrdtonny. Cuw Boand has dotorminesd that the Audis Uomesiteeg w comprised satisely of independent
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stock (reprosenting 23 3% of such Ulass B Scky M. Muargaret Cotter is alse @ Qo Trader of the James § Coltor, 8 Troast, whivh is
the record wwaer of 606580 shares of Chus B Vo Camison Stock {reprosenting e adiitéons) $4.0%5 of such Class B Stock):

, My Cober brings o the Bosrd bor experivoce o 3 b thoater produces, thsser oporitor and an sctive member of the New
York theaine communiy, which gives bor ipsighuinte Hive theater business rands tat affees var business i this secfor. Operating
and ovuerseeing these properiies for over 1 saars, Ms. Cotter contributes to the strtegi divcetion forour developments. b
adcdivien. w:ih%mr shieeet ovwneesbip of 304,173 shaeew of Class A Stockoumd 33100 shires of Chims B Stock and hey positions as os
Exgvutor of hor Rather's estale snd Un-Trastee ofihe Jimes L Cotier, S Toast M. Cotter v a significant stike hobier s our
Laspany.

Wit 1. Gould William D). Gould fas been a Director of oar Compumy singe Oaober 13, 2004 srad bas bus 3 motier of
the ke fiem of Provtiould P stngg 88 Provionaly, bo s o partner of the aw fism of O Medveny & Myers. We have from time o
e setraed TrneGedd PO for fepad s, Todad fees puid te 8. Glouhd o Bires doring 2084 waee S92 Mr Gouldd is an
suthor and egturey on e dubiects of corponite govemancs and aergiers snd guesiiiony,

_ Edwawd L, B, Rdwurd L. Kang has beon a Direcr of oar Company since Dhatnber 18, 2004, Me. Kane wak atse a Divectur
o our Corruany from {OBS o {OURsnd served ag Promsdent frore F987T to 8K, My Kiune cupeontly seeves s the Chane of ooy Tax
Onsaesight Comemitees and of our Compensation Committer. He also serves ss somember of our Esceutive Comantioe and our Awidit
Cummmiies. AL various dnes during the past thres decades, B Bas boosr Adjonct Frofessor ol Taw &t two of Sae Diego’s faw

sehiools, most recentdy 1 3008 aod 3609 @ Thomes Jetierson School of Law, and peioc thersso at Datiformia Western Schoot of Law,

Adr. Kaar brings o the Boved Ins many vowrs as 3 tax attueney sl baow profossor, which sxperience weollservies oue
5, I W SR U S o N e B N o i K kg T SO Iy L N e C
Company it addressing ox matters, M Kang also boings s aspeoonve @ 3 past Preswdent of Craig Comgpnapon and of Resdiog
Captpany, e of our eorgiirat prodedsons, wxosad] as a Tormer msmber of the boards of duectors of soveryd pubhicly hold

CopaTatiang.

o opadas & Metschorn: Ek}ts§}m 1 Afekachers bas boett 3 Py of our Company st May 170 3002 and Chateof our
Sasdis Covtnmties e Augast 200 M s sorved as sowembor o the Board sad of the Sodit spd Sompensating Cosunities fiw
Wiktdan Grop, 2 NASDACQ Fsied sngineening company. singe SO0, M. SeFachens 15 alio the i of the bowd of Compiuaity
Fank i Pasadore, Culifora and s mongdr of ity Awdit Commitier. He also i & member of the Finance Commmtiee o the Methoding
Hospazal of Aveadin, Swsge Septisnber 3609, Me. MeBachen has sfes sooved s aninstrucior of anditing and sccounianey st
Chrenmmt Meton Colloge. 8r. MeBuchom was an st parines Som fuly PR3 o My 2009 with the aumht Hrm of Ddoitie arl
Touchs, 1P wath ehigat coneentratems o flasocial wsttanons amd aaad sstare . M MoBachom was 2o 2 Profesuonst Accounting
Potlow wath the Fuderat Poms Eoan Baok bosrd m Wishegon DX oo Jupe 1283 &0 July DY From B T io haoe J983, M
NhEachirn wasow skl member and subseguontty 3 magager with e aolit frm of Tonche Ross & (predecisson te Djoite &
Tovehe, LEPY. My Mebiachers received a IS in Buswss Administostion in 1974 frany the University of Califori. Borkedey, sod
MEBAL we PITO feorm the Unavensity of Souhors Uadifom.

#

3 Ml MeBachern brings 1 the Board hix mont thag X7 yoaey” experioas mocting the scoowniing snd auditing seads of
frewenial tnsitations and road ostate chients, including our Company, My, MeBacheor slso brings his axpuriencs regating s o
b pondiont awdstor 1o the boards of dinsctons of 8 varicty of public repovting companios and ux a boand member Wmsal for various

contpanics 9 nol-{or-profit orgasizaives.

O Michoel Wrotaiah, Mrchael Wrotnnak was elected 10 serve s p Dimentor of the Camnpany on October 13, 2015 Shwce 2009,
Ste, Worutiaak hsss b ihe Chied Executpeg Qiftcor of e Resowrees, LLL T Aminon™), a porsaeby behd intarmatamal commsbiliise
teashing five, M Weotniak joteat Amanon in 1991 and is credited with expanding Xaipce s activitios in Europo and Asia, By
getahlishing o joint vonture with 3 Swink cagineeting comepany, a3 wiell 38 vroating gariserships with Asia-baseid basinesses, Mr.
Wrotniak successiully diversfied Amince’s product pontfolio, M Wromiak beaine a pariner of Aamnce in 3003 My, Wrotshak hag
boon For moro than thie past five yeaes, 3 wustee of 56 Joseph’s Church i Bronxvalle, New York, and s @ membor of the Boawrd of
Adhvisors of the Litthe Sisters of they Poot st their nuesing bomae i he Beonx, Mew York since appeoxumsteby 2004 Ny, Wrotniak
sradusted fromy Ucorgeionas Lindvorsty in 1989 wath a B8 BA (oo faade ).

i
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7 N Wireatrdak is o speciadist t foreign tradz, and brings te the Board his considrabde expeoienve i mterrationad business,
wchding Fereign exchange nsk matigation.

Atiendance at Board and Commtitter Mestings

~ During thie v onced December 31, 2014, our Bowrd of Directors migd seven times. The Amlit Comantiiee held four mectings
dned the Cempensagion Comiree held threg RIS, white the Tax Crversight Comimitioe held fous meetings. Bach Directar atferaded
A least 78% of these Boprnd mectings and at Jeast T3% of e meetings of all comruiitoes on vhaeh e of st seeved,

Indemnily Agreemenis

W currenthy have indegmay apecemenas in place with gach of ot current Disectons and senwor officers, as woll 33 contam of
the Prroctors and sendor offioers ol o subsidisries. Vinder these agreements, we hutve sgeevid, subiecf te Lertam exception, 1o
indernniiv vuch of these individoals suainat ot expenses, bl st bossey mturnnd w connection with any tarvatemnd, pembmg or
conbimphated seion set or posceedang, whothor civibor oripnnad, adapnistrative or mivestigative, 1

which ateh tadividual {8 @ party ov B thontened to be made 3 prety, by nraoner, basd wpon, acsing From, relating i of by roason
oof thie Hrok thust snoh induviduat 150w, shadl i oy fu been o Director, officer, amploses, sige or fiduciay of ihe Company.

{mpesaation of Birscioes

Praviegy 2084, s gl g ve-emplavin Sirgators 333000 gue yvoar, This amoun vaw inoreased to TRE0B8 2018 We pay
thr Uhatesvsas oF ot Aasdit Corgmtbine an addationsd 37000 pey year, the Uhademan of sur Compansation Coammites ai addiinl
£3 100 por vy the Charoan afour Tax (Qversight Conpuitiee an additionad ST pev yeay and the Load Independint Directov an

akitionat $3.000 poy yeae,

Praving 2014 wee paid an midaimad onedime fee of $YH o caeh of Mosirs. Adamy, Gould, MeBachem aral Ko and an

sdditonal ametg Heod STHINK ® My, Stvey. Messrs. Mook and Storey alsa eack received an shditionat $0, 003 i thew
aditioned OGRS work. B3 2013 we poad o dduiussh one-tipne fog of $33800 w0 oach of Messex Aabans, Goald, Maltachen and

o i Howsdand o

Uiy jodniagt e Banird, pow Beedions usve bistonvatfy reseived amediniely vonad five-veaestock oprions to purchaw
HE R shiares of our Chne & Stoek @ an exerase price ogqusd 1o the aurket prioe o the stouk ot e dute of grast. Tnital gomis e be
wead 1o S Codiding and Sy, Westiiih, our recently appomited Dircetors, ans iiag rovigvasd by sur Uampeasation Commmice.
Copnemneing Spuary 83, 20E cach of ww soramysdoyee Divectorsy will rigiive an adihtional sonual gram of stodk ophiogs 1o
gsurednpne DGR harey of vor Chss A Stoek, The sward wall be on dgpsany 13 of the applicable yeus, will be for a oo of Tive yoars,
hatve an exeriiuy priogaguat to ihe sl poice of Clase & Staeh o the gomd e and b fully vesond emodiatoly gpon grast,

Birectos umpensatios Table

The follmwing fable sets Bl snformation conceriag fhe COMPEnsIE fi persens swhio served oy ous gun-caployse
Dheectons during 3031 far ther servioes as Directoss.

AR Other
Fees Egenet or  Dpiion Awandy Corapensation
MName N  Pald i Cash (%) {84 .21 e Tutal 48
Mangarcl Cotter €13 e ' o '
Loy W Adames {23 40,800 63,0500 { iR, 000
Willhun I Gould SR ' 2 R e . e
Padward |, K AR\ i 1] 63,000
17
N I e A A A A A A N N A A A A A A A A A N, ) A AR W e R s ey L n‘.\ SUS n
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PROPOSAL 2: Rapification of Appeinimrent of tedependent Reisteved
Tubliz krmummg Firm

JE IS !“fma i LEP hag audited our donsotidated fnsneial statomente singe 301 L Rc:;wmm;sms es of Urant Thosion LLE
are expecked B be w the Awiid Meeting, witl have g m;r;mmsmls s grvatin 3 afateanang i !hﬂ sey e snd Wil he peatdale w
respand By esppmmmtc rees ok,

’w{mkimtdu eiificativn of ihe seloution of Ceant Thamton LLE sy oue iﬂd}‘.‘iﬁ‘ﬁdhﬂl yeginered pnhhu sccoueting N fox
013 s nok reug fees} by iy Bybnes o atbirsdsi. Howevar, the erd has diveoted o msm.xg,mem tor syt diis selection o the
stckhetders for ratificaion us  onster of pood corpaaie practiee. fn the oo the-stockbulders Tt bty v sohovtion of Graw
Thernton LLP, the Audie Cowsites will ool by reggirad to pephace Goant Thoemton ULF w0 oie utipendent regidtered public
-sumwun\ fiemm It vt of sich s EBitRe b radify . the iadit Coomuittee wead the Beand swill soomnsudur whicther g 1o refain
W LB aeccountng e i fterd vears, Even af the solection i ratihied, the Sadi
Logumisie at {1 shsoretion may dwdet the appointnent of o different independent feptstered public suvonnting e a8 any v iihe
»\kudn Cotmruiue dewrmines that such wohang seahid be s and ey at(&n&hﬁ%&ﬂ‘? best itieests.

Vafe quu“"t"'d

LR o our independent registennd ;mhm

fist *tﬂ \
Heemmmendation of the Board
FHE Hﬁ"&ﬂﬁ RE‘ COMMENES A VOTE“FORT T ?H*H..ﬂ H*?.'f ATIONOF “HH" SELECTION £3F (sﬁ;ﬂtl THORNTONBIF AN
DUR INEPENTENT REGISTEREB PUBL JALCK Ny HR“ FOR 318

19
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HEPORT OF THE AU AR CORPLICTS COMAMITTER

The Balfeaang iy the saport of ihe Aubit Cennitiites of our Bowd of Piocion with rospect e our sudited fimweiad sntomisnty
For e s v onded Dovembee 3, 304,

- Ehwdedormution contained B Qus report shiadl ot b deemnind 1o be “eoticiting materiat™ or “nw‘ with the SEC or subjeet to
the lghiditics of Sechon 18 of the Securities Exchunge Actof 1934, as amsendad (e Exclaunge Aty excepi t the sxient that we
spesiidly incotpoaste it by seferesce into o divunaent Slod wndor the Seuseties Actol 933, a8 amendisd, or the Exclisage At

The purpose of the Asdin Uusraitiee i 30 i the Roand an s genors! dversight of pur fisaneidd o wmniz indarmnd

womirady andadat Recposs. The Audit Cormmutos ogestes vedey a wition € ha:m Mnﬁim by sy Bangrd s Dretors. The Chonsy

Wy iewid poriadivally wed sobiod o chanpe, & spevepriaie. The Aedit Comsitios Charter dostribees in groates dotsd i full
rosponsibititios of dhe Awdit Commpitee,

i this cordexy, the Ambit Commutics by reviewed and discussed the Companye's andited Hnancial stalomenty with
rssReent gl (ot Thewntan UL, s indspundent auafitens. Mwagimont i3 zmmsmtbh. for the prepacaiion, presentabon and
cteprsty o e faamoial sttemeats, sccounting snd Timmoiad rogarting prisupbog oxablidnig axd mandsaing dsclosue costrehy
sl ;mw“tmn*h o defined fn B Mﬁmmw At Rule 13- 0300 estublishing and ruaintal g informnl corgred over ol t\,p\st‘tmg {as
dufmed fa Exchange Act Rule | R ahusnng e effvetivanesy of dswioxure controls. {&rm.uimt"‘ v ainating the
sifectiveness ot inamal omteol sver Someted raparting: sod pealasiiag sy change i intores] sonted qeer fasnciad regeuting tha
foin entgriatly wlfcend. of s sonumabily Hiady to minteninily aileey e mwmﬁ aver Inveis R‘}Niﬂ!ﬂg (n.&m !iwmxma E‘ P s
reapisible R prelivasiag an independent sadit of e consaliduted Hinvaein! stiteats 3y

SremEnty and ©x
coRiormty of thase Hna mi SERSHOINE W e m_ss_simg pmma;ﬁx\\ sy neceptid e Untied 34 m‘\ af kzm:x MA 0w feii a\ :m
a3 anmaRornnt s et of i offectiveness of fube rad conteod over Tivancind seportin and {61} the vifeihvenwa ot
weertal contiad o financiad ropottng

The Awda Comuniiter e dscusad seithe U Thomion 1P e disttess xﬁi;uift‘d o b direnssed by Audiiing Siwdad

S, 8, "Oompanications with Sodt Comatives” and FOALR :‘m{}stmg standerd Na. 3 7aa Ands ol aoesal Contest Uver

Finmeial Heporting Sia b indirgrated with Andit of Famsial h"'smm'ﬁtw in addibemn, Dot Thoeston LLE hae provided s Audd

( “omEritice with she writon disclusines s the Jetrey sequired by h ka:..g?t‘mix.ii-L\t‘ Standieds Baard Sundend \u b, saveenkod,

“indepeadenee Dhycussans with Rl Comedtiers” and i \mm oo S discussed with Sivas Thornton LLF el s
indepumionse.

Based o there reviow of e sonselidud Snasdal shaoments and discussions with and repromenbitions {nuw mensgene
s Civaest Fhoratow LLF rofrend W abovg, the Andhid Cowmaios sevortimnendind fo oar Boarid of Phrcctons that the audaed Hnauint
stravants by inctuded 10 o Aonid Repart an Porm 108 fin feacal vear 2008 R Bling wasy e SEC

3 i et the ity o the Sadit Connniiter o slan or combnot andits of o dotenming hat the Compawy s finsnciad samisas
ate viongdeny aind wennone and o accardancs with sucounting poinciplis generdlly acecpied x the Uiuted Seates. That i thae

vespotstintiy of ruesgovrea) smd thie Congany s fndopedont ﬂ‘gh‘hi%ﬁ puidi mmmnmka firad. s giving iy recanmenduting wwile
Bedrd of Dirgeiors, tie Audt Coguusiio retind g £} monnganont s roproson o that SN nmm nssi statemords have hoen
_mep&ts\’& sestle Steguty and obpotivity snd mogontivmdy sty FReoUNR [iniphor goreathe aesnpied i ihe Unded Staes sl
{23 the ropot of the Tompany s mdapﬁﬁﬁcm regdsired. tmhist Recouniiag Fv with respeet o such Raanoisl statesnens,

Regpectfidly sabittad by the Audd Coramitios,

Qoughas . Mobachen, Charmim
Baward L Rasw
Taey Moeey

¥ad
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Tl follwwing bl sots forth information rogarding our excoutive offtours ot e Llen M. Uottar, whese mformatine i
sed farth alavee umder “Froposad | Blection of Dieestoes « Morssees for Elustion ™

Nawe Age Fille |

Thovasey (ke & LRt Fioaneiad Otosy

Rubert FL Smwrhng 80 Prosidond - Domastic Clawnns

Withiwm D Bl bt Crenerd Counsel wnd Sersiery

Wavse £ Smiigh £ Shaogeing Divestor - Avstosdin wid Now denltassd

Fues § Coftee, e Foemer Ohdad Beavgive (o oo}

James § Ointer, J, 4 Faoemey Chied Fesosgive (ifficer

Sadven Matyeaynski &3 Formes Chiv? Finsacrat Ofver, Trossurse ad
Corporale Sooreiaey

O Besasi O BeyTrGhose Drevusts i weas sppennitenl Chied F i D fieer amd Teomsuree o May 1, 3018 Oserde
g T woars, Me Chowe servd 8s Bxovative ¥Fooe Prosadent and $ief Plnaeciad Offcermd in s pvesbor of somior fismee mlos with
thee K SE-fted compting, SRilkod Hualihows Gaoup 1 hoalth servigey onstpany, sow paet of Ueoesis FaudihUe froes 2008
S, Shurgand Storgge Uenters, fug, {w international company focused ow i sgpnsition, dovelopmoiit and operstion af self-
STOEIRT comEs i the L% atsd Boeope; sode pagt of Puddic Roesge froon 2008 i 1000, amwd HOP, Ine | (ehich wiognits privasrdy by eent
e serving the hoalthoars inafosgee s fom £U80 o RN, anad oy Mosaging Divesor-intemational oy Urven Spevet Advibirs {im
fndopindent roavarch and adng Fon concentiabag on pubbichy tendod cond oxtate corporab Ronpitioy i the U35 X Fueope) Bom
2006 1 BGT. Frior Bereto, Me. Ghese wiskiod B 10 vears By MrioveatorhauseCoopers i the U foan BT o B3 e KPS in
he R, He guashiied s 3 Cortitind Pobla Avuakins wbe LS aod o Chartavesd Sosratant i the £ KL anad bodds as Horgies
Pregrot w Phystes fropw ihe Uidversity of Defh, Indie aiad an Exeontior M8 A from the Dabeersity of Udlifomis Los Angeles,
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Putential Payments Upon Termination of Emplevaent or Change ja Control

 The following paeagraphs provide mformstien regarding potennad peyments w cach of our named enecutive officens in
somrashion with certad ranragion ovenis, saclpding 2 womunsion rdtaied o a change of control of e Cimpanie, as of Lecomdany
3§, 30 |

M Devinia Gbuse. pgtion withoht oatss. Uider Tus cmployment dgtrecrent, we sy omasae M. Ghose's
cmployiment wiab or without cause (s detined) of sy ime. 1o formmate Biis sirplovaent without canse or ful ko renew s
el gpreement spon expiestien without e, My, Gihoae wall be ontitled 1o receive SOVeranUe i an oot sgqual ta the
satacy and bepeiis he was recsiving for 2 pociod of F2 months feliowing such rermunation o noasromsed. 1 1he womstition i« i
coeesion with 8 “ohange of control” {38 detined ). Me. Ghose wonlid be ontithed 1o sevemnoe in an amou equad fo the
pranpotsation he woeuld have recerved for 3 poriod brer guars feont sudh ermimdion,

Me o e Blse Tormuation sithioon Cagse . Under fits congloyment qroiment, wa ey Wwominme My, BHis emplovimeit
sl ar withont caose L deiinudh atany B, B x&f:sn}ti_irs_:_n-c”h;iﬁsfc_mpi vt Withow casse, M, Siis will be eptitled, sabject
rive oF g penetitl rudiceie, fy egoive BOveranes i an ot syual t the vompensation by would uree recetved By the yemasider
ot woprer of his cmplovnien spreemant, or 28 pomhs, whichevor s fesg bt an noavend fess than 12 months. 8 the oisinsteon ix
wEeopnection with 3 change of contral™ (ax delined), Me. Elhy sovuld be onttlad 1o soverines v an smount sygusd o
oomperisation he woubid have recehved for o perfod of twios the nuimber oL auwaby romainag in the womy of s amplovment
HORIOE

e Wiene Smites Tevunaton of Capldorsent By Fatliag fo Moot Borformanes Stundords 1M S 's smployment ds

_tmn'i-éi;j_;;ﬁa{ift:@y thee Boserd foy Gasteny G opont e stundardy of his snndipatod poeonyancs, Mr Smih salt b cmatded oo sooraae
paymnt of spomonths e sidury

o athier samed oxecwtive offfsoy curseatly bave orploviment sgrerinents o sihor arrangoments proviting beae s upott
orsiaatingy o 2 chasige of ssmtsol,

CERTAIN RELATHONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

i propbess of v Audit aend Contlings Commattes are Dusglas MeBachenn, who servi s Ut and Bdward
Rome, Managonst pasgas o] petentia refatsd pacty tamsisctions t the CoaBlints Vonvaittes By soview. Our Conflints Comasiite
isviows whetBer # givon rolated porty tramsaction s boseicid 10 ow Covapany, aid approves or baei the transacton wiisey
shorough seabves. Unly Uomeanttes srembers thainionzstad in the tunmten iy question participas in the dotormisanos of whother
the wansacion ey proceed.

By 3001w ontored jte 8 Braesaction with Swton il Capriad, LLC OSHC bregavding the lessiog, wath snepiton o
prrchase of vertain ooy foosied i Mmzimum;'jiﬁéimtijs'sg o Village Fastand-Cinepray §, 3 & Y theators. Ty conriection with thai
rstisaction, wa glso agreed o end corisir amounis fo SHU, wy provide Tigutdity in 8 bovestment, pending our dossraipation wiwther
oF DOT 10 SXeRChe Our opHon 1 purchize and o manage the 30th Steeet Creems o e bass. SHO s alimited Hability company dat
vt by Sunen LR Sasoctmen, wivich wiss o SO pantnes shig bebsectns Jones 3. Catter, S, and Mchae] Forpun. The Vlage

Fast &3 thee enly cinoma subjeet to this lease, s durtage 303, 2013 sk 207 s paidd cont to SHE o the asnonnt of $330008 annually.
Cin e 38, 20E8, w sgroest o oxtemtsd our existing fease from SHE of the VWillage Bast Cinenn éa Wow York Oty by tWiyedy,

with i e temmenation date of Tune 38, 320, The Vilkge Bt lease melimbes o sobelease o thie gromrad updechyimg the Sirems thigt 3y
snbfen e fogger-term grosnd hease beivwoon SHC ond an anreled thind party thet expires in Sure 2031 {the "ol ground
fomae ™ The oxtesded hease peovidhes Ror s call aprion purssant twyowliich Heading sy purchase thy cinoas ground lease i 389

witlbion ot the end ot the loase term. Adklitanatby, the toase has 5 pat sptam pursnant 30 which SHOC may reguive a0 purchase off ot

A podiian oF SHO'S imierest 19 the cxbiing heas fogss snd thie ancms grosmd eaae a3
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el 10 gover hiiy S share of Corfa costs axsovrstist with g acquisinen, This kad & beld s Shadow Vigw Lassd sond Faomang,
FLC, wehich s osvnied 3% by vor Commpany, Me Uatter, Jr. contends that the other B imteeest in Shadosws Vivey Land wend Farraing,
L & cosmind by toe T £ 00y, Sy v Trust, whale Bles . Cotinr ond Marpwoss Cotter sontond thad such terest s awund
foe the Betan of Jatnw 1 ooy, S Wi e e canaging sornder of Shadon Wi Land aod Famrsing, LLC with evoraght provided
by o Aaxdhit Commiive,

INGEPENGENT PORLIC ACCOUNTANTS
Sumansry of Principal Accounting Feex for Profenimal Servives Beadernd

- Our wdepondent poblic accountants, Graed Thorntos LLP, have anlitial o Finsnoat staemonts or e Bsod veur ended
Dcember 3, BHA, gad wre oxpocted w have a represeaistive present SO Anma Musting, sl wall bave the opportunddy t sake
s sratemont if he or she desires 1o de 5o and s exposted 1o be avadable to respond 1o appropiale questions.

Aaddit Foo

Fhe spgrogate Roes for probiisienat sersioos fer the audi of oud Tnancial sakements, wadit of wiernsl controls relised i thy
Sarbanes-Cadey At and the reviews of the Rosscisd statgrments inchwebad in our Forms 10K and B peovaled by Grasst Thorstam

ELF o HS and 201 e approximaivhe SO0 T8 el S3JAG8, ronprectinedy,
Awht-Rebited Faes

Larant Thoentsr LLP did not provide us sy awdil svdadod services for 2004 ox 3813,
Tax Feex

Cirant Thorntep LLE did not provide ws any products sy aeny sersioss for iax compliano, fax advior, o fax phaming for 3684
s M

AR Difoer Foes
Caoand Thompton LT did s paareide s any seevives Gy 208 o 3813 nder than as sot fouh sbawe,
Pro-Apprvees] Folicies sad Procedaees

CRae Aded Chanusiiioe waed pre-sppaied, G ihe oxterd puspured by appticable v s awlit seevices sind povrasisabiy mpe
st sorviees pravvidiod by aen indopeadent copustored pafdul sreounding on ot o aay O sented nbiaudit soreives. M
sudi servioos are cotsidured do seibnsy 1) 1he apgrogate ameont of Al such soveaaBt services constitates Ry s Mool the
il smount of resuaes oo pand fo wyr andepomlnst sogaiveed pubia soovmating fov drmg e fsoal e woahind they are

grovidod Tah we S s ERuis xeh N vIos @ e T o e engaeuned ot noiesidd ssevives aod (R sock seev s @0

progigly submitied oo Sude Copwaittes for sppooval poioy & he complotion of g andit by oty Audil Coammitios or any of 83

meynbaers whie bas suhordy fo give snch approval. Oy Sadit Conmsites gee-approved sl services proveidind o aw by Geant
Thorovosy LR fue 305 and 2643

STOCKHOLBER COMMUNIUATIONS

Auaguat Hepary

A vapy of our Aol Roport co Formg 1R By the Heoal vidr ended Phasnbuer 3, 2004 b boing provided with this froay
Bt
Sthbotder Conpmundositons with Deecton

1 bs the pahoy of our Board o Discoron that diy communivations sent i e aiontion of wry one oF mare of v Bireciars
i cans o our exeoutive offes will be prowpdly Forsarded o such Divestors. Such cotimuniontions will it be opened ar aevivwasd
by iy of our offioery o ovploves, o e ang e Divectuy, undess ey am ragesteod 1o die sa by the sddross of sny sueh
copatteiciion. Libeadte, e conting of aay tolophone wsssegos Tt S wy oue or e of sur Doy (iitodbng cathbaek
spapdet, 6 oy} wll b prosmpily forwarded o that T3 rechs

Steehhokier Proposals and Diveskor Nominstiogs
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PROXY VOTINGINSTRUCTIONS
YOUR VOTE IS IAPURTANT. PLEASEVOTE TQRAY.
e annoursge you i¢ take advantage of intemes or telephone voting.
Bothi are availabie 28 Bowrs 8 dew 7 days & week.
fntemet a0 REENINR YOTNG ¥ SveTETR theough 1HSD ga BT, on Nowvrobar 3, 2018,

SOTE Y INTERNEY AW FRSTCOS FTREFULT ¥ C HUMW0T
B o S g R A
ECRERGE W W 1S sm T Smuesw § O0E YR e ;N
Ry o] -?-“\&"! v SRS TR B a0 Muny M IRy £ W‘* wﬁ-
g I O hwm B SRTHIE AP ONEEW kg o

- | oR |
VOTE BY TELEPHONS | {800303-THES

SRS WY RENTONR RERENE 3 TN R *“'\““} A"i‘“’@\%- W ve i am
Rt AR 0 28 R e D) *} b 2R \N R PN O P
N N TR,

VOTE 8Y ML |
T O N S R R T R O
S AERIIRAANE Ny SRR O NEai. e SO W TR art e

'} SRR A

R p0 o R A Yy SRR R O R e 30 RTT e B e SR
PR RRG UEE OOHE Whams ov fRephuse win udhosank e warad
RN 1S WUy O SAN I TRy e s S I pou el spied
I TREREG P TISRY AR

Rﬁﬂmﬂﬁa IHTERRATIONAL ANH&&L MEETING. Pﬁﬂﬁ" CARD
BOARD OF DIRECTORS - The Board of Direciors recommenss & vote FOR il nominers iated.

Fropasat . _
€21 Elten 8. Cadter SRy W Adams (IR Sudy Sorddng 9% sames d. Colter J (D5} Lisrgaret Uniter
ANy Wi D Goukd iw* § Eofwas du’(&na w& Bougtas.t, KeEachern 1..3:3} hncna&i*&mt(&m
R wTBD aic, 3% S AL REERT IR

To withhoki your vate for any individuat neminge{s), inait “For A Excwt” box sihg write the numberfs) of the nomineesis) or
theline below,

R SRS ESEER
Froposel 2 Ratificationol the Appointine of Cur lndeperdent Autitors, Srnt Thamtaa LR lor - .
fscal year 361 5. The Boart s liracions recormendss & vaia FOR mw«aﬁ ofthe 2 *®
appairtmend of our Grand Thomton LLE.

Proposasl 3 Qv Business o i chs o stion the peng s sre authoredin v e upon suah other
Bininess a5 may propereooms betdra the srasking and af and with respect o ary and
au adjsunmants or posiporemants theraol. T Basrg o Divpgiees at presentknoiws of

mnatb&.sm&ssta ﬁé s}rescmn By Ot gnizens sl of e Somparsy e ths Bosrg of

THIS PROXY CARDHS VALEY ORIY WEHEN SIGRED ARD DATER.
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R
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SRR FRNRE R ST RS SENY SUARLY ALRPS. S30N ANINE BOCE R
TR0 AT B B SN W AT VTRV LURUWR 1 FUB AN 2
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SIGH, DATE ARD MARL YOUR PRGX‘&' Tﬂﬁﬁﬂ"
UNLESS YOU HAVE VOTED BY INTERNET OR fEL&PHW&

SEE REVERSE SIDE

o AURTROR & PrOXY Iy MRl SIUINE Sig and Seie 1hr Dard s revarse i inld snd detach aare stparforation betors maiting. E
T 22t k o A aanaad ety £ o

i o N

Rﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ

A IRTLRNATIGWAL

&NN&AL MEETING QF ST@GWLBER&
!‘Amamwsr wg 2015, H.tma,m?

THIS PROXY IS SOLICITED OR BEHALE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Theurgdersignedherely apporte Ellenbl. Coltar andfenk st blatycyns i aodgashof Huem, the alomeys, ayants, sndprodes ofihe.

WG RrSigned, Wil pevers of sGRSRuNon o e8TH, 10 alleng andani as proxy of Provies of the under signad at e drval Mastog of

Mook hoioers of Resdngintemafional ing ioles Nad s thos Emmrﬁm wheanpa O Rey, fooated a8 4375 Admiraly Way, Manne deiRey,
Daliforng BU22. o Toesdhy. Hovamber 15 2018 s 1480 8w, oAl Bnaoand st and wilh reoietin any ann st auisurraenss or '
payiponementsinatest andio vole ss mﬂe?‘eﬁ ises e ine nuisher ol phares whichihe ummi sl if pasanally juessrd, wouidbe smtiisita
vida,

t*‘& wﬂﬂm@m heﬂb, ame& ¥ T3 :‘n,mms M mﬁ w &t'om*\.s erdprmm ST ofmm o tt'mrsms*ﬂmex mm\awf& Byy Bk g¢
SRS I8 e Dy viFs ool Qe Terahy (e ces Rey iR A1 pronie s Rowtotors (e By e LRasrsigneito v g mitte Sanuai hlsating
The 3\3‘*’5\@“&‘&‘3 SoknaESiRs raonpl of e tiotion of Snesl Masting dnd the Proxy Blatement scommyaiingsuen o
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RMEADING

IRTERMATIDN AL

Minutes
of the Meeling Board of Dirvectors of
Reading Internstionsl, Inc.

Aungust 7, 2854

A duly noticed special telephonic meeting of the Board of Directors of Reading
International, Inc. (the “Company’’) was held on Thursday, August 7, 2014 at approximately
3:00 p.mn., Los Angeles local time.

All of the directors, other than James J. Cotter, Sr., were present either in person or by
telephone pursuant to a conference connection in which all participanis could hear and speak to
one another. Also present at the invitation of the Board was S. Craig Tompkins, Esq. who
served as secretary for the meeting,

Cali to Ovder

James J. Cotter, Jr., Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors, acting as the Vice Chauman
of the Company, called the meeting to order at approximately 3:00 p.m., Los Angeles time, and
took a roll call of attendees confirming their presence and ability to participate.

Resignation of James J, Cotter, Sr,

Vice-Chairman Cotter advised the Board that, due to illness, his father, James J. Cotter, Sr.
was not able to atiend the meeting and was resigning effective immediately as Chairman of the
Board, as a Director and as Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and as an officer, director

“and/or manager of each of the Company’s subsidiaries.

Vice Chairman Cotter also advised that it was currently contemoplated that the chairmanship

be rotated among James J. Cotter, Jr., Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter annually. James J.

Cotter, Jr., Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter further advised the Board that they consider their

family’s holdings in the Company to be a long term family asset, and that they intend to continue

* the Company in the direction established by their father, James J. Coftter, Sr. --- as a motion
picture exhibition and real estate company.

Following discussion, the following actions were taken by the unanimous vote of the Directors
present at the meeting: |

3 Jarpes J. Cotier, Jr. was appointed to serve as the Company’s chief executive officer;
» Ellen Cotter was elected to serve as Chairman of the Board; and
- » Following the resignation of James J, Cotter, Jr. as the Vice-Chairman of the Board,
Margaret Cotter was elecied to serve as Vice-Chairman of the Board.

]@'S‘ﬂ'L ptfﬁ
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Reading Infernational, Inc.

Minutes Board of Directors Meeting
E August 7, 2014

- Page 2

Certain directors asked questions which confirmed the non-exscutive nature of the rotating
chairmanship and regarding the corapensation to be paid to Mr. Cotter, Sr., given his resignation
in mid calendar year. It was determined that all such compensation issues should be delegated to
the Compensation Conunitice for detorniination.

Adienrament

There bemcr no funther business, the meeting was adjoumed at approximately 5:30, Los

Angeles time,
3’” /’ Z’ ,{/ e
; 0L A o .
Ellen M. Coiter, Chamnan "S%Craig Tompkins, Recording Secretary

RDI0016311
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INTENNATION AL

Bnutes of the
Vieating of the Board of Directars
f
tcading lernational, ng

flay 23, 2015

4 guly noticed meeting of the Board of Diveciors {the “"Board”: of Reading international, Inc. {the

“Company” ) was held in the Company’s offices in Los Angtips on May ,al 2015 at approximately
11535 a.m, fLos Angeles thimel

Cotter, Chairperson of the Board, and Board members Margaret Coller,

Fresent were Ellen B
Kane, Doug Mctachern, Tim

Vice Chalrperson, lames L Cotter, Jr, Wiliam 0. Gould, BEdward L.
Ztorey and Guy Adams.

eoattendance at the invitation of the directors were William D, Eilis, Company Secretary and

General Counsel, and Cralg Tompking., Also in attendancs at the reguest of the Charperson weare

Company counsel, Gary McLaughlin and Frank Reddick, of Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld, LLP.
On behalf of James [ Cotter, ir., Mark Krum of Lewis Roca Rothgerber LLP was also present.

in advance of the meeting, the Chalrperson had distributed to each of the directors a notice of
In addition, Neal Brockmeyer, counse| for the independent directors,

the meeting and an agenda.
s {0 a telephone conversauon he had on May

nad reporied to sach of the independent directors a
20, 2015 with Mr. Krum, who had informed br. Brockmeyer that it the Boeard took action at its
meeting on May 21, 2015 to terminate My, james Cotter’s employment with the Company, he
wouid file a lawsuit in Nevada cowrt against the directors personally based on an alieged breach
of fiduciary duty of care and duty of loyalty. Further, on May 18, 2015, Mr. lames Cotter hagj
reqguested the Chairperson to place on the agenda of this meeting the following matters: ) 8
report by him on a2 RBeview of the Tompany's Operations and the search for a Director of Reai
Fstate, {yv} employment agreements for Ms. £ilen Cotter and Ms. Margaret Cotter and {2) his
request that the Company repurchase 100,000 shares of Class A non-voling stock owned by him,

s, Bllen Cotter, Chairperson of the Board, called the meeting to order at approximately 1101%
3.m. [Los Angeles time) and did 2 roll calf of the attendess. M: Ellen Cotter acted as recording

secretary for the meeting and ook these minutes,

W*N*‘w




Reading International, Inc.

Minutes Board of Directors Meeting
May 21, 2015

Page 2

Prior to moving to the agenda, the Board took up the question of whether counsel from Lewis
Roca Rothgerber and Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld should participate in the meeting. The
Chairperson informed the board that non-board members are entitled to attend the meeting
only at the invitation of the Board and that Mr. Krum did not represent the Company and had
indicated an intention to file a lawsuit on behalf of Mr. James Cotter against each of the other
directors. Following discussion, Mr. Adams made a motion, seconded by Mr. Kane, that Mr. Krum
be requested to ieave the meeting. Upon a vote of 7-1, with Mr. Cotter voting against, the motion

was approved.

The Board then discussed whether it was appropriate for Messrs. Reddick and MclLaughlin to be
present at the Meeting. The Chairperson stated that Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld had been
engaged by the Company on employment and certain other matters for over ten years and
Messrs. Reddick and McLaughlin were present at her request. Following discussion, Mr.
McEachern made a motion, seconded by Mr. Kane, to invite Messrs. Reddick and MclLaughlin to
attend the meeting. By a vote of 5-3, with Messrs. Cotter, Storey and Gould voting against, the

motion was adopted.

Mr. Krum then addressed the Board stating that, in his opinion, the Board had not engaged in an
adequate process in order to make a determination to terminate Mr. Cotter as Chief Executive
Officer and that Messrs. Adams and Kane were not disinterested directors. Mr. Ellis reported
that he had consuited the Company’s regular Nevada corporate counsel and had been advised
that Messrs. Adams and Kane had no conflict that would preclude them as a matter of law in
participating in the meeting and voting on any matter with respect to Mr. Cotter.

Review of Operations

Ms. Ellen Cotter then stated that she would like take up the last item on the agenda, Mr. Cotter’s
report on operations, out of order as the first order of business. Mr. Cotter stated that he was
not prepared to make a presentation on the Company’s operations but instead would like to
address the Board on his performance as Chief Executive Officer and the reasons he believed it
appropriate that he continue in that role. Mr. Cotter then proceeded to speak to the Board at
length about his position of President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He told the
Board that he firmly believed that his father, James J. Cotter, Sr., the Company’s former Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer, had intended for him to have this role and his continuation as Chief
Executive Officer would be consistent with his father’'s wishes. He also took issue with the
independence of Mr. Kane and Mr. Adams and repeated the statements his counsel had
addressed to the Board urging that they be disqualified from voting with respect to any action to

terminate him as Chief Executive Officer.

The Board then proceeded to discuss at length the performance of Mr. Cotter as Chief Executive
Officer and President of the Company since he was appointed in August 7, 2014.
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For over the next two hours the Board discussed Mr. James Cotter’s performance as Chief
Executive Officer. Messrs. Adams and Kane and Madams Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter each
stated that it would be in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders that the Board
conduct a search for a qualified chief executive officer and that Mr. Cotter be relieved of his
positions as Chief Executive Officer and President of the Corporation and reviewed the reasons
underlying this assessment. As part of that discussion, it was noted that the independent
directors had met numerous times to discuss this matter and Mr. Cotter’s progress in this role.
Messrs. Adams and Kane and Madams Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter reviewed their
assessment of deficiencies that they observed in Mr. Cotter’s leadership, understanding of the
Company’s business, temperament, managerial skills, decision-making and other attributes in the
role of Chief Executive Officer. Messrs. Gould and Storey expressed their views on Mr. Cotter’s
performance and their conclusion that a decision to make a change in this position would not be

in the best interests of the Company at this time.

At approximately 2:00 p.m. (Los Angeles time), Messrs. Gould, Kane, McEachern, Storey and
Adams suggested that they continue the discussion in executive session and Ms. Ellen Cotter, Ms.
Margaret Cotter, and Maessrs. James Cotter, Ellis, Tompkins, McLaughlin and Reddick left the

meeting.

independent Directors Session

Messrs. Gould, Kane, McEachern, Storey and Adams continued in executive session for the next
two hours during which time they continued their review of Mr. James Cotter’s performance and

the course of action that would be in the best interests of the Company.
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Resumption of the Meeting with the Full Board

At approximately 4:00 p.m. {Los Angeles time), Ms. Ellen Cotter, Ms. Margaret Cotter, and Mr.
lames Cotter rejoined the meeting. |

After much further discussion amongst Board members, Mr. Gould suggested that Mr. Cotter
continue as President of the Company and the Board commence a search for a new Chief
Executive Officer. Mr. Cotter twice refused to continue in the role of President under a new Chief

Executive Officer.

After much further discussion, the Board determined to take no action at this meeting with
respect to Mr. Cotter’s position as Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company and that
the Board would reconvene the meeting on May 29, 2015 to continue its deliberations. In the
interim, the Directors would be provided the opportunity to reflect on the discussion during the
meeting and Mr. Cotter indicated that he would give further consideration to continuing in the
role of President of the Company under the leadership of a new Chief Executive Officer. At the
request of the Board, Mr. Cotter agreed to maintain during the upcoming week a “low profile,”
to not take any significant corporate action and take some time out of the office.

Independent Director Compensation

The Board then discussed the inordinate amount of director time that had been spent addressing
the management and personnel issues at the Company.

A motion was made by Mr. McEachern and seconded by Mr. Storey that each of the directors
who are not employed by the Company or members of the Cotter family, receive a one-time
bonus of 525,000 in recognition of the significant additional time required addressing these
matters. Upon motion duly made, seconded and unanimously adopted, the Board approved such

one-time bonus.

Ms. Ellen Cotter then adjourned the Meeting at approximately 5:00 p.m., to be reconvened on
May 29, 2015 at 10:00 a.m. (Los Angeles time) at the Company’s Los Angeles offices.

Ellen M. Cotter, Cherégﬁ,rRecordéng Secretary
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A duly noticed mestung of the Board of Directors {the "Board”} of Reading international, inc.
{the "Compapy”} was held in the Company’s Los Angeles office on May 21, 2015 and ullimately
adiourned to May 29, 2010 3t 1100 a.m. (Los Angeles time).

Fresent were EBlien M. Cotter, Chairperson of the Board, snd Board members Margaret Cotter,
Vice Chairperson, James | Cotter, Jr., William [ Gould, tdward L. Kane, Doug McEachern, Tim
Sstorey and Guy Adams. in attendance at the inwvitation of the diregtors was Willlam D Ellis,

Corporation Secretary and General Counsel,

Prior to the meesting, Neal Brockmever, counsel Tor the independent directors, reported to sach
of the independent directors as to 2 telephone conversation he had on May 28, 2015 with Mr,
Mark Krum of Lewis Roca Rothgerber, counsel for Mr. lames Cotter, I My, Srockmever
reported that i his conversation, dMr. Krum asserted that Me Guy Adams was not 3
disinterested director and was disqualified from voting on any matter addressing Mr. Cotter’s
~ontinusd employment by the Company as Chief Executive Officer and President. He also
asked Mr. Brockmever if My Brockmever was authorized to accept service of process on behalf
af the mdependent directors of the Company and asked Mr. Brockmeyer to respond by 10:00

. on May 29, 2015, The substance of My, Brockmever’s report was also shared with William

FHlis. General Counsel of the Company.

Lall 1o Order
pis. Ellern Cotter. Chairperson of the Board, called the meeting (0 oraer at approximately 151:00
.11 {Los Angeles time} and did a roll calf of the attendees. Mr. William Eilis acted as recording

secretary for the meeting and took these minutes.

Status of Presigent and Chief Executive Officer

The Board continued its discussion of Mr. lames Cotter, Irc performance as Chief Executive
Officar and President of the Company. Prior to adjpurnment on May 21, 2015, the Board
gdiscussed having Mr. Cotter continue as President of the Company and to immediately
commence a search for a new Chief Fxeculive Officer. At that time, Mr, Jotter twice informed

the other directors that he found that arrangement 1o be unacceptable. Mr. Cotter informead
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the Board that he had given further thought to a role as President and that he would not agree
to remain employed as President of the Company under the leadership of a new Chief

Executive Officer.

Mr. Adams explained his lack of confidence in Mr. Cotter’s ability to “move the Company
forward”, principally based on Mr. Cotter’s lack of leadership skills, understanding of the
Company’s business, temperament, managerial skills, decision-making and other attributes in

the role of Chief Executive Officer and President.

Mr. Adams’ then made the following Motion:

! move to remove James Cotter, Jr. from his position as President and Chief
Executive Officer and all other positions he holds with the Company, its
subsidiaries and affiliates. Mr. Cotter’'s employment agreement provides that if
he is terminated without cause he is entitled to severance pay. While | personally
believe we may have cause in this situation, it is my proposal that we take this
action to remove him “without cause” under the terms of his contract, which will
provide him the benefit of the contractual severance pay, assuming there is no

further breach of the agreement.

The above Motion was seconded by Mr. McEachern.

Before Ms. Ellen Cotter opened the floor to discussion on this Motion, she read the Board the

following statement:
| want to disclose for the record, and as all of you know, Margaret Cotter and |
have an interest in litigation that has been filed in California and we are now
parties to a lawsuit filed in Nevada by our brother concerning shares of stock and
options formerly held by our father. Qur brother is also interested in this

litigation.
Ms. Margaret Cotter confirmed for the Board that this statement also applied to her as well.

Mr. Cotter began the discussion by questioning the independence of Mr. Adams to vote on the
Motion. Mr. Ellis told the Board that he had reviewed with the Company’s regular Nevada
counsel the substance of Mr. Brockmeyer’ s report on his conversation with Mr. Krum, including
the stated reasons that Mr. Adams was allegedly not disinterested and disqualified from voting
on the matter before the Board. He reported to the Board that counsel had advised him that,
based on the facts outlined by Mr. Krum (which were the same as those asserted by Mr. Cotter
at the meeting), Mr. Adams did not have a conflict that would prevent him from voting on the

above motion.
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Mr. Cotter further reiterated that it was the intention of his father, the former Chairman and
CEO of the Company, that he run the Company and that the Board should observe his wishes.

The Board had a lengthy discussion of Mr. Cotter’s performance as Chief Executive Officer and
President of the Company. Mr. Cotter disputed these characterizations of his performance and

stated his belief that he was competent to continue to run the Company.

The Board then discussed various options regarding how the Company’s senior management
team should be structured, including terminating Mr. Cotter and appointing an interim Chief
Executive Officer to run the Company until Mr. Cotter’s successor could be appointed,
continuing Mr. Cotter in the role as President and commencing a search for a new Chief
Executive Officer (which Mr. Cotter had on three different occasions rejected), and deferring
any decision with respect to Mr. Cotter’s status as an officer of the Company and maintaining
the “status quo” until the pending litigation between the members of the Cotter family is
resolved, recognizing that the litigation could impact the control of the Company. Directors
Storey and Gould urged Mr. Cotter, Ms. Ellen Cotter and Ms. Margaret Cotter to attempt to
negotiate a universal settlement that would resolve issues relating to the control of the

Company and provide certainty to management and stockholders alike.

Ms. Ellen Cotter then informed the Board that legal counsel for Ms. Ellen Cotter and Ms.
Margaret Cotter had contacted Mr. Cotter’s counsel during the last week and proposed a
settlement of the litigation existing between the three of them and related trusts and estates.
It was noted that settlement of the litigation could be beneficial to the Company and its
shareholders because it would remove any questions regarding the voting of the Company’s
common stock held by the trust and estate of Mr. James Cotter, Sr., which represents a control
position in the Company and may reduce or eliminate the tension and obstacles to working

collaboratively as a team that currently exists among the three litigants.

Ms. Ellen Cotter then reviewed the terms of the proposal made by her and Ms. Margaret
Cotter’s counsel to Mr. Cotter’s counsel to resolve their litigation matters. It was noted that, to
the extent the proposal addressed the terms of any settlement of litigation between the family
members and their related trusts and estates, it was a matter personal to the Cotter family and
not a matter on which the Board would have a view. To the extent that the proposal addressed
the structure of the senior management of the Company, that was a matter for the Board of
Directors and could not be dictated by the terms of any settlement. However, recognizing the
potential benefits to the Company and its stockholders of a settlement of the existing litigation
among the Cotter family members and their related trusts and estates, the meeting went into
recess at approximately 2:00 p.m. to permit Mr. Cotter and Madams Ellen Cotter and Margaret
Cotter to continue their discussion of settlement terms.

The Board meeting reconvened at approximately 6:00 p.m. at the Los Angeles offices of the
Company. Present in the Los Angeles office of the Corporation were Ellen M. Cotter,
Chairperson of the Board, and Board members Margaret Cotter, Vice Chairperson, James J.
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Cotter, Jr. and Guy Adams. Present telephonically. were William D. Gould, Edward L. Kane,
Doug McEachern and Tim Storey. In attendance telephonically at the invitation of the directors
was William D. Ellis, Company Secretary. Each of the persons in attendance confirmed that

they could hear one another.

Ms. Ellen Cotter reported that she, Ms. Margaret Cotter and Mr. James Cotter, Jr. had reached
an “agreement-in-principle” regarding their various disputed issues. Ms. Ellen Cotter then
proceeded to read the “agreement-in-principle” to the Board. The agreement in principle
addressed the terms of the settlement of the litigation matters existing between the three
Cotters and related trusts and estates and also addressed Mr. Cotter’s continued role as an
officer of the Company. Ms. Ellen Cotter acknowledged that she and Ms. Margaret Cotter had
no authority to bind the Company or the Board as to matters related to the Company’s
management structure that were part of the settlement, and the Cotter parties could only
agree to vote for the settlement of those issues if the Board indeed approved such matters.
She further noted that the “agreement-in-principle” still had to be reviewed by counsel and

documented to the Cotters’ mutual satisfaction.

Adjournment

It was then determined to adjourn the meeting and to permit the Cotters to move forward to
document their settlement. No action was taken by the board with respect to the motion
made earlier in the meeting and no action was taken on any element of the agreement in
principle arrived at between the Cotter family members and related trusts and estates.

G AP

William D. Ellis, Recordmg Secretary
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Reading review
February 15
Preamble

Reading is a great company in a state of change. JCSnr approach needs to be
transitioned to a more orthodox governance and management model - a shift
from an autocratic/family office approach to a more focussed corporate

approach.

The company’s strategic direction needs to be reaffirmed; steps need to be taken
to maximise shareholder value in managing the cinema and property operations
— in particular US cinemas (growth /upgrades, profitability), NY property (ready
for implementation} and being prepared for a substantial investment cycle.
While not necessarily urgent, steps need to be taken promptly.

All this would be very challenging for any listed company. It is significantly more
complex given the “family” involvement - and even more complicated given the
litigation and its implications.

Our principal concern (and duty) is to refocus the company and management.
We need to focuss and assist the CEO to do that. Given the background
circumstances, we have allowed a period of grace while we waited to see how
the various dynamics would play out. Some months down the track we have
made limited progress — with litigation now underway and likely to last some
time, we need to move forward. The situation impacts on the current
management of the company, must certainly affect our ability to find new people
(and retain existing) and makes us vulnerable in the market — commercially
(operationally) and also to shareholders.

Background

e JCSnr managed in an unorthodox way but worked for him /Reading
e family in business but a work in progress
o JC-introduced but under tutelage - JCSnr saw a longer period of
tutelage than was in fact available - ]JC assumed CEO role on short
notice with limited experienced
EC - intimately involved - position with Bob not resolved
o MC - live theatre position in place; NY property - involved but not
integrated - clear JCSnr significant involvement/oversight and
only in prepartory phases
e Under JCSnr clear state of flux — CFO position, CT and WS position all
unresolved ~ JH gone (US property role?); new AUS property director in
place

O

Current position
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Issues

company wide direction and strategy needs to be reviewed/confirmed -
stay in cinemas, develop NY property, be prepared to invest cashflow and
capital as it becomes available
issues around senior management team - review and refresh
US cinemas - viewed by CEO as underpreforming and in need of clearer
management and strategy - anticipated need for significant CAPEX
US property - NY property on cusp of implementation and in need of
project management/value maximisation
Following JCSnr intrim period with limited progress -

o Beddingin period new regime — CEO getting feet under table

o CEO reviewing operations etc

o Potential litigation looming — wait and see developments

Feb 2015

o Litigation filed - for company limited affect except for

Company external perception

If allegations affect CEO ability to proceed

Indirect implications of uncertainty over contol of stock
Estate issues of little concern to company

o Leadership -

CEO inexperienced and needs help to lead/develop
leadership role

Cotter family issues affecting management ~ Cotter and
others

Need to establish teamwork etc

Morale poor and needs to be improved

o Company operations -

Strategy and business review delayed and frustrated
Significant issues outstanding - executive suite roles
Cotter rift causing management concerns - litigation likely
to esculate this

Some executives unsettled - EC, Smerling, Tompkins

US cinema operations affected by uncertainty

o Company in reasonable position to maintain status quo for a
period — no major issues looming and reasonable finacial state

Litigation may take 1-5 years to resolve
Company needs to take steps to minimise any fall out from litigation

o Shareholders - Cotters and others

o Governance - board

o Executive team - retaining existing/engaging new executives as

envisaged

o Business operations
Company needs to complete review and implement strategy as a matter
of some urgency - not necessarily an immediate problem -~ but not wise to
leave as is till litigation resolved - note CEO now sees urgency here
Appears to be urgency to advance NY property development strategy -
things are ready to go and delay may be costly
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wish to maintain status quo as much as possible re Cotter family, pending

litigation outcome - note CEO seems of this view

wish to support and assist JC in CEO role

need to ensure stability for business — particularly executive staff needed
to run the businesses

[Steps - placeholders/thoughts only]

CEO

©C 0O O O O

Reconfirm position and support
Restate CEO reports to board etc
set delegated authority level
hire and fire rules
Restate requirement/timing for
* monthly reporting [done by CEC - but needs
tightening/more detail once other division reports are
available] :
* strategy review, business plan and budgets — done and
timing [JC needs more support to get this done]
» engagement CFO/property executive
= approve property executive job description

EC
o Clarify role?
o Make reporting line to CEOQ/expectations clear
o Encourage cooperative approch with CEO to formuate business
review/planning process
o Provide certainty with employment contract
MC
o Leave live theatre contract in place but clarify reporting
requirements
o Setup services agreementre NY property role — with SL
requirements/role/delegated authority level /remuneration
o Require domicile NY
o Curtail her executive role (attending management meetings etc) -
she retains director role
Governance
o voting B Stock - standstill arrangement - status quo unless all
three Cotters agree [issues principally appointment directors/any
sale of business]
o protocol on conflicts/disputes? Independent members override?
o How are meetings chaired?
o Regularity of meetings for oversight
o Salary review for Cotters?
C Suite
o Setup for stability
o Find CFO, property person
o Clarify roles — particularly Cotters
o SortoutAM, CT and BS positions — seems may need contracts?

Strategy /business planning/budgets and reporting

O

Set up support to get done?
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e Review implications of litigation
o PR strategy
Filings
Dealing with shareholders
Stock price implications
Are we a controlled company?
Issues for CEOQ/other officers?
What are the likely scenarios depending on “who” wins? And thus
implications for current status quo position
e Management going forward
o JC AUS visit
o NY property issues - meetings soon?

© 0 O 0 0O
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Long-Term Leasehold Operating Property

In addition, in certain cases we have long-term leases that we view more akin to real estate investments than
cinema leases. As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately 155,000 square foot of space subject to such long-term

leases.
Square Feet of
Improvements Percentage Gross Book Value
Property® (rental/entertainment) Leased (in U.S. Dollars)
Manville 0/53000 N/A $2.321,000
Tower 0/16000 N/A $1,017,000
Village East® 4000 /38000 100% $8.454,000
Waum Ponds 6000 / 38000 100% $3.961,000

[8] Rental square footage refers to the amount of area available to be rented to third parties, and the percentage leased is the amount of rental
square footage currently leased to third parties. A number of our long-term leasechold operating property include entertainment components
rented to one or more of our subsidiaries. The rental area to such subsidiaries is noted under the entertainment square footage. Book value
includes the entire investment in the leased property, including any cinema fit-out. Rental and book value information is as of December 31,

2013.

[9] The lease of the Village East provides for a call option pursuant to which Reading may purchase the cinema ground lease for $5.9 million
at the end of the lease term in 2020. Additionally, the lease has a put option pursuant to which SHC may require Reading to purchase all or a
portion of SHC's interest in the existing cinema lease and the cinema ground lease at any time between July 1, 2013 and December 4,
2019. See Note 25 - Related Parties and Transactions to our 2013 Consolidated Financial Statements.




Investment and Development Property

We are engaged in several investment and development projects relative to our currently undeveloped parcels of
land. In addition, we anticipate that redevelopment of one or more of our existing developed properties may also occur.

Gross Book Value

Australia

Property" Acreage (in U.S. Dollars) Status
Auburn, [We are actively pursuing the development of the
Sydney, Australia 2.6 acres $1,824,000 next phase of this property.
Burwood, [We continue to evaluate our options with regards toj
Victoria, Australia 30.6 acres $46,528,000 this property.
Coachella, [We continue to evaluate our options with regards toj
CA,USA 202 acres $4.047.000 this property.
Cortay Cn, 1 o sty puring e doopme o b
Wellington, 1.1 acres $6,953,000 P property having sign
New Zealand agreement for a Countdown (Woolworths)
supermarket to be developed on this site.
Lake Taupo, Taupo, New [We are pursuing various options to dispose of this
Zealand 0.5 acre $2.304,000 property.
The bulk of the land is zoned for agriculture and is
currently used for Thorticulture commercial
purposes. A development plan has been filed to
54 acres zoned agricultural rezone the Property for warehouse, dlStl‘}b.uthI‘l and|
Manukau, 164 od light $13.993.000 manufacturing uses. We currently anticipate that]
Auckland, New Zealand ana b7 acres zon igh i this rezoning will be approved. In 2010, we
industrial . . Lo
acquired an adjacent property which is zoned|
industrial, but is currently unimproved. This
property links our existing parcel with the existing]
road network.
[n November 2013, we entered into a definitivel
Moonee Ponds, Victoria, 3 3 acres $11,053,000 purchase and sale agreement to sell our properties

located in Moonee Ponds, Victoria, Australia with
a scheduled closing date of April 16, 2015

[10] A number of our real estate holdings include additional land held for development. In addition, we have acquired certain parcels for
future development. The gross book value includes, as applicable, the land, building, development costs, and capitalized interest.

Some of our income operating property and our investment and development property carry various debt
encumbrances based on their income streams and geographic locations. Foran explanation of our debt and the associated
security collateral please see Note 12 — Notes Payable to our 2013 Consolidated Financial Statements.




Other Property Interests and Investments

We own the fee interest in 11 parcels comprising 195 acres in Pennsylvania and Delaware. These acres consist
primarily of vacant land. With the exception of certain properties located in Philadelphia (including the raised railroad
bed leading to the old Reading Railroad Station), the properties are principally located in rural areas of Pennsylvania and
Delaware. Additionally, we own a condominium in the Los Angeles, California area that is used for offsite corporate
meetings and by our Chief Executive Officer when he is in town. Except for a negative pledge on the aforementioned Los
Angeles condominium, these properties are unencumbered with any debt and are lien free.




Item 3 — L.egal Proceedings

Tax Audit/Litigation

The Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) has examined the tax return of Reading Entertainment Inc. (“RDGE™)
for its tax years ended December 31, 1996 through December 31, 1999 and the tax return of Craig Corporation (“CRG”)
for its tax year ended June 30, 1997. These companies are both now wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, but for
the time periods under audit, were not conselidated with the Company for tax purposes.

CRG and the RS agreed to compromise the claims made by the IRS against CRG and the Tax Court’s order was
entered on January 6, 2011. In the settlement, the IRS conceded 70% of its claimed adjustment to income. Instead of a
claim for unpaid taxes of $20.9 million plus interest, the effect of settlement on the Reading consolidated group was to
require a total federal income tax obligation of $5.4 million, reduced by a federal tax refund of $800,000 and increased by
interest of $2.3 million, for a net federal tax liability of $13.9 million as of January 6, 2011. On October 26, 2011, CRG
reached an agreement with the IRS for an installment plan to pay offthis federal tax liability, including additional interest
accruals at the prescribed IRS floating rate. The agreement requires monthly payments of $290,000 over a period of
approximately five years. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, after the payments made during 2013 and 2012,
respectively, the remaining federal tax obligation was $8.3 million and $10.0 million, respectively, in tax and interest. Of
the $8.3 million owed under the installment agreement as of December 31, 2013, $3.5 million was recorded as current
taxes payable, with the remaining balance being recorded as non-current tax liability. Ofthe $10.0 million owed under
the installment agreement as of December 31, 2012, $3.5 million was recorded as current taxes payable, with the
remaining balance being recorded as non-current tax liability.

The impact ofthe settlement upon the state taxes of the Reading consolidated group, ifthe adjustment to income
agreed with the IRS were reflected on state returns, would be an obligation of approximately $1.4 million in tax plus
interest and potential penalty. As of December 31,2013, no deficiency has been asserted by the State of California, and
we have made no final decision as to the course of action to be followed ifa deficiency is asserted.

Environmental and Asbestos Claims

Certain of our subsidiaries were historically involved in railroad operations, coal mining, and
manufacturing. Also, certain of these subsidiaries appear in the chain of title of properties that may suffer from
pollution. Accordingly, certain of these subsidiaries have, from time to time, been named in and may in the future be
named in various actions brought under applicable environmental laws. Also, we are in the real estate development
business and may encounter from time to time unanticipated environmental conditions at properties that we have
acquired for development. These environmental conditions can increase the cost of such projects, and adversely affect
the value and potential for profit of such projects. We do not currently believe that our exposure under applicable
environmental laws is material in amount.

From time to time, we have claims brought against us relating to the exposure of former employees of our
railroad operations to asbestos and coal dust. These are generally covered by an insurance settlement reached in
September 1990 with our insurance carriers. However, this insurance settlement does not cover litigation by people who
were not our employees and who may claim second hand exposure to asbestos, coal dust and/or other chemicals or
elements now recognized as potentially causing cancerin humans. Our known exposure to these types of claims, asserted
or probable ofbeing asserted, is not material.




In connection with the development of our 50.6 acre Burwood site, it will be necessary to address certain
environmental issues. That property was at one time used as brickworks and we have discovered petroleum and asbestos
at the site. During 2007, we developed a plan for the remediation of these materials, in some cases through removal and
in other cases through encapsulation. As of December 31, 2013, we estimate that the total site preparation costs
associated with the removal of this contaminated soil will be $15.2 million (AUS817.1 million) and as ofthat date we had
already incurred a total of $7.4 million (AUS$8.3 million) ofthese costs. We do not believe that this has added materially
to the overall development cost of the site, as it is anticipated that all of the work will be done in connection with the
excavation and other development activity already contemplated for the property.




PART 11

Item 5 — Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Mazrket Information

Reading International, Inc., a Nevada corporation (“RDI” and collectively with our consolidated subsidiaries and
corporate predecessors, the “Company,” “Reading™ and “we,” “us,” or “our™), was incorporated in 1999. Historically, we
have been listed on the AMEX and due to the 2008 purchase of the AMEX by the NYSE Alternext US ; we were listed on
that exchange at December 31,2008, During July 2009, we moved our listing from NYSE Altemext to NASDAQ.

The following table sets forth the high and low closing prices ofthe RDI and RDIB common stock for each ofthe
quarters in 2013 and 2012 as reported by NASDAQ:

Class A Stock Class B Stock

High Low High Low

2013 Fourth Quarter $ 749 $ 6.15 § 9.00 $ 699
Third Quarter $ 658 $ 615 $ 799 $ 652

Second Quarter $ 636 $ 550 $ 740 $ 6.00

First Quarter $ 6.08 § 542 $ 749 $ 565

2012 Fourth Quarter $ 623 $ 548 $ 740 $ 564
Third Quarter $ 658 $ 473 $ 795 $ 5.00

Second Quarter $§ 5388 $ 462 $ 675 $§ 453

First Quarter $ 4356 $ 412 $ 7.00 $ 426

The following table summarizes the securities authorized forissuance under our equity compensation plans:

Number of
Number of Weighted- securities
securities to be average exercise remaining
issued upon price of available for
exercise of outstanding future issuance
outstanding options, under equity
options, warrants, warrants, and compensation
Plan category and rights rights plans
Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders 894.950 $ 7.33 1,829,436
Total 894,950 b 7.33 1,829,436

Performance Graph

The following line graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return on Reading International, Inc.’s
common stock for the years ended December 31,2009,2010, 2011, 2012, and 2013 against the cumulative total return
as calculated by the NASDAQ composite, the motion picture theater operator group, and the real estate operator group.
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Holders of Record

The number of holders of record of our Class A Stock and Class B Stock in 2013 was approximately 3,500 and
300, respectively. On March 6, 2014, the closing price per share of our Class A Stock was $7.54 and the closing price per
share of our Class B Stock was $10.23.

Dividends on Common Stock

We have never declared a cash dividend on our common stock and we have no current plans to declare a
dividend; however, we review this matter on an ongoing basis.

b) Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities: Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities

None.

(c) Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

During 2011, we purchased 172,300 of Class A Nonvoting shares on the open market for $747,000. No shares
were purchased during either 2013 or 2012.




Item 6 — Selected Financial Data

The table below sets forth certain historical financial data regarding our Company. This information is derived
in part from, and should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements included in tem & of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the vear ended December 31, 2013 (the “2013 Annual Report™), and the related notes to
the consolidated financial statements (dollars in thousands, except per share amounts).

At or for the Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Revenue $ 258221 % 254,430 % 244,979 $ 229,322 % 216,740
Operating income b 20,935 % 19,127 & 18,178 % 13,069 % 13,910
Income (loss) from discontinued operations 5 - 3 (405) § 1,888 § 97 $ 12
Net income (loss) 5 9,145 § (1,406) $ 10,896 % (12,034) $ 6,482
Net income (loss) attributable to Reading

International, Inc. shareholders $ 9,041 § (914) § 92956 § (12,650) § 6,094
Basic earnings (loss) per share — continuing

operations $ 0.39 § (0.02) § 036 % {0.56) & 0.27
Basic earnings (loss) per share — discontinued

operations $ - % (0.02) § 0.08 § - 8 --
Basic earnings (loss) per share b 039 § (0.04) § 044 § (0.56) & 0.27
Diluted earnings (loss) per share — continuing

operations $ 0.38 § (0.02) & 035 § (0.56) & 0.27
Diluted earnings (loss) per share — discontinued

operations b - % (0.02) & 0.08 § - 3% --
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 038 § (0.04) § 043 § (0.56) § 0.27
Other Information:

Shares outstanding 23,083,265 23,083,265 22,806,838 22,804,313 22,588,403
Weighted  average  number of  shares

outstandingbasic 23,348,003 23,028,596 22,764,666 22,781,392 22,580,942
Weighted  average  number of  shares

outstanding diluted 23,520.271 23,028,596 22,993,135 22,781,392 22,767,735
Total assets $ 386,807 $ 428,588 % 430,764 $ 430,349 406,417
Total debt b 168,460 § 196,597 % 209,614 §$ 228,821 § 226,993
Working capital (deficit) b (71,794) % (21,415) % (12,844) $ (57,634) § (16,229)
Stockholders® equity $ 121,747 § 130,954 % 124,987 § 112,639 8 110,263
EBIT 5 24,020 % 20,416 § 18,664 $ 13,900 $ 22,618
Depreciation and amortization 3 15,197 % 16,049 % 16,595 $ 15,563 $ 15,034
Add: Adjustments for discontinued operations b - 3 335 % 365 % 351 % 134
EBITDA $ 39217 % 36,800 § 35,624 % 29.814 % 37,786
Debt to EBITDA b 430 § 534§ 588 § 7.67 & 6.01
Capital expenditure (including acquisitions) 5 20,082 § 13,723 § 9,376 $ 19,371 % 5,686
Number of employees at 12/31 2,494 2,412 2,263 2,109 2,207

EBIT presented above represents net income (loss) adjusted for interest expense (calculated net of interest
income) and income tax expense. EBIT is presented for informational purposes to show the significance of depreciation
and amortization in the calculation of EBITDA. We use EBIT in our evaluation of our operating results since we believe
that it is useful as a measure of financial performance, particularly for us as a multinational company. We believe it is a
useful measure of financial performance principally for the following reasons:

e since we operate in multiple tax jurisdictions, we find EBIT removes the impact of the varying tax rates and tax
regimes in the jurisdictions in which we operate.

e in addition, we find EBIT useful as a financial measure that removes the impact from our effective tax rate of
factors not directly related to our business operations, such as, whether we have acquired operating assets by
purchasing those assets directly, or indirectly by purchasing the stock of a company that might hold such
operating assets.

s the use of EBIT as a financial measure also (i) removes the impact oftax timing differences which may vary from
time to time and from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, (ii) allows us to compare our performance to




that achieved by other companies, and (iii) is useful as a financial measure that removes the impact of our
historically significant net loss carry-forwards.

e the elimination of net interest expense helps us to compare our operating performance to those companies that
may have more or less debt than we do.

EBITDA presented above is net income (loss) adjusted for interest expense (again, calculated net of interest
income), income tax expense, and in addition depreciation and amortization expense. We use EBITDA in our evaluation
of our performance since we believe that EBITDA provides a useful measure of financial performance and value. We
believe this principally forthe following reasons:

e« we believe that EBITDA is an industry comparative measure of financial performance. It is, in our experience, a
measure commonly used by analysts and financial commentators who report on the cinema exhibition and real
estate industries and a measure used by financial institutions in underwriting the creditworthiness of companies
in these industries. Accordingly, our management monitors this calculation as a method of judging our
performance against our peers and market expectations and our creditworthiness.

e also, analysts, financial commentators, and persons active in the cinema exhibition and real estate industries
typically value enterprises engaged in these businesses at various multiples of EBITDA. Accordingly, we find
EBITDA valuable as an indicator ofthe underlying value of our businesses.

We expect that investors may use EBITDA to judge our ability to generate cash, as a basis of comparison to other
companies engaged in the cinema exhibition and real estate businesses and as a basis to value our company against such
other companies.

Neither EBIT nor EBITDA is a measurement of financial performance under accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America and should not be considered in isolation or construed as a substitute for net
income or other operations data or cash flow data prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States for purposes of analyzing our profitability. The exclusion of various components such as interest,
taxes, depreciation, and amortization necessarily limit the usefulness of these measures when assessing our financial
performance, as not all funds depicted by EBITDA are available for management’s discretionary use. For example, a
substantial portion of such funds are subject to contractual restrictions and functional requirements to service debt, to
fund necessary capital expenditures and to meet other commitments from time to time as described in more detail in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

EBIT and EBITDA also fail to take into account the cost of interest and taxes. Interest is clearly a real cost that
for us is paid periodically as accrued. Taxes may or may not be a current cash item but are nevertheless real costs that, in
most situations, must eventually be paid. A company that realizes taxable eamings in high tax jurisdictions may be
ultimately less valuable than a company that realizes the same amount of taxable earnings in a low tax
jurisdiction. EBITDA fails to take into account the cost of depreciation and amortization and the fact that assets will
eventually wear out and have to be replaced.

EBITDA, as calculated by us, may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other
companies. A reconciliation of net income (loss) to EBIT and EBITDA is presented below (dollars in thousands):

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Net income (loss) attributable to Reading

International, Inc. shareholders $ 9,041 § 914y § 9,956 & (12,650) % 6,094
Add: Interest expense, net 10,037 16,426 21,038 12,286 14,572
Add: Income tax (benefit) expense 4,942 4,904 (12,330) 14,264 1,952
EBIT $ 24020 % 20,416 § 18,664 § 13,500 § 22,618
Add: Depreciation and amortization 15,197 16,049 16,595 15,563 15,034
Adjustments for discontinued operations -- 335 365 351 134
EBITDA $ 39,217 % 36,800 § 35,624 § 29814 37,786




Item 7 — Management’s Discussions and Analvsis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following review should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes
included in this 2013 Annual Report. Historical results and percentage relationships do not necessarily indicate
operating results for any future periods.

Overview

We are an internationally diversified company principally focused on the development, ownership, and
operation of entertainment and real property assets in the United States, Australia, and New Zealand. Currently, we
operate in two business segments:

s Cinema Exhibition, through our 56 multiplex theaters, and
¢ Real Estate, including investment, development, and the rental ofretail, commercial and live theater assets.

We believe that these two business segments complement one another, as the comparatively consistent cash flows
generated by our cinema operations can be used to fund new cinema business opportunities and the front-end cash
demands of ourreal estate investment and development business.

We manage our worldwide cinema exhibition businesses under various different brands:

e inthe US,underthe Reading, Angelika Film Center, Consolidated Amusements, and City Cinemas brands;
¢ in Australia, under the Reading brand; and
e in New Zealand, under the Reading and Rialto brands.

While we do not believe the cinema exhibition business to be a growth business, we do believe it to be a
business that will likely continue to generate fairly consistent cash flows in the years ahead even in recessionary or
inflationary environment. This is based on our belief that people will continue to spend some reasonable portion of their
entertainment dollar on entertainment outside of the home and that, when compared to other forms of outside the home
entertainment, movies continue to be a popular and competitively priced option. Since we believe the cinema exhibition
business to be a mature business with most markets either adequately screened or over-screened, we see growth in our
cinema business coming principally from the enhancement of our current cinemas, the development in select markets of
specialty cinemas, and the opportunistic acquisition of already existing cinemas rather than from the development ofnew
conventional cinemas. From time to time, we invest in the securities of other companies, where we believe the business or
assets ofthose companies to be attractive or to offer synergies to our existing entertainment and real estate businesses. In
the current environment, we intend to focus on the development and redevelopment of our existing assets (particularly
our New York assets and our Angelika Film Center chain), as well as to continue to be opportunistic in identifying and
endeavoring to acquire undervalued assets, particularly assets with proven cash flow and which we believe to be resistant
to current recessionary trends.

In summary, while we do have operating company attributes, we see ourselves principally as a geographically
diversified real estate company and intend to add to stockholder value by building the value of our portfolio of tangible
assets including both entertainment and other types of land and brick and mortar assets. We endeavor to maintain a
reasonable asset allocation between our domestic and international assets and operations, and between our cash
generating cinema operations and our cash consuming real estate investment and development activities. We believe that
by blending the cash generating capabilities of a cinema operation with the investment and development opportunities of
ourreal estate operations, our business strategy is unique among public companies.

Business Climate
Cinema Exhibition - General

After years of uncertainty as to the future of digital exhibition and the impact of this technology on cinema
exhibition, it became clear in 2012 that the industry must go digital. We have now completed the conversion ofall ofour
U.S., Australia, and New Zealand cinema operations to digital projection. Over several years, we anticipate




that the cost of this conversion will be covered in substantial part by the receipt of Virtual Print Fees paid by film
distributors for the use of such digital projection equipment.

In the case of “in-home™ entertainment alternatives, the industry has experienced significant leaps in recent
periods in both the quality and affordability of in-home entertainment systems and in the accessibility to entertainment
programming through cable, satellite, DVD, and intemet distribution channels. These altemative distribution channels
are putting pressure on cinema exhibitors to reduce the time period between theatrical and secondary release dates, and
certain distributors are talking about possible simultaneous or near simultaneous releases in multiple channels of
distribution. These issues are common to both our domestic and international cinema operations.

Certain new entrants to the cinema exhibition market, as well as certain of our historic competitors, have begun
to develop new and to reposition existing cinemas that offer a broader selection of premium seating and food and
beverage offerings. These include, in some cases, food service to the seat and the offering of alcoholic beverages. We
have for some years offered premium seating and alcoholic beverages in certain of our overseas cinemas. We have also
offered café food selections and alcoholic beverages domestically in certain of our Angelika Film Centers. Accordingly,
we are experienced in and believe that we can compete effectively with this emerging competition. We are currently
reviewing the potential for expanding our offerings at a variety of our domestic cinemas.

Cinema Exhibition — Australia / New Zealand

The film exhibition industry in Australia and New Zealand is highly concentrated in that Village, Event, and
Hoyts (the “Major Exhibitors™) control approximately 63% of the cinema box office in Australia while Event and Hoyts
control approximately 55% of New Zealand’s cinema box office. The industry is also vertically integrated in that one of
the Major Exhibitors, Roadshow Film Distributors (part of Village), also serves as a distributor of film in Australia and
New Zealand for Wamer Bros. and New Line. Films produced or distributed by the majority of the local international
independent producers are also distributed by Roadshow. Typically, the Major Exhibitors own the newer multiplex and
megaplex cinemas, while the independent exhibitors typically have older and smaller cinemas. In addition, the Major
Exhibitors have in recent periods built a number of new multiplexes as joint venture partners or under shared facility
arrangements, and have historically not engaged in head-to-head competition.

Cinema Exhibition — North America

In North America, distributors may find it more commercially appealing to deal with major exhibitors, rather than
to deal with independents like us, which tends to compress the supply of screens in a very limited number of
markets. This competitive disadvantage has increased significantly in recent periods with the development of mega
circuits like Regal and AMC who are able to offer distributors access to screens on a truly nationwide basis, or, on the
otherhand, to deny access if their desires with respect to film supply are not satisfied.

These consolidations can adversely affect our ability to get film in certain U.S. markets where we compete
against major exhibitors. With the restructuring and consolidation undertaken in the industry, and the emergence of
increasingly attractive “in-home” entertainment alternatives, strategic cinema acquisitions by our U.S. operation have and
can continue to be a way to combat such a competitive disadvantage.

Real Estate — Australia and New Zealand

Over the past few years, there has been a noted stabilization in real estate market activity resulting in some
increases to commercial and retail property values in Australia and to a lesser extent in New Zealand. Both countries have
relatively stable economies with varying degrees of economic growth that are mostly influenced by global trends. Also,
we have noted that our Australian and New Zealand developed properties have had consistent growth in rentals and
values although project commencements have slowed. Once developed, we remain confident that our Australian and New
Zealand holdings will continue to provide value and cash flows to our operations.

Real Estate — North America




The commercial real estate market has improved somewhat over the past two years and we have noted some
strong increases associated with ourreal estate located in large urban environments.

Business Segments

As indicated above, our two primary business segments are cinema exhibition and real estate. These segments
are summarized as follows:

Cinema Exhibition

One of our primary businesses consists of the ownership and operation of cinemas. For a breakdown of our
current cinema assets that we own and/or manage please see [tem 1 — Our Business of this 2013 Annual Report under the
subheading “Our Cinema Exhibition Activities.”

On December 31, 2013, we acquired a 3-screen cinema in the U.S. that we previously had managed since 2003.
In 2012, we opened one cinema with 8 screens and closed two cinemas having a total of 8 screens. In 2011, we purchased
one | 7-screen cinema.

Our cinema revenue consists of admissions, concessions, and advertising. The cinema operating expense
consists ofthe costs directly attributable to the operation of the cinemas including film rent expense, operating costs, and
occupancy costs. Cinema revenue and expense fluctuate with the availability of quality firstrun films and the numbers of
weeks the first—run films stay in the market.

Real Estate
For fiscal 2013, our income operating property consisted ofthe following:

e our Belmont, Western Australia ETRC, our Auburn, New South Wales ETRC and our Wellington, New Zealand
ETRC;

s ourNewmarket shopping center in Newmarket, Queensland, a suburb of Brisbane;

s three single auditorium live theaters in Manhattan (Minetta Lane, Orpheum, and Union Square) and a four
auditorium live theater complex in Chicago (The Roval George) and, in the case of the Union Square and the
Royal George, their accompanying ancillary retail and commercial tenants;

¢ a New Zealand commercial property located at Lake Taupo and Australian commercial properties rented to
unrelated third parties, to be held for cumrent income and long-term appreciation; and

e the ancillary retail and commercial tenants at some of ournon-ETRC cinema properties.

In addition, we had various parcels ofunimproved real estate held for development in Australia and New Zealand
and certain unimproved land in the United States that was used in our historic activities. We also owned an 8,100 square
foot commercial building in Melbourne, which serves as our administrative headquarters for Australia and New Zealand,
approximately 36% of which is leased to an unrelated third party.

Acquisitions
Operating Assets

On December 31, 2013, we settled a management fee claim that we had against the owner of the Plano, Texas
cinema that we had managed since 2003 for a cash receipt of $1.9 million. As part of the settlement, we acquired that
entity, and through the purchase of that entity acquired the underlying cinema’s lease and the associated personal
property, equipment, and trade fixtures. Because the fair value of the lease, in light of anticipated rent payments, resulted
in a lease liability of $320,000 and the acquired net assets, including cash received in connection with the settlement,
were valued at $1.7 million, we recorded a net gain on acquisition and settlement of $1 .4 million which is included as
other income in our statement of operating income for the year ended December 31,2013, We also acquired in 2013 the
50% interest we did not own in AFC LLC. In August 2011, we purchased the CalOaks Cinema, our largest multi-screened
cinema to date, for $4.2 million.

Nonoperating Assets




On January 10, 2012, Shadow View Land and Farming, LLC, a limited liability company owned by our Company,
acquired a 202-acre property, zoned for the development of up to 816 single-family residential units, located in the City
of Coachella, California. The property was acquired at a foreclosure auction for $5.5 million. The property was acquired
as a long-term investment in developable land. Half of the funds used to acquire the land were provided by James J.
Cotter, our Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and controlling shareholder Upon the approval of our Conflicts
Committee, these funds were converted into a 50% interest in Shadow View Land and Farming, LLC. We are the
managing member ofthis company.

Disposals
Moonee Ponds Properties — Held for Sale

In 2013, we entered into a purchase and sale agreement to sell our 3.3-acre properties in Moonee Ponds for
AUS$23.0 million which is scheduled to close on April 16, 2015 and is classified as land held for sale on our December
31,2013 consolidated balance sheet.

Indooroopilly Property

On November 20,2012, we sold our Indooroopilly property for $12.4 million (AUS$12.0 million). As the book
value was $12.5 million (AUS$12.1 million) for this property, we recorded a loss on sale as an impairment expense of
$318,000 (AUS$306,000) for the year ended December 31, 2012 which included the cost to sell the property.

Taringa Properties

On February 21, 2012, we sold our three properties in the Taringa area of Brisbane, Australia of approximately
1.1 acres for $1.9 million (AUS$1.8 million). Because the net carrying amounts of these properties were greater than the
total sale price, we recorded an impairment expense for these properties of $369,000 (AUS$365,000) for the year ended
December31,2011.

Elsternwick Cinema

On April 14, 2011, we sold our 66.7% share of the 5-screen Elsternwick Classic cinema located in Melbourne,
Australia to our joint venture partner for $1.9 million (AUS$1.8 million) and recognized a gain on sale of a discontinued
operation of $1.7 million (AUS$1.6 million).

Investment and Development Property

We are engaged in several real estate development projects. For a complete list of these properties with their
size, status, and gross book values see Item 2 — Properties under the heading of “Investment and Development Property.”

Critical Accounting Policies

The Securities and Exchange Commission defines critical accounting policies as those that are, in management’s
view, most important to the portrayal of the company’s financial condition and results of operations and the most
demanding in their calls on judgment. We believe our most critical accounting policies relate to:

e impairment oflong-lived assets, including goodwill and intangible assets;
s tax valuation allowance and obligations; and
¢ legal and environmental obligations.

Impaivment of long-lived assets, including goodwill and intangible assets

We review long-lived assets, including goodwill and intangibles, for impairment as part of our annual budgeting
process, at the beginning ofthe fourth quarter, and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount ofthe asset may not be fully recoverable.




Pursuant to FASB ASC 360-35, we review internal management reports on a monthly basis as well as monitoring
current and potential future competition in film markets for indications of potential impairment. We evaluate our long-
lived assets using historical and projected data of cash flow as our primary indicator of potential impairment and we take
into consideration the seasonality of our business. If the sum of the estimated, undiscounted future cash flows is less than
the carrying amount of the asset, then impairment is recognized for the amount by which the carrying value of the asset
exceeds its estimated fair value based on an appraisal or a discounted cash flow calculation.

For certain non-income producing properties, we obtain appraisals or other evidence to evaluate whether there
are impairment indicators for these assets. Based on calculations of current value from appraisals and a sales contract, we
recorded impairment losses of $1.5 million and $369,000 relating to certain of our property and cinema locations for the
vears ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. No impairment losses were recorded in 2013. For a further
explanation of our 2012 impairment losses see below under the heading “Coachella impairment” and see Note 7 —
Investment and Development Property to our 2013 Consolidated Financial Statements.

Pursuant to FASB ASC 350-35, goodwill and intangible assets are evaluated annually on a reporting unit
basis. The impairment evaluation is based on the present value of estimated future cash flows of the segment plus the
expected terminal value. There are significant assumptions and estimates used in determining the future cash flows and
terminal value. The most significant assumptions include our cost of debt and cost of equity assumptions that comprise
the weighted average cost of capital for each reporting unit. Accordingly, actual results could vary materially from such
estimates. There was no impairment for the goodwill and intangible assets for the years ended December 31,2013, 2012,
and 2011, respectively.

Tax valuation allowance and obligations

We record our estimated future tax benefits and liabilities arising from the temporary differences between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and amounts reported in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, as well as operating
loss carry-forwards. We estimate the recoverability of any tax assets recorded on the balance sheet and provide any
necessary allowances as required. As of December 31, 2013, we had recorded approximately $43.8 million of deferred tax
assets related to the temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and amounts reported in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets, as well as operating loss carry-forwards and tax credit carry-forwards. These
deferred tax assets were offset by a valuation allowance of $35.0 million resulting in a net deferred tax asset of $8.8
million. The recoverability of deferred tax assets is dependent upon our ability to generate future taxable income. There
is no assurance that sufficient future taxable income will be generated to benefit from our tax loss carry-forwards and tax
credit carry-forwards.

Legal and environmental obligations

Certain of our subsidiaries were historically involved in railroad operations, coal mining, and
manufacturing. Also, certain of these subsidiaries appear in the chain of title of properties that may suffer from
pollution. Accordingly, certain of these subsidiaries have, from time to time, been named in and may in the future be
named in various actions brought under applicable environmental laws. Also, we are in the real estate development
business and may encounter from time to time unanticipated environmental conditions at properties that we have
acquired for development. These environmental conditions can increase the cost of such projects and adversely affect the
value and potential for profit of such projects. We do not currently believe that our exposure under applicable
environmental laws is material in amount.

From time to time, we have claims brought against us relating to the exposure of former employees of our
railroad operations to asbestos and coal dust. These are generally covered by an insurance settlement reached in
September 1990 with our insurance carriers. However, this insurance settlement does not cover litigation by people who
were not our employees and who may claim second hand exposure to asbestos, coal dust, and/or other chemicals or
elements now recognized as potentially causing cancer in humans. Our known exposure to these types of claims, asserted
or probable of being asserted, is not material.

From time to time, we are involved with claims and lawsuits arising in the ordinary course of our business that
may include contractual obligations, insurance claims, tax claims, employment matters, and anti-trust issues, among other
matters.




2012 Coachella impairment

In January 2012, we acquired in a foreclosure auction for $5.5 million a 202-acre property located in Coachella,
California zoned for the development of up to 816 single-family residential units. The only other bidder was the holder
ofthe mortgage on the property who bid $5.46 million for the property. At the time of'the purchase, we knew, based on
our due diligence that we were paying more for the property than would be supported by an appraisal done under the
Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (“USPAP”). However, the amount that we bid was the lowest price at
which we were able to acquire the property from the mortgagor. In valuing the property, we took into account a variety
of factors, including the fact that the property is located within the City of Coachella, the state of the land use
entitlements, and the fact that the prior owner had invested considerable time and money in obtaining the entitlements
from the City of Coachella. Since an independent USPAP appraisal of the property produced an appraised value as of
December 2012 at $4.0 million, we wrote down the book value of the property by $1.5 million as of the end of our2012
fiscal year. As noted below, this property is owned by a limited liability company which is, in tum, 50% owned by Mr.
JTames J. Cotter who, accordingly, shares in any impairment loss to the extent of his ownership interest.

We acquired the property as a potentially long-term investment based on the expectation that ready-for-
development residential real estate will recover in value. As we are not in the business of developing single family
residences, it is anticipated that the property will eventually be sold to a developer of this type of property.

We hold the property in a limited liability company, which we manage. This company is owned 50/50 by
ourselves and our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, James J. Cotter. The opportunity to acquire the property was
originally presented to Mr Cotter in his individual capacity and the transaction was approved by our Conflicts
Committee, comprised entirely ofindependent directors.

Results of Operations

We currently have two operating segments: Cinema Exhibition and Real Estate. Our cinema exhibition segment
includes the operations of our consolidated cinemas. Our real estate segment includes the operating results of our
commercial real estate holdings, cinema real estate, live theater real estate, and ETRCs.

The tables below summarize the results of operations for our principal business segments for the years ended
December31,2013,2012, and 2011 (dollars in thousands).

Cinema Intersegment
Year Ended December 31, 2013 Exhibition Real Estate Eliminations Total
Revenue 3 239,418 § 26,456 % {(7,653) $ 258,221
Operating expense 200,859 10,830 (7,653) 204,036
Depreciation and amortization 10,741 4,023 - 14,764
General and administrative expense 3,273 644 -- 3,917
Segment operating income 3 24,545 § 10,959 % - % 35,504

Cinema Intersegment
Year Ended December 31, 2012 Exhibition Real Estate Eliminations Total
Revenue 3 234,703 § 27,256 $ {7,529) % 254,430
Operating expense 198,040 11,163 {7,529) 201,674
Depreciation and amortization 11,154 4,441 - 15,595
General and administrative expense 2,598 718 -- 3,316
Impairment expense -- 1,463 -- 1,463
Segment operating income 3 22,911 $ 9,471 % - % 32,382




Cinema Intersegment

Year Ended December 31, 2011 Exhibition Real Estate Eliminations Total

Revenue 3 225,849 § 26,562 $ {(7432) % 244,979
Operating expense 189,647 10,190 (7,432) 192,405
Depreciation and amortization 11,842 4,444 - 16,286
General and administrative expense 2,740 646 - 3,386
Impairment expense -- 369 -- 369
Segment operating income 3 21,620 $ 10,913 $ - % 32,533

Reconciliation to net income attributable

to Reading International, Inc. shareholders: 2013 2012 2011
Total segment operating income $ 35504 § 32,382 % 32,533
Non-segment:
Depreciation and amortization expense 433 454 309
General and administrative expense 14,136 12,801 14,046
Operating income 20,935 19,127 18,178
Interest expense, net (10,037) (16,426) (21,038)
Other income (loss) 1,876 (563) 1,157
Gain (loss) on sale of assets (56) 144 (67)
Income tax benefit (expense) (4,942) {4,904) 12,330
Equity earnings (loss) of unconsolidated joint ventures and
entities 1,369 1,621 (1,552)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations - (85) 232
Gain (loss) on sale of discontinued operation - (320) 1,656
Net income (loss) $ 9,145 $ {1,406) $ 10,896
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (104) 492 (940)
Net income (loss) attributable to Reading International, Inc.
common shareholders $ 9,041 $ {914) % 9,956

Cinema Exhibition Segment

The following tables and discussion that follows detail our operating results for our 2013, 2012, and 2011
cinema exhibition segment (dollars in thousands). All percentages below are expressed as a percent of total revenue,
except film rent and advertising cost which is expressed as a percentage of admissions revenue and concession cost which
is expressed as a percentage of concessions revenue:

Operating Income by Country for the

Year Ended December 31,2013 United States Australia New Zealand Total

Admissions revenue $ 84,725 § 61,741 § 15,039 % 161,505
Concessions revenue 35,056 24,025 5,596 64,677
Advertising and other revenues 6,540 5,655 1,041 13,236
Total revenues 126,321 91,421 21,676 239,418
Filmrent and advertising cost 44284 29,060 7,116 80,460
Concession cost 5,924 4,847 1,438 12,209
Occupancy expense 25981 18,371 3,943 48,295
Other operating expense 31,930 22,218 5,747 59,895
Total operating expense 108,119 74,496 18,244 200,859
Depreciation and amortization 6,181 3,603 957 10,741
General and administrative expense 2,347 926 -~ 3,273
Segment operating income $ 9674 § 12,396 § 2475 % 24,545




Operating Data as a Percentage of
Revenue for Year Ended

December 31,2013 United States Australia New Zealand Total

Admissions revenue 67.1% 67.5% 69.4% 67.5%
Concessions revenue 27.8% 26.3% 25.8% 27.0%
Advertising and other revenue 5.2% 6.2% 4.8% 5.5%
Total revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Film rent and advertising cost 52.3% 47.1% 47.3% 49.8%
Concession cost 16.9% 20.2% 25.7% 18.9%
Occupancy expense 20.6% 20.1% 18.2% 20.2%
Other operating expense 25.3% 24.3% 26.5% 25.0%
Total operating cost and expense 85.6% 81.5% 84.2% 83.9%
Depreciation and amortization 4.9% 3.9% 4.4% 4.5%
General and administrative expense 1.9% 1.0% 0.0% 1.4%
Segment operating income T.7% 13.6% 11.4% 10.3%

Operating Income by Country for the

Year Ended December 31,2012 United States Australia New Zealand Total

Admissions revenue $ 78,745 % 68,819 § 13,897 § 161,461
Concessions revenue 32,219 24,564 4,266 61,049
Advertising and other revenues 5,433 5,806 954 12,193
Total revenues 116,397 99,189 19,117 234,703
Filmrent and advertising cost 40,690 32,953 6,517 80,160
Concession cost 5,205 4,908 1,034 11,147
Occupancy expense 26,143 19,233 3,503 48,879
Other operating expense 29,870 23,024 4,960 57,854
Total operating expense 101,908 80,118 16,014 198,040
Depreciation and amortization 6,482 3,589 1,083 11,154
(General and administrative expense 1,937 661 - 2,598
Segment operating income $ 6,070 § 14,821 § 2,020 § 22911

Operating Data as a Percentage of
Revenue for Year Ended

December 31,2012 United States Australia New Zealand Total

Admissions revenue 67.7% 69.4% 72.7% 68.8%
Concessions revenue 27.7% 24.8% 22.3% 26.0%
Advertising and other revenue 4.7% 5.9% 5.0% 5.2%
Total revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Film rent and advertising cost 51.7% 47.9% 46.9% 49.6%
Concession cost 16.2% 20.0% 24.2% 18.3%
Occupancy expense 22.5% 19.4% 18.3% 20.8%
Other operating expense 25.7% 23.2% 25.9% 24.6%
Total operating cost and expense 87.6% 80.8% 83.8% 84.4%
Depreciation and amortization 5.6% 3.6% 5.7% 4.8%
General and administrative expense 1.7% 0.7% 0.0% 1.1%
Segment operating income 5.2% 14.9% 10.6% 9.8%




Operating Income by Country for the

Year Ended December 31,2011 United States Australia New Zealand Total
Admissions revenue $ 73,062 72,887 §% 12,622 158,571
Concessions revenue 28,225 23,306 3,446 54,977
Advertising and other revenues 5,482 6,019 800 12,301
Total revenues 106,769 102,212 16,868 225,849
Filmrent and advertising cost 37,360 34,390 5,878 77,628
Concession cost 4,460 4,963 852 10,275
Occupancy expense 25,210 19,107 3,157 47474
Other operating expense 27,033 22,274 4,963 54,270
Total operating expense 94,063 80,734 14,850 189,647
Depreciation and amortization 6,525 4,218 1,099 11,842
(General and administrative expense 1,973 691 76 2,740
Segment operating income by 4,208 16,569 § 843 21,620
Operating Data as a Percentage of

Revenue for Year Ended

December 31, 2011 United States Australia New Zealand Total
Admissions revenue 68.4% 71.3% 74.8% 70.2%
Concessions revenue 26.4% 22.8% 20.4% 24.3%
Advertising and other revenue 5.1% 5.9% 4.7% 54%
Total revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Film rent and advertising cost 51.1% 47.2% 46.6% 49.0%
Concession cost 15.8% 21.3% 24.7% 18.7%
Occupancy expense 23.6% 18.7% 18.7% 21.0%
Other operating expense 25.3% 21.8% 29.4% 24.0%
Total operating cost and expense 88.1% 79.0% 88.0% 84.0%
Depreciation and amortization 6.1% 4.1% 6.5% 5.2%
General and administrative expense 1.8% 0.7% 0.5% 1.2%
Segment operating income 3.9% 16.2% 5.0% 92.6%

Cinema Results for 2013 Compared to 2012

e Cinema revenue increased in 2013 by $4.7 million or 2.0% compared to 2012. The geographic activity of our
revenue can be summarized as follows:

o United States - Revenue in the United States increased by $9.9 million or8.5%. This increase in
revenue was predominately attributable to a 440,000 person increase in box office admissions and a
2.6% increase in the average ticket price coupled with a commensurate increase in concessions revenue.

Both of these increases were primarily related to the quality of film product in 2013 compared to the
same period in 2012,

o Australia - Revenue in Australia decreased by $7.8 million or7.8%. This decrease in revenue was
primarily related to a 5.1% decrease in the average ticket price resulting from a continued and expanded
competitive ticket pricing model; offset in part by, a 60,000 person increase in box office
admissions. As noted below, this decrease in revenue was exacerbated by a decrease in the value ofthe
Australian dollar compared to the U.S. dollar for the comparable periods (see below).

o New Zealand - Revenue in New Zealand increased by $2.6 million or 13.4%. This increase in revenue
was predominately attributable to a year over year 121,000 person increase in admissions; somewhat
offset by, a decrease in the average ticket price 01 0.4%. The increase in New Zealand admissions was
primarily as a result of increased revenues coming from our previously earthquake




damaged New Zealand multiplex. This increase in revenue was somewhat enhanced by an increase in
the value ofthe New Zealand dollar compared to the U.S. dollar (see below).
e Operating expense increased in 2013 by $2.8 million or 1.4% compared to 2012. Year over year operating
expense percentage decreased in relation to revenue from 84.4% to 83.9%.

o United States - Operating expense in the United States increased by $6.2 million or6.1% primarily
related to a $3.6 million increase in film rent and advertising primarily associated with the
aforementioned increases in revenues from admissions and a $2.0 million increase in other operating
expense including a $778,000 increase in projection costs primarily related to our new digital
equipment lease.

o  Australia - Operating expense in Australia decreased by $5.6 million or 7.0%. This decrease was in line
with the above-mentioned decrease in cinema revenue which directly affects film rental costs and
exacerbated by the year over year decrease in the value of the Australian dollar compared to the U.S.
dollar (see below).

o New Zealand - Operating expense in New Zealand increased by $2.2 million or 13.9%. This increase
was in line with the above-mentioned increase in cinema revenue which directly affects film rental costs
and with the above-mentioned year over year increase in the value of'the New Zealand dollar compared
to the U.S. dollar (see below).

e Depreciation expense decreased in 2013 by $413,000 or 3.7% compared to 2012. This decrease was primarily
related to several of our cinema assets reaching the end of their depreciable lives.

e General and administrative expense increased in 2013 by $8675,000 or 26.0% compared to 2012. This increase
was primarily related to an increase in labor expense from our U.S. and Australian cinema operations.

e Australian average exchange rates decreased by 6.5% from 2012 to 2013 and the New Zealand average exchange
rates increased by 1.2% from 2012 to 2013 both of which had an impact on our statements of operations.

e Asaresult, cinema exhibition segment operating income increased in 2013 by $1.6 million compared to 2012
primarily from the aforementioned increase in revenue from our U.S. and New Zealand cinema operations.

Cinema Resulis for 2012 Compared to 2011

¢ Cinema revenue increased in 2012 by $8.9 million or 3.9% compared to 201 1. The geographic activity of our
revenue can be summarized as follows:

o United States - Revenue in the United States increased by $9.6 million or 9.0%. This increase in
revenue was predominately attributable to a 722,000 person increase in box office admissions and a
commensurate increase in admissions and concessions revenue primarily from our 2011 acquisition of
the CalOaks cinema in Murrieta, California and from our newly opened AFC Mosaic cinema in the
greater Washington D.C. metropolitan area; offset by, a 0.7% decrease in the average ticket price.

o Australia - Revenue in Australia decreased by $3.0 million or 3.0%. This decrease in revenue was
primarily related to a 91,000 person decrease in box office admissions coupled with a 3.9% decrease in
the average ticket price resulting from a more competitive ticket pricing model. This decrease included
the temporary closure of a cinema in Australia due to renovations during the second quarter As noted
below, there was only a nominal change in the Australian dollar compared to the U.S. do llar for the
comparable period (see below).

o New Zealand - Revenue in New Zealand increased by $2.2 million or 13.3%. This increase in revenue
was predominately attributable to a year over year 236,000 person increase in admissions; offset by, a
decrease in the average ticket price of 7.6% resulting from a more competitive ticket pricing model. The
increase in New Zealand admissions was primarily as a result of the reopening of an earthquake
damaged New Zealand mwltiplex in early January 2012. This increase in revenue was somewhat
enhanced by an increase in the value ofthe New Zealand dollar compared to the U.S. dollar (see below).

s Operating expense increased in 2012 by $8.4 million or 4.4% compared to 2011. Year over year operating
expense percentage increased in relation to revenue from 84.0% to 84.4%.

o United States - Operating expense in the United States increased by $7.8 million or 8.3% primarily

related to a $3.3 million increase in film rent and advertising and a $3.1 million increase in other




operating expense both of which were primarily associated with the aforementioned newly acquired and
opened cinemas.

o Australia - Operating expense in Australia decreased by $616,000 or 0.8%. This decrease was in line
with the above-mentioned decrease in cinema revenue which directly affects film rental costs and with
the year over year nominal increase in the value of the Australian dollar compared to the U.S. dollar (see
below).

o New Zealand - Operating expense in New Zealand increased by $1.2 million or 7.8%. This increase was
in line with the above-mentioned increase in cinema revenue which directly affects film rental costs
offset by the above-mentioned year over year increase in the value ofthe New Zealand dollar compared
to the U.S. dollar (see below).

s Depreciation expense decreased in 2012 by $688,000 or 5.8% compared to 2011. This decrease was primarily
related to several of our cinema assets reaching the end of their depreciable lives.

e General and administrative expense decreased in 2012 by $142,000 or 5.2% compared to 2011. This decrease
was primarily related to preopening costs in 2011 for a newly opened Australian cinema which did not recur in
2012.

s Australian and New Zealand monthly average exchange rates for 2012 increased by 0.3% and 2.4%,
respectively, from those in 2011, which had an overall positive impact our statements of operations.

s As aresult, cinema exhibition segment operating income increased in 2012 by $1.3 million compared to 2011
primarily from the aforementioned increase in revenue from our Australian cinema operations.

Real Estate Segment

As discussed above, our other business segment is the development and management of real estate. These
holdings include our rental live theaters, certain fee owned properties used in our cinema business, and unimproved real
estate held for development.

The tables and discussion that follow detail our operating results for our 2013, 2012, and 2011 real estate
segment (dollars in thousands). All percentages below are expressed as a percent of total revenue except live theater cost
which is expressed as a percentage of live theater rental and ancillary revenue, and property cost which is expressed as a
percentage of property rental revenue:

Operating Income by Country for the

Year Ended December 31,2013 United States Australia New Zealand Total

Live theater rental and ancillary income 3 3,500 % - 5 - % 3,500
Property rental income 1,692 14,424 6,840 22,956
Total revenues 5,192 14,424 6,840 26,456
Live theater costs 1,574 - - 1,574
Property rental cost 316 2,362 1,684 4,362
Occupancy expense 946 3,139 809 4,894
Total operating expense 2,836 5,501 2,493 10,830
Depreciation and amortization 314 2,635 1,074 4,023
General and administrative expense 67 527 50 644
Segment operating income $ 1975 § 5,761 § 3,223 & 10,959

Operating Data as a Percentage of
Revenue for Year Ended

December 31, 2013 United States Australia New Zealand Total

Live theater rental and ancillary revenue 67.4% 13.2%
Property rental revenue 32.6% 100.0% 100.0% 86.8%
Total revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Live theater cost 45.0% 45.0%




Property cost 18.7% 16.4% 24.6% 19.0%

Occupancy expense 18.2% 21.8% 11.8% 18.5%
Total operating cost and expense 54.6% 38.1% 36.4% 40.9%
Depreciation and amortization 6.0% 18.3% 15.7% 15.2%
General and administrative expense 1.3% 3.7% 0.7% 24%
Impairment expense 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Segment operating income 38.0% 39.9% 47.1% 41.4%

Operating Income by Country for the

Year Ended December 31,2012 United States Australia New Zealand Total

Live theater rental and ancillary income 3 3416 § - 5 - % 3416
Property rental income 1.690 14,536 7,614 23,840
Total revenues 5,106 14,536 7,614 27,256
Live theater costs 1,538 - - 1,538
Property rental cost 456 3,262 1,459 5,177
Occupancy expense 857 2,815 776 4,448
Total operating expense 2851 6,077 2,235 11,163
Depreciation and amortization 305 2,824 1,312 4,441
General and administrative expense 100 535 83 718
Impairment expense 1,463 -- -- 1,463
Segment operating income 3 387 § 5,100 § 3984 § 9471

Operating Data as a Percentage of
Revenue for Year Ended

December 31, 2012 United States Australia New Zealand Total

Live theater rental and ancillary revenue 66.9% 12.5%
Property rental revenue 33.1% 100.0% 100.0% 87.5%
Total revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Live theater cost 45.0% 45.0%
Property cost 27.0% 22.4% 19.2% 21.7%
Occupancy expense 16.8% 19.4% 10.2% 16.3%
Total operating cost and expense 55.8% 41.8% 294% 41.0%
Depreciation and amortization 6.0% 19.4% 17.2% 16.3%
General and administrative expense 2.0% 3.7% 1.1% 2.6%
Impairment expense 28.7% 0.0% 0.0% 54%
Segment operating income 7.6% 35.1% 52.3% 34.7%

Operating Income by Country for the

Year Ended December 31,2011 United States Australia New Zealand Total

Live theater rental and ancillary income 3 3,507 % - 5 - % 3,507
Property rental income 1,714 13,850 7491 23,055
Total revenues 5,221 13,850 7491 26,562
Live theater costs 1,505 - - 1,505
Property rental cost 124 2,507 1,375 4,006
Occupancy expense 845 3,121 713 4,679
Total operating expense 2474 5,628 2,088 10,190




Depreciation and amortization 326 2,848 1,270 4444
General and administrative expense 32 554 60 646
Impairment expense -- 369 -- 369
Segment operating income 2.389 4451 4,073 10,913
Operating Data as a Percentage of

Revenue for Year Ended

December 31,2011 United States Australia New Zealand Total
Live theater rental and ancillary revenue 67.2% 13.2%
Property rental revenue 32.8% 100.0% 100.0% 86.8%
Total revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Live theater cost 42.9% 42.9%
Property cost 7.2% 18.1% 18.4% 17.4%
Occupancy expense 16.2% 22.5% 9.5% 17.6%
Total operating cost and expense 47.4% 40.6% 279% 384%
Depreciation and amortization 6.2% 20.6% 17.0% 16.7%
General and administrative expense 0.6% 4.0% 0.8% 24%
Impairment expense 0.0% 2.7% 0.0% 1.4%
Segment operating income 45.8% 32.1% 54.4% 41.1%

Real Estate Resulis for 2013 Compared to 2012

e Real estate revenue decreased by $800,000 or 2.9% compared to 2012. The decrease in revenue was primarily
related to the closure of our Courtenay Central parking structure in July 2013 as a result of an earthquake in
Wellington, New Zealand. Revenue was also affected by the aforementioned fluctuations in currency exchange
rates (see below).

e Operating expense for the real estate segment decreased by $333,000 or 3.0% compared to 2012, This decrease
resulted primarily from a decrease in professional fees from our 2012 legal work associated with protecting the
property rights of our Burwood property and with our residual railroad properties and the aforementioned
fluctuations in currency exchange rates (see below). These decreases were in part offset by additional costs
associated with the start of development work on our Wellington, New Zealand location in 2013.

e General and administrative costs decreased by $74,000 or 10.3% compared to 2012 primarily due to an increase
in our allowance for doubtful accounts for our U.S. properties in 2012 which did not recurin 2013.

e Australian average exchange rates decreased by 6.5% from 2012 to 2013 and the New Zealand average exchange
rates increased by 1.2% from 2012 to 2013 both of which had an impact on our statements of operations.

e Asaresult ofthe above, real estate segment income increased by $1.5 million or 15.7% compared to 2012.

Real Estate Results for 2012 Compared to 201 |

e Real estate revenue increased by $694,000 or 2.6% compared to 2011. The increase in revenue was primarily
related to an increase in rental income from our Australian and New Zealand ETRCs coupled with fluctuations in
currency exchange rates (see below); offset by, a decrease in rent from our live theater venues in the U.S.

e Operating expense for the real estate segment increased by $973,000 or 9.5% compared to 2011. This increase
in expense was primarily related to higher repair, maintenance, and insurance costs for our operating properties,
from legal costs incurred in 2012 associated with protecting the property rights of our Burwood property and
with ourresidual railroad properties, and the aforementioned fluctuations in currency exchange rates (see below).

e Werecorded a real estate impairment lossin 2012 of 81.5 million related to our Coachella property (see Note 7 —
Investment and Development Property to our 2012 Consolidated Financial Statements). As noted above, this
property is owned by a limited liability company which is, in turn, 50% owned by Mr. James I.




Cotter who, accordingly, shares in any impairment loss to the extent of his ownership interest. In 2011, we
recorded a $369,000 impairment loss related to our Taringa real estate property. We subsequently sold the
Taringa property on February 21, 2012 for $1.9 million (AUS$1.8 million).

e Qeneral and administrative costs increased by $72,000 or 11.1% compared to 2011 primarily due to an increase
in our allowance for doubtful accounts for our U.S. properties in 2012.

e Australian and New Zealand monthly average exchange rates for 2012 increased by 0.3% and 2.4%,
respectively, from those in 2011, which had an overall positive impact on our statements of operations.

e Asaresult ofthe above, real estate segment income decreased by $1.4 million or 13.2% compared to 2011.

Non-Segment Activity

Non-segment expense/income includes expense and/or income that is not directly attributable to our two
operating segments.

2013 Compared to 2012

e general and administrative expense increased by $1.3 million primarily related to an increase in compensation
expense, pension costs, and additional audit fees..

e netinterest expense decreased by $6.4 million compared to 2012. The decrease in interest expense during the
2013 resulted from an overall decrease in our worldwide debt balances and a decrease in the interest rates on our
corporate loans in the U.S. and Australia. Additionally, our interest expense was lower in the 2013 due to a
decrease in the fair value of our interest rate swap liabilities in 2013 compared to an increase in these liabilities
during the same period in 2012 resulting in a comparative decrease in interest expense from 2012 to 2013.

¢ the $1.9 million in other income during 2013 was primarily related to a $1.4 million gain on the acquisition ofa
cinema and the receipt of insurance proceeds from our business interruption claim for the temporary closure of
our cinema in Christchurch, New Zealand (see Note 26 — Casualty Loss to our 2013 Consolidated Financial
Statements). The $563,000 in other income during 2012 was primarily related to the write off of our GE Capital
loan costs at the time of the refinance of our U.S. Corporate Credit Facility with Bank of America; offset by,
insurance proceeds from our business interruption claim for the temporary closure of our cinema in Christchurch,
New Zealand due to the February 22, 2011 earthquake.

e equity earnings from unconsolidated investments decreased by $252,000 primarily related to decrease in income
from our Mt. Gravatt investment.

2012 Compared to 2011

e general and administrative expense decreased by $1.2 million primarily related to the one-time additional labor
costs incurred during 2011, associated with the transfer of our accounting functions from the U.3. and Australia
to New Zealand not being repeated in 2012, as well as some cost savings resulting from the synergies gained as a
result ofthis move.

e netinterest expense decreased by $4.6 million compared to 2011. The decrease in interest expense during 2012
was primarily due to a smaller increase in the fair value of our interest rate swaps in 2012 than that noted for the
same period in 2011 and to a decrease in interest rates specifically from our Trust Preferred Securities. Effective
May 1,2012, that interest rate changed from a fixed rate of 9.22%, which was in effect for the past five vears,to a
variable rate of 3 month LIBOR plus 4.00%, which will reset each quarter through the end ofthe loan, unless we
choose to fix the rate again.

e the $563,000 in other loss during 2012 was primarily related to the write off of our GE Capital loan costs at the
time of the refinance of our U.S. Corporate Credit Facility with Bank of America; offset by, additional insurance
proceeds from our business interruption claim for the temporary closure of our cinema in Christchurch, New
Zealand due to the February 22,2011 earthquake. The $1.2 million in other income during 2011 was primarily
related to insurance proceeds from a partial payment of our business interruption claim for the aforementioned
temporary closure of our cinema in Christchurch, New Zealand (see Note 26 — Casualty Loss to our 2012
Consolidated Financial Statements).

e thenet income tax expense was $4.9 million during 2012 compared to a net income tax benefit of $12.3 million
during 2011. The yearover year change in 2012 was primarily related to a reduction in deferred




tax assets in Australia, caused by the sale of certain assets, plus a reduction in loss carryforwards available to
offset future Australia taxable income. For 2011, the change was primarily related to a one-time tax provision
adjustment of $14.4 million caused by a reduction in the valuation allowance related to our Australian
operations (see Note 14 — Income Tax to our 2012 Consolidated Financial Statements).

e cquity earnings from unconsolidated investments increased by $3.2 million primarily related to a 2011 $2.9
million impairment to our interest in Rialto Entertainment not repeated in 2012.

Income Taxes

We are subject to income taxation in several jurisdictions throughout the world. Our effective tax rate and
income tax liabilities will be affected by a number of factors, such as:

e the amount oftaxable income in particular jurisdictions;
s thetax rates in particular jurisdictions;

e tax treaties between jurisdictions;

s theextent to which income is repatriated; and

s future changes in law.

Generally, we file consolidated or combined tax returns in jurisdictions that permit or require such filings. For
jurisdictions that do not permit such a filing, we may owe income, franchise, or capital taxes even though, on an overall
basis, we may have incurred a net loss for the tax year.

Net Income Attributable to Reading International. Inc. Common Shareholders

For the years ending 2013, 2012, and 2011, our consolidated business units produced a netincome of$9.0
million (primarily driven by a decrease in our interest expense as noted above), a net loss 0£ $914,000, and a net income
of $10.0 million (primarily driven by a decrease in our tax provision of $14.4 million caused by a reduction in the
valuation allowance related to our Australian operations), respectively, attributable to Reading International, Inc.
common shareholders. For many of the vears prior to 2013, we consistently experienced net losses. However, as
explained in the Cinema and Real Estate segment sections above, we have generally noted improvements in our segment
operating income such that we have a positive segment operating income for each of the vears 0of2013,2012, and 2011,
that in years past has been negative. Although we cannot assure that this trend will continue, we are committed to the
overall improvement of earnings through good fiscal management.

Business Plan, Liguidity, and Capital Resources of the Company

Business Plan

While we do not believe the cinema exhibition business to be a growth business, we do believe it to be a
business that will likely continue to generate fairly consistent cash flows in the years ahead even in recessionary or
inflationary environment. This is based on our belief that people will continue to spend some reasonable portion of their
entertainment dollar on entertainment outside of the home and that, when compared to other forms of outside the home
entertainment, movies continue to be a popular and competitively priced option. Since we believe the cinema exhibition
business to be a mature business with most markets either adequately screened or over-screened, we see growth in our
cinema business coming principally from the enhancement of our current cinemas, the development in select markets of
specialty cinemas, and the opportunistic acquisition of already existing cinemas rather than from the development ofnew
conventional cinemas. From time to time, we invest in the securities of other companies, where we believe the business or
assets of those companies to be attractive or to offer synergies to our existing entertainment and real estate
businesses. Also, in the current environment, we intend to be opportunistic in identifying and endeavoring to acquire
undervalued assets, particularly assets with proven cash flow and which we believe to be resistant to current recessionary
trends.

In summary, while we do have operating company attributes, we see ourselves principally as a geographically
diversified real estate company and intend to add to stockholder value by building the value of our portfolio of tangible
assets including both entertainment and other types of land and brick and mortar assets. We endeavor to maintain a
reasonable asset allocation between our domestic and international assets and operations, and between our cash
generating cinema operations and our cash consuming real estate development activities. We




believe that by blending the cash generating capabilities of a cinema operation with the investment and development
opportunities of our real estate development operation, our business strategy is unique among public companies.

Liguidity and Capital Resources

Our ability to generate sufficient cash flows from operating activities in order to meet our obligations and
commitments drives our liquidity position. This is further affected by our ability to obtain adequate, reasonable
financing and/or to convert non-performing or non-strategic assets into cash.

Currently, our liquidity needs continue to arise mainly from:

« working capital requirements;
e capital expenditures; and
e debtservicing requirements.

With the changes to the worldwide credit markets, the business community is concemed that credit will be more
difficult to obtain especially for potentially risky ventures like business and asset acquisitions. However, we believe that
our acquisitions over the past few years coupled with our strengthening operational cash flows demonstrate our ability to
improve our profitability. We believe that this business model will help us to demonstrate to lending institutions our
ability not only to make strategic acquisitions but also to service the associated debt.

Discussion of Our Statement of Cash Flows
The following discussion compares the changes in our cash flows over the past three years.
Operating Activities

2013 Compared to 2012, Cash provided by operations was $25.2 million in 2013 compared to $25.5 million in
the 2012. The decrease in cash provided by operations 0f$313,000 was due primarily to a $5.1 million increase in
operational cash flows; offset by, a $5.4 million decrease in cash from changes in operating assets and liabilities

2012 Compared to 2011. Cash provided by operations was $25.5 million in 2012 compared to $24.3 million in
the 2011. The increase in cash provided by operations of $1.2 million was due primarily to a $4.4 million increase in
operational cash flows; offset by, a $3.2 million decrease in cash from changes in operating assets and liabilities.

Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities was $6.1 million in 2013, $6.1 million in 2012, and $3.8 million in 2011. The
following summarizes our discretionary investing activities for each ofthe three years ending December31,2013:

The $6.1 million cash used in 2013 was primarily related to:
¢« $20.1 million in property enhancements to our existing properties;
offset by

¢ $1.6 million in cash provided from restricted cash;

e $1.9million in cash received associated with a cinema acquisition;
e $2.0 million of proceeds from a note receivable; and

e $8.0 million of proceeds from time deposits;

The $6.1 million cash used in 2012 was primarily related to:

¢ $8.2million in property enhancements to our existing properties;
¢ $8.0 million to purchase time deposits;




¢ $1.8million to purchase a note receivable; and
e 5355 million forthe purchase ofthe Coachella land acquisition;

offset by,

e $14.1 million of proceeds from the sale of our Taringa and Indooroopilly properties;
s« $382,000 in return of investment in unconsolidated entities; and
e 83.0million of proceeds from the sale of marketable securities.

The $3.8 million cash used in 2011 was primarily related to:

¢  $3.9 million for the purchase ofthe CalOaks cinema;

e $5.5million in property enhancements to our existing properties;
¢ $168,000 ofachange in restricted cash; and

¢ $2.8million forthe purchase of mortgage notes receivable;

offset by,

e $1.9million ofnet proceeds from the sale of our 66.7% share of the 5-screen Elsternwick Classic cinema located
in Melbourne, Australia;

¢ $143,000 of proceeds from the sale of marketable securities; and

e $6.8 million of proceeds from thepayoff of a long-term other receivable associated with our Malulani
investment.

Financing Activities

Cash used in financing activities was $17.8 million in 2013, $12.7 million in 2012 and $23.4 million in
2011. The following summarizes our financing activities for each ofthe three years ending December31,2013:

The $17.8 million cash used in 2013 was primarily related to:

o $28.1 million of loan repayments including a $6.4 million payoff of our former Liberty Theaters Term Loan, a
$6.8 million payoff of our Sutton Hill Capital Note, $5.5 million in payments on our Bank of America Revolver
and Line of Credit, $8.6 million in payments on our NAB term debt, and a $592,000 payoff of the Nationwide
Loan 1; and

¢ $2.1 million in noncontrolling interests’ distributions;

offset by,

e $12.5 million of new borrowing including $5.0 million from our Bank of America Revolver and $7.5 million
from our new loan on the Orpheum and Minetta Lane Theatres offset by $563,000 ofborrowing costs;
e $263.,000 innoncontrolling interests’ contributions; and

s 5248000 of proceeds from the exercise of employee stock options.
The $12.7 million cash used in 2012 was primarily related to:

e $62.6 million of loan repayments including $15.0 million to pay off our Eurohypo Cinemas 1, 2, 3 loan, $32.2
million to pay off our GE Capital Loan, and $14.8 million in payments on our NAB term debt;

offset by,

e $547.0 million of new borrowing including $30.0 million of loan proceeds from our new Bank of America 1.S.
Credit Facility and $15.0 million of loan proceeds from our new Cinemas 1, 2, 3 loan (both offset by a total of
$782,000 of capitalized borrowing cost) and $2.0 million of borrowing from our Bank of America line of credit;




$3.4 million in noncontrolling interests’ contributions; and
$308,000 of proceeds from the exercise of employee stock options.

The $23.4 million cash used in 2011 was primarily related to:

$126.8 million of loan repayments including the $105.8 million payoff of our Australian BOSI loan, $5.3
million in loan repayment on our GE Capital Loan, $9.7 million payoff of our NAB revolver, $3.4 million loan
repayment of our NAB term debt, and $2.0 million pay down of our Nationwide Notes;

$747,000 to repurchase our Class A Nonvoting Common Stock; and

$654,000 in noncontrolling interests’ distributions.

offset by,

$105.3 million of new borrowing including $104.2 million of loan proceeds from our new NAB loan net of
$774,000 of capitalized borrowing costs and $1.1 million of borrowing from our New Zealand credit facility;
and

$233,000 in noncontrolling interests’ contributions.

TFuture Liguidity and Capital Resources

During the past 24 months, we have put into place several measures that currently have or will have a positive

effect on our overall liquidity, including:

refinancing our Liberty Theaters loan with a $7.5 million loan securitized by our Minetta and Orpheum theatres
having a maturity date of June 1,2018.

replacing our GE Capital Term Loan of $27.7 million with a new revolving line of credit from Bank of America
(the “BofA Revolver”) of $30.0 million which has significantly lower principal payments than those of our
former GE Capital Term Loan. On March 25,2013, Bank of America increased the borrowing limit on our BofA
Revolver from $30.0 million to $35.0 million.

renewing and increasing our existing $3.0 million line ofcredit with Bank of America to $5.0 million.

replacing our Eurohypo AG, New York Branch loan with a new $15.0 million Sovereign Bank, N.A. term loan
having a one-year term ending on June 27,2013 one year extension option to June 27,2014 which we exercised
in June 2013,

receiving, on February 8, 2012, an approved amendment from Westpac renewing our existing $36.9 million
(NZ$45.0 million) New Zealand credit facility with a 3-year $32.8 million (NZ$40.0 million) credit facility.

We believe that we have sufficient borrowing capacity to meet our short-term working capital requirements. To

meet our current and future liquidity requirements, we have the following external sources of unused liquidity:

$9.9 million (NZ$12.0 million) is available on our New Zealand Corporate Credit facility;
$4.5 million (AUS$5.0 million) is available on our NAB revolver facility; and
$5.0 million is available on our Bank of America Line of Credit.

Potential uses for funds during 2014 that would reduce our liquidity, other than those relating to working capital

needs and debt service requirements include:

payments on our legal settlement obligation for the Tax/Audit Litigation;
the selective development of our currently held for development projects; and
the acquisition ofassets with proven cash flow that we believe to be resistant to the current recessionary trends.

We are in the process of negotiating a renewal of our Australian NAB Corporate Term Loan and Corporate

Revolver and are optimistic that a renewal will be consummated by May 31,2014, on terms that are at least equal to those
that are expiring at June 30, 2014. In addition we are seeking a further 12 to 24 month extension on our US




Cinema 1, 2, 3 Term Loan which expires on June 27, 2014 and remain optimistic that this can be achieved by May 31,
2014 as well.

Our worldwide cash position at December 31,2013 was $37.7 million including $16.4 million in the U.5., $12.1
million in Australia, and $7.7 million in New Zealand. As part of our main credit facilities in Australia, New Zealand, and
the U.S., we are subject to certain debt covenants which limit the transfer or use of cash outside of the various regional
subsidiaries in which the cash is held. As such, at December 31, 2013, we have approximately $15.8 million of cash that
is not restricted by loan covenants.

Based upon the current levels of the consolidated operations, further anticipated cost savings and future growth,
we believe our cash flow from operations, together with both the existing and anticipated lines-of-credit and other sources
of liquidity (including future potential asset sales) will be adequate to meet our anticipated requirements for principal
repayments, interest payments, and short-term debt maturities plus any other debt service obligations, working capital,
capital expenditures and other operating needs.

There can be no assurance, however, that the business will continue to generate cash flow at or above current
levels or that estimated cost savings or growth can be achieved. Future operating performance and our ability to service
or refinance existing indebtedness will be subject to future economic conditions and to financial and other factors, such
as access to first-run films, many of which are beyond our control. If our cash flow from operations and/or proceeds from
anticipated borrowings should prove to be insufficient to meet our funding needs, our current intention is either:

s to defer construction of projects currently slated for land presently owned by us;
e totake on joint venture partners with respect to such development projects; and/or
. to sell assets.

Contractual Obligations

The following table provides information with respect to the maturities and scheduled principal repayments of
our secured debt and lease obligations at December 31,2013 (in thousands):

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter Total

Debt 3 75,538 § 33,009 % 3500 % 21,000 8 7500 % -3 140,547
Subordinated notes (trust preferred
securities) - - - - - 27,913 27,913
Tax settlement liability 3,480 2,301 - - — — 5,781
Pension liability 14 32 50 633 607 7,191 8,527
Lease obligations 33,676 31,431 27,777 25,188 21,427 58,410 197,909
Estimated interest on debt 5,640 3,744 3,010 1,846 1,238 9,761 25,239

Total $ 118348 % 70,517 % 34337 § 48,667 $ 30,772 $ 103,275 $ 405,916

Estimated interest on long-term debt is based on the anticipated loan balances for future periods calculated
against current fixed and variable interest rates.

We adopted FASB ASC 740-10-25 — income Taxes - Uncertain Tax Positions on January 1, 2007. As of
adoption, the total amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits for uncertain tax positions was $12.5 million increasing to
$13.7 million, to $14.5 million, and to $15.3 million as of December 31, 2007, 2008, and 2009, respectively. As of
December 31 2010, the gross unrecognized tax benefit increased to $20.6 million, substantially as a result of having
settled our Tax Audit/Litigation case (see Note 19 — Commritments and Contingencies to our 2013 Consolidated Financial
Statements). As of December 31, 2011, the gross unrecognized tax benefit decreased to $4.1 million largely because the
Tax Audit/Litigation matter is no longer in the nature of an uncertain tax position govermned by FASB ASC 740-10-25,
but is a fixed and determinable tax liability. As of December31, 2012 and 2013, the gross unrecognized tax benefit was
$5.3 million and $4.0 million, respectively. We do not expect a significant tax payment related to the $4.0 million in
uncertain tax positions within the next 12 months.

Unconsolidated Joint Venture Debt




Total debt of unconsolidated joint ventures was $634,000 and $703,000 as of December 31, 2013 and December
31, 2012, respectively. Our share of unconsolidated debt, based on our ownership percentage, was $211,000 and
$234,000 as of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively. This loan is guaranteed by one of our
subsidiaries to the extent of our ownership percentage.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

There are no off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, or obligations (including contingent obligations) that
have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future material effect on our financial condition, changes in the
financial condition, revenue or expense, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures, or capital resources.

Financial Risk Management

Our intemally developed risk management procedure, seeks to minimize the potentially negative effects of
changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates on the results of operations. Our primary exposure to fluctuations in
the financial markets is currently due to changes in foreign exchange rates between U.S and Australia and New Zealand,
and interest rates.

If our operational focus shifts more to Australia and New Zealand, unrealized foreign currency translation gains
and losses could materially affect our financial position. Historically, we managed our currency exposure by creating
natural hedges in Australia and New Zealand. This involves local country sourcing of goods and services as well as
bormrowing in local currencies. During 2012, we deviated somewhat from this practice by purchasing $8.0 million in time
deposits denominated in U.S. dollars and held by an Australian bank. As a consequence, at December 31, 2013, we hold
$4.5 million in Australia and $495,000 in New Zealand denominated in U.S. dollars. Also, by paying off our New
Zealand debt and paying down on our Australian debt with the proceeds of our TPS in 2007, we added an increased
element of currency risk to our Company. We believe that this currency risk is mitigated by the long-term nature of the
fully subordinated notes and our ability in 2009 to repurchase, at a discount, some of these securities.

Our exposure to interest rate risk arises out of our long-term debt obligations. Consistent with our internally
developed guidelines, we seek to reduce the negative effects of changes in interest rates by changing the character of the
interest rate on our long-term debt, converting a fixed rate into a variable rate and vice versa. Our internal procedures
allow us to enter into derivative contracts on certain borrowing transactions to achieve this goal. Our Australian Credit
Facility provides for floating interest rates based on the Bank Bill Swap Bid Rate (BBSY bid rate), but requires that not
less than 75% of the loan be swapped into fixed rate obligations but we have elected to swap 100% of the balance.
Although our Bank of America Revolver does not require a fixed interest swap agreement, we entered into an approximate
three-year $31.5 million fixed interest rate swap that has a balance reduction schedule which matches the contraction
amortization of the Bank of America Revolver. Effective October 28, 2013, we entered into a three-year $27.9 million
fixed interest rate swap for our Trust Preferred Securities (see Note 13 —Derivative Instruments to our 2013 Consolidated
Financial Statements).

In accordance with FASB ASC 815-20 — Derivatives and Hedging, we marked our interest swap instruments to
market on the consolidated balance sheet resulting in a $2.0 million decrease to interest expense during 2013, a $1.1
million increase to interest expense during 2012, and a $5.0 increase to interest expense during 2011.

Inflation

We continually monitor inflation and the effects of changing prices. Inflation increases the cost of goods and
services used. Competitive conditions in many of our markets restrict our ability to recover fully the higher costs of
acquired goods and services through price increases. We attempt to mitigate the impact of inflation by implementing
continuous process improvement solutions to enhance productivity and efficiency and, as a result, lower costs and
operating expenses. In our opinion, the effects of inflation have been managed appropriately and as a result, have not had
a material impact on our operations and the resulting financial position or liquidity.

Accounting Pronouncements Adopted During 2013

S




Please see Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to our 2013 Consolidated Financial Statements.

New Accounting Pronouncements

Please see Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to our 2013 Consolidated Financial Statements.

Forward-l.ooking Statements

Our statements in this annual report contain a variety of forward-looking statements as defined by the Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Forward-looking statements reflect only our expectations regarding future events and
operating performance and necessarily speak only as of the date the information was prepared. No guarantees can be
given that our expectation will in fact be realized, in whole or in part. You can recognize these statements by our use of
words such as, by way ofexample, “may,” “will,” “expect,” “believe,” and “anticipate”™ or other similar terminology.

These forward-looking statements reflect our expectation after having considered a variety of risks and
uncertainties. However, they are necessarily the product of internal discussion and do not necessarily completely reflect
the views of individual members of our Board of Directors or of our management team. Individual Board members and
individual members of our management team may have different view as to the risks and uncertainties involved, and may
have different views as to future events or our operating performance.

Among the factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in or underlying our
forward-looking statements are the following:

s  with respect to our cinema operations:

o the numberand attractiveness to movie goers ofthe films released in future periods;

o the amount of money spent by film distributors to promote their motion pictures;

o the licensing fees and terms required by film distributors from motion picture exhibitors in order to
exhibit their films;

o the comparative attractiveness of motion pictures as a source of entertainment and willingness and/or
ability of consumers (i) to spend their dollars on entertainment and (ii) to spend their entertainment
dollars on movies in an outside the home environment;

o the extent to which we encounter competition from other cinema exhibitors, from other sources of
outside of the home entertainment, and from inside the home entertainment options, such as “home
theaters” and competitive film product distribution technology such as, by way of example, cable,
satellite broadcast, DVD and VHS rentals and sales, and so called “movies on demand;” and

o the extent to and the efficiency with which, we are able to integrate acquisitions of cinema circuits with
our existing operations.

¢ withrespect to ourreal estate development and operation activities:
o the rental rates and capitalization rates applicable to the markets in which we operate and the quality of
properties that we own;
the extent to which we can obtain on a timely basis the various land use approvals and entitlements
needed to develop our properties;
the risks and uncertainties associated with real estate development;
the availability and cost of labor and materials;
competition for development sites and tenants;
environmental remediation issues;
the extent to which our cinemas can continue to serve as an anchor tenant who will, in turn, be
influenced by the same factors as will influence generally the results of our cinema operations; and

o certain of our activities are in geologically active areas, creating a risk of damage and/or disruption of
real estate and/or cinema businesses from earthquakes.

e with respect to our operations generally as an international company involved in both the development and
operation of cinemas and the development and operation ofreal estate; and previously engaged for many years
in the railroad business in the United States:
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o ourongoing access to borrowed funds and capital and the interest that must be paid on that debt and the
returns that must be paid on such capital;

o therelative values ofthe currency used in the countries in which we operate;

o changes in govemment regulation, including by way of example, the costs resulting from the
implementation of the requirements of Sarbanes-Oxley;

o ourlaborrelations and costs of labor (including future government requirements with respect to pension
liabilities, disability insurance and health coverage, and vacations and leave);

o our exposure from time to time to legal claims and to uninsurable risks such as those related to our
historic railroad operations, including potential environmental claims and health related claims relating
to alleged exposure to asbestos or other substances now or in the future recognized as being possible
causes of cancer or other health related problems;

o changes in future effective tax rates and the results of currently ongoing and future potential audits by
taxing authorities having jurisdiction over our various companies; and

o changes in applicable accounting policies and practices.

The above list is not necessarily exhaustive, as business is by definition unpredictable and risky, and subject to
influence by numerous factors outside of our control such as changes in government regulation or policy, competition,
interest rates, supply, technological innovation, changes in consumer taste and fancy, weather, and the extent to which
consumers in our markets have the economic wherewithal to spend money on beyond-the-home entertainment.

Given the variety and unpredictability ofthe factors that will ultimately influence our businesses and our results
of operation, it naturally follows that no guarantees can be given that any of our forward-looking statements will
ultimately prove to be correct. Actual results will undoubtedly vary and there is no guarantee as to how our securities will
perform either when considered in isolation or when compared to other securities or investment opportunities.

Finally, we undertake no obligation to update publicly or to revise any of our forward-looking statements,
whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required under applicable
law. Accordingly, you should always note the date to which our forward-looking statements speak.

Additionally, certain of the presentations included in this annual report may contain “non-GAAP financial
measures.” In such case, a reconciliation of this information to our GAAP financial statements will be made available in
connection with such statements.




Item 7A — Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk

The Securities and Exchange Commission requires that registrants include information about potential effects of
changes in currency exchange and interest rates in their Form 10-K filings. Several alternatives, all with some limitations,
have been offered. The following discussion is based on a sensitivity analysis, which models the effects of fluctuations in
currency exchange rates and interest rates. This analysis is constrained by several factors, including the following:

e itisbased on asingle point in time.
e itdoesnot include the effects of other complex market reactions that would arise from the changes modeled.

Although the results of such an analysis may be useful as a benchmark, they should not be viewed as forecasts.

At December 31,2013, approximately 55% and 18% of our assets (determined by the book value of such assets)
were invested in assets denominated in Australian dollars (Reading Australia) and New Zealand dollars (Reading New
Zealand), respectively, including approximately $34.5 million in cash and cash equivalents. At December 31, 2012,
approximately 31% and [8% of our assets were invested in assets denominated in Australian and New Zealand dollars,
respectively, including approximately $15.8 million in cash and cash equivalents.

Our policy in Australia and New Zealand is to match revenue and expenses, whenever possible, in local
currencies. As a result, a majority of our expenses in Australia and New Zealand have been procured in local
currencies. Due to the developing nature of our operations in Australia and New Zealand, our revenue is not yet
significantly greater than our operating expense. The resulting natural operating hedge has led to a negligible foreign
currency effect on our eamings. As we continue to progress our acquisition and development activities in Australia and
New Zealand, we cannot assure you that the foreign currency effect on our earnings will be insignificant in the future.

Historically, our policy has been to borrow in local currencies to finance the development and construction of
our entertainment complexes in Australia and New Zealand whenever possible. As a result, the borrowings in local
currencies have provided somewhat of a natural hedge against the foreign currency exchange exposure. Even so,
approximately 63% and 48% of our Australian and New Zealand assets (based on book value), respectively, remain
subject to such exposure unless we elect to hedge our foreign currency exchange between the U.S. and Australian and
New Zealand dollars. Ifthe foreign currency rates were to fluctuate by 10% the resulting change in Australian and New
Zealand assets would be $14.9 million and $3.7 million, respectively, and the change in annual net income would be
$23,000 and $21,000, respectively. At the present time, we have no plan to hedge such exposure. We believe that this
currency risk is mitigated by the long-term nature of the fully subordinated notes.

We record unrealized foreign currency translation gains or losses that could materially affect our financial
position. We have accumulated unrealized foreign currency translation gains of approximately $65.6 million and $64.6
million as of December 31,2013 and 2012, respectively.

Historically, we maintained most of our cash and cash equivalent balances in short-term money market
instruments with original maturities of six months or less. Some of our money market investments may decline in value if
interest rates increase. Due to the short-term nature of such investments, a change of 1% in short-term interest rates would
not have a material effect on our financial condition.

The majority of our loans have fixed interest rates; however, one of our international loans has a variable interest
rate and a change of approximately 1% in short-term interest rates would have resulted in approximately $660,000
increase or decrease in our 2013 interest expense.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Reading International, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Reading Intermmational, Inc. and subsidiaries
(the “Company™ as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
comprehensive income (loss), stockholders® equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2013. Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included the financial statement schedule listed
in the index appearing under Schedule II. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Reading International, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013 in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the related financial
statement schedule, when considered in relation to the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly,
in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria
established in the 1992 Intemnal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COS0), and our report dated March 7, 2014 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP
Los Angeles, California
March 7,2014




Reading International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,2013 and 2012
(U.S. dollars in thousands)

December 31,
2013 2012

ASSETS
Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 37,696 § 38,531

Time deposits -- 8,000

Receivables 9,087 8,514

Inventory 941 918

Investment in marketable securities 55 55

Restricted cash 782 2,465

Deferred tax asset 3,273 3,659

Prepaid and other current assets 3,283 3,576
Total current assets 55,117 65,718
Operating property, net 191,660 202,778
Land held for sale 11,052 --
Investment and development property, net 74,230 94,922
Investment in unconsolidated joint ventures and entities 6,735 7,715
Investment in Reading International Trust I 838 838
Goodwill 22,159 22,898
Intangible assets, net 13,440 15,661
Deferred tax asset, net 5,566 8,989
Other assets 6,010 9,069
Total assets 3 386,807 § 428,588
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 5 18,608 $ 18,909

Film rent payable 6,438 6,657

Notes payable — current portion 75,538 19,714

Notes payable to related party — current portion -- 9,000

Taxes payable 8,308 15,234

Deferred current revenue 11,864 11,587

Other current liabilities 6,155 6,032
Total current liabilities 126,911 87,133
Notes payable — long-term portion 65,009 139,970
Subordinated debt 27,913 27913
Noncurrent tax liabilities 12,478 8,859
Other liabilities 32,749 33,759
Total liabilities 265,060 297,034
Commitments and contingencies (Note 19)
Stockholders’ equity:
Class A non-voting common stock, par value $0.01, 100,000,000 shares authorized,

32,254,199 issued and 21,890,029 outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 31,951,945

issued and 21,587,775 outstanding at December 31, 2012 225 223
Class B voting common stock, par value $0.01, 20,000,000 shares authorized and

1,495,490 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2013 and at December 31, 2012 15 15
Nonvoting preferred stock, par value $0.01, 12,000 shares authorized and no issued

ot outstanding shares at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 -- --
Additional paid-in capital 137,849 136,754
Accumulated deficit (57,952) (66,993)
Treasury shares {4,512) (4,512)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 41,515 61,369
Total Reading International, Inc. stockholders’ equity 117,140 126,856
Noncontrolling interests 4,607 4,098
Total stockholders’ equity 121,747 130,954
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 386,807 § 428,588

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statement.




Reading International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Three Years Ended December 31,2013
(U.S. dollars in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011

Operating revenue

Cinema A 239418 $ 234,703 $ 225,849
Real estate 18,803 19,727 19,130
Total operating revenue 258,221 254,430 244,979
Operating expense

Cinema 193,206 190,511 182,215
Real estate 10,830 11,163 10,190
Depreciation and amortization 15,197 16,049 16,595
General and administrative 18,053 16,117 17,432
Impairment expense -- 1,463 369
Total operating expense 237,286 235,303 226,801
Operating income 20,935 19,127 18,178
Interest income 407 800 1482
Interest expense (10,444) (17,226) (22,5200
Net gain (loss) on sale of assets (56) 144 {67)
Other income (expense) 1,876 (563) 1,157
Income (loss) before income tax expense and equity earnings of unconsolidated

joint ventures and enftities 12,718 2,282 (1,770}
Income tax benefit (expense) (4,942) (4,904) 12,330
Income (loss) before equity earnings (loss) of unconsolidated joint ventures

and entities 7,776 (2,622) 10,560
Equity earnings (loss) of unconsolidated joint ventures and entities 1,369 1,621 (1,552)
Income (loss) before discontinued operations 9,145 (1,001) 9,008
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax - (85) 232
Gain (loss) on sale of discontinued operations - {320y 1,656
Net income (loss) 3 9,145 % (1,406) 10,896
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (104) 492 (940)
Net income (loss) attributable to Reading Internmational, Imec. common

shareholders 3 9,041 % {(914) § 9,956
Basic income (loss) per common share attributable to Reading International,

Inc. shareholders:

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations $ 039 % {0.02) 3% 0.36
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net - (0.02) 0.08
Basic income (loss) per share attributable to Reading Intermational, Imc.

shareholders 3 039 % 0.04) 3 0.44
Diluted income (loss) per common share attributable to Reading International,

Inc. shareholders:

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations 3 038 § 0.02) % 0.35
Barnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net - {0.02) 0.08
Diluted income (loss) per share attributable to Reading International, Inc.

shareholders 3 038 % 0.04) % 0.43
Weighted average number of shares outstanding—basic 23.348.,003 23,028,596 22,764,666
Weighted average number of shares outstanding—diluted 23,520,271 23,028,596 22,993,135

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.




Reading International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (L.oss) for the Three Years Fnded December 31,2013
(U.S. dollars in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Net income (loss) $ 9,145 % (1,406) 3% 10,896
Cumulative foreign currency adjustment (19,368%) 4,419 1,028
Reclassification of realized gain on available for sale investments included in

net income (loss) - (109) (25)
Unrealized income (loss) on available for sale investments - 107 )
Accrued pension service benefit (costs) (593) (1,980) 832

Comprehensive income (loss) $ (10,816) $ 1,031 % 12,724

Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (104) 492 (940)
Comprehensive (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests 107 (5 (11)
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Reading International, Inc. 3 (10,813) 3% 1,518 % 11,773

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.




Reading International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Three Years Ended December 31, 2013
(In thousands)

Common Stock Accumulated Reading
International
Class A Class B Additional Other Inc. Total

Class A Par Class B Par PaidIn  Accumulated Treasury Comprehensive Stockholders® Noncontrolling Stoekholders®

Shares Value Shares Value Capital Deficit Stock Income/{l.oss) Equity Interests Equity
At Janvary 1,2011 21309 | $ 216 1495 | '3 15 § 134236 $  (76,035) §  (3,765) & 57120 § 111,787 % 852 $ 112,639
Met income - - - - - 9,956 - - 9,956 940 10,896
Other comprehensive income, net of tax — — - — - — — 1,817 1,817 11 1,828
Stock  option  and  restricted stock]
compensation expense - 4 - - 935 - - - 939 - 939
Purchase of treasury shares (172) - - - - - (747) - (747) - (747)
Class A common stock issued for stock]
bonuses and options exerciged 174 - - - - - - - - - -
Cinema sale to noncontrolling shareholder - - - - - - - - - (147) (147)
Contributions from noncontrolling]
shareholders - - - - - - - - — 233 233
Distributions to noncontrolling sharcholders -- - -- - -- -- -- -- — (654) (654)
At December 31,2011 21311 5 220 1495 |1 3% 15 § 135171 $ (66,079) $ (4512) § 58937 § 123,752 $ 1235 § 124,987
Net loss -- - -- - -- (914) -- -- (914) (492) (1,406)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax - - - - - - - 2432 2,432 5 2437
Stock  option and  restricted stock]
compensation expense - 2 - - 1,276 - - - 1,278 - 1,278
Class A common stock issued for stock]
bonuses and options exercised 277 1 - - 307 - - - 308 - 308
Contributions from noncontrolling]
shareholders - - - - - - - - - 3,350 3350
At December 31,2012 21588 | § 223 1495 | '3 15 § 136,754 $  (66993) §  (4,512) § 61369 § 126,856 % 4098 § 130954
Met income - - -- - - 9,041 - -- 9,041 104 9,145
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax - - - - - - - (19.854) (19,854) (107) (19,961)
Stock  option  and  restricted stock]
compensation expense - 2 - - 948 - - - 950 - 950
Inkind exchange of stock for the exercise of]
options, net issued 22 - - - - - - - - - -
Class A common stock issued for stock]
bonuses and options exercised 280 - - - 248 - - - 248 - 248
Conversion of noncontrolling interest to|
equity - - - - (101) - - - (101) 101 -
Contributions from noncontrolling]
shareholders -- - -- - -- -- -- -- - 2513 2,513
Distributions to noncontrolling shareholders - - - - - - - - — (2,102) (2,102)
At December 31,2013 21,890 | § 225 1495 1 5 15 5 137849 &  (57952) 5  (4,512) § 41,515 § 117,140 5 4,607 5 121,747

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statement.
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Reading International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Three Years Ended December 31,2013
(U.S. dollars in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Operating Activities
Net income (loss) $ 9,145 %  (1,406)% 10,896
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
(Income) loss recognized on foreign currency transactions 415) (20) 16
Equity (eamings) loss of unconsolidated joint ventures and entities (1369 (1.621) 1,552
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated joint ventures and entities 1,095 1,540 1,119
Loss provision on impairment of asset - 1,463 369
(Gain) loss on sale of assets 56 176 (1,589)
Change in valuation allowance fornet deferred tax assets 2,198 1,929 (15,028)
Gain on sale ofmarketable securities -~ (109) 25y
Gain on cinema acquisition and settlement (1,359 - -
Depreciation and amortization 15,197 16,384 16,960
Amortization of prior service costs 660 304 832
Amortization of above and below market leases 413 395 427
Amortization of deferred financing costs 954 1,440 1,276
Amortization of straight-line rent 574 1,213 782
Stock based compensation expense 950 1,278 939
Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in receivables 281 (1.449) (1468)
(Increase) decrease in prepaid and other assets (16) 1,907 (M
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued expenses 556 1,800 833
Increase in film rent payable 133 435 361
Increase (decrease) in taxes payable (3.294) (2,963) 908
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue and other liabilities (576) 2,802 5,100
Net cash provided by operating activities 25,183 25,496 24,253
Investing Activities
Cash paid for acquisitions - (5,510) (3917
Acquisition deposit paid - - (200)
Cash received from cinema acquisition 1,936 - -
Purchases of and additions to operating property (20,082) (8,213 (5459
Change in restricted cash 1,609 (6) (168)
Purchase of notes receivable - (1,800) (2,784)
Proceeds from notes receivable 2,000 — —
Sale of marketable securities - 2,974 143
Distributions of investment in tnconsolidated joint ventures and entities 395 382 -
Proceeds from sale of property - 14,078 6,750
Purchase of time deposits - (8,000) -
Proceeds from time deposits 8,000 -- -
Cinema sale proceeds from noncontrolling shareholder -- — 1,867
Net cash used in investing activities (6,142) (6,095) (3,763)
Financing Activities
Repayment of long-term borrowings (28,121) (62,602) (126,780)
Proceeds from borrowings 12,500 47,007 105,311
Capitalized borrowing costs (563) (782) (774)
Repurchase of Class A Nonvoting Common Stock - - (747)
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options 248 308 -
Noncontrolling interest contributions 263 3,350 233
Noncontrolling interest distributions (2,102) - (654)
Net cash used in financing activities (17,775 (12,719) (23411)
Effect of exchange rate on cash (2,101) 252 (45)
Increase {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (835) 6,934 (2,971)
Cash and cash equivalents at the begioning of the period 38,531 31,597 34,568
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 5 37,696 & 38,5315 31,597
Supplemental Disclosures
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest on borrowings £ 6,953 § 14,526 § 16,957
Income taxes 5,903 5,666 2,688
Nop-Cash Transactions
Contribution from noncontrolling shareholder in exchange for debt reduction - related party $ 2,250 % -% -
Conversion of noncontirolling interest Lo equity 101 - -
In-kind exchange of stock for the exercise of options, net 301 - -
Contribution from noncontrolling shareholder from bonus accrual - 255 -
Foreclosure of a mortgage note to obtain title of the underlying property - - 1,984

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Reading International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31,2013

Note 1 — Nature of Business

Reading International, Inc., a Nevada corporation (“RDI” and collectively with our consolidated subsidiaries and
corporate predecessors, the “Company,” “Reading™ and “we,” “us,” or “our’), was incorporated in 1999, and, following
the consummation of a consolidation transaction on December 31, 2001 (the “Consolidation™), is now the owner of the
consolidated businesses and assets of Reading Entertainment, Inc. (“RDGE™), Craig Corporation (“CRG™), and Citadel
Holding Corporation (“CDL”). Our businesses consist primarily of:

e the development, ownership and operation of multiplex cinemas in the United States, Australia, and New
Zealand; and

s the development, ownership, and operation of retail and commercial real estate in Australia, New Zealand, and
the United States.

Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of RDI and its subsidiaries include the accounts of RDGE, CRG, and
CDL. Also consolidated are Australia Country Cinemas Pty, Limited (“ACC™), a company in which we own a 75%
interest and whose only assets are our leasehold cinemas in Townsville and Dubbo, Australia, Sutton Hill Properties, LLC,
a company in which we own a 75% interest and whose only asset is the fee interest in the Cinemas 1, 2, 3, and Shadow
View Land and Farming, LLC in which we own a 50% controlling membership interest and whose only asset is a 202 acre
land parcel in Coachella, Califomnia.

Our investment interests are accounted for as unconsolidated joint ventures and entities, and accordingly, our
unconsolidated joint ventures and entities in 20% to 50% owned companies are accounted for on the equity
method. These investment interests include our

e 25% undivided interest in the unincorporated joint venture that owns 205-209 East 57th Street Associates, LL.C
(Place 57) a limited liability company formed to redevelop our former cinema site at 205 East 57th Street in
Manhattan;

e 33.3% undivided interest in the unincorporated joint venture that owns the Mt. Gravatt cinema in a suburb of
Brisbane, Australia;

e 33.3% undivided interest in Rialto Distribution, an unincorporated joint venture engaged in the business of
distributing art film in New Zealand and Australia; and

e 50%undivided interest in the unincorporated joint venture that owns Rialto Cinemas.

Refinancing Long-Term Debt

Australian Credit Facility

Our Australian NAB Corporate Term Loan matures on June 30, 2014. Accordingly, the outstanding balance of
this debt of $56.7 million (AUS$63.5 million) is classified as current on our December 31, 2013 balance sheet. The
Australian NAB Corporate Term Loan is secured by the majority of our theater and entertainment-themed retail center
(“ETRC”) properties in Australia. While no assurances can be given that we will be successful, we are currently in the
process of renewing this loan and anticipate that the refinancing will be completed at the latest by May 31, 2014,

Cinemas I, 2, 3 Term Loan




Our Cinemas 1, 2, 3 Term Loan matures on June 27, 2014. Accordingly, the outstanding balance of this debt of
$15.0 million is classified as current on our December 31, 2013 balance sheet. While no assurances can be given that we
will be successful, we are currently in the process of negotiating an extension ofthis loan.

Liberty Theatre Term Loans

On May 29, 2013, we replaced our Liberty Theater Term Loan with a loan securitized by our Orpheum and
Minetta Lane theaters, thus releasing the Royal George from the securitization and leaving it unencumbered. This new
loan, called the Minetta and Orpheum Theatres Loan, has a note balance of $7.5 million. See Note 12 — Notes Payable.

US. Credit Facility

On October 31, 2012, we replaced our GE Capital Term Loan of $27.7 million with a new credit facility from
Bank of America of $30.0 million with an interest rate of between 2.50% and 3.00% above LIBOR and an expiration date
of October 31, 2017. In addition, Bank of America increased our existing $3.0 million line of credit to $5.0 million. On
March 25, 2013, Bank of America extended the borrowing limit on our BofA Revolver from $30.0 million to $35.0
million. See Note 12 — Notes Payable.

Cash Position

Our cash position at December 31, 2013 was $37.7 million including $17.9 million in the U.S., $12.1 million in
Australia, and $7.7 million in New Zealand. As part of our main credit facilities in Australia, New Zealand and the U.S,,
we are subject to certain debt covenants which limit the transfer or use of cash outside of the various regional subsidiaries
in which the cash is held. As such, at December31,2013, we have approximately $15.8 million ofcash worldwide that is
not restricted by loan covenants.

At December 31, 2013, we had undrawn funds of $4.5 million (AUS$5.0 million) available under our NAB line
of credit in Australia, $9.9 million (NZ$12.0 million) available under our New Zealand Corporate Credit facility, and $5.0
million available under our BofA Revolver in the U.S. Accordingly, we believe that we have sufficient borrowing
capacity under our various credit facilities, together with our $37.7 million cash balance, to meet our anticipated short-
term working capital requirements.

Accounting Principles

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“US GAAP”).

Cash and Cash Equivalenis

We consider all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less when purchased to be
cash equivalents for which cost approximates fair value.

Time Deposits

Time deposits are cash depository investments in which the original maturity of the investments is greater than
90 days. During May 2012, we purchased $8.0 million in U.S. dollar time deposits in Australia which matured on January
3,2013 having an interest rate 0f0.48%. On December31,2013, we had the following funds in U.S. dollars: in Australia,
$4.6 million and in New Zealand, $495,000.

Receivables

Our receivables balance is composed primarily of credit card receivables, representing the purchase price of
tickets, concessions, or coupon books sold at our various businesses. Sales charged on customer credit cards are collected
when the credit card transactions are processed. The remaining receivables balance is primarily made up ofthe goods and
services tax (“GST”) refund receivable from our Australian taxing authorities and the management fee receivable from the
managed cinemas. We have no history of significant bad debt losses and we have established an allowance for accounts
that we deem uncollectible.




Inventory

Inventory is composed of concession goods used in theater operations and is stated at the lower of cost (first-in,
first-out method) or net realizable value.

Investment in Marketable Securities

We account for investments in marketable debt and equity securities in accordance with Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB™) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC™) 320-10 - Investments—Debt and Equity
Securities (“ASC 320-10"). Our investment in Marketable Securities includes equity instruments that are classified as
available for sale and are recorded at market using the specific identification method. In accordance with ASC 320-10,
available for sale securities are carried at their fair market value and any difference between cost and market value is
recorded as unrealized gain or loss, net of income taxes, and is reported as accumulated other comprehensive income in
the consolidated statement of stockholders’ equity. Premiums and discounts of any debt instruments are recognized in
interest income using the effective interest method. Realized gains and losses and declines in value expected to be other-
than-temporary on available for sale securities are included in other expense. We evaluate our available for sale securities
for other than temporary impairments at the end of each reporting period. These investments have a cumulative
unrealized gain 0f $9,000 included in other comprehensive income at December 31, 2013. For the years ended December
31,2013,2012, and 2011, our net unrealized losses were $0, $2,000, and $32.000, respectively. The cost of securities
sold is based on the specific identification method. Interest and dividends on securities classified as available forsale are
included in interest income.

Restricted Cash

We classify restricted cash as those cash accounts for which the use of funds is restricted by contract or bank
covenant. At December31,2013 and 2012, ourrestricted cash balance was $782,000 and $2.5 million, respectively.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of our cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, restricted cash, and accounts
payable approximate fair value due to their short-term maturities. See Note 16 — Fair Value of Financial Instruments.

Derivative Financial Instruments

In accordance with FASB ASC R15-20 — Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815-20"), we camry all derivative
financial instruments on our consolidated balance sheets at fair value. Derivatives are generally executed for interest rate
management purposes but are not designated as hedges in accordance with ASC 815-20. Therefore, changes in market
values are recognized in current earnings.

Operating property

Operating property consists of land, buildings and improvements, leasehold improvements, fixtures and
equipment which we use to derive operating income associated with our two business segments, cinema exhibition and
real estate. Buildings and improvements, leasehold improvements, fixtures and equipment initially recorded at the lower
of cost or fair market value and depreciated over the useful lives ofthe related assets. In accordance with US GAAP, land
isnot depreciated.

Investment and Development Property

Investment and development property consists of land, new buildings and improvements under development,
and their associated capitalized interest and other development costs that we are either holding for development,
currently developing, or holding for investment appreciation purposes. These properties are initially recorded at the
lower of cost or fair market value. Within investment and development property are building and improvement costs
directly associated with the development of potential cinemas (whether for sale or lease), the development of
entertainment themed retail centers (“ETRCs™), or other improvements to real property. As incurred, we expense start-up
costs (such as pre-opening cinema advertising and training expense) and other costs




not directly related to the acquisition and development of long-term assets. We cease capitalization on a development
property when the property is complete and ready for its intended use, or if activities necessary to get the property ready
for its intended use have been substantially curtailed. During the year-ended December 31, 2009, we decided to curtail
our current development progress on certain Australian and New Zealand land development projects. As a result, these
properties are considered held for development and we have not capitalized interest for these projects and will not do so,
until the development work recommences.

Incident to the development of our Burwood property, in late 2006, we began various fill and earth moving
operations. In late February 2007, it became apparent that our cost estimates with respect to site preparation were low, as
the extent of the contaminated soil present at the site, a former brickworks site, was greater than we had originally
believed. As we were not the source of this contamination, we are not currently under any legal obligation to remove this
contaminated soil from the site. However, as a practical matter, we intend to address these issues in connection with our
planned redevelopment of the site as a mixed-use retail, entertainment, commercial and residential complex. As of
December 31, 2013, we estimate that the total site preparation costs associated with the removal ofthis contaminated soil
will be $15.2 million (AUSE17.1 million) and as of that date we had incurred a total of $7 4 million (AUS$E8.3 million) of
these costs. In accordance with FASB ASC 410-30-25 — Environmental Obligations, contamination clean-up costs that
improve the property from its original acquisition state are capitalized as part ofthe property’s overall development costs.

Accounting for the Impairment of Long Lived Assets

We review long-lived assets, including goodwill and intangibles, for impairment as part of our annual budgeting
process, at the beginning ofthe fourth quarter, and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount ofthe asset may not be fully recoverable.

Pursuant to FASB ASC 360-35, we review internal management reports on a monthly basis as well as monitoring
current and potential future competition in film markets for indications of potential impairment. We evaluate our long-
lived assets using historical and projected data of cash flow as our primary indicator of potential impairment and we take
into consideration the seasonality of our business. If the sum of the estimated, undiscounted future cash flows is less than
the carrying amount of the asset, then impairment is recognized for the amount by which the carrving value of the asset
exceeds its estimated fair value based on an appraisal or a discounted cash flow calculation.

For certain non-income producing properties, we obtain appraisals or other evidence to evaluate whether there
are impairment indicators for these assets. Based on calculations of current value from appraisals and a sales contract, we
recorded impairment losses of $1.5 million and $369,000 relating to certain of our property and cinema locations for the
vears ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. No impairment losses were recorded in 2013. For a further
explanation of our 2012 impairment losses see below under the heading *“Coachella impairment™ and see Note 7 —
Investment and Development Property to our 2013 Consolidated Financial Statements.

Pursuant to FASB ASC 350-35, goodwill and intangible assets are evaluated annually on a reporting unit
basis. The impairment evaluation is based on the present value of estimated future cash flows of the segment plus the
expected terminal value. There are significant assumptions and estimates used in determining the future cash flows and
terminal value. The most significant assumptions include our cost of debt and cost of equity assumptions that comprise
the weighted average cost of capital for each reporting unit. Accordingly, actual results could vary materially from such
estimates. There was no impairment for the goodwill and intangible assets for the years ended December 31,2013, 2012,
and 2011, respectively.

Variable Interest Entity

Our determination of the appropriate accounting method with respect to our investment in Reading International
Trust I, which is considered a Variable Interest Entity (“VIE”), is based on FASB ASC 810-10. We account for this VIE, of
which we are not the primary beneficiary, under the equity method of accounting.

We determine if an entity is a VIE under FASB ASC 810-10 based on several factors, including whether the
entity’s total equity investment at risk upon inception is sufficient to finance the entity’s activities without additional
subordinated financial support. We make judgments regarding the sufficiency ofthe equity at risk based




first on a qualitative analysis, then a quantitative analysis, if necessary. In a quantitative analysis, we incorporate various
estimates, including estimated future cash flows, asset hold periods and discount rates, as well as estimates of the
probabilities of various scenarios occurring. Ifthe entity is a VIE, we then determine whether we consolidate the entity as
the primary beneficiary. We determine whether an entity is a VIE and, if so, whether it should be consolidated by
utilizing judgments and estimates that are inherently subjective. If we made different judgments or utilized different
estimates in these evaluations, it could result in differing conclusions as to whether or not an entity is a VIE and whether
or not to consolidate such entity. Our investments in unconsolidated entities in which we have the ability to exercise
significant influence over operating and financial policies, but do not control, or entities which are variable interest
entities in which we are not the primary beneficiary are accounted for under the equity method.

We carry our investment in the Reading International Trust [ using the equity method of accounting because we
have the ability to exercise significant influence (but not control) over operating and financial policies of the entity. We
eliminate transactions with an equity method entity to the extent of our ownership in such an entity. Accordingly, our
share ofnet income (loss) of this equity method entity is included in consolidated net income (loss). We have no implicit
or explicit obligation to further fund our investment in Reading Intemational Trust I.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

We use the purchase method of accounting for all business combinations. Goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but instead, tested for impairment at least annually. Prior to conducting our
goodwill impairment analysis, we assess long-lived assets for impairment in accordance with FASB ASC 360-15 -
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (“ASC 360-157). We then perform the impairment analysis at the reporting
unit level (one level below the operating segment level) (see Note 10 — Goodwill and Intangibles) as defined by FASB
ASC 350-35 — Goodwill Subsequent Measurement (“ASC 350-357). This analysis requires management to make a series
of critical assumptions to: (1) evaluate whether any impairment exists; and (2) measure the amount of impairment. We
estimate the fair value of our reporting units as compared with their current book value. Ifthe estimated fair value of a
reporting unit is less than the book value, then impairment is deemed to have occurred. In estimating the fair value of our
reporting units, we primarily use the income approach (which uses forecasted, discounted cash flows to estimate the fair
value ofthe reporting unit).

Discontinued Operations and Properties Held for Sale

In accordance with ASC 360-15, the revenue, expenses and net gain on dispositions of operating properties and
the revenue and expenses on properties classified as held for sale are reported in the conselidated statements of operations
as discontinued operations for all periods presented through the date ofthe respective disposition. The net gain (loss) on
disposition is included in the period the property is sold. In determining whether the income and loss and net gain on
dispositions of operating properties is reported as discontinued operations, we evaluate whether we have any significant
continuing involvement in the operations, leasing or management of the sold property in accordance with FASB ASC
205-20 — Presentation of Financial Statements — Discontinued Operations (“ASC 205-207). If we were to determine that
there was any significant continuing involvement, the income and loss and net gain on dispositions of the operating
property would not be recorded in discontinued operations.

A property is classified as held for sale when certain criteria, as set forth under ASC 360-15, are met. At such
time, we present the respective assets and liabilities related to the property held for sale separately on the balance sheet
and cease to record depreciation and amortization expense. Properties held for sale are reported at the lower of their
carrying value or their estimated fair value less the estimated costs to sell. For a description of the properties previously
held for sale see Note 9 — Transfer of Held for Sale Real Estate to Continuing Operations and Related ftems. These asset
transfers from held for sale to operating resulted in a reclassification of their operating results which is reflected in our
December31,2013,2012, and 2011 Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from cinema ticket sales and concession sales are recognized when sold. Revenue from gift certificate
sales is deferred and recognized when the certificates are redeemed. Rental revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis
in accordance with FASB ASC 840-20-25 — Leases Having Both Scheduled Rent Increases and Contingent Rents (“ASC
840-20-257).




Deferred Ieasing/Financing Costs

Direct costs incurred in connection with obtaining tenants and/or financing are amortized over the respective
term ofthe lease orloan on a straight-line basis. Direct costs incurred in connection with financing are amortized over the
respective term of the loan utilizing the effective interest method, or straight-line method if the result is not materially
different. In addition, interest on loans with increasing interest rates and scheduled principal pre-payments are also
recognized on the effective interest method.

Advertising Expense

We expense our advertising as incurred. The amount of our advertising expense was $3.4 million, $3.8 million,
and $3.8 million for the years ended December 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively.

Legal Settlement Income/Expense

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, we recorded gains/(losses) on the settlement of
litigation of ($285,000), ($194,000), and $0, respectively, included in other income (expense). Also included in other
income/expense for the year ended December 31, 2013 was a $1.4 million net gain on acquisition and settlement (see
Note 8 — dequisitions, Disposals, and Asseis Held for Sale).

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization are provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
assets. The estimated useful lives are generally as follows:

Building and improvements 15-40 years

Leasehold improvement Shorter ofthe life ofthe lease or useful life ofthe improvement
Theater equipment 7 years

Furniture and fixtures 510 years

Translation of Non-11.8. Currency Amounts

The financial statements and transactions of our Australian and New Zealand cinema and real estate operations
are reported in their functional currencies, namely Australian and New Zealand dollars, respectively, and are then
translated into U.S. dollars. Assets and liabilities of these operations are denominated in their functional currencies and
are then translated at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Revenue and expenses are translated at the
average exchange rate for the reporting period. ‘Translation adjustments are reported in “Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income,” a component of Stockholders’ Equity.

The carrying value of our Australian and New Zealand assets fluctuates due to changes in the exchange rate
between the U.S. dollar and the Australian and New Zealand dollars. The exchange rates of the U.S. dollar to the
Australian dollar were $0.8929 and $1.0393 as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The exchange rates of the
U.S. dollar to the New Zealand dollar were $0.8229 and $0.8267 as of December 31,2013 and 2012, respectively.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under FASB ASC 740-10 — Income Taxes (“ASC 740-10"), which prescribes an
asset and liability approach. Under the asset and liability method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the
expected future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing
assets and liabilities and the respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or
settled. Valuation allowances are established, when necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be
realized. Income tax expense (benefit) is the tax payable (refundable) for the period and the change during the period in
deferred tax assets and liabilities.




In evaluating our ability to recover our deferred tax assets within the jurisdiction from which they arise we
consider all available positive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected
future taxable income, tax planning strategies and recent financial operations. In projecting future taxable income, we
begin with historical results adjusted for the results of discontinued operations and changes in accounting policies. We
then include assumptions about the amount of projected future state, federal and foreign pretax operating income, the
reversal of temporary differences, and the implementation of feasible and prudent tax planning strategies. These
assumptions require significant judgment about the forecasts of future taxable income and are consistent with the plans
and estimates we use to manage the underlying businesses. In evaluating the objective evidence that historical results
provide, we consider three years of cumulative operating income (loss). In the event we were to determine that we would
be able to realize our deferred income tax assets in the future in excess of their net recorded amount, we would make an
adjustment to the valuation allowance, which would reduce the provision for income taxes.

ASC 740-10 provides that a tax benefit from an uncertain tax position may be recognized when it is more likely
than not that the position will be sustained upon examination, including resolutions of any related appeals or litigation
processes, based on the technical merits.

We recognize tax liabilities in accordance with ASC 740-10 and we adjust these liabilities when our judgment
changes as a result of the evaluation of new information not previously available. Due to the complexity of some ofthese
uncertainties, the ultimate resolution may result in a payment that is materially different from our current estimate of the
tax liabilities. These differences will be reflected as increases or decreases to income tax expense in the period in which
they are determined.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares of Class A and Class B Stock
outstanding during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively. Diluted earnings per share is
calculated by dividing net eamings available to common stockholders by the weighted average common shares
outstanding plus the dilutive effect of stock options and unvested restricted stock. We had issued stock options to
purchase 709,850, 672,350, and 622,350 shares of Class A Common Stock at December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011,
respectively, at a weighted average exercise price of $6.66, $6.24, and $35.65 per share, respectively. Stock options to
purchase 185,100, 185,100, and 185,100 shares of Class B Common Stock were outstanding at the years ended December
31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively, at a weighted average exercise price of $9.90, $9.90, and $9.90 per share,
respectively. In accordance with FASB ASC 260-10 — Earnings Per Share (“ASC 260-107), for any years that we record
losses from continuing operations before discontinued operations, the effect of the stock options and restricted stock are
anti-dilutive and accordingly excluded from the diluted earnings per share computation (see Note 4 — Earnings (Loss) Per
Share).

Real Estate Purchase Price Allocation

We allocate the purchase price to tangible assets of an acquired property (which includes land, building and
tenant improvements) based on the estimated fair values of those tangible assets assuming the building was
vacant. Estimates of fair value for land are based on factors such as comparisons to other properties sold in the same
geographic area adjusted for unique characteristics. Estimates of fair values of buildings and tenant improvements are
based on present values determined based upon the application ofhypothetical leases with market rates and terms.

We record above-market and below-market in-place lease values for acquired properties based on the present
value (using an interest rate which reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired) of the difference between (i) the
contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place leases and (ii) management’s estimate of fair market lease rates for
the corresponding in-place leases, measured over a period equal to the remaining non-cancelable term of the lease. We
amortize any capitalized above-market lease values as a reduction of rental income over the remaining non-cancelable
terms of the respective leases. We amortize any capitalized below-market lease values as an increase to rental income
over the initial term and any fixed-rate renewal periods in the respective leases.




We measure the aggregate value of other intangible assets acquired based on the difference between (i) the
property valued with existing in-place leases adjusted to market rental rates and (ii) the property valued as if
vacant. Management’s estimates of value are made using methods similar to those used by independent appraisers (e.g.,
discounted cash flow analysis). Factors considered by management in its analysis include an estimate of carrying costs
during hypothetical expected lease-up periods considering current market conditions, and costs to execute similar
leases. We also consider information obtained about each property as a result of our pre-acquisition due diligence,
marketing, and leasing activities in estimating the fair value ofthe tangible and intangible assets acquired. In estimating
carrying costs, management includes real estate taxes, insurance and other operating expenses and estimates of lost rentals
at market rates during the expected lease-up periods. Management also estimates costs to execute similar leases including
leasing commissions, legal, and other related expenses to the extent that such costs are not already incurred in connection
with a new lease origination as part ofthe transaction.

The total amount of other intangible assets acquired is further allocated to in-place lease values and customer
relationship intangible values based on management’s evaluation of the specific characteristics of each tenant’s lease and
our overall relationship with that respective tenant. Characteristics considered by management in allocating these values
include the nature and extent of our existing business relationships with the tenant, growth prospects for developing new
business with the tenant, the tenant’s credit quality and expectations oflease renewals (including those existing under the
terms ofthe lease agreement), among other factors.

We amortize the value of in-place leases to expense over the initial term of the respective leases. The value of
customer relationship intangibles is amortized to expense over the initial term and any renewal periods in the respective
leases, but in no event may the amortization period for intangible assets exceed the remaining depreciable life of the
building. Should a tenant terminate its lease, the unamortized portion of the in-place lease value and customer
relationship intangibles would be charged to expense.

These assessments have a direct impact on revenue and net income. If we assign more fair value to the in-place
leases versus buildings and tenant improvements, assigned costs would generally be depreciated over a shorter period,
resulting in more depreciation expense and a lower net income on an annual basis. Likewise, if we estimate that more of
our leases in-place at acquisition are on terms believed to be above the current market rates for similar properties, the
calculated present value of the amount above market would be amortized monthly as a direct reduction to rental revenue
and ultimately reduce the amount of net income.

Business Acquisition Valuations

The assets and liabilities of businesses acquired are recorded at their respective preliminary fair values as of the
acquisition date in accordance with FASB ASC 805-10 — Business Combinations (“ASC 805-10""). Upon the acquisition
of real properties, we allocate the purchase price of such properties to acquired tangible assets, consisting of land and
building, and identified intangible assets and liabilities, consisting ofthe value of above market and below market leases
and the value of inplace leases, based in each case on their fair values. We use independent appraisals to assist in the
determination of the fair values of the tangible assets of an acquired property (which includes land and building). We
also perform valuations and physical counts of property, plant and equipment, valuations of investments and the
involuntary termination of employees, as necessary. Costs in excess of the net fair values of assets and liabilities acquired
are recorded as goodwill.

We record and amorttize above-market and below-market operating leases assumed in the acquisition of a
business in the same way as those under real estate acquisitions.

The fair values of any other intangible assets acquired are based on the expected discounted cash flows of the
identified intangible assets. Finite-lived intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method of amortization
over the expected period in which those assets are expected to contribute to our future cash flows. We do not amorntize
indefinite lived intangibles and goodwill.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

FASB ASC 820-10 — Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (“ASC 820-107) defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value in GAAP and provides for expanded disclosure about fair value




measurements. ASC 820-10 applies to all other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value
measurements.

The fair value of our financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in Note 16 — Fair Value of Financial
Instruments to our consolidated financial statements. We generally determine or calculate the fair value of financial
instruments using quoted market prices in active markets when such information is available or using appropriate present
value or other valuation techniques, such as discounted cash flow analyses, incorporating available market discount rate
information for similar types of instruments while estimating for non-performance and liquidity risk. These techniques
are significantly affected by the assumptions used, including the discount rate, credit spreads, and estimates of future cash
flow.

The financial assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in our consolidated financial statements are marketable
securities and interest rate swaps/cap. The carrying amounts of our cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and
accounts payable approximate fair value due to their short-term maturities. The remaining financial assets and liabilities
that are only disclosed at fair value are comprised of notes payable, TPS, and other debt instruments. We estimated the
fair value of our secured mortgage notes payable, our unsecured notes payable, TPS and other debt instruments by
performing discounted cash flow analyses using an appropriate market discount rate. We calculated the market discount
rate by obtaining period-end treasury rates for fixed-rate debt, or LIBOR rates for variable-rate debt, for maturities that
correspond to the maturities of our debt adding an appropriate credit spreads derived from information obtained from
third-party financial institutions. These credit spreads take into account factors such as our credit standing, the maturity
ofthe debt, whether the debt is secured or unsecured, and the loan-to-value ratios of'the debt.

Assets and liabilities typically recorded at fair value on a non-recurring basis to which ASC 820-10 applies
include:

+ Non-financial assets and liabilities initially measured at fair value in an acquisition or business combination;
¢ Long-lived assets measured at fair value due to an impairment assessment under ASC 360-15; and

e Asset retirement obligations initially measured under FASB ASC 410-20 — 4sset Retirement Obligations (“ASC
410-20™).

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires us to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at

the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reported period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Accounting Pronouncements Adopted During 2013
No new pronouncements were adopted during the year ended December31,2013.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-11, Presentation of an Unrecognized Tux Benefit When a Net
Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists ("ASU 2013-11"). ASU2013-11 is
effective for the first interim or annual period beginning on or after December 15, 2013 with early adoption permitted.
ASU 2013-11 amends ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes, to provide guidance and reduce diversity in practice on the
financial statement presentation of an unrecognized tax benefit when a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss,
or a tax credit carryforward exists. We do not anticipate that the application ofthis standard will impact our company.




Note 3 — Stock Based Compensation and Emplovee Stock Option Plan

Stock Based Compensation

As part of his compensation package, Mr. James I. Cotter, our Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer, was granted $750,000, $950,000, and $750,000, respectively, of restricted Class A Non-voting Common Stock
(“Class A Stock™) for each of the years ended December 31,2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively. The 2013, 2012, and
2011 stock grants of 125,209, 217,890, and 155,925 shares, respectively, were granted with stock grant prices of $5.99,
$4.36, and $4.81, respectively. Mr Cotter’s stock compensation is granted fully vested with a five-year restriction on
sale. AsofDecember31,2013,the 2013 stock grant had not yet been issued to Mr. Cotter. During 2013, we issued to Mr.
Cotter 217,890 of Class A Stock for his 2012 vested stock grants which had a stock grant price of $4.36 and a grant date
fair value of $950,000.

During 2012, we issued 9,680 shares as a one-time stock grant of Class A Stock to our employees valued at
$44.000.

During the vears ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, we recorded compensation expense of $750,000,
$994,000, and $750,000, respectively, for the vesting of all our restricted stock grants. The following table details the
grants and vesting ofrestricted stock to our employees (dollars in thousands):

Weighted
Average Fair
Non-Vested Value at Grant
Restricted Stock Date

Outstanding — January 1,2011 - $ --
Granted 155925 750
Vested (155.925) (750)
Outstanding — December 31,2011 - $ -
Granted 227,570 994
Vested (227.570) (994)
Outstanding — December 31,2012 - $ --
Granted 125,209 750
Vested (125,209) (750)
Outstanding — December 31,2013 — $ --

Employee Stock Option Plan

We have a long-term incentive stock option plan that provides for the grant to eligible emplovees, directors, and
consultants of incentive or nonstatutory options to purchase shares of our Class A Stock. Our 1999 Stock Option Plan
expired in November 2009, and was replaced by ournew 2010 Stock Incentive Plan, which was approved by the holders
of our Class B Voting Common Stock in May 2010.

FASB ASC 718-10 — Stock Compensation (“ASC 718-107) requires that all stock-based compensation be
recognized as an expense in the financial statements and that such costs be measured at the fair value of the award. We
estimate the valuation of stock based compensation using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

When our tax deduction from an option exercise exceeds the compensation cost resulting from the option, a tax
benefit is created. ASC 718-10 requires that excess tax benefits related to stock option exercises be reflected as financing
cash inflows instead of operating cash inflows. For the years ended December 31,2013, 2012, and 2011, there was no
impact to the consolidated statements of cash flows because there were no recognized tax benefits during these periods.

ASC 718-10 requires companies to estimate forfeitures. Based on our historical experience, we did not estimate
any forfeitures for the options granted during the years ended December 31,2013,2012, and 2011.

In accordance with ASC 718-10, we estimate the fair value of our options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model, which takes into account assumptions such as the dividend yield, the risk-free interest rate, the




expected stock price volatility, and the expected life ofthe options. The dividend yield is excluded from the calculation,
as it is our present intention to retain all eamings. We estimated the expected stock price volatility based on our
historical price volatility measured using daily share prices back to the inception of the Company in its current form
beginning on December 31, 2001. We estimate the expected option life based on our historical share option exercise
experience during this same period. We expense the estimated grant date fair values of options issued on a straight-line
basis over their vesting periods.

No options were granted during 2011. For the 175,000 and 206,000 options granted during 2013 and 2012,
respectively, we estimated the fair value of these options at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model
with the following weighted average assumptions:

2013 2012
Stock option exercise price $6.19 $5.94
Risk-free interest rate 2.25% 1.71%
Expected dividend yield - -
Expected option life 5.00 yrs. 7.20 yrs.
Expected volatility 31.80% 32.15%
Weighted average fair value $1.98 $2.62

Using the above assumptions and based on our use of the modified prospective method, we recorded $199,000,
$285,000, and $189,000 in compensation expense for the total estimated grant date fair value of stock options that vested
during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively. At December 31, 2013, total unrecognized
estimated compensation cost related to non-vested stock options granted was $432,000 which is expected to be
recognized over a weighted average vesting period of 2.15 years.

For the stock options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, we issued 62,500 and
95,000 shares of Class A Stock for cash to employees of the corporation under this stock based compensation plan with
weighted average exercise prices of $3.98 and $4.68, respectively. No options were exercised in 2011. The total realized
value of stock options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 was $133,000 and $136,000,
respectively. We recorded cash received from stock options exercised of $248,000 and $308,000 during the years ended
December 31,2013 and 2012, respectively. In 2013, 75,000 options were exercised having a realized value of $124.,000
for which we did not receive any cash but the employee elected to exchange 53,136 personally owned shares of the
company with a market price of $5.66 forthe 75,000 shares based on an exercise price of $4.01 for the related options. In
2012, 41,000 options were exercised having a realized value of $103,000 for which we did not receive any cash but the
employee elected to receive the net incremental number of in-the-money shares of 15,822 based on an exercise price of
$4.01 and a market price of $6.53. At December 31, 2013, the intrinsic, unrealized value of all options outstanding,
vested and expected to vest, was $939,000 of which 68.8% were currently exercisable.

Pursuant to both our 1999 Stock Option Plan and our 2010 Stock Incentive Plan, all stock options expire within
ten years of their grant date. The aggregate total number of shares of Class A Stock and Class B voting common stock
authorized for issuance under our 2010 Stock Option Plan is 1,250,000. At the time that options are exercised, at the
discretion of management, we will either issue treasury shares or make a new issuance of shares to the employee or board
member. Dependent on the grant letter to the employee or board member, the required service period for option vesting is
between zero and four years.

We had the following stock options outstanding and exercisable:




Weichted Weichted Average

Common Stock Average Exercise Common Stock Price of
Options Price of Options Exercisable Exercisable
Outstanding Outstanding Options Options
Class A Class B Class A Class B Class A Class B Class A Class B
Outstanding-January 1, 2011 622,350 185,100 $ 5.65 § 9.90 449,750 150,000 $ 622 % 10.24
No activity during the period -- -5 -5 --
Qutstanding-December 31, 2011 622,350 185,100 § 5.65 § 9.90 544383 167,550 § 5.86 3 10.05
Granted 206,000 -3% 594 % -
Exercised (136,000) - % 468 % --
Expired (20,000) -%$ 375 % -
Outstanding - December 31, 2012 672,350 185100 $§ 624 3  9.90 546,350 185,100 $ 6.26 $ 9.90
Granted 175,000 - % 619 % -
Exercised (137,500) - % 400 % --
Qutstanding - December 31, 2013 709,850 185,100 § 6.66 § 9.90 490,350 185,100 § 6.85 § 9.90

The weighted average remaining contractual life of all options outstanding, vested and expected to vest, at
December 31, 2013 and 2012 were approximately 4.70 and 5.32 years, respectively. The weighted average remaining
contractual life ofthe exercisable options outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 2012 was approximately 3.63 and 4.28
years, respectively.

Note 4 — Earnings (Loss) Per Share

For the three years ended December 31, 2013, we calculated the following earnings (loss) per share (dollars in
thousands, except per share amounts):

2013 2012 2011
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 9,041 3 (509) $ 8,068
Income (loss) from discontinued operations - {405) 1,888
Net income (loss) attributable to Reading International, Inc. common shareholders 9,041 (914) 9,956
Basic income (loss) per common share attributable to Reading International,
Inc. shareholders:
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations $ 039 3% {0.02) 3 0.36
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net - (0.02) 0.08
Basic income (loss) per share attributable to Reading International, Inc.
shareholders $ 039 3% {0.04) 3 0.44
Diluted income (loss) per common share attributable to Reading
International, Inc. shareholders:
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations 3 038 % 0.02) % 0.35
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net - (0.02) 0.08
Diluted income (loss) per share atiributable to Reading International, Inc.
shareholders 3 038 % 0.04) 3 0.43
Weighted average shares of common stock — basic 23,348,003 23,028,596 22,764,666
Weighted average shares of common stock — diluted 23,520,271 23,028,596 22,993,135

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2011, the weighted average common stock — dilutive included
172,268 and 228,469, respectively, of incremental shares of exercisable in-the-money stock options and unissued
restricted Class A Stock. For the year ended December 31,2012, we recorded a loss from continuing operations. As such,
the 284,054 of incremental shares of exercisable in-the-money stock options and unissued restricted Class A Stock were
excluded from the computation of diluted loss per share because they were anti-dilutive in that period. In addition,
B47.891, 791,286, and 734,906 of out-of-the-money stock options were excluded from the computation of diluted
earnings (loss) per share for the years ended December 31,2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively. The total number of in-
the-money stock options, out-of-the-money stock options, and unissued restricted Class A Stock that




could potentially dilute basic earnings per share was 1,020,159, 1,075,340, and 963,375 for the years ended December 31,
2013,2012, and 2011, respectively.

Note 5 — Prepaid and Other Assets

Prepaid and other assets are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

December 31,

2013 2012
Prepaid and other current assets
Prepaid expenses $ 1,079 § 1,150
Prepaid taxes 623 B35
Prepaid rent 1,210 1,044
Deposits 368 373
Other 3 154
Total prepaid and other current assets $ 3283 §$ 3,576
Other non-current assets
Other non-cinema and non-rental real estate assets B 1,134 & 1,134
Long-term deposits 144 212
Deferred financing costs, net 1,833 2,230
Interest rate cap at fair value 75 -
Note receivable - 2,000
Tenant inducement asset 512 716
Straight-line rent asset 2,310 2,775
Other 2 2
Total non-current assets $ 6,010 § 9,069

Note 6 — Operating Property

Property associated with our operating activities is summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

December 31,

Operating property 2013 2012
Land 5 65,578 8§ 69,370
Building and improvements 123,061 136,225
Leasehold improvements 46,330 45391
Fixtures and equipment 106,099 108,169
Total cost 341,068 359,155
Less: accumulated depreciation (149,408%) (156,377)
Operating property, net 3 191,660 § 202,778

Depreciation expense for operating property was $14.0 million, $14.9 million, and $14.9 million for the three
vears ended December 31,2013,2012, and 2011, respectively.

In 2011, we recorded impairment losses totaling $65,000 on two of our cinema properties. We did not record an
impairment charge for our operating assets during 2013 or2012.

Note 7 — Investment and Develo pment Property

Investment and development property is summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):




December 31,

Investment and Development Property 2013 2012
Land 5 59,550 8 77,020
Construction-in-progress (including capitalized interest) 14,680 17,902
Investment and development property, net 3 74230 § 94,922

During the year-ended December 31, 2009, we decided to curtail our current development progress on certain
Australian and New Zealand land development projects. As a result, we did not capitalize interest on these projects
during 2013,2012, and 2011 and we will not capitalize interest for these projects until development work recommences.

Coachella, California Land

Based on a December 2012 appraisal, the fair value of our Coachella property was $4.0 million resulting in a
$1.5 million impairment to the carrying value of the asset. As noted below, this property is 50% owned by Mr James I.
Cotter who shares in any impairment loss to the extent of his ownership interest.

Note 8 — Acquisitions, Disposals, and Assets Held for Sale

2013 Transactions

Plano Cinema

On December 31, 2013, we settled a management fee claim that we had against the owner of the Plano, Texas
cinema that we had managed since 2003 for a cash receipt of $1.9 million. As part of the settlement, we acquired that
entity, and through the purchase of that entity acquired the underlying cinema’s lease and the associated personal
property, equipment, and trade fixtures. Because the fair value of the lease, in light of anticipated rent payments, resulted
in a lease liability of $320,000 and the acquired net assets, including cash received in connection with the settlement,
were valued at 81.7 million, we recorded a net gain on acquisition and settlement of $1.4 million.

Property Held for Sale — Moonee Ponds

On October 15, 2013, we entered into a definitive purchase and sale agreement with Moonee Ponds Pty Ltd, an
affiliate of Leighton Properties Pty Ltd, for the sale of our properties located in Moonee Ponds, Victoria, Australia. The
agreement calls for a sale price of AUS$23.0 million payable in full on April 16, 2015. Leighton Properties Pty Ltd. has
guaranteed the purchaser’s performance. Our attormney has received from the purchaser bank guaranties and checks to the
value of AUS$2.3 million representing the agreed upon 10% deposit. These amounts will be held by our attorney and
released to us upon settlement on April 16, 2015. Prior to settlement, Reading retains title to the properties, is responsible
for their costs (including taxes and utilities), and is entitled to receive all of their revenues (the properties are currently
used as a parking lot). The properties comprise approximately 3.3 acres and are carried on our books at $11.6 million
(AUS$12.4 million) at December 31, 2013 which is classified as land held for sale on our December 31, 2013
consolidated balance sheet. The historical operations of this property were as an non-attendant parking lot which are not
material and thus not separately presented as discontinued operations.

2012 Transactions

Indooroopilly - Sale




On November 20, 2012, we sold our Indooroopilly property for $12.4 million (AUS$12.0 million). As its book
value at the time of sale was $12.5 million (AUS$12.1 million), we recorded a loss on sale in the form of an impairment
expense of $318,000 (AUS$306,000) for the year ended December 31, 2012 which included the cost to sell the property.
The operational results are included in income (loss) from discontinued operations on our Consolidated Statements of
Operations for the years ended December 31, 2012, and 2011, respectively. The condensed statement of operations for
Indooroopilly is as follows (dollars in thousands):

2012 2011
Revenue $ 793§ B25
Less: operating expense 560 593
[ess: impairment expense 318 --
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net oftax $ (85) $§ 232

Taringa - Sale

On February 21, 2012, we sold our three properties of approximately 1.1 acres in the Taringa area of Brisbane,
Australia for $1.9 million (AUSS1.8 million). Because the net carrying amounts of these properties were greater than the
total sale price, we recorded an impairment expense for these properties of $369,000 (AUS$3635,000) for the year ended
December31,2011.

Coachella, California Land - Acquisition

On January 10, 2012, Shadow View Land and Farming, LLC, a limited liability company owned by our
Company, acquired a 202-acre property, zoned for the development of up to 816 single-family residential units, located
in the City of Coachella, California. The property was acquired at a foreclosure auction for $5.5 million. The property
was acquired as a long-term investment in developable land. Half of the funds used to acquire the land were provided by
Mr. James I. Cotter, our Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and controlling shareholder Upon the approval of our
Conflicts Committee, these funds were converted on January 18, 2012 into a 50% interest in Shadow View Land and
Farming, LL.C. We are the managing member of this company. See Note 20 — Noncontrolling Interests.

2011 Transactions

Cal Oaks Cinema - Acquisition

On August 25, 2011, we purchased a 17-screen multiplex in Murrieta, California (the “CalOaks Cinema”) for
$4.2 million.

Elsternwick Classic Cinema - Sale

On April 14, 2011, we sold our 66.7% share of the 5-screen Elsternwick Classic cinema located in Melbourne,
Australia to our joint venture partner for $1.9 million (AUS$1.8 million) and recognized a gain on sale of a discontinued
operation of $1.7 million (AUS$1.6 million).

Note 9 — Transfer of Held for Sale Real Estate to Continuing Operations and Related Items

2013 and 2012 Transactions

There were no transfers ofheld for sale real estate to continuing operations orrelated items in 2013 or 2012.
2011 Transactions
Lake Taupo Motel

During the fourth quarter of 2010, we listed for sale the residential units of our Lake Taupo property and the
adjoining 1.0-acre parcel located in Lake Taupo, New Zealand. A portion of this property was previously




improved with a motel in which we recently renovated the property’s units to be condominiums and have enhanced the
property value with residential apartment entitlements for the adjoining vacant land. At December 31,2011, we had not
vet sold the property. Pursuant to ASC 360-10-45, as twelve months had passed since this announcement and we did not
meet the criteria to classify this property as held for sale. As a result of the transfer of the asset from held for sale to
continuing operations, we recorded a loss for 2011 of $37,000 (NZ$48,000) to measure the property at the lower of its
carrying amount, adjusted for depreciation and amortization expense that would have been recognized had the asset been
continuously classified as a continuing operational asset, or its fair value at the date of the decision not to sell. We
continue to discuss with potential buyers and plan to monetize the property in time.

Burwood Development Property

In May 2010, we announced our intent to sell and began actively marketing our 50.6-acre Burwood
development site in suburban Melboume. At June 30,2011, we had not vet achieved that aim. Pursuant to ASC 360-10-
45, as twelve months had passed since this announcement and we did not meet the criteria to classify this property as held
for sale, we reclassified the current camrying value of this property of $53.4 million (AUS$52.1 million) from assets held
for sale to investment and development property on our December 31,2011 consolidated balance sheet. We continue to
evaluate our options conceming this property.

Note 10 — Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill associated with our business combinations is tested for impairment at the beginning of the fourth
quarter with continued evaluation through the end of the fourth quarter of every year. The fair value estimates of each of
our reporting units is based on the projected profits and cash flows of the related assets using each reporting unit’s
weighted average cost of capital as a discount rate. As a result of this test, whereby the Step 1 Test was passed for all
reporting units, it was determined that there is no impairment to our goodwill as of December31,2013 or 2012.

At December 31,2013 or2012, our goodwill consisted ofthe following (dollars in thousands):

2013 Cinema Real Estate Total
Balance as of January 1,2013 b 17,674 % 5224 § 22,898
Foreign currency translation adjustment (739) -- (739)
Balance at December 31,2013 5 16935 § 5224 § 22,159
2012 Cinema Real Estate Total
Balance as of January 1,2012 $ 17,053 § 5224 % 22,277
Foreign currency translation adjustment 621 — 621
Balance at December 31,2012 5 17674 § 5224 § 22,898

We have intangible assets other than goodwill that are subject to amortization which are being amortized over
various periods (dollars in thousands):

Other
Beneficial Intangible
As of December 31,2013 Leases Trade Name Assets Total
Gross carrying amount 24223 & 7,254 455 % 31,932
Less: Accumulated amortization 14,520 3,517 455 18,492
Total, net 9,703 & 3,737 - § 13,440
Other
Beneficial Intangible
As of December 31,2012 Leases Trade Name Assets Total
Gross carrying amount 24284 % 7,254 458 § 31,996
Less: Accumulated amortization 12,873 3,059 403 16,335
Total, net 11411 & 4,195 35 § 15,661




We amortize our beneficial leases overthe lease period, the longest of which is approximately 30 years; our trade
name using an accelerated amortization method over its estimated useful life of 45 years; and our option fee and other
intangible assets over 10 years. For the vears ended December 31,2013,2012, and 2011, our amortization expense was
$2.2 million, $2.2 million, and $2.4 million, respectively. The estimated amortization expense in the five succeeding
vears and thereafter is as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ending December 31,

2014 $ 1,994
2015 1.921
2016 1,724
2017 1.327
2018 1,211
Thereafter 5,263
Total future amortization expense 5 13 440

Note 11 — Investments in and Advances to Unconsolidated Joint Ventures and Entities

Investments in and advances to unconsolidated joint ventures and entities are accounted for under the equity
method of accounting except for Rialto Distribution as described below. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, these
investments in and advances to unconsolidated joint ventures and entities include the following (dollars in thousands):

December 31,

Interest 2013 2012
Rialto Distribution 33.3% 5 - 3 -
Rialto Cinemas 50.0% 1,571 1,561
205-209 East 57® Street Associates, LLC 25.0% - 60
Mt. Gravatt 33.3% 5.164 6,094
Total investments $ 6,735 § 7,715

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, we recorded our earmings (loss) from our
unconsolidated joint ventures and entities as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Rialto Distribution § 159 § 199 § 383
Rialto Cinemas 221 209 (72)
205-209 East 57™ Street Associates, LL.C (1) 27 33
Mt. Gravatt 990 1,186 1,038
Total investor share of earnings 1,369 1,621 1,382
Rialto Cinemas impairment recorded at investor level - -- (2,934)
Total equity eamings $ 1369 § 1,621 § (1,552)

Rialto Distribution

Due to significant losses in years past, we determined that the goodwill associated with Rialto Distribution’s
investment in the film distribution business was fully impaired. As a result of these losses, as of January 1,2010, we treat
our interest as a cost method interest in an unconsolidated joint venture. For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012,
and 2011 we received $159,000 (NZ$195,000), $199,000 (NZ$245,000), and $383,000 (NZ$500,000), respectively, in
distributions from our interest in Rialto Distribution which we recorded as earnings at the time ofreceipt.

Rialto Cinemas




We own an undivided 50% interest in the assets and liabilities ofthe Rialto Entertainment joint venture and treat
our interest as an equity method interest in an unconsolidated joint venture. Subsequent to the February 22, 2011
earthquake in Christchurch, the joint venture obtained a termination agreement with the landlord associated with the
Christchurch cinema lease (see Note 26 — Casualty Loss). As of December 31, 2013, following the closure of three
cinemas with 15 screens, the joint venture owned two cinemas with 13 screens in the New Zealand cities of Auckland and
Dunedin. As part of our investment impairment analysis for 2011, we determined that the value of our investment was
impaired. Forthis reason, we recorded an impairment charge to our investment in Rialto Cinemas of $2.9 million (NZ$3.8
million) during December 31,2011 and included it in our equity loss from unconsolidated joint ventures and entities for
the year ended December31,2011.

205-209 East 57th Street Associates, [I1.C

We own a non-managing 25% membership interest in 205-209 East 57th Street Associates, LLC a limited
liability company formed to redevelop our former cinema site at 205 East 57th Street in Manhattan.

During the fourth quarter of 2010, the last residential condominium was sold for $900,000 from which we
recorded eamings of $64,000 and received distributions totaling $293,000. During 2012, as a consequence of a
purchaser’s dispute, a condominium which was previously sold was repurchased, renovated, and resold for a small gain
resulting in additional earnings to us of $27,000. We do not anticipate any further income or expense from this
investment.

Mt. Gravatt

We own an undivided 33.3% interest in Mt. Gravatt, an unincorporated joint venture that owns and operates a
16-screen multiplex cinema in Australia. The condensed balance sheets and statements of operations of Mt. Gravatt are as
follows (dollars in thousands):

Mt. Gravatt Condensed Balance Sheet Information

December 31,

2013 2012
Current assets b 827 % 1,318
Noncurrent assets 3,288 4,078
Current liabilities 751 1,111
Noncurrent liabilities 30 43
Members’ equity 3,394 4,242

Mt. Gravatt Condensed Statements of Operations Information

December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Total revenue $ 12949 § 15,236 % 14,097
Net income 2,923 3,513 3,045

Malulani Investments, Limited

On June 26, 2006, we acquired for $1.8 million, an 18.4% interest in a private real estate company. On July 2,
2009, Magoon Acquisition and Development, LLC (“Magoon LLC”) and we entered into a settlement agreement (the
“Settlement Terms”) with respect to a lawsuit against certain officers and directors of Malulani Investments, Limited
(“MIL™). Under the Settlement Terms, Magoon LLC and we received $2.5 million in cash, a $6.8 million three-year
6.25% secured promissory note issued by The Malulani Group (“TMG™), and a ten-year “tail interest” in MIL and TMG in
exchange for the transfer of all ownership interests in MIL and TMG held by both Magoon, LLC and RDI and for the
release of all claims against the defendants in this matter A gain on the transfer of our ownership interest in MIL of
$268,000 was recognized during 2009 as a result of this transaction. The tail interest allows us to participate in certain
distributions made or received by MIL, TMG, and in certain cases, the shareholders of TMG. The tail interest, however,
continues only for a period of ten years and we cannot assure that we will receive any distributions from this tail
interest. During 2011, we received $191,000 in interest on the




promissory note, and, on June 14,2011, we received $6.8 million of principal and interest owed on this note. We believe
that further amounts are owed under the note and we have begun litigation to collect such amounts. Any further

collections will be recognized when received.

Combined Condensed Financial Information

The combined condensed financial information for all of the above unconsolidated joint ventures and entities
accounted for under the equity method is as follows; therefore, these financials only exclude Rialto Distribution (dollars

in thousands):

Condensed Balance Sheet Information

December 31,

2013 2012
Current assets b 3,255 % 3,488
Noncurrent assets 5.934 6,621
Current liabilities 2,516 2,197
Noncurrent liabilities 670 751
Members’ equity 6,002 7,161
Condensed Statements of Operations Information
December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Total revenue $ 23,070 §$ 26,138 § 28,017
Net income 3,598 4,590 4,021
Note 12 - Notes Payable
Notes payable are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
Name of Note Payable or Security 2013 2012 Maturity Date 2013 2012
Trust Preferred Securities 4.24% 4.31% April 30, 2027 $ 27914 § 27913
Australian NAB Corporate Term Loan 5.09% 582% Tune 30,2014 56,699 75,349
Austrahian NAB Corporate Revolver 5.09% 5.82% June 30,2014 -- --
Australian Shopping Center Loans -- -- November 1, 2014 39 208
New Zealand Corporate Credit Facility 4.80% 4.70% March 31, 2015 23,041 23,148
US Bank of America Revolver 2.67% 3.26% October 31, 2017 31,500 30,000
US Bank of America Line of Credit 3.17% 321% October 31, 2017 -- 2,007
US Cinema 1, 2, 3 Term Loan 5.21% 5.24% June 27,2014 15,000 15,000
US Liberty Theaters Term Loan -- 6.20% April 1,2013 -- 6,429
US Minetta & Orpheum Theatres Loan 2.91% -- June 1, 2018 7,500 --
US Nationwide Loan 1 -- 8.50% February 21, 2013 -- 593
US Sutton Hill Capital Note — Related Party -- 8.25% June 18, 2013 -- 9,000
US Union Square Theatre Term Loan 5.92% 5.92% May 1, 2015 6,717 6,950
Total 3 168,460 § 196,597

Trust Preferred Securities

On February 5, 2007, we issued $51.5 million in 20-year fully subordinated notes to a trust that we control,
which in turn issued $51.5 million in securities. Of the $51.5 million, $50.0 million in TPS were issued to unrelated
investors in a private placement and $1.5 million of common trust securities were issued by the trust to Reading called
“Investment in Reading International Trust [’ on our balance sheet. Effective May 1, 2012, the interest rate on our Trust
Preferred Securities changed from a fixed rate 0£9.22%, which was in effect for five years, to a




variable rate of three month LIBOR plus 4.00%, which will reset each quarter through the end of the loan unless we
exercise our right to refix the rate at the current market rate at that time. Effective October 28, 2013, we entered into a
fixed interest rate swap of $27.9 million at 1.20% plus the 4.00% margin, expiring on October 31, 2017, see Note 13 —
Derivative Instruments. There are no principal payments due until maturity in 2027 when the notes and the trust
securities are scheduled to be paid in full. We may pay off the debt after the first five years at 100% of the principal
amount without any penalty. The trust is essentially a pass through, and the transaction is accounted for on our books as
the issuance of fully subordinated notes. The credit facility includes a number of affirmative and negative covenants
designed to monitor our ability to service the debt. The most restrictive covenant of the facility requires that we must
maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio at a certain level. However, on December 31, 2008, we secured a waiver of all
financial covenants with respect to our TPS for a period of nine years (through December 31, 2017), in consideration of
the payment of $1.6 million, consisting of an initial payment of $1.1 million, a payment of $270,000 made in December
2011, and a contractual obligation to pay $270,000 in December 2014.

During the first quarter of 2009, we took advantage of the then cument market illiquidity for securities such as
our TPS to repurchase $22.9 million in face value of those securities through an exchange of $11.5 million worth of
marketable securities purchased during the period for the express purpose of executing this exchange transaction with the
third party holder of these TPS. During the twelve months ended 2009, we amortized $106,000 of discount to interest
income associated with the holding of these securities prior to their extinguishment. On April 30, 2009, we extinguished
$22.9 million ofthese TPS, which resulted in a gain on retirement of subordinated debt (TPS) of $10.7 million net of loss
on the associated write-off of deferred loan costs 0£ $749,000 and a reduction in our Investment in Reading International
Trust I from $1.5 million to $838,000.

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, we paid $1.2 million, $1.9 million, and $2.5
million, respectively, in preferred dividends to the unrelated investors that are included in interest expense. At December
31,2013 and 2012, we had preferred dividends payable of $191,000 and $198,000, respectively. Interest payments for
this loan are required every three months.

Australia
NAB Australian Corporate Term Loan

On June 24, 201 1, we replaced our Australian Corporate Credit Facility of $115.8 million (AUS$110.0 million)
with BOS International (“BOSI”) with a new credit facility from National Australia Bank (“NAB™) of $110.5 million
(AUS$105.0 million). NAB provided us term debt of $94.7 million (AUS$90.0 million) and $9.5 million (AUS$9.0
million) in line of credit which we used combined with our cash of $1.6 million (AUS$1.5 million) to pay off our $105.8
million (AUS$100.5 million) of outstanding BOSI debt.

The NAB three-tiered credit facility (the “NAB Credit Facility™) has a term of three years, due and payable June
30,2014, and comprised of a term loan with a December 31, 2013 balance of $56.7 million (AUS$63.5 million); a $4.5
million (AUS$5.0 million) revolving facility for which we do not have a balance at December 31, 2013; and a $8.9
million (AUS$10.0 million) guarantee facility. During 2013, to support a guarantee on the Australian digital projection
conversion, we transferred $4.5 million (AUS$5.0 million) of our revolving facility to the guarantee facility. This transfer
will remain in place until we refinance the NAB Credit Facility during 2014. This loan to Reading Entertainment
Australia commenced on June 24, 201 | with an interest rate of between 2.90% and 2.15% above the BBSY bid rate. This
credit facility is secured by substantially all of our cinema assets in Australia and is only guaranteed by several of our
wholly owned Australian subsidiaries. The NAB Credit Facility requires annual principal payments of between $6.3
million (AUS$7.0 million) and $8.0 million (AUS$9.0 million) which we anticipate will be paid from Reading
Entertainment Australia operating cash flows. The covenants of the NAB Credit Facility include a fixed charge coverage
ratio, a debt service cover ratio, an operating leverage ratio, a loan to value ratio, and other financial
covenants. Additionally, the NAB Credit Facility allows us to transfer only $3.6 million (AUS$4.0 million) per year
outside of Australia. In December 2012, as part of the sale of our Indooroopilly property, we paid down $6.3 million
(AUS$6.0 million) on our NAB term loan.

In conjunction with this NAB Credit Facility, we entered into a five-year interest swap agreement which swaps
over 100% of our $56.7 million (AUS$63.5 million) variable rate term loan (decreasing in line with scheduled principal
repayments) based on BBSY, for a 5.50% fixed rate. For further information regarding our swap agreements, see Note 13 —
Derivative Instruments.




Asindicated above, this NAB Credit Facility matures on June 30,2014, Accordingly, the outstanding balance of
this debt of $56.7 million (AUS863.5 million) is classified as current on our December 31, 2013 balance sheet. While no
assurances can be given that we will be successful, we are currently in the process of renewing this loan and anticipate
that the refinancing will be completed at the latest by May 31,2014,

Australian Shopping Center Loans

In July 2004, as part of the acquisition of the Anderson Cinema Circuit, we assumed the three loans on the
Epping, Rhodes, and West Lakes properties. The total amount assumed on the transaction date was $1.5 million
(AUS$2.1 million) and the loans camry no interest as long as we make timely principal payments of approximately
$89,000 (AUSS100,000) per year Early repayment is possible without penalty. The only recourse on default of these
loans is the security on the properties.

New Zealand
New Zealand Corporate Credit Facility

On February 8, 2012, we received an approved amendment from Westpac renewing our existing $36.9 million
(NZ$45.0 million) New Zealand credit facility with a 3-year credit facility. The renewed facility called for a decrease in
the overall facility by $4.1 million ($5.0 million) to $32.8 million (NZ$40.0 million), an increase in the facility margin of
0.55% to 2.00%, and the line of credit charge increase from 0.30% to 0.40%. The facility is secured by substantially all of
our New Zealand assets, but has not been guaranteed by any entity other than several of our New Zealand
subsidiaries. The facility includes various affirmative and negative financial covenants designed to protect the bank’s
security regarding capital expenditures and the repatriation of funds out of New Zealand. Also included in the restrictive
covenants of the facility is the restriction oftransferring funds from subsidiary to parent.

Us
Bank of America Revolver

On October 31, 2012, we replaced our GE Capital Term Loan of $27.7 million with a new credit facility from
Bank of America (the “BofA Revolver™) of$30.0 million with an interest rate ofbetween 2.50% and 3.00% above LIBOR
and an expiration date of October 31, 2017. Although the new credit facility does not require a fixed interest swap
agreement, we have continued to use the existing fixed interest rate swap of $29.1 million until its term date of December
31,2013, Effective December 31,2013, we replaced this swap with a $31.5 million fixed interest rate swap, see Note 13 -
Derivative Instruments. The BofA Revolver requires borrowing limit reductions of $3.0 million per year with a balloon
payment of $18.0 million at the expiration date. The BofA Revolver contains other customary terms and conditions,
including representations and warranties, affirmative and negative covenants, events of default and indemnity
provisions. The most restrictive covenant of the facility requires that we must maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio at a
certain level.

On March 25,2013, Bank of America extended the borrowing limit on our BofA Revolver from $30.0 million to
$35.0 million and we borrowed $5.0 million on this revolver. On April 1, 2013, we used $2.3 million of the revolver
proceeds to partially repay our US Liberty Theaters Term Loan.

As part of the negotiations of the BofA Revolver, we entered into a master operating equipment lease financing
agreement with Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC to finance the acquisition of up to $15.5 million in digital
projection equipment for our U.S. cinema operations. See Note |7 — Lease Agreements.

Bank of America Line of Credit

On October 31, 2012, Bank of America renewed and increased our existing $3.0 million line of credit to $5.0
million. The LOC carries an interest rate equal to BBA LIBOR floating plus a 3.50% margin and an unused line fee of
0.03%. The agreement is in effect till October 31,2017 and is potentially renewable at that date. The undrawn balance of
this LOC is $5.0 million at December 31, 2013.




Cinemas I, 2, 3 Term Loan

On June 28, 2012, Sutton Hill Properties LLC (“SHP”), one of our consolidated subsidiaries, paid off its
Eurohypo AG, New York Branch loan with a new $15.0 million term loan (the “Sovereign Bank Loan™) from Sovereign
Bank,N.A. The Sovereign Bank Loan had a one-year term ending on June 27, 2013, with a one-year extension option to
Tune 27, 2014 subject to an extension fee equal to 1.00% of the ending principal balance and a compliance requirement
with certain special covenants. We exercised this option in June 2013. As the extensions mature on June 27, 2014, we
have classified the $15.0 million as a current liability. While no assurances can be given that we will be successful, we
are currently in the process of renegotiating this loan. The terms of the loan require interest only payments at LIBOR plus
a 5.00% margin to be calculated and paid monthly. This loan is secured by SHP’s interest in the Cinemas 1, 2, & 3 land
and building. Covenants include maintaining a loan to value ratio of at least 50% of fair market value and an 11% debt
yield (with a numerator of the cash available for debt service and a denominator of the outstanding principal balance of
the loan). The Sovereign Bank Loan is further secured by a guaranty provided by Reading International, Inc. and by its
noncontrolling interest member, Sutton Hill Capital, LL.C.

Minetta and Ovpheum Theatres Loan

On May 29, 2013, we refinanced our Liberty Theaters loan with a $7.5 million loan securitized by our Minetta
and Orpheum theatres, thus releasing the Royal George from the securitization and leaving it unencumbered. This new
loan has a maturity date of June 1, 2018, and an interest rate of LIBOR plus a 2.75% margin with a LIBOR rate cap of
4.00% plus the 2.75% margin. See Note 13 — Derivative Instruments.

Nationwide Loan 1

On February 22, 2008, our subsidiary entered into a five-year promissory note (the “Nationwide Note 1) with
Nationwide Theatres Corp of $21.0 million associated with the acquisition of 15 motion picture theaters and theater-
related assets from Pacific Theatres Exhibition Corp. The Nationwide Note | was subject to certain purchase price related
adjustments. Through December 31, 2010, these adjustments resulted in a net reduction in principal of $20.4 million
comprised of a reduction in the amount of $6.3 million in 2008, a further reduction of$226,000 during the first quarter of
2009, an additional advance of $3.0 million in 2009 (such advance was used to pay down a portion of the GE Capital
Term Loan discussed above), a $4.4 million reduction during the first quarter of 2010 in which Nationwide Theaters Corp.
and Reading agreed to reduce the seller’s note, and finally a $12.5 million reduction in September 2010.

The Nationwide Note 1 had an interest (1) as to $4.5 million of principal at the annual rates of 7.50% for the first
three years and 8.50% thereafter and (ii) as to $13.0 million of principal at the annual rates of 6.50% through July 31,
2009 and 8.50% thereafter. Accrued interest was due and payable on February 21, 2011 and thereafter on the last day of
each calendar quarter, commencing on June 30, 2011. Pursuant to the Nationwide Note 1 agreement, we paid off the
$593,000 balance of this loan on February 21,2013.

Sutton Hill Capital Note

On June 18, 2013, we repaid the SHC Note 2 for $9.0 million. As the debtor on this note was Sutton Hill
Properties, LL.C, in which we have a 75% interest, the note was, in effect, paid $6.75 million by us and $2.25 million by
our co-investor.

Union Square Theatve Term Loan

On April 30, 2010, we refinanced the loan secured by our Union Square property with another lender The new
loan for $7.5 million has a five-year term with a fixed interest rate of 5.92% per annum and an amortization payment
schedule 0f 20 years with a balloon payment of approximately $6.4 million at the end of the loan term.

Summary of Notes Payable

Our aggregate future principal loan payments are as follows (dollars in thousands):




Year Ending December 31,

2014 $ 75,538
2015 33,009
2016 3,500
2017 21,000
2018 7.500
Thereafter 27913

Total future principal loan payments 3 168 460

Since approximately $79.8 million of our total debt of $168.5 million at December 31, 2013 consisted of debt
denominated in Australian and New Zealand dollars, the U.S dollar amounts of these repayments will fluctuate in
accordance with the relative values of these currencies.

Note 13 — Derivative Instruments

We are exposed to interest rate changes from our outstanding floating rate borrowings. We manage our fixed to
floating rate debt mix to mitigate the impact of adverse changes in interest rates on earnings and cash flows and on the
market value of our borrowings. From time to time, we may enter into interest rate hedging contracts, which effectively
convert a portion of our variable rate debt to a fixed rate over the term ofthe interest rate swap.

For our Australian borrowings, we are presently required to swap no less than 75% of our drawdowns under our
Australian Corporate Credit Facility into fixed interest rate obligations. In conjunction with this NAB Credit Facility, we
entered into a five-year interest swap agreement, which swaps more than 100% of our variable rate term loan based on
BBSY for a 5.50% fixed rate loan which steps down commensurate with the payments of the loan balance. At the time of
entering into this NAB swap, our existing BOSI swap was “in-the-money” by $160,000. In lieu of a cash payment for the
in-the-money BOSI swap, we negotiated a slightly lower fixed swap rate by 0.05% for our new NAB fixed rate swap.

Although our Bank of America Revolver does not require a fixed interest swap agreement, effective December
31,2013, we entered into an approximate three-year $31.5 million fixed interest rate swap that has a balance reduction
schedule which matches the contraction amortization of the Bank of America Revolver.

Effective October 28, 2013, we entered into a three-year 827.9 million fixed interest rate swap for our Trust
Preferred Securities.

As a result of these swap and loan agreements, we pay a total fixed interest rate of 7.90% (5.50% swap contract
rate plus a 2.40% margin under the loan) for our NAB Loan, a total fixed interest rate of 3.65% ( 1.15% swap contract rate
plus a 2.50% margin under the loan) for our BofA Loan, and a total fixed interest rate 0f 5.20%6 ( 1.20% swap contract rate
plus a 4.00% margin under the loan) for our Trust Preferred Securities instead of the obligatorily disclosed loan rates of
5.09%, 2.67%, and 4.24%, respectively, as indicated in Note 12 — Notes Payable.

Finally, as part of our new US Minetta and Orpheum Theatres Loan, we entered into a five-year LIBOR rate cap
ot 4.00% with a loan margin of2.75% (see Note 12 — Notes Payable).

The following table sets forth the terms of our interest rate swap derivative instruments at December 31, 2013:

Receive Variable

Type of Instrument Notional Amount Pay Fixed Rate Rate Maturity Date
Interest rate swap $62,057,000 5.500% 2.690% June 30,2016
Interest rate swap $31,500,000 1.150% 0.169% October31,2017
Interest rate swap $27,913,000 1.200% 0.236% October31,2017

Interest rate cap $7.500,000 4.000% n/a June 1,2018

In accordance with FASB ASC 815-20 — Derivatives and Hedging, we marked our interest swap instruments to
market on the consolidated balance sheet resulting in a $2.0 million decrease to interest expense

\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\




during 2013, a $1.1 million increase to interest expense during 2012, and a $5.0 increase to interest expense during
2011. At December 31, 2013 and 2012, we recorded the fair market value of our interest rate swaps of $3.3 million and
$5.9 million, respectively, as other long-term liabilities. In accordance with FASB ASC 815-20, we have not designated
any of our current interest rate swap positions as financial reporting hedges.

Note 14 - Income Taxes

Income (loss) before income tax expense includes the following (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

United States 5 8,745 § 836 % (1,391)
Foreign 3,973 1,446 (379)
Income (loss) before income tax expense and equily earnings of
unconsolidated joint ventures and entities $ 12,718  § 2,282 8§ (1,770)
Net (income) expense attributable to noncontrolling interesis:

United States 24 578 (604)

Foreign (128) (86) (336)
Eguity earnings and gain on sale of unconsolidated subsidiary:

United States (1) 27 33

Foreign 1,370 1,594 (1,585)
Gain on sale of discontinued operation:

United States - - -

Foreign -- (405) 1,888
Income (loss) before income tax expense 5 13983 § 3,990 § (2,374)

Significant components of the provision for income taxes are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Current income tax expense
Federal $ 1,121 § 964 $ 1,332
State 432 584 531
Foreign 1,283 1,370 1,067
Total 2,836 2918 2,930
Deferred income tax expense (benefit)
Federal - - -
State - - -
Foreign 2,106 1,986 (15,260)
Total 2,106 1,986 (15,260)
Total income tax expense (benefit) 3 4942 % 4904 % (12,330)

Deferred income taxes reflect the “temporary differences™ between the financial statement camrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes, adjusted by the
relevant tax rate. The components ofthe deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (dollars in thousands):

December 31,

Components of Deferred Tax Assets 2013 2012
Deferred Tax Assets:
Net operating loss carry-forwards h 21,228 8 31,040
Impairment reserves 2915 3,578
Alternative minimum tax credit carry-forwards 3,291 3,118




Compensation and employee benefits 3,867 3,242

Deferred revenue and expense 2,398 2,688
Land, tangible assets, and option real properties 5477 2,882
Other 3,685 4,003
Total Deferred Tax Assets 42 861 50,551
Valuation allowance (34,022) (37,903)
Net deferred tax asset $ 8839 § 12,648

In accordance with FASB ASC 740-10 — ncome Taxes (“ASC 740-10"), we record net deferred tax assets to the
extent we believe these assets will more likely than not be realized. In making such determination, we consider all
available positive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future
taxable income, tax planning strategies and recent financial performance. ASC 740-10 presumes that a valuation
allowance is required when there is substantial negative evidence about realization of deferred tax assets, such as a pattern
of losses in recent years, coupled with facts that suggest such losses may continue. Because of such negative evidence
available for the 1U.S., Puerto Rico, and New Zealand, as of December 31, 2013, we recorded a valuation allowance of
$34.0 million. After consideration of a number of factors for the Reading Australia group, including its recent history of
financial income, its expected future eamings, the increase in market value of its real estate assets, and having executed a
credit facility of over $100.0 million to resolve potential liquidity issues, the Company determined as of July 1,2011 that
it was more likely than not that deferred tax assets in Reading Australia group will be realized. Accordingly, we reversed
the full valuation allowance in Australia, resulting in a net deferred tax asset of $14.4 million as of December 31, 2011,
with approximately $3.4 million classified as current and $1 1.0 million as non-current.

As of December 31, 2013, we had U.S. net operating loss carry-forwards of $15.2 million, of which $8.7 million
expire between 2025 and 2030, while $6.5 million expire between 2030 and 2035.

In addition to the above net operating loss carry-forwards having expiration dates, we have the following carry-
forwards that have no expiration date at December31,2013:

e approximately $3.3 million in U.S. alternative minimum tax credit carry-forwards;

s approximately $26.0 million in Australian ordinary and capital loss carry-forwards, including accrued but
unpaid interest on loans from its US parent company; and

¢ approximately $11.8 million in New Zealand loss carry-forwards.

We disposed of our Puerto Rico operations during 2005 and plan no further investment in Puerto Rico for the
foreseeable future. We have approximately $14.1 million in Puerto Rico loss carry-forwards expiring no later than
2018. No material future tax benefits from Puerto Rico loss carry-forwards can be recognized by the Company unless it
re-enters the Puerto Rico market for which the Company has no cuirent plans.

We expect no other substantial limitations on the future use of U.S. or foreign loss carry-forwards except as may
occur for certain losses occurring in New Zealand related to the Landplan operations, which may only be used to offset
income and gains from those particular activities, and cannot be shared with their respective consolidated group.

U.S. income taxes have not been recognized on the temporary differences between book value and tax basis of
investment in foreign subsidiaries. These differences become taxable upon a sale of the subsidiary or upon distribution of
assets from the subsidiary to U.S. shareholders. We expect neither of these events will occur in the foreseeable future for
any of our foreign subsidiaries.

The provision for income taxes is different from amounts computed by applying U.S. statutory rates to
consolidated losses before taxes. The significant reason for these differences follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Expected tax provision (benefit) $ 4894 % 1,397 § (831)

Increase (decrease) in tax expense vesulting from:




Change in valuation allowance (3,882) (558) (15,260)

Expired foreign loss carry-forward -- -- 1,100
Foreign tax provision 3,389 3,356 1,067
Tax effect of foreign tax rates on current income (294) (126) 24
State and local tax provision 296 408 361
Tax/Audit Litigation Settlement 1,140 1,140 1,375
Effect oftax rate change - - -
Other items (601) (713) (166)
Actual tax provision (benefit) $ 4942 § 4904 8 (12,330)

Pursuant to ASC 740-10, a provision should be made forthe tax effect of earnings of foreign subsidiaries that are
not permanently invested outside the United States. Our intent is that earnings of our foreign subsidiaries are not
permanently invested outside the United States. Current earnings were available for distribution in the Reading Australia
consolidated group of subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013. There is no withholding tax on dividends paid by an
Australian company to its 80% or more 1.5, public company shareholder, thus we have not provided foreign withholding
taxes for these current retained eamnings. We believe the U.S. tax impact of a dividend from our Australian subsidiary, net
of loss carry forward and potential foreign tax credits, would not have a material effect on the tax provision as of
December 31 2013.

We have accrued $20.8 million in income tax liabilities as of December 31, 2013, of which $8.3 million has been
classified as current taxes payable and $12.5 million have been classified as non-current tax liabilities. As part of current
taxes payable, we have accrued $3.5 million in connection with federal and state liabilities arising from the “Tax/Audit
Litigation™ matter which has now been settled (see Note 19 — Commitments and Contingencies). Aspart of noncurrent tax
liabilities, we have accrued an additional $11.5 million related to the “Tax Audit/Litigation™ matter. Amounts assessed
by the IRS and expected to be assessed by state income tax agencies in connection with the “Tax Audit/Litigation”
matter are no longer recorded under the cumulative probability approach prescribed by FASB ASC 740-10-25 but
are recorded as a fixed and determinable liability. We believe the $20.8 million in tax liabilities represents an adequate
provision for our income tax exposures.

The following table is a summary of the activity related to unrecognized tax benefits, excluding interest and
penalties, forthe years ending December 31,2013, December 31,2012, and December 31,2011 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Unrecognized tax benefits — gross beginning balance $ 2,171 § 1,974  § 8,058
Gross increases — prior period tax provisions (1D 197 --
Gross increases — current period tax positions - - 151
Settlements - - (6,235)
Statute of limitations lapse - - -
Unrecognized tax benefits — gross ending balance b 2,160 § 2,171 § 1,974

In accordance with FASB ASC 740-10-25 — Income Taxes - Uncertain Tax Positions (“ASC 740-10-25") we
elected to record interest and penalties related to income tax matters as part of income tax expense.

We had approximately $10.8 million and $11.4 million of gross tax benefits as of the adoption date and
December 31, 2007, respectively, plus $1.7 million and $2.3 million of tax interest unrecognized on the financial
statements as of each date, respectively. The gross tax benefits mostly reflect operating loss carry-forwards and the IRS
Tax Audit/Litigation case described below.

We recorded a reduction to our gross unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $3.4 million and an increase to
tax interest of approximately $8.8 million during the period January 1, 2010 to December 31, 2010 and the total balance
at December 31, 2010 was approximately $20.6 million (of which approximately $12.6 million represents IRS
interest). Having settled the Tax Audit/Litigation matter described in Note 19 — Commirments and




Contingencies, we further recorded a net reduction to our gross unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $6.1 million
and a reduction to tax interest of approximately $10.4 million during the period January 1, 2011 to December 31, 2011,
resulting in a total balance at December 31,2011 of approximately $4.1 million, consisting of $1.9 million tax and $2.2
million interest. Of the $4.1 million gross unrecognized tax benefit at December 31, 2011, approximately $3.0 million
would impact the effective tax rate if recognized. During the period January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2012 we recorded
an increase of $0.2 million to our gross unrecognized tax benefits and an increase to tax interest of approximately $1.1
million, resulting in a total balance of $5.3 million consisting of $2.1 million in tax and $3.2 million in interest. Of the
$5.3 million gross unrecognized tax benefit at December 31, 2012, approximately $4.3 million would impact the
effective rate if recognized. During the period January 1, 2013 to December 31, 2013 we recorded no material change to
our gross unrecognized tax benefits and a decrease to tax interest of approximately $1.4 million, resulting in a total
balance of $3.9 million consisting of $2.1 million in tax and $1.8 million in interest. Of the $3.9 million gross
unrecognized tax benefit at December 31,2013, approximately $2.9 million would impact the effective rate ifrecognized.

It is difficult to predict the timing and resolution of uncertain tax positions. Based upon the Company’s
assessment of many factors, including past experience and judgments about future events, it is probable that within the
next 12 months the reserve for uncertain tax positions will increase within a range of $0.5 million to $1.5 million. The
reasons for such change include but are not limited to tax positions expected to be taken during 2013, revaluation of
current uncertain tax positions, and expiring statutes of limitation.

Our company and subsidiaries are subject to U.S. federal income tax, income tax in various U.S. states, and
income tax in Australia, New Zealand, and Puerto Rico.

Generally, changes to our federal and most state income tax retumns for the calendar year 2007 and earlier are
barred by statutes of limitations. Certain U.S. subsidiaries filed federal and state tax returns for periods before these
entities became consolidated with us. These subsidiaries were examined by IRS for the years 1996 to 1999 and
significant tax deficiencies were assessed for those years. Those deficiencies have been settled, as discussed in “Tax
Audit/Litigation,” Note 19 — Commitments and Contingencies. Our income tax returns for Australia filed since inception
in 1995 are generally open for examination. The income tax returns filed in New Zealand and Puerto Rico for calendar
year 2007 and afterward remain open for examination as of December31,2013.




Note 15 — Other Liabilities

Other liabilities are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

December 31,

2013 2012

Current liabilities

Lease liability b 5900 § 5,855
Security deposit payable 246 174
Other 9 3
Other current liabilities $ 6,155 § 6,032
Other liabilities

Foreign withholding taxes 3 6,748 8 6,480
Straight-line rent liability 9.259 8,893
Environmental reserve 1,656 1,656
Accrued pension 8,527 6,976
Interest rate swap 3,288 5,855
Acquired leases 1,797 2,078
Other payable 875 1,191
Other 599 630
Other liabilities 3 32749 8 33,759

Village East Purchase Option

On June 29,2010, we agreed to extend our existing lease from SHC ofthe Village East Cinema in New York City
by 10 years, with a new termination date of June 30, 2020. The Village East lease includes a sub-lease of the ground
underlying the cinema that is subject to a longer-term ground lease between SHC and an unrelated third party that expires
in June 1, 2031 (the “cinema ground lease™). The extended lease provides for a call option pursuant to which Reading
may purchase the cinema ground lease for $5.9 million at the end of the lease term. Additionally, the lease has a put
option pursuant to which SHC may require Reading to purchase all or a portion of SHC’s interest in the existing cinema
lease and the cinema ground lease at any time between July 1, 2013 and December 4, 2019. SHC’s put option may be
exercised on one or more occasions in increments of not less than $100,000 each. Because our Chairman, Chief
Executive Officer, and controlling shareholder, Mt James I. Cotter, is also the managing member of SHC, RDI and SHC
are considered entities under common control. As a result, we have recorded the Village East Cinema building as a
property asset of $4.7 million on our balance sheet based on the cost carry-over basis from an entity under common
control with a corresponding lease liability of $5.9 million presented under other liabilities which accreted up to the $5.9
million liability till July 1,2013 (see Note 25 — Related Parties and Transactions). As the option is able to be exercised
starting on July 1, 2013, we classified the $5.9 million lease liability as a current liability.

Note 16 — Fair Value of Financial Instruments

ASC 820-10 applies to existing accounting pronouncements in which fair value measurements are already
required and defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.

ASC 820-10 (see Note 2 —Summary of Significant Accounting Policies) establishes a fair value hierarchy that
prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The statement requires that assets and liabilities
carried at fair value be classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories:

Level 1: Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2: Observable market based inputs orunobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data.




We use appropriate valuation techniques based on the available inputs to measure the fair values of our assets
and liabilities. When available, we measure fair value using Level 1 inputs because they generally provide the most
reliable evidence of fair value.

Level | Fair Value Measurements — are based on market quotes of our marketable securities.

Level 2 Fair Value Measurements — Jnterest Rate Swaps and cap — The fair value of interest rate swaps and cap are
estimated using internal discounted cash flow calculations based upon forward interest rate curves, which are
corroborated by market data, and quotes obtained from counterparties to the agreements.

Level 3 Fair Value Measurements — /mpaired Property — For assets measured on a non-recurring basis, such as real estate
assets that are required to be recorded at fair value as a result of an impairment, our estimates of fair value are based on
management’s best estimate derived from evaluating market sales data for comparable properties developed by a third
party appraiser and arriving at management’s estimate of fair value based on such comparable data primarily based on
properties with similar characteristics. For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, the fair value of our impaired
properties was estimated to be $4.1 million and $1.9 million, respectively, which we used to record our impairment
expense and was based on level 3 inputs in developing management’s estimate of fair value. For the year ended
December 31, 2011, the fair value of our Rialto Cinemas investment was $1.6 million (NZ$2.0 million) resulting in an
impairment charge of $2.9 million (NZ$3.8 million). We did not record an impairment charge for our properties during
2013.

As of December 31, 2013, we held certain items that are required to be measured at fair value on a recurmring
basis. These included available for sale securities and interest rate derivative contracts.  Derivative instruments are
related to our economic hedge of interest rates. Our available-for-sale securities primarily consist of investments
associated with the ownership ofmarketable securities in Australia.

The fair values of the interest rate swap and cap agreements are determined using the market standard
methodology of discounting the future expected cash receipts or payments that would occur if variable interest rate fell
above or below the strike rate of the interest rate swap and cap agreements. The variable interest rates used in the
calculation of projected receipts or payments on the interest rate swap and cap agreements are based on an expectation of
future interest rates derived from observable market interest rate curves and volatilities. To comply with the provisions of
ASC 820-10, we incorporate credit valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect both our own nonperformance risk and
the respective counterparty's nonperformance risk in the fair value measurements. Although we have determined that the
majority of the inputs used to value our derivatives fall within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, the credit valuation
adjustments associated with our derivatives utilize Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate
the likelihood of default by us and our counterparties. However, as of December 31, 2013, we have assessed the
significance of the impact of the credit valuation adjustments on the overall valuation and determined that the credit
valuation adjustments are not significant to the overall valuation of our derivatives. As a result, we have determined that
our derivative valuations in their entirety are classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. We have consistently
applied these valuation techniques in all periods presented and believe we have obtained the most accurate information
available for the types of derivative contracts we hold.

On a recurring basis, we used the above methods and assumptions on the following items to measure fair value
subject to the disclosure requirements of ASC 820-10 at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively (dollars in
thousands):

Book Value Fair Value
Financial Instrument Level 2013 2012 2013 2012
Investment in marketable securities 1 $ 55 % 55 % 55 % 55
Interest rate cap asset 2 3 75 % - 3 75 % -
Interest rate swap liabilities 2 § 3288 § 585 § 3,288 § 5,855




Financial Instruments Disclosed at Fair Value

The following table sets forth the carrving value and the fair value of our financial assets and liabilities at
December 31,2013 and 2012 (dollars in thousands):

Book Value Fair Value

Financial Instrument Level 2013 2012 2013 2012
Cash 1 $ 37696 $ 38,531 § 37,696 $ 38531
Time deposits 1 B -- b 8,000 b -- B 8,000
Accounts receivable 1 $ 9,087 $ 8,514 $ 9,087 $ 8,514
Other assets - notes receivable 1 B -- b 2,000 b -- B 2,000
Restricted cash 1 h 782 3 2,465 3 782 h 2,465
Accounts and film rent payable 1 h 25,046 b 25,566 b 25,046 h 25,566
Notes payable 3 $ 140,547 $ 159,684 $ 121411 $ 154,795
Notes payable to related party N/A § - § 9,000 5 N/A 8 N/A
Subordinated debt 3 $ 27913 0§ 27913 8 11,067 $ 12,268

For purposes of this fair value disclosure, we based our fair value estimate for notes payable and subordinated
debt on our internal valuation whereby we apply the discounted cash flow method to our expected cash flow payments
due under our existing debt agreements based on a representative sample of our lenders’ market interest rate quotes as of
December 31,2013 and 2012, respectively, for debt with similar risk characteristics and maturities.

Note 17 — Lease Agreements

Most of our cinemas conduct their operations in leased facilities. Sixteen of our twenty operating multiplexes in
Australia, four of our seven cinemas in New Zealand, and all but one of our cinemas in the United States are in leased
facilities. These cinema leases have remaining terms inclusive of options of | to 37 years. Certain of our cinema leases
provide for contingent rentals based upon a specified percentage of theater revenue with a guaranteed
minimum. Substantially all of our leases require the payment of property taxes, insurance, and other costs applicable to
the property. We also lease office space and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases. All of our leases are
accounted for as operating leases and accordingly, we have no leases of facilities that require capitalization.

We determine the annual base rent expense of our cinemas by amorttizing total minimum lease obligations on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Base rent expense and contingent rental expense under the operating leases
totaled approximately $32.1 million and $1.3 million for 2013, respectively; $32.6 million and $1.7 million for 2012,
respectively; and $31.2 million and $1.6 million for 201 I, respectively. Future minimum lease payments by year and, in
the aggregate, under non-cancelable operating leases consisted of the following at December 31, 2013 (dollars in
thousands):

Minimuem Ground Minimum Premises Equipment Total Minimum

Lease Payments Lease Payments Lease Lease Payments
2014 ¥ 2,592 % 28381 % 2703 % 33,676
2015 2,591 26,137 2,703 31431
2016 2,656 22,427 2,694 27,777
2017 2,751 19,744 2,693 25,188
2018 2,759 16,054 2,614 21427
Thereafter 8,671 49,739 -- 58,410
Total minimum lease payments 3 22,020 % 162,482 % 13,407 § 197,909

Since approximately $75.7 million of our total minimum lease payments of $197.9 million as of December 31,
2013 consisted of lease obligations denominated in Australian and New Zealand dollars, the U.S dollar amounts of these
obligations will fluctuate in accordance with the relative values of these currencies. See Note 25 — Related Parties and
Transactions for the amount of leases associated with any related party leases.




Digital Projection Equipment Lease

Effective December 1, 2012, we entered into a 5-year digital projection equipment lease obligation with Banc of
America Leasing & Capital, LL.C enabling us to convert substantially all of our U.S. cinemas to digital projection. The
equipment lease agreement requires that we make lease payments of $218,000 per month for the next 60 months after
which we can either purchase the equipment at a market price or renew the lease for an undetermined length of time. This
lease qualifies as an operating lease and is recorded accordingly.

Note 18 — Pension Liabilities

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan

In March 1, 2007, the Board of Directors of Reading International, Inc. (“Reading™) approved a Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plan (“SERP”) pursuant to which Reading has agreed to provide James J. Cotter, its Chief
Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors, supplemental retirement benefits effective March 1,
2007. Under the SERP, Mr. Cotter will receive a monthly payment of the greater of (i) 40% of the average monthly
earnings over the highest consecutive 36-month period of earnings prior to Mr. Cotter’s separation from service with
Reading or (ii) $235,000 per month for the remainder of his life, with a guarantee of 180 monthly payments following his
separation from service with Reading or following his death. The beneficiaries under the SERP may be designated by Mr.
Cotter or by his beneficiary following his or his beneficiary’s death. The benefits under the SERP are fully vested as of
March 1,2007.

The SERP initially will be unfunded, but Reading may choose to establish one or more grantor trusts from which
to pay the SERP benefits. As such, the SERP benefits are unsecured, general obligations of Reading. The SERP is
administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of Reading. In accordance with FASB ASC 7135-
30-05 — Defined Benefit Pension Plans (“ASC 715-30-05™), the initial pension benefit obligation of $2.7 million was
included in our other liabilities with a cormresponding amount of unrecognized prior service cost included in accumulated
other comprehensive income on March 1,2007. The initial benefit obligation was based on a discount rate of 5.75% and
a compensation increase rate of 3.5%. The $2.7 million is being amortized as a prior service cost over the estimated
service period of 10 years combined with an annual interest cost. For the yvears ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and
2011, we recognized $202,000, $149.000, and $195,000, respectively, of interest cost and $304,000 of amortized prior
service cost peryear. Forthe years ended December31, 2013 and 2012, we recognized $356,000 and $0 of amortized net
gains. The balance of the other liability for this pension plan was $7.4 million and $5.2 million at December 31, 2013
and 2012, respectively, and the accumulated unrecognized prior service costs included in other comprehensive income
balance was $3.8 and $3.2 million at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The December 31, 2013 and 2012
values of the SERP are based on a discount rate of 4.25% and 3.40%, respectively, and an annual compensation growth
rate 0of7.50% and 3.50%, respectively.

The change in the SERP pension benefit obligation and the funded status for the year ending December 31,2013
and 2012 are as follows (dollars in thousands):

For the year ending

Change in Benefit Obligation December 31, 2013
Benefit obligation at January 1,2013 3 5,944
Interest cost 202
Actuarial gain 1,252
Benefit obligation at December 31, 2013 7,398
Funded status at December 31,2013 $ (7,398)
For the year ending
Change in Benefit Obligation December 31, 2012
Benefit obligation at January 1,2012 $ 3,511
Interest cost 149
Actuarial gain 2,284
Benefit obligation at December 31, 2012 5,944
Funded status at December 31,2012 3 (5,944)




Amount recognized in balance sheet consists of (dollars in thousands):

AtDecember 31, AtDecember 31,
2013 2012
Current liabilities b 15 8 14
Noncurrent liabilities 7,383 5,930

Items not yet recognized as a component ofnet periodic pension cost consist of (dollars in thousands):

At December 31, At December 31,
2013 2012
Unamortized actuarial loss b 3,166 % 2,269
Prior service costs 627 931
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 3,793 3,200

The components of the net periodic benefit cost and other amounts recognized in other comprehensive income
are as follows (dollars in thousands):

For the year ending For the year ending

Net periodic benefit cost December 31,2013 December 31,2012

Interest cost $ 202 % 149
Amortization of prior service costs 304 304
Amortization ofnet gain 356 --
Net periodic benefit cost 3 862 § 453

Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in
other comprehensive income

Net loss 5 1,253 % 2,284
Amortization of prior service cost (304) (304)
Amortization ofnet loss (356) --
Total recognized in other comprehensive income 3 593§ 1,980

Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost and other
comprehensive income 5 1455 & 2,433

The estimated net loss and prior service cost for the defined benefit pension plan that will be amortized from
accumulated other comprehensive income into net periodic benefit cost over the next fiscal year will be $356,000 and
$304,000, respectively.




The following weighted average assumptions were used to determine the plan benefit obligations at December
31,2013 and 2012:

2013 2012
Discount rate 4.25% 3.40%
Rate of compensation increase 7.50% 3.50%

The following weighted-average assumptions were used to determine net periodic benefit cost for the year ended
December 31,2013 and 2012:

2013 2012
Discount rate 3.40% 4.25%
Expected long-term return on plan assets 0.00% 0.00%
Rate of compensation increase 3.50% 3.50%

Other Pension Liabilities

In addition to the aforementioned SERP, we have defined contribution pension plans for selected current and
former executives of our corporation resulting in a pension liability of $1.1 million and $1.0 million at December 31,
2013 and 2012, respectively. These pensions accrued $95,000 and $204,000 of pension expense for the yvears ended
December 31,2013 and 2012, respectively.

The benefit payments for all of our pensions, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected
to be paid overthe following periods (dollars in thousands):

Pension Payments

2014 § 14
2015 32
2016 50
2017 633
2018 607
Thereafter 7,191
Total pension payments $ 8,527

Note 19 - Commitments and Contingencies
Unconsolidated Joint Venture Loans

The following section describes any loans associated with our investments in unconsolidated joint ventures. As
these investments are unconsolidated, any associated bank loans are not reflected in our Consolidated Balance Sheet at
December 31,2013, Each loan is without recourse to any assets other than our interests in the individual joint venture.

Rialto Distribution. We are the 33.3% co-owners of the assets of Rialto Distribution. At December 31,2013 and 2012,
Rialto Distribution had a bank line of credit of $1.6 million (NZ$2.0 million) and $1.7 million (NZ$2.0 million),
respectively, and had an outstanding balance of $634,000 (NZ $770,000) and $703,000 (NZ$850.000),
respectively. Thisloan is guaranteed by one of our subsidiaries to the extent of our ownership percentage.

Tax Audit/Litigation

The Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) has examined the tax return of Reading Entertainment Inc. (“RDGE™)
for its tax years ended December 31, 1996 through December 31, 1999 and the tax retum of Craig Corporation (“CRG”), a
Nevada Corporation with no operating assets, for its tax year ended June 30, 1997. These




companies are both now wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, but for the time periods under audit, were not
consolidated with the Company for tax purposes.

CRG and the [RS agreed to compromise the claims made by the IRS against CRG and the Tax Court’s order was
entered on January 6, 2011. In the settlement, the IRS conceded 70% of its claimed adjustment to income. Instead of a
claim for unpaid taxes of $20.9 million plus interest, the effect of settlement on the Reading consolidated group was to
require a total federal income tax obligation of $5.4 million, reduced by a federal tax refund of $800,000 and increased by
interest of $9.3 million, for a net federal tax liability of $13.9 million as of January 6, 2011. On October 26, 2011, CRG
reached an agreement with the IRS for an installment plan to pay offthis federal tax liability, including additional interest
accruals at the prescribed IRS floating rate. The agreement requires monthly payments of $290,000 over a period of
approximately five years. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, after the payments made during 2013 and 2012,
respectively, the remaining federal tax obligation was $8.3 million and $10.0 million, respectively, in tax and interest. Of
the $8.3 million owed under the installment agreement as of December 31, 2013, $3.5 million was recorded as current
taxes payable, with the remaining balance being recorded as non-current tax liability. Of the $10.0 million owed under
the installment agreement as of December 31, 2012, $3.5 million was recorded as current taxes payable, with the
remaining balance being recorded as non-current tax liability.

The impact ofthe settlement upon the state taxes ofthe Reading consolidated group, ifthe adjustment to income
agreed with the IRS were reflected on state returns, would be an obligation of approximately $1.4 million in tax plus
interest and potential penalty. As of December 31, 2013, no deficiency has been asserted by the State of Califomnia, and
we have made no final decision as to the course of action to be followed when a deficiency is asserted.

Environmental and Asbestos Claims

Certain of our subsidiaries were historically involved in railroad operations, coal mining, and
manufacturing. Also, certain of these subsidiaries appear in the chain of title of properties that may suffer from
pollution. Accordingly, certain of these subsidiaries have, from time to time, been named in and may in the future be
named in various actions brought under applicable environmental laws. Also, we are in the real estate development
business and may encounter from time to time unanticipated environmental conditions at properties that we have
acquired for development. These environmental conditions can increase the cost of such projects, and adversely affect
the value and potential for profit of such projects. We do not currently believe that our exposure under applicable
environmental laws is material in amount.

From time to time, we have claims brought against us relating to the exposure of former employees of our
railroad operations to asbestos and coal dust. These are generally covered by an insurance settlement reached in
September 1990 with our insurance carriers. However, this insurance settlement does not cover litigation by people who
were not our employees and who may claim second hand exposure to asbestos, coal dust and/or other chemicals or
elements now recognized as potentially causing cancer in humans. Our known exposure to these types of claims, asserted
or probable ofbeing asserted, is not material.

In connection with the development of our 50.6 acre Burwood site, it will be necessary to address certain
environmental issues. That property was at one time used as a brickworks and we have discovered petroleum and asbestos
at the site. During 2007, we developed a plan for the remediation of these materials, in some cases through removal and
in other cases through encapsulation. As of December 31, 2013, we estimate that the total site preparation costs
associated with the removal of this contaminated soil will be $15.2 million (AUS817.1 million) and as ofthat date we had
incurred a total of $7.4 million (AUS$8.3 million) of these costs. We do not believe that this has added materially to the
overall development cost of the site, as it is anticipated that all of the work will be done in connection with the
excavation and other development activity already contemplated for the property.




Note 20 — Noncontrolling interests

As of December 31, 2013, the noncontrolling interests in our consolidated subsidiaries are comprised of the
following:

e 25%mnoncontrolling interest in Australian Country Cinemas by 21st Century Pty, Ltd;

s+ 50% noncontrolling membership interest in Shadow View Land and Farming, LLC owned by Mr James I
Cotter, St.; and
s 25%noncontrolling interest in the Sutton Hill Properties, LLC owned by Sutton Hill Capital, LLC.

The components of noncontrolling interest are as follows (dollars in thousands):

December 31,
2013 2012
AFCLLC $ - § 1,737
Australian Country Cinemas 532 601
Shadow View Land and Farming, LLC 1,862 1,912
Sutton Hill Properties 2,213 (152)
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated subsidiaries 3 4607 4,098

The components of income attributable to noncontrolling interests are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
AFCLLC $ 173§ 612 § 909
Australian Country Cinemas 129 86 311
Elsternwick unincorporated joint venture - -- 25
Shadow View Land and Farming, LLC (50) (843) -
Sutton Hill Properties (148) (347) (305)
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest $ 104§ (492) $ 940

AFC LI.C Acquisition of Noncontrolling Interest

On June 28, 2013, we acquired the interest in AFC LLC that we did not already own in consideration of the
release of certain claims we held against the owner of that interest under a guaranty agreement. The removal of the AFC
LLC noncontrolling interest balance of $101,000 was reflected as a change in our additional paid in capital pursuant to
FASB ASC 810-10-45.

Sutton Hill Properties

On June 18, 2013, our co-investor, having a 25% interest in our Sutton Hill Properties subsidiary, contributed
$2.25 million toward the payoff of our SHC Note 2 for $9.0 million resulting in a $2.25 million contribution of capital to
Sutton Hill Properties (See Note 12 — Notes Payablie).

Shadow View Land and Farming, LI.C

During the 2012, Mr James J. Cotter, our Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and controlling shareholder,
contributed $2.5 million of cash and $255,000 ofhis 2011 bonus as his 50% share of the purchase price of a land parcel
in Coachella, California and to cover his 50% share of certain costs associated with that acquisition. This land is held in
Shadow View Land and Farming, LL.C, in which Mr. Cotter owns a 50% interest. We are the managing member of
Shadow View Land and Farming, LLC. However, as Mr. Cotter is considered to be our controlling shareholder, pursuant
to FASB ASC 810-10-05, we have consolidated Mr. Cotter’s interest in the




property and its expenses with that of our interest and shown his interest as a noncontrolling interest. Note 8 —
Acquisitions, Disposals, and Assets Held for Sale.

Elsternwick Sale

On April 14, 2011, we sold our 66.7% share of the 5-screen Elsternwick Classic cinema located in Melbourne,
Australia to our joint venture partner for $1.9 million (AUS$1.8 million) and recognized a gain on sale of a discontinued
operation of $1.7 million (AUS$1.6 million).

Note 21 — Total Reading International, Inc. Stockholders’ Equity

Our common stock trades on the NASDAQ under the symbols RDI and RDIB which are our Class A (non-voting)
and Class B (voting) stock, respectively. Our Class A (non-voting) has preference over our Class B (voting) shares upon
liquidation. No dividends have ever been issued for either share class.

2013 Common Stock Activity

During 2013, we issued 217,890 of Class A Stock to an executive employee associated with his prior years’ stock
grants.

62,500 options were exercised during 2013 having an intrinsic value of $133,000 for which we received
$248,000 of cash. Additionally, 75,000 options were exercised during 2013 having an intrinsic value of $124,000 for
which we did not receive any cash but the employee elected to exchange 53,136 personally owned shares of the company
at a market price of $5.66 per share for the 75,000 shares based on an exercise price of $4.01 for the related options.

2012 Common Stock Activity

During 2012, we issued 155,925 of Class A Stock to an executive employee associated with his prior vears’ stock
grant, and, during 2012, we issued 9,680 as a one-time stock grant of Class A Stock to our employees valued at $44,000
which we accounted for as compensation expense.

95,000 options were exercised during 2012 having a realized value of $136,000 for which we received $308,000
of cash. Additionally, 41,000 options were exercised during 2012 having a realized value of $103,000 for which we did
not receive any cash but the employee elected to receive the net incremental number of in-the-money shares of 15,822
based on a $4.01 and a market price of $6.53.

2011 Common Stock Activity

During 2011, we issued 174,825 of Class A Stock to certain executive employee associated with his prior years’
stock grants.

During 2011, we purchased 172,300 of Class A Stock on the open market for $747,000.




Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Unrealized
Gain and
Losses on
Foreign Available-for- Accrued
Currenecy Sale Pension
Items Investments Service Costs Total
Beginning balance 3 64,558 % 9% (3,2000% 61,369
Net current-period other comprehensive income (19,259) -- (593) (19,854)
Ending balance 45,299 9 (3,793) 41,515

Note 22 — Business Segments and Geographic Area Information

The table below sets forth certain information conceming our cinema operations and our real estate operations
(which includes information relating to both our real estate development, retail rental and live theater rental activities) for
the three years ended December 31,2013 (dollars in thousands):

Cinema Intersegment
Year Ended December 31, 2013 Exhibition Real Estate Eliminations Total
Revenue 3 239,418 § 26,456 % (7,653) $ 258,221
Operating expense 200,859 10,830 (7,653) 204,036
Depreciation and amortization 10,741 4,023 - 14,764
General and administrative expense 3,273 644 -- 3,917
Segment operating income 3 24,545 $ 10,959 % - % 35,504
Cinema Intersegment
Year Ended December 31, 2012 Exhibition Real Estate Eliminations Total
Revenue 3 234,703 § 27,256 $ {7,529) % 254,430
Operating expense 198,040 11,163 (7,529) 201,674
Depreciation and amortization 11,154 4,441 -- 15,595
General and administrative expense 2,598 718 -- 3,316
Impairment expense -- 1,463 -- 1,463
Segment operating income 3 22,911 $ 9,471 % - % 32,382
Cinema Intersegment
Year Ended December 31, 2011 Exhibition Real Estate Eliminations Total
Revenue 3 225849 § 26,562 % (7.432) $ 244979
Operating expense 189,647 10,190 (7,432) 192,405
Depreciation and amortization 11,842 4,444 - 16,286
General and administrative expense 2,740 646 - 3,386
Impairment expense -- 369 -- 369
Segment operating income 3 21,620 % 10,913 3 -3 32,533
Reconciliation to net income attributable
to Reading International, Inc. shareholders: 2013 2012 2011
Total segment operating income $ 35504 $ 32,382 § 32,533
Non-segment:
Depreciation and amortization expense 433 454 309
General and administrative expense 14,136 12,801 14,046
Operating income 20,935 19,127 18,178
Interest expense, net (10,037 (16,426) (21,038)
Other income (loss) 1,876 (363) 1,157
(Gain (loss) on sale of assets (56) 144 {67
Income tax benefit (expense) (4,942) (4,904) 12,330
Equity earnings (loss) of unconsolidated joint ventures and
entities 1,369 1,621 (1,552)




Income (loss) from discontinued operations - (85) 232

Gain (loss) on sale of discontinued operation - (320) 1,656
Net income (loss) $ 9,145 $ {1,406) $ 10,896
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (104) 492 (940)
Net income (loss) attributable to Reading International, Inc.
common shareholders 3 0,041 §$ (914) $ 9,956
December 31
Summary of assets: 2013 2012 2011
Segment assets b 347,637 b 408,667 b 414,608
Corporate assets 39,170 19,921 16,156
Total Assets 5 386,807 b 428,588 b 430,764

December 31,

Summary of capital expenditures: 2013 2012 2011

Segment capital expenditures h 19910 % 13390 § 8419
Corporate capital expenditures 172 333 957
Total capital expenditures $ 20,082 $ 13,723 $ 9376

The cinema results shown above include revenue and operating expense directly linked to our cinema
assets. The real estate results include rental income from our properties and live theater venues and operating expense
directly linked to our property assets.

The following table sets forth the book value of our operating property by geographical area (dollars in

thousands):
December 31,
2013 2012
Australia 5 97,240 $ 106,020
New Zealand 36,319 35,456
United States 58,101 61,302
Total operating property $ 191,660 b 202,778

The following table sets forth our revenue by geographical area (dollars in thousands):

December 31
2013 2012 2011
Australia $ 100,399 % 108320  § 110,742
New Zealand 26,310 24 608 22,247
United States 131,512 121,502 111,990
Total revenue $ 258,221 $ 254430 § 244,979




Note 23 — Unaudited Quarterly Financial Information (dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

First Second Third Fourth
2013 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Revenue $ 59567 § 69642 § 65472 § 63,540
Net income (loss) 5 ©71) § 4,176 § 2431 § 3,209
Net income (loss) attributable to Reading Intermational, Inc.
shareholders 5 ©c68) $ 4,135 § 2393 § 3,181
Basic eamnings (loss) per share $ (0.03) § 0.18 § 0.10 §$ 0.14
Diluted eamings (loss) per share 3 0.03) § 0.18 § 0.10 § 0.13
2012
Revenue $ 062431 § 62948 § 63934 § 65,117
Net income (loss) $ (109) $ 224§ 396§ (1917)
Net income (loss) attributable to Reading Intemational, Inc.
shareholders $ (239) § 239§ 363§ (1,277)
Basic earnings (loss) per share $ (0.01) § 001 § 002 % (0.06)
Diluted eamings (loss) per share $ (0.01) $ 0.01 § 002 § (0.06)

Note 24 - Future Minimum Rental Income

Real estate revenue amounted to $18.8 million, $19.7 million, and $19.1 million, for the years ended December
31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively. Future minimum rental income under all contractual operating leases is
summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ending December 31,

2014 § 8,605
2015 7,934
2016 6,662
2017 5216
2018 4,125
Thereafter 21,203
Total future minimum rental income $ 53,745

Note 25 — Related Parties and Transactions

Sutton Hill Capital

In 2001, we entered into a transaction with Sutton Hill Capital, LLC (*SHC”) regarding the leasing with an
option to purchase of certain cinemas located in Manhattan including our Village East and Cinemas 1, 2 & 3 theaters. In
connection with that transaction, we also agreed to lend certain amounts to SHC, to provide liquidity in its investment,
pending our determination whether or not to exercise our option to purchase and to manage the 86th Street Cinema on a
fee basis. SHC is a limited liability company owned in equal shares by James I. Cotter and a third party and of which Mr.
Cotter is the managing member. The Village East is the only cinema that remains subject to this lease and during 2013,
2012, and 2011, we paid rent to SHC for this cinema in the amount of $390,000, $390,000, and $5%0,000, respectively.

On June 29,2010, we agreed to extend our existing lease from SHC ofthe Village East Cinema in New York City
by 10 years, with a new termination date of June 30, 2020. The Village East lease includes a sub-lease of the ground
underlying the cinema that is subject to a longer-term ground lease between SHC and an unrelated third party that expires
in June 2031 (the “cinema ground lease™). The extended lease provides for a call option pursuant to which Reading may
purchase the cinema ground lease for $5.9 million at the end of the lease term. Additionally, the lease has a put option
pursuant to which SHC may require Reading to purchase all or a portion of SHC’s interest in the existing cinema lease
and the cinema ground lease at any time between July 1,2013 and December 4, 2019,




SHC’s put option may be exercised on one or more occasions in increments of not less than $100,000 each. Because our
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, and controlling shareholder, Mr. James JI. Cotter, is also the managing member of
SHC, RDI and SHC are considered entities under common control. As a result, we recorded the Village East Cinema
building as a property asset of $4.7 million on our balance sheet based on the cost carry-over basis from an entity under
common control with a corresponding capital lease liability of $5.9 million presented under other liabilities (see Note 15
— Other Liabilities).

In 2005, we acquired from a third party the fee interest and from SHC its interest in the ground lease estate
underlying and the improvements constituting the Cinemas 1, 2 & 3. In connection with that transaction, we granted to
SHC an option to acquire a 25% interest in the special purpose entity formed to acquire these interests at cost. On June
28, 2007, SHC exercised this option, paying the option exercise price through the application of their $3.0 million
deposit plus the assumption of its proportionate share of SHP’s liabilities giving it a 25% non-managing membership
interest in SHP.

OBI Management Acreement

Pursuant to a Theater Management Agreement (the “Management Agreement”), our live theater operations are
managed by OBI LLC (“OBI Management™), which is wholly owned by Ms. Margaret Cotter who is the daughter of James
I. Cotter and a member of our Board of Directors.

The Management Agreement generally provides that we will pay OBI Management a combination of fixed and
incentive fees, which historically have equated to approximately 21% of the net cash flow received by us from our live
theaters in New York. Since the fixed fees are applicable only during such periods as the New York theaters are booked,
OBI Management receives no compensation with respect to a theater at any time when it is not generating revenue for
us. This arrangement provides an incentive to OBI Management to keep the theaters booked with the best available
shows, and mitigates the negative cash flow that would result from having an empty theater In addition, OBI
Management manages our Royal George live theater complex in Chicago on a fee basis based on theater cash flow. In
2013, OBI Management eamed $401,000, which was 20.1% of net cash flows for the year In 2012, OBI Management
earned $390,000, which was 19.7% ofnet cash flows for the year. In 2011, OBI Management earned $398,000, which was
19.4% ofnet cash flows for the year. In each year, we reimbursed travel related expenses for OBI Management personnel
with respect to travel between New York City and Chicago in connection with the management of the Royal George
complex.

OBI Management conducts its operations from our office facilities on a rent-free basis, and we share the cost of
one administrative employee of OBI Management. Other than these expenses and travel-related expenses for OBI
Management personnel to travel to Chicago as referred to above, OBI Management is responsible for all of its costs and
expenses related to the performance of its management functions. The Management Agreement renews automatically
each year unless either party gives at least six months’ prior notice of its determination to allow the Management
Agreement to expire. In addition, we may terminate the Management Agreement at any time for cause.

Live Theater Play Investment

From time to time, our officers and directors may invest in plays that lease our live theaters. The play STOMP
has been playing in our Orpheum Theatre since prior to the time we acquired the theater in 2001. Messrs. James J. Cotter
and Michael Forman own an approximately 5% interest in that play, an interest that they have held since prior to our
acquisition ofthe theater.

Shadow View Land and Farming [.LI.C

During 2012, Mr. James J. Cotter, our Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and controlling shareholder, contributed $2.5
million of cash and $255,000 of his 2011 bonus as his 50% share of the purchase price of a land parcel in Coachella,
California and to cover his 50% share of certain costs associated with that acquisition. This land is held in Shadow View
Land and Farming, LL.C, in which Mr. Cotter owns a 50% interest. We are the managing member of Shadow View Land
and Farming, LL.C (see Note 20 — Noncontrolling Interests).




Note 26 — Casualty Loss

Wellington. New Zealand Parking Structure

On July 21,2013, Wellington, New Zealand experienced a strong earthquake that damaged our parking structure
adjacent to our Courtenay Central shopping center The parking structure has been closed pending repairs to the
structure. We estimate the cost to repair the structure will be approximately $2.0 million (NZ$2.5 million) of which our
earthquake insurance will cover approximately $1.5 million (NZ$1.8 million) after our $584,000 (NZ$710,000) insurance
deductible. For the year ended December 31, 2013, we recorded a casualty loss of $49,000 (NZ$59,000) based on the
associated net book value of the property as an other income (expense) and a $1.5 million (NZ$1.8 million) insurance
receivable in our current receivables at December 31, 2013. Our reduction in operating income will also be offset
somewhat by our business interruption insurance subject to the relevant deductible.

Christchurch., New Zealand Cinemas

Our 8-screen complex in Christchurch, New Zealand, was damaged as a result of the devastating earthquake
suffered by that city on February 22, 2011. We have earthquake and lost profits insurance on that facility for which we
have received to date $1.1 million (NZ$1.3 million) which is included in our 2011 other income (expense). We are
awaiting a final settlement payment on this claim for a nominally estimated amount to be received in 2014. This cinema
was reopened on November 17, 2011, but, as a result of a December 23, 2011 earthquake, the cinema was again
temporarily closed for approximately two weeks.

Additionally, the 3-screen complex in Christchurch, New Zealand owned by our Rialto Cinemas joint venture
entity ("Rialto Cinemas™), was damaged as a result of the devastating earthquake suffered by that city on February 22,
2011, and has been closed since that date. Pursuant to the lease on the property, in May 2011, Rialto Cinemas gave
notice to the landlord that Rialto Cinemas would be terminating the cinema lease. Rialte Cinemas and the landlord have
terminated the lease under agreeable terms and did not result in a significant reduction to the value of our investment in
the Rialto Cinemas joint venture relative to its carrying value.




Schedule 11 — Valuation and Qualifving Accounts

Additions
Balance at charged to
beginning of costs and Balance at
Description year expenses Deductions end of year
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Year-ended December 31,2013 — Allowance for
doubtful accounts $ 209 § 505 8§ 339 § 375
Year-ended December 31,2012 — Allowance for
doubtful accounts $ 53 ¢ 367 § 211 § 209
Year-ended December 31,2011 — Allowance for
doubtful accounts $ 58 § 153 § 158 § 53
Tax valuation allowance
Year-ended December 31,2013 — Tax valuation
allowance B 37,903 % - 5 2,920 $ 34,983
Year-ended December 31,2012 — Tax valuation
allowance B 38,461 $ - 5 558 § 37,903
Year-ended December 31,2011 — Tax valuation
allowance B 54,513 % - 5 16,052 § 38,461




None.
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Itemn 9A — Controls and Procedures

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, as such term is defined in Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f), including maintenance of
(i) records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets, and
(ii) policies and procedures that provide reasonable assurance that (a) transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America, (b) our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and our
Board of Directors and (c) we will prevent or timely detect unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of our assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Internal control over financial reporting cannot provide absolute assurance of achieving financial reporting
objectives because of the inherent limitations of any system of internal control. Internal control over financial reporting
is a process that involves human diligence and compliance and is subject to lapses of judgment and breakdowns resulting
from human failures. Internal control over financial reporting also can be circumvented by collusion or improper
overriding of controls. As a result of such limitations, there is risk that material misstatements may not be prevented or
detected on a timely basis by internal control over financial reporting. However, these inherent limitations are known
features of the financial reporting process. Therefore, it is possible to design into the process safeguards to reduce, though
not eliminate, this risk.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our intermnal control over financial reporting
based on the criteria established in fnternal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committes of Sponsoring
Organizations (COSQ0) of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the COSO framework, our
management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2013. The
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013 has been audited by Grant Thornton
LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is included herein.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We have formally adopted a policy for disclosure controls and procedures that provides guidance on the
evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures and is designed to ensure that all corporate disclosure is complete and
accurate in all material respects and that all information required to be disclosed in the periodic reports submitted by us
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods and
in the manner specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and
procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by an issuer in the reports that it files or submits under the Act is accumulated and communicated to the issuer's
management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. As ofthe end ofthe period covered by this report, we
carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures. A disclosure committee consisting of the
principal accounting officer, general counsel, senior officers of each significant business line and other select employees
assisted the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer in this evaluation. Based upon that evaluation, our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective
as required by the Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d — 15(e) as of the end of the period covered by this
report.

Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

No changes in intemal control over financial reporting occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2013,
that have materially affected, or are likely to materially affect, our intemal control over financial reporting.




Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Reading International, Inc.

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Reading International, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
“Company™) as of December 31,2013, based on criteria established in the 1992 Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of intemal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes
those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance ofrecords that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
prineiples, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors ofthe company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection
of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition ofthe company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, intemal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria established in the 1992 Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2013
and ourreport dated March 7, 2014 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

/s/ Grant Thornton LLP
Los Angeles, California
March 7,2014




PART 111
Iterns 10, 11,12.13 and 14

Information required by Part II (Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14) of this From 10-K is hereby incorporated by
reference from the Reading International, Inc.’s definitive Proxy Statement for its 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,
which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, pursuant to Regulation 14A, not later than 120 days
after the end ofthe fiscal year.
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PART IV
Item 15 — Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following documents are filed as a part of this report:

L. Financial Statements

The following financial statements are filed as part of this report under Item 8 — Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.

Description
Reports of Independent Registered Accounting Firm (page 33)

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,2013 and 2012 (page 56)

Consolidated Statements of Operations forthe Three Years Ended December31,2013 (page 537)

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the Three Years Ended December 31,2012 (page 38)
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders” Equity for the Three Years Ended December 31,2013 (page 59)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Three Years Ended December 31,2013 (page 60)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (page 61)

2. Financial Statements and Schedules for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011
Schedule [I- Valuation and Qualifying Accounts (page 102)
Financial Statements of Mt. Gravatt Cinemas Joint Venture (page 108)

3. Exhibits (Listed by numbers corvesponding to ftem 601 of Regulation S-K (page 125)
(b) Exhibits Required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K

See Item (a) 3. above.
(c) Financial Statement Schedule

See [tem (a) 2. above.




Following are financial statements and notes of Mt. Gravatt Cinemas Joint Venture for the periods indicated. We are
required to include in our Report on Form 10-K audited financial statements for the years ended December 31,2012, and

2011. The financial statements for 2013 are unaudited.

Mt. Gravatt Cinemas Joint Venture
Statements of Comprehensive Income

For the Years Ended December 31,2013,2012 and 2011

2013

In AUSS Note (unaudited) 2012 2011
Revenue from rendering services 5 h 9,765,087 $§ 10,689,440 § 10,022,854
Revenue from sale of concession 3,605,822 4,015,329 3625410

Total revenue 13,370,909 14,704,769 13,648,264
Film expenses (3,797,873) 4311,436) (3,974,267)
Personnel expenses 6 (1,681,870) (1,845,515) (1,925,190)
Occupancy expenses (1,603,302) (1,584,751) (1,521,307)
House expenses (1,174,667) (1,260,328) (1,159,484)
Cost of concession (853,553) (944,355) (851,575)
Depreciation and amortization expenses 11 (544,270) (597,349) (555,594)
Advertising and marketing costs (285,815) (313,791) (334,325)
Management fees (267,902) (261,004) (253,914)
Repairs and maintenance expense (155,198) (217,289) (182,566)

Results for operating activities 3,006,459 3,368,951 2,890,042
Finance income 11,922 21,256 58,301

Net finance income 7 11,922 21,256 58,301
Profit for the period $ 3018381 $ 3390207 $ 2948343
Other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income for the period -- -- --
Total comprehensive income for the period $ 3,018,381 $ 3,390,207 $ 2,948,343

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.




Mt. Gravatt Cinemas Joint Venture
Statements of Changes in Equity
For the Years Ended December 31,2013,2012 and 2011

Birch Village
Carroll & Reading Roadshow

Coyle Exhibition Exhibition
In AUSS Limited Pty Ltd Pty Ltd Total
Members’ Equity at December 31, 2010 $ 17297924 § 1297924 § 1297924 § 3,893,772
Member distributions (700,000) (700,000) (700,000) (2,100,000)
Total other comprehensive income - - - -
Profit for the period 982,781 982,781 982,781 2,948,343
Total comprehensive income for the period 982,781 982,781 982,781 2,948,343
Members’ Equity at December 31,2011 $ 1,580,705 % 1,580,705 § 1,580,705 § 4,742,115
Member distributions (1,350,000) (1,350,000) (1.350,000) {4,050,000)
Total other comprehensive income - - - -
Profit for the period 1,130,069 1,130,069 1,130,069 3,390,207
Total comprehensive income for the period 1,130,069 1,130,069 1,130,069 3,390,207
Members’ Equity at December 31, 2012 $ 1360774 § 1,360,774 § 1.360,774 § 40827322
Member distributions (unaudited) (1,100,000) (1,100,000) (1,100,000) (3,300,000
Total other comprehensive income (unaudited) - - - --
Profit for the period (unaudited) 1,006,127 1,006,127 1,006,127 3,018,381
Total comprehensive income for the period (unaudited) 1,006,127 1,006,127 1,006,127 3,018,381

Members’ Equity at December 31,2013 (unaudited) $ 1266901 $ 1266901 § 1266901 $ 3,800,703

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.




Mt. Gravatt Cinemas Joint Venture
Statements of Financial Position
As at December 31,2013 and 2012

2013
in AUSS Note (unaudited) 2012
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 8 3 694,392 $ 898,217
Trade receivables 9 172,293 196,598
Inventories 10 126,947 173,411
Total current assets 993,632 1,268,226
Property, plant and equipment 11 3,681,951 3,923,871
Total non—current assets 3,681,951 3,923,871
Total assets $ 4,675,583 $ 5,192,097
Trade and other payables 12 $ 636,832 $ 878,026
Employee benefits 13 172,496 162,961
Deferred revenue 14 32,297 27,683
Total corrent liabilities 841,625 1,068,670
Employee benefits 13 33,255 41,105
Total non-current liabilities 33,255 41,105
Total liabilities 874,880 1,109,775
Net assets $ 3,800,703 $ 4082322
Equity
Contributed equity 202,593 202,593
Retained eamings 3,598,110 3,879,729
Total equity $ 3,800,703 $ 4082322

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.




Mt. Gravatt Cinemas Joint Venture
Statements of Cash Flows
For the Years Ended December 31,2013,2012 and 2011

2013
in AUSS Note (unaudited) 2012 2011
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from customers $ 14986613 $ 16,091,198 § 14,889,678
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (11,600,009) (11,971,304) (11,450,521)
Net cash provided from operating activities 18 3,386,604 4,119,894 3,439,157
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 11 (302,351) (783,266) (1,309,432)
Interest received 7 11,922 21,256 58,301
Net cash used in investing activities (290,429) (762,010) (1,251,131)
Cash flows from financing activities
Distributions to Joint Venturers (3,300,000) (4,050,000) (2,100,000)
Net cash used in financing activities (3,300,000) (4,050,000) (2,100,000)
Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (203,825) (692,116) 88,024
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 898217 1,590,333 1,502,309
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 8 $ 694392 § 898217 § 1,590,333

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.




Mt. Gravatt Cinemas Joint Venture
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31,2013

1. Reporting entity

Mt. Gravatt Cinemas Joint Venture (the “Joint Venture™) is a legal joint venture between Birch Carrol & Coyle
Ltd, Reading Exhibition Pty Ltd and Village Roadshow Exhibition Pty Ltd. The Joint Venture is domiciled and provides
services solely in Australia. The address of the Joint Venture’s registered office is 227 Elizabeth Street, Sydney NSW
2000. The Joint Venture primarily is involved in the exhibition of motion pictures at one cinema site.

The joint venture is to continue in existence until the Joint Venture is terminated and associated underlying
assets have been sold and the proceeds of sale distributed upon agreement of the members. All distributions of earnings
are required to be agreed upon and distributed evenly to the three Joint Venturers. The three Joint Venturers will evenly
contribute any future required contributions.

2. Basis of presentation

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance
with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFR Ss) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

The financial year end ofthe Joint Venture is 30 June. For purposes of the use of these financial statements by
one of the Joint Venturers, these financial statements have been prepared on a 12-month period basis ending on 31
December.

(b) Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. The methods used to measure fair values are
discussed further in Note 4, Determination of fair values.

(c) Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is also the Joint Venture’s functional
currency. Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar, unless otherwise stated.

(d) Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,

income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements are
described in Note 15 Financial instruments.

3. Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial
statements.

The Joint Venture has not elected to early adopt any accounting standards and amendments. See Note 3(n).




(a) Financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents, and trade payables.

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, for instruments not at fair value
through profit or loss, any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition non-derivative
financial instruments are measured as described below.

A financial instrument is recognised if the Joint Venture becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Financial assets are derecognised if the Joint Venture’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial
assets expire or if the Joint Venture transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining control or substantially
all risks and rewards of the asset. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are accounted for at trade date, i.e.,
the date that the Joint Venture commits itself to purchase or sell the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised if the
Joint Venture’s obligations specified in the contract expire, are discharged or cancelled.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafis that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Joint Venture’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents forthe purpose of'the statement of cash flows.

Accounting for finance income and expense is discussed in Note 3(k), Finance income.
(b) Property, plant and equipment
(i) Recognition and measurement
Items ofproperty, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-
constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the
asset to a working condition for its intended use. Costs also may include purchases of property, plant and
equipment. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part ofthat
equipment. Borrowing costs related to the acquisition or construction of qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

(ii) Subsequent costs

The cost ofreplacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount ofthe
item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Joint Venture and its cost
can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing
of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

(iii) Depreciation

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of
an item of property, plant and equipment. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful
lives. Land is not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Leasehold improvementsShorter of estimated useful life and term of lease
Plant and equipment3 to 20 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted if
appropriate.




(c) Leased assels

Leases in which the Joint Venture assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
finance leases. Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower ofits fair value and
the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in
accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.

Other leases are operating leases and are not recognised on the Joint Venture’s statement of financial position.
(d) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on the
first-in first-out principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, and other costs incurred in
bringing them to their existing location and condition. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course ofbusiness, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

(e) Impairment
(i) Financial assets

Afinancial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is
impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial
recognition ofthe asset, and that loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows ofthat asset that can
be estimated reliably.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference
between its carrying amount, and the present value ofthe estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective
interest rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance against the relevant asset. When a
subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through
profit orloss.

(ii) Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Joint Venture’s non-financial assets, other than inventories, are reviewed at each
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less
costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments ofthe time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any
indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisation, ifno impairment loss had been recognised.




() Employee benefits
(i) Long-term employee benefits

The Joint Venture’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods plus related on-costs; that benefit is
discounted to determine its present value and the fair value of any related assets is deducted.

(ii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the Joint Venture is demonstrably committed, without
realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal retirement
date, or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination
benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognised as an expense if the Joint Venture has made an offer of voluntary
redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances can be estimated reliably.

(iii) Short-term benefits

Liabilities for employee benefits for wages, salaries, and annual leave represent present obligations resulting
from employees” services provided to reporting date and are calculated at undiscounted amounts based on remuneration
wage and salary rates that the Joint Venture expects to pay as at reporting date including related on-costs, such as workers
compensation insurance and payroll tax.

(g) Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Joint Venture has a present legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

(h) Contributed equity

The Joint Venture is comprised of three parties who share an equal ownership over the Joint Venture. The
Contributed Equity amount represents the initial investment in the partnership. Distribution to the partners are made on
behalfofthe Joint Venture and are recognised through retained earnings.

(i) Revenue
Rendering of service/sale of concessions

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of returns, trade discounts
and value rebates. Revenues are generated principally through admissions and concession sales with proceeds received
in cash at the point of sale. Service revenue also includes product advertising and other ancillary revenues, such as
booking fees, which are recognised as income in the period earned. The Joint Venture recognises payments received
attributable to the advertising services provided by the Joint Venture under certain vendor programs as revenue in the
period in which services are delivered.

(j) Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term ofthe
lease on a basis that is representative of the pattern of benefit derived from the leased property.

(k) Finance income

Finance income comprises interest income on cash held in financial institutions. Interest income is recognised as
it accrues in profit or loss using the effective interest method.




(1) Taxes
(i) Goods and service tax

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as
part of the cost of acquisition ofthe asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from,
or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows
arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as
operating cash flows.

(ii) Income tax

Under applicable Australian law, the Joint Venture is not subject to tax on earnings generated. Accordingly the
Joint Venture does not recognise any income tax expense, or deferred tax balances. Eamings of the Joint Venture are
taxed at the Joint Venturer level.

(m) Film expense

Film expense is incurred based on a contracted percentage of box office results for each film. The Joint Venture
negotiates terms with each film distributor on a film-by-film basis. Percentage terms are based on a sliding scale, with the
Joint Venture subject to a higher percentage of box office results when the film is initially released and declining each
subsequent week. Different films have different rates dependent upon the expected popularity ofthe film, and forecasted
success.

(n) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

The Joint Venture does not consider that any standards of interpretations issued by IASB or the [FRIC, either
applicable in the current year or not yet applicable, have, or will have, a significant impact on the financial statements.

(0) Amounts paid or payable to the auditor
The amounts paid or payable to the auditor for the audit of these financial statements has been borne by one of

the Joint Venturers for which these financial statements have been prepared. The auditor provided non-audit service in
the current period to the value of $19,700 (unaudited).




2013
In AUSS (unaudited) 2012

Audit fees $ - % 57,500

4. Determination of fair values

A number of the Joint Venture’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for
both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and disclosure
purposes based on the following methods. Where applicable, further information about the assumptions made in
determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.

(i) Trade and other receivables

The fair value oftrade and other receivables is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at
the market rate ofinterest at the reporting date.

(ii) Non-derivative financial liabilities

Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future
principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

5. Revenue from rendering of services

2013
In AUS§ (unaudited) 2012 2011
Box office revenue 8,526,341 9,508,154 9,019,423
Screen advertising 331472 286,501 249,524
Booking fees 218,025 268,180 200,017
Other cinema services 689,249 626,605 553,890
$ 9,765,087 § 10,689,440 10,022,854
6. Personnel expenses
2013
In AUS§ (unaudited) 2012 2011
Wages and salaries 1,603,620 1,767,789 1,846,267
Change in liability for annual leave 56,011 65,274 57,628
Change in liability for long-service leave 22,239 12,452 21,295
5 1,681,870 § 1,845,515 1,925,190
7. Finance income
2013
in AUSS (unaudited) 2012 2011
Interest income on cash at bank: 11,922 21,256 58,301
5 11,922 § 21,256 58,301




8. Cash and cash equivalents

2013
in AUSS Note (unaudited) 2012
Cash at bank and on hand 15 694,392 898,217
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows $ 694392 § 898,217

The Joint Venture’s exposure to interest rate risk is disclosed in Note 15(e), Financial instruments, Mavket visk.

9. Trade and other receivables

2013
in AUSS Note (unaudited) 2012
Trade receivables 15 172,293 196,598
b 172,293 § 196,598

The Joint Venture’s trade receivables relate mainly to the Joint Venture’s screen advertiser and credit card

companies.

The Joint Venture’s exposure to credit risk and impairment losses related to trade receivables is disclosed in Note

15(c), Financial instruments, Credit risk.

10. Inventories

2013
In AUSS (unaudited) 2012
Concession stores at cost 126,947 173411
$ 126,947 § 173,411
11. Property, Plant, and Equipment
Plant and Leasehold
In AUSS Equipment Improvements Capital WIP Total
Cost
Balance at January 1,2012 10,458,263 2,787,784 242446 13,488,493
Additions -- -- 783,266 783,266
Transfers 94,123 4,900 (99,023) --
Balance at December31,2012 $ 10552386 § 2,792,684 § 926,689 § 14271,759
Balance at January 1,2013 (unaudited) 10,552 386 2,792,684 926,689 14,271,759
Additions (unaudited) 1,106,833 118,843 - 1,225,676
Transfers (unaudited) -- -- (923 ,325) (923,325)
Balance at December 31,2013 (unaudited) $ 11659219 § 2,911,527 § 3364 § 14574110
Plant and Leasehold
In AUSS Equipment Improvements Capital WIP Total
Accumulated depreciation
Balance at January 1,2012 (8,688,701) (1.,061,838) - (9,750,539)
Depreciation and amortisation (492,890) (104.459) -- (597,349)

Balance at December 31,2012

$  (9,181,591) $

(1,166,297) $

- § (10,347,888)




Balance at January 1,2013 (unaudited) (9,181,591) (1,166,297) - (10,347,88%)

Depreciation and amortisation (unaudited) (436.,407) (107.864) - (544,271)

Balance at December 31,2013 (unaudited) 5  (9,617998) § (1.274,161) § - § (10,892,159)
Plant and Leasehold

In AUS§ Equipment Improvements Capital WIP Total

Carrying amounts

At January 1,2012 $  1,769563 $ 1,725,946 § 242446 $ 3,737,955

At December 31,2012 1,370,795 1,626,387 926,689 3,923,871

At January 1,2013 (unaudited) 1,370,795 1,626,387 926,689 3,923,871

At December 31,2013 (unaudited) 2,041,221 1,637,366 3364 3,681,951

12. Trade and other payables

2013
in AUSS Note (unaudited) 2012
Trade payables 221,732 413,082
Non-trade payables and accruals 415,100 464,944
15 $ 636,832 % 878,026

The Joint Venture’s exposure to liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in Note 15(d),
Financial instruments, Liquidity risk. Trade payables represents payments to trade creditors. The Joint Venture makes
these payments through the managing party’s shared service centre and is charged a management fee for these
services. Disclosure regarding the management fee is made in Note 19, Related parties.

13. Employee benefits
Current

2013
In AUSS (unaudited) 2012
Liability for annual leave 96,527 102,540
Liability for long-service leave 75,969 60,421

$ 172,496 § 162,961

Non-current

2013
In AUSS (unaudited) 2012
Liability forlong-service leave 33,255 41,105
$ 33255 § 41,105




14. Deferred revenue

2013
in AUSS (unaudited) 2012
Deferred revenue 32,297 27,683
$ 32,297 § 27,683

Deferred revenue mainly consists of advance funds received from vendors for the exclusive rights to supply
certain concession items. Revenue is recognised over the term of the related contract on a straight-line basis and is
classified as service revenue.

15. Financial instruments
(a) Overview

This note presents information about the Joint Venture’s exposure to financial risks, its objectives, policies, and
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital.

The Joint Venture’s activities expose it to the following financial risks;

. credit risk;
. liquidity risk; and
. market risk.

(b) Risk management framework

The Joint Venturers’ have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management
framework and are also responsible for developing and monitoring risk management policies.

Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Joint Venture to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems
are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Joint Venture’s activities. The Joint Venture,
through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control
environment in which all employees understand theirroles and obligations.

The Joint Venturers” oversee how management monitors compliance with the Joint Venture’s risk management
policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the
Joint Venture.

There were no changes in the Joint Venture’s approach to capital management during the year.
(c) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Joint Venture if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument
fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Joint Venture’s receivables from customers.

The Joint Venture’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. The demographics ofthe Joint Venture’s customer base, including the default risk of the industry and country,
in which customers operate, has less of an influence on credit risk.

Customers that are graded as “high risk™ are placed on a restricted customer list, and monitored by the Joint
Venturers.

The Joint Venture operates under the managing Joint Venturer’s credit policy under which each new customer is
analysed individually for creditworthiness before the Joint Venture’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions
are offered. The Joint Venture’s review includes external ratings, when available, and in some




cases bank references.  Purchase limits are established for each customer These limits are reviewed
periodically. Customers that fail to meet the Joint Venture’s benchmark creditworthiness may transact with the Joint
Venture only on a prepayment basis.

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of the Joint Venture’s financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The Joint
Venture’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

Carrying Amount

2013
in AUSS Note (unaudited) 2012
Trade receivables 9 h 172,293 § 196,598
Cash and cash equivalents B 694,392 898,217

The Joint Venture’s maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the repotting date by type of
customer was:

Carrying Amount

2013
In AUSS (unaudited) 2012
Screen advertisers 109,310 72,181
Credit card companies 56,537 114418
(Games, machine and merchandising companies 6,446 9,999

$ 172,293 § 196,598

Impairment losses

None ofthe Company’s trade receivables are past due (2012: $nil). There were no allowances for impairment at
31 December 2013 (unaudited) or 2012.

(d) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Joint Venture will encounter difficulties in meeting its financial obligations as
they fall due. The Joint Venture’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incumring
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Joint Venture’s reputation.

The only financial liabilities are trade and other payables all of which are contractually due within 12
months. The carrying value of such liabilities at 31 December 2013 is $636,830 (unaudited) and 2012: $878,026.

(e) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, will affect the Joint Venture’s
income. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimising the return. The Joint Venture is not subject to market risks relating to foreign exchange rates
or equity prices. Furthermore, the Joint Venture does not use derivative, financial instruments to hedge fluctuations in
interest rates.

Interest rate risk

At the reporting date the interest rate profile ofthe Joint Venture’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:




Variable rate instruments Carrying amount

2013
in AUSS (unaudited) 2012
Cash at bank h 694,392 % 855,715

The Joint Venture held no fixed rate instruments during financial years 2013 (unaudited) or 2012.

(D) Fair values
Fair values versus carrying amounts

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of
financial position, are as follows:

2013
(unaudited) 2012
Carrying Carrying
In AUSS amount Fair value amount Fair value
Trade receivables b 172,293 § 172,293 § 196,598 § 196,598
Cash and cash equivalents 694,392 694,392 898,217 898,217
Trade and other payables 636,830 636,830 R78,026 878,026

The basis for determining fair values is disclosed in Note 4, Determination of fair values.
(g) Capital

Capital consists of contributed equity and retained earnings. The contributed equity amount represents the
initial investment in the partnership. The Managing Committee’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to
maintain creditor confidence and to sustain future development of the business. There were no externally imposed capital
requirements during the financial years 2013 (unaudited) or 2012.

16. Operating leases
Leases as lessee

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

2013
in AUSS (unaudited) 2012
Less than one year 1,277,755 1277754
Between one and five years 5,083,014 5,111,016
More than five years -- 1,225,244
Total $ 6,360,769 § 7,614,014

The Joint Venture leases the cinema property under a long term operating lease.
17. Contingencies and capital commitments

The nature of the Joint Venture’s operations results in claims for personal injuries (including public liability and
workers compensation) being received from time to time. As at period end there were no material current or ongoing
outstanding claims.




The Joint Venture has no capital commitments at 31 December 2013 (unaudited); (2012: $nil).

18. Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities

2013
in AUSS Note (unaudited) 2012 2011
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the period 3,018,381 3,390,207 2,948,343
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 11 544271 597,349 553,594
Interest received 7 (11,922) (21,256) (58,301)
Operating profit before changes in working capital $ 3,550,730 $§ 3966300 § 3445636
Change in trade receivables 9 24,305 (53,110) (53,892)
Change in inventories 10 46464 (19,512) 81,620
Change in trade and other payables 12 (241,194) 220,135 7,388
Change in employee benefits 13 1,685 17,466 9,195
Change in deferred revenue 14 4,614 (11,385) (50,790)
Net cash from operating activities $§ 3386604 § 4119894 § 3439157
19. Related parties

Entities with joint control or significant influence over the Joint Venture.

The managing Joint Venturer is paid an annual management fee, which is presented separately in the statement
of comprehensive income. The management fee paid is as per the Joint Venture agreement and is to cover the costs of
managing and operating the cinema complex and providing all relevant accounting and support services. The
management fee is based on a contracted base amount, increased by the Consumer Price Index for the City of Brisbane as
published by the Australian Bureau of Statistics on an annual basis. Such management fee agreement is binding over the
life of the agreement which shall continue in existence until the Joint Venture is terminated under agreement by the Joint
Venturers.

As of3] December 2013 (unaudited) the management fee payable was $26,040 (2012: Nil).
20. Subsequent events

Subsequent to 31 December 2013 (unaudited), there were no events which would have a material effect on these
financial statements.




Independent Auditors’ Report

The Management Committee and Joint Venturers
Mt. Gravatt Cinemas Joint Venture:

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Mt. Gravatt Cinemas Joint Venture, which comprise the
statement of financial position as of December 31, 2012 and the related statements of comprehensive income, changes in
equity, and cash flows for the years ended December 31,2012 and 2011, and the related notes to the financial statements.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Beard; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation ofthe financial statements.

‘We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Mt. Gravatt Cinemas Joint Venture as of December 31, 2012 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the
years ended December 31,2012 and 2011, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board.

/s/ KPMG
Sydney, Australia
March 4,2013
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.
(Registrant)

Date: March 7,2014 By: /s/ Andrzej Matvczynski
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Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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CERTIFICATIONS

EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, James J. Cotter, certify that:

D)
2)

3)

4)

3)

Ihave reviewed this Form 10-K ofReading International, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows ofthe registrant as of, and
for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and intemnal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial repotting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

¢) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness ofthe disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end ofthe period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s intemal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s Board of Directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ James J. Cotter

James I. Cotter
Chief Executive Officer
March 7,2014




EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Andrzej Matyczynski, certify that:

1)
2)

3)

4)

3)

Ihave reviewed this Form 10-K ofReading International, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows ofthe registrant as of, and
for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and intemnal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial repotting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

¢) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness ofthe disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end ofthe period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s intemal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s Board of Directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Andirze] Matyczynski

Andrzej Matyczynski
ChiefFinancial Officer
March 7,2014




EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
(18 US.C. SECTION 1350)

In connection with the accompanying Annual Report of Reading International, Inc. (the “Company™) on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,2013 (the “Report™), I, James I. Cotter, Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0£2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) ofthe Securities Exchange Act 0f 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations ofthe Company.

/s/ James J. Cotter

James J. Cotter
Chief Executive Officer
March 7,2014




EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
(18 US.C. SECTION 1350)

In connection with the accompanying Annual Report of Reading International, Inc. (the “Company™) on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,2013 (the “Report™), [, Andrzej Matyczynski, Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0£2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) ofthe Securities Exchange Act 0f 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations ofthe Company.
s/ Andrzej Matyczynski
Andrzej Matyczynski
ChiefFinancial Officer
March 7,2014




EXHIBIT 21

READING INTERNATIONAL, INC. — LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES
Subsidiary (Jurisdiction of Incorporation)

A.C.N. 143 633 096 Pty Ltd (Australia)

AHGP, Inc. (Delaware)

AHLP, Inc. (Delaware)

Angelika Film Center Mosaic, LLC (Nevada)
Angelika Film Centers (Dallas), Inc. (Texas)
Angelika Film Centers (Plano) LP (Nevada)
Angelika Plano Beverage LLC (Texas)

Australia Country Cinemas Pty Ltd (Australia)
Australian Equipment Supply Pty Ltd (Australia)
Bayou Cinemas LP (Delaware)

Bogart Holdings Ltd (New Zealand)

Burwood Developments Pty Ltd (Australia)
Carmel Theatres, LLC (Nevada)

Citadel Agriculture, Inc. (Califomia)

Citadel Cinemas, Inc. (Nevada)

Citadel Realty, Inc. (Nevada)

City Cinemas, LL.C (Nevada)

Consolidated Amusement Holdings, LLC (Nevada)
Consolidated Cinema Services, LLC (Nevada)
Consolidated Cinemas Kapolei, LLLC (New Zecaland)
Consolidated Entertainment, LL.C (Nevada)
Courtenay Car Park Ltd (New Zealand)

Craig Corporation (Nevada)

Damelle Enterprises Ltd (New Zealand)
Dimension Specialty, Inc. (Delaware)

Epping Cinemas Pty L.td (Australia)

Gaslamp Theatres, LI.C (Nevada)

Hope Street Hospitality, LLC (Delaware)

Hotel Newmarket Pty Ltd (Australia)

Kaahumanu Cinemas, LLC (Nevada)

Kahala Cinema Company LLC (Nevada)

Liberty Live, LLC (Nevada)

Liberty Theaters, LLC (Nevada)

Liberty Theatricals, LLC (Nevada)

Minetta Live, LLC (Nevada)

Movieland Cinemas (NZ7) Ltd (New Zealand)

New Zealand Equipment Supply Limited (New Zealand)
Newmarket Properties #3 Pty Ltd (Australia)
Newmarket Properties No. 2 Pty Ltd (Australia)
Newmarket Properties Pty Ltd (Australia)
Orpheum Live, LLC (Nevada)

Port Reading Co (New Jersey)

Queenstown Land Holdings L.td (New Zealand)
RDI Employee Investment Fund LLC (Califomia)
Reading Arthouse Distribution Ltd (New Zealand)
Reading Aubum Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Australia Leasing (E&R) Pty Ltd (Australia)
Reading Belmont Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Capital Corporation (Delaware)




Reading Center Development Corporation (Pennsylvania)
Reading Charlestown Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Cinemas Courtenay Central Ltd (New Zealand)
Reading Cinemas Management Pty Ltd (Australia)
Reading Cinemas NJ, Inc. (Delaware)

Reading Cinemas of Puerto Rico, Inc. (Puerto Rico)
Reading Cinemas Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Cinemas Puerto Rico LLC (Nevada)
Reading Cinemas USA LLC (Nevada)

Reading Colac Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Company (Pennsylvania)

Reading Consolidated Holdings (Hawaii), Inc. (Hawaii)
Reading Consolidated Holdings, Inc. (Nevada)
Reading Courtenay Central Limited (New Zealand)
Reading Dandenong Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Dunedin Limited (New Zealand)

Reading Elizabeth Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Entertainment Australia Pty Ltd (Australia)
Reading Exhibition Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Foundation, LTD (Nevada)

Reading Holdings, Inc. (Nevada)

Reading International Cinemas LLC (Delaware)
Reading International Services Company (California)
Reading Licenses Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Maitland Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Malulani, LLC (Nevada)

Reading Management NZ Limited (New Zealand)
Reading Melton Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Moonee Ponds Pty L.td (Australia)

Reading Murrieta Theater, LLC (Nevada)

Reading New Lynn Limited (New Zealand)

Reading New Zealand L.td (New Zealand)

Reading Pacific LLC (Nevada)

Reading Properties Indooroopilly Pty Ltd (Australia)
Reading Properties Lake Taupo Ltd (New Zealand)
Reading Properties Manukau Ltd (New Zealand)
Reading Propertiecs New Zealand Ltd (New Zealand)
Reading Properties Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Properties Taringa Pty Ltd (Australia)
Reading Property Holdings Pty Ltd (Australia)
Reading Queenstown Ltd (New Zealand)

Reading Real Estate Company (Pennsylvania)
Reading Restaurants New Zealand Limited (New Zealand)
Reading Rouse Hill Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Royal George, LLC (Delaware)

Reading Sunbury Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Theaters, Inc. (Delaware)

Reading Wellington Properties Ltd (New Zealand)
Rhodes Peninsula Cinema Pty Ltd (Australia)

Rialto Brands Ltd (New Zcaland)

Rialto Cinemas Ltd (New Zealand)

Rialto Distribution Ltd (New Zealand)

Rialto Entertainment L.td (New Zealand)

Ronwood Investments Ltd (New Zealand)

Rydal Equipment Co. (Pennsylvania)

S Note Liquidation Company, LLC (Nevada)




Sails Apartments Management Ltd (New Zealand)

Shadow View Land and Farming, LLLC (Nevada)

Sutton Hill Properties, LLC (Nevada)

Tobrooke Holdings Ltd (New Zealand)

Trans-Pacific Finance Fund I, LLC (Delaware)
Trenton-Princeton Traction Company (New Jersey)

Twin Cities Cinemas, Inc. (Delaware)

US Agricultural Investors, LLC (Delaware)

US Development, LLC (Nevada)

US Intermnational Property Finance Pty Ltd (Australia)
Washington and Franklin Railway Company (Pennsylvania)
Westlakes Cinema Pty Ltd (Australia)

Wilmington and Northern Railroad Company (Pennsylvania)




EXHIBIT 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We have issued our reports dated March 7, 2014, with respect to the consolidated financial statements, schedule and
internal control over financial reporting included in the Annual Report of Reading International, Inc. on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2013. We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference of said reports in the

Registration Statements of Reading International, Inc on Form S-8 (File No. 333-36277) and on Form S-3 (File No. 333-
162581).

/s/f GRANT THORNTON LLP

Los Angeles, Califomia
March 7,2014




EXHIBIT 23.2

Consent of Independent Auditor

The Management Committee and Joint Venturers
Mt. Gravatt Cinemas Joint Venture:

We consent to the incomporation by reference in the registration statements No. 333-167101 on Form S-8 of Reading
International, Inc., of our report dated March 4, 2013 with respect to the statement of financial position of Mt. Gravatt
Cinemas Joint Venture as of December 31, 2012 and the related statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity,
and cash flows for years ended December 31,2012 and 2011, which report appears in the December 31, 2013, annual
report on Form 10-K of Reading Intemational, Inc.

/s/ KPMG

Sydney, Australia

March 7,2014




EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, James J. Cotter, certify that:

1) T have reviewed this Form 10-K of Reading International, Inc.;

2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a maternial
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all matenal respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4) The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15()) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

b) designed such intermal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for extemal purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

¢) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed 1n this report any change in the registrant’s intemal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that
has matenally affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5) The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of intemal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s Board of Directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

7s/ James J. Cotier

James J. Cotter
Chief Executive Officer
March 7,2014
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EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Andrze) Matyczynski, certify that:

1) T have reviewed this Form 10-K of Reading International, Inc.;

2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a maternial
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all matenal respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4) The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15()) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

b) designed such intermal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for extemal purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

¢) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed 1n this report any change in the registrant’s intemal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that
has matenally affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5) The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of intemal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s Board of Directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Andrze] Matyczynski
Andrze) Matyczynski
Chief Financial Officer
March 7, 2014
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EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
(18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350)

In connection with the accompanying Annual Report of Reading Intemational, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 (the “Report”), I, James J. Cotter, Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act 0f 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all matenal respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company.

/s/ James I. Cotter

James J. Cotter
Chief Executive Officer
March 7,2014




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
(18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350)

In connection with the accompanying Annual Report of Reading Intemational, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 (the “Report™), I, Andrzej Matyczynski, Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all matenal respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Andrze] Matyezynski
Andrze) Matyczynski
Chief Financial Officer
March 7, 2014




A

T AN

o
ok,

i e
T e
IR

W
“





